E-ISSN 1309 - 2251

KAFKAS ÜNİVERSİTESİ veteriner fakültesi dergisi

Journal of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University

Published Bi-monthly

Volume: 30 Issue: 5 (September - October) Year: 2024

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

This journal is published bi-monthly, by the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Kafkas, Kars - Turkey

This journal is indexed and abstracted in:

- Web of Science Core Collection: Science Citation Index Expanded (since 2007)
- Additional Web of Science Indexes: Essential Science Indicators Zoological Record
- CABI Veterinary Science Database
- DOAJ
- EBSCO Academic Search Premier
- Elsevier SCOPUS
- Elsevier EMBASE
- SOBİAD Atıf Dizini
- TÜBİTAK/ULAKBİM TR-Dizin
- Türkiye Atıf Dizini

Address for Correspondence

Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi Editörlüğü 36040, Kars - TÜRKİYE Phone: +90 474 2426807-2426836/5228 Fax: +90 474 2426853 E-mail: vetdergi@kafkas.edu.tr

ELECTRONIC EDITION http://vetdergikafkas.org

ONLINE SUBMISSION http://submit.vetdergikafkas.org

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

OFFICIAL OWNER

Dr. Mete CİHAN Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University E-mail: vetfak@kafkas.edu.tr; ORCID: 0000-0001-9883-2347

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Dr. İsa ÖZAYDIN Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: iozaydin@kafkas.edu.tr; aras_isa@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-4652-6377

MANAGING EDITOR

Dr. Özgür AKSOY Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: drozguraksoy@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-4800-6079

LANGUAGE EDITOR

Dr. Hasan ÖZEN Balıkesir University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: hasanozen@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-6820-2536

STATISTICS EDITOR

Dr. İ. Safa GÜRCAN Ankara University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: sgurcan@ankara.edu.tr; ORCID: 0000-0002-0738-1518

Associate Editors

Dr. Fatih BÜYÜK Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: fatihbyk08@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-3278-4834

Dr. Erol AYDIN Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: dr-erolaydin@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0001-8427-5658

Dr. Ali YİĞİT Dokuz Eylül University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: aliyig@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0002-1180-3517

Dr. Serap KORAL TAŞÇI Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: serapkoral@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0001-8025-7137

Dr. Ekin Emre ERKILIÇ Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: ekin_emre_24@hotmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-2461-5598

Associate Managing Editor

Dr. Semine DALGA Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine E-mail: sdalga91@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0001-7227-2513

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

EDITORIAL BOARD

Prof. Dr. Harun AKSU, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Servet KILIÇ, Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. M. Sinan AKTAŞ, Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Ömür KOÇAK, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Feray ALKAN, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Marycz KRZYSZTOF, European Institute of Technology, Prof. Dr. Kemal ALTUNATMAZ, VetAmerican Animal Hospital, POLAND TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Ercan KURAR, Necmettin Erbakan University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Divakar AMBROSE, University of Alberta, CANADA Prof. Dr. Hasan Rüştü KUTLU, Çukurova University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Mustafa ARICAN, Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Erdoğan KÜÇÜKÖNER, Süleyman Demirel University, Prof. Dr. Selim ASLAN, Near East University, NORTHERN CYPRUS TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Sevil ATALAY VURAL, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Levan MAKARADZE, Georgian State Agrarian University, Prof. Dr. Tamer ATAOĞLU, İstinye University, TÜRKİYE GEORGIA Prof. Dr. Levent AYDIN, Bursa Uludağ University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Erdal MATUR, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Les BAILLIE, Cardiff School of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Prof. Dr. Muhammad Aamer MEHMOOD, Government College Sciences, UK University Faisalabad, PAKISTAN Prof. Dr. Urban BESENFELDER, University of Veterinary Sciences, Prof. Dr. Erdoğan MEMİLİ, Prairie View A&M University, USA AUSTRIA Prof. Dr. Nora MIMOUNE, National High School of Veterinary Prof. Dr. Kemal BÜYÜKGÜZEL, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Medicine, ALGERIA TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Cevat NİSBET, Ondokuz Mayıs University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. K. Paige CARMICHAEL, The University of Georgia, USA Prof. Dr. Vedat ONAR, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Dr. Om Prakash CHOUDHARY, Guru Angad Dev Prof. Dr. Abdullah ÖZEN, Fırat University, TÜRKİYE Veterinary and Animal Sciences University, INDIA Prof. Dr. Zeynep PEKCAN, Kırıkkale University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Burhan ÇETİNKAYA, Fırat University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Alessandra PELAGALLI, University of Naples Federico II, Prof. Dr. Recep ÇIBIK, Bursa Uludağ University, TÜRKİYE ITALY Prof. Dr. Ali DAŞKIN, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Abdul Qayyum RAO, Centre of Excellence in Molecular Prof. Dr. Ömer Orkun DEMİRAL, Erciyes University, TÜRKİYE Biology University of the Punjab, PAKISTAN Prof. Dr. İbrahim DEMİRKAN, Afyon Kocatepe University, Prof. Dr. Muhammad Asif RAZA, MNS University of Agriculture, TÜRKİYE PAKISTAN Prof. Dr. Hasan Hüseyin DÖNMEZ, Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Michael RÖCKEN, Justus-Liebeg University, GERMANY Prof. Dr. Emrullah EKEN, Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Sabine SCHÄFER-SOMI, University of Veterinary Medicine Prof. Dr. Marcia I. ENDRES, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, Vienna, AUSTRIA USA Prof. Dr. Çiğdem TAKMA, Ege University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Ayhan FİLAZİ, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Fotina TAYANA, Sumy National Agrarian University, Prof. Dr. Bahadır GÖNENÇ, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE UKRAINE Prof. Dr. Aytekin GÜNLÜ, Selçuk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Zafer ULUTAŞ, Ondokuz Mayıs University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. İ. Safa GÜRCAN, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Cemal ÜN, Ege University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Hasan Hüseyin HADİMLİ, Selçuk Üniversitesi, KONYA Prof. Dr. Oya ÜSTÜNER AYDAL, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Prof. Dr. Johannes HANDLER, Freie Universität Berlin, GERMANY TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Armağan HAYIRLI, Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Axel WEHREND, Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen, Prof. Dr. Riaz HUSSAIN, Islamia University of Bahawalpur, GERMANY PAKISTAN Prof. Dr. Thomas WITTEK, Vetmeduni Vienna, AUSTRIA Prof. Dr. Ali İŞMEN, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Rıfat VURAL, Ankara University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Fatih Mehmet KANDEMİR, Aksaray University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Cenk YARDIMCI, Ondokuz Mayıs University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Mehmet Çağrı KARAKURUM, Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy Prof. Dr. Alparslan YILDIRIM, Erciyes University, TÜRKİYE University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Hüseyin YILMAZ, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Mükerrem KAYA, Atatürk University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Zeki YILMAZ, Bursa Uludag University, TÜRKİYE

THE REFEREES LIST OF THIS ISSUE (in alphabetical order)

Abdullah DİKİCİ Aftab Ahmad ANJUM Aliye GÜLMEZ SAĞLAM Ayşe KANICI TARHANE Atila ATEŞ Buket BOĞA KURU Bushra HUSSAIN SHNAWA Candemir ÖZCAN Damla BİNNETOĞLU Ehsan Gharib MOMBENI Erdoğan UZLU Fatih BÜYÜK Filip ŠTRBAC Gökçen GÜVENÇ BAYRAM Hamid AKBAR Hasan ERDOĞAN Hatibe KARA Hümeyra ÜNSAL İsa YEŞİLYURT Kadir ÖNK Kerim Emre YANAR Mehmet Nuri AÇIK Murat KARAMEŞE Mustafa İSSİ Nezir Yaşar TOKER Oğuz MERHAN Özge Şebnem ÇILDIR Özlem HACAN Rao Zahid ABBAS Semiha YALCIN Semra KAYA Tugay AYAŞAN Yalçın YAMAN

Uşak Üniversitesi Mühendislik ve Doğa Bilimleri Fakültesi University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Pakistan Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi İstanbul Üniversitesi-Cerrahpaşa Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Soran University, Faculty of Science, Iraq Kastamonu Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Islamic Azad University, Khuzestan, Iran Balıkesir Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Institute for Multidisciplinary Research, University of Belgrade, Serbia Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Lahore, Pakistan Aydın Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Bursa Uludağ Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Aydın Adnan Menderes Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Atatürk Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Bingöl Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Fırat Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi İstanbul Üniversitesi-Cerrahpaşa Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Afyon Kocatepe Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Faculty of Veterinary Science University of Agriculture, Pakistan Muğla Sıtkı Kocman Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Osmaniye Korkut Ata Üniversitesi Kadirli Uygulamalı Bilimler Fakültesi Siirt Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

CONTENTS	
REVIEW	
Review of Toxic Trace Elements Contamination in Some Animal Food Products in Different Countries MEHOUEL F, FOWLER SW, UC-PERAZA RG, JINADASA BKKK (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31765)	573
RESEARCH ARTICLES	
Application of A Rational Feeding Strategy to Increase the Cell Density of Avian <i>Pasteurella multocida</i> SUN Y, BI Y, XIA X, ZHAO X, GUO L, FU Q, WANG C, WANG W, TANG N, LIU J, CHENG L (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31586)	587
Impact of Vitamin E and Selenium Prior the Ovsynch Synchronization on Reproductive Performance in Friesian Dairy Cows During Hot Season SHAARAWY AM, SHEHABELDIN AM, OMAR MEA, MEHANY AA, REZK RAA, YOUSIF HM (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.317740)	595
Effect of Propofol Induction on Antioxidant Defense System, Cytokines, and CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells in Cats AYDIN KAYA D, GÜZEL Ö, SEZER D, SEVIM G, MATUR E, ERGEN E, GÜRSEL FE, ATMACA G (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31756)	603
Correlation Between Body Measurements of <i>Gazella marica</i> Fawns After Weaning and Estimating Body Weight From These Measurements UZTEMUR A, ORMAN A (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32011)	611
Impact of Early Qualitative Feed Restriction and the Provision of Barrier Perch on Morphometric and Biomechanical Measurements of Bones in Broiler Chickens KARAARSLAN S, SEVIL KILIMCI F, KAYA M, TATLI O, NAZLIGÜL A (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32099)	619
Molecular Detection of Selective Virulence Factors of <i>Mycoplasma bovis</i> Local Isolates Involved in Bovine Mastitis GHAZVINEH N, MOKHTARI A, GHORBANPOOR NAJAF ABADI M, KADIVAR A, SHAHROKH SHAHRAKI S (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32118)	631
Recombinant Porcine Interferon Alpha Enhances the Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses to Porcine Transmissible Gastroenteritis Virus Inactivated Vaccine in Piglets YU HY, GAO DM, DU J, SU Y, ZHAO J (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.321229)	641
Effects of Electroacupuncture on Behavioral deficits, Hippocampal Neuronal Death and Oxidative Stress in Rats with Parkinson's Disease LIU D, YUE Y (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32234)	653
Effect of Nettle Extract on Metabolic Processes in Piglets During Weaning BUCHKO O, HAVRYLIAK V, YAREMKEVYCH O (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32236)	661
Genomic Diversity and Autozygosity-Based Signatures of Selection in Kangal Akkaraman Sheep via Genotyping-by- Sequencing DEMIR E (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32339)	669
Phylotypes, Antibiotic Resistance and Biofilm Formation Determined in Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli Isolates in Diarrheic Cats YÜKSEL DOLGUN HT, SEFEROĞLU Y, TÜRKYILMAZ S (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32343)	677

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

CONTENTS	
Mitochondrial Fusion Protein 2 Affects Intracellular Survival of <i>Brucella abortus</i> A19 by Regulating Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Apoptosis XU Z, YANG Q, DENG X, XU Y, MA Z, CHEN C (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32344)	687
Evaluation of Hematological, Proinflammatory and Tumor Markers in Bovine Cutaneous Papillomatosis AYDIN Ö (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32369)	699
Molecular Investigation of Viral Agents in Cattle with Respiratory System Problems ERKILIÇ EE, COŞKUN N, KIRMIZIGÜL AH, YILMAZ V, AKYÜZ E, SEZER M (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32389)	707
Effect of Osthole on Inflammatory Responses of Mice with Primary Sjögren's Syndrome ZHANG D, YAO J, JIANG L, YU B, ZHOU C, ZHANG D, LI J (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32400)	713
Adulticidal, Larvicidal, and Repellent Potential of Ethyl Acetate Extract of <i>Moringa oleifera</i> against <i>Rhipicephalus</i> <i>microplus</i> Cattle Ticks ABBAS RZ, KHAN AMA, MARES MM, MOHSIN M (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32438)	719
In Vitro and In Vivo Anticancer, Anti-inflammatory, and Antioxidant Activity of Dhimran (Ocimum forsskaolii benth) Extract and Essential Oil on Carbon Tetrachloride-Induced Hepatotoxicity in Mice ALHARBI AA (DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32444)	729

REVIEW ARTICLE

Review of Toxic Trace Elements Contamination in Some Animal Food Products in Different Countries

Fetta MEHOUEL^{1 (*)} Scott W. FOWLER² Russell Giovanni UC-PERAZA³

B. K. Kolita Kamal JINADASA⁴ 💿

¹University of Constantine 1, Institute of Veterinary Sciences, Road of Guelma, 25100, El Khroub, Constantine, ALGERIA

² Stony Brook University, School of Marine and Atmospheric Sciences, 11794-5000, Stony Brook, New York, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

³ Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Quintana Roo (UAEQROO), División de Desarrollo Sustentable, Campus Chetumal-Bahía, 77019, Chetumal, Quintana Roo, MEXICO

⁴ Wayamba University of Sri Lanka, Department of Food Science and Technology (DFST), Faculty of Livestock, Fisheries & Nutrition (FLFN), 60170, Makandura, Gonawila, SRI LANKA



(*) Corresponding authors:
Fetta MEHOUEL
Phone: +213 58682276
E-mail: fetta.mehouel@umc.edu.dz;
fetta_mehouel@yahoo.com

How to cite this article?

Mehouel F, Fowler SW, Uc-Peraza RG, Jinadasa BKKK: Review of toxic trace elements contamination in some animal food products in different countries. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 573-585, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31765

Article ID: KVFD-2024-31765 Received: 11.02.2024 Accepted: 02.08.2024 Published Online: 20.08.2024

Abstract

Meat, chicken, eggs and milk are all important foods worldwide because of their energetic and nutritious constituents beneficial to human health. This review aims to analyze the results of the studies carried out on the contamination of these foods (meat, chicken, eggs and milk) by the toxic trace elements As, Cd and Pb in different countries, and to compare their values with the international regulatory limits. According to the data of the various studies analyzed, all the studied matrices have been contaminated with these toxic metals. The concentrations reported differ for each matrix according to their analyzed tissues, their geographical location, their age and the food types chosen. The concentrations involved also are highly dependent on the studied trace element. Most of the reported concentrations in these foods exceed the international regulatory thresholds. Therefore, it is important to perform regular monitoring studies for all these foodstuffs along with corresponding health risk assessment estimates as well as carrying out studies to better identify the origin of the high levels of these contaminants and seek solutions to prevent major human poisonings and to ensure the safety of these foods.

Keywords: Environmental contaminants, Food, Heavy metals, Health risk assessment, Regulatory thresholds

INTRODUCTION

Food such as meat, poultry, eggs and milk are a fundamental source of high quality animal proteins with bioactive peptides, lipids, minerals and vitamins (vitamins B3, B6, B12, and D) which provide adequate energy for daily needs and are essential for the growth and well-being of human beings ^[1-4]. But these foods can be contaminated by several environmental contaminants such as toxic trace elements ^[1]. Trace elements are "metallic and non-metallic" chemical elements that are

found in the environment in small quantities (less than 100 mg/kg) and are found in different chemical forms, they have a higher density than water ^[5,6]. Among these trace elements, some are essential and are required by the organism in small quantities to ensure its proper physiological functioning such as copper (Cu), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn), iron(Fe) and manganese (Mn) ^[7-9]. In contrast to these essential trace elements, the toxic trace elements have no physiological role and are classified in the list of the most toxic substances known, i.e. arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd) and lead (Pb) ^[1,2,7,8]. These latter

 \odot \odot

elements are a major health and food safety concern which pose a large threat to the environment and human health due to their toxicity, persistence and non-biodegradability in the environment as well as bioaccumulation in the food chain [10-13]. Trace element pollution can originate from natural sources such as soil erosion and volcanoes and from anthropogenic activities including mining, smelting, wastewater disposal, and industrial discharges (Fig. 1). The means of transport that release the trace elements, and the application of pesticides and fertilizers are the major sources of exposition ^[2,6,7]. Once in the environment, they can readily be introduced into plants, animal tissue and humans (Fig. 1) [2]. Dietary intake is considered the primary route of human exposure to toxic trace elements (50%), compared to other exposure routes ^[2]. These toxic trace elements in the body can lead to undesirable chronic effects; e.g. arsenic typically causes nervous, gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, renal, pulmonary, reproductive disorders, and keratosis, melanosis and other skin disorders as well as cancers of various organs (liver, kidney and intestines) [14-17]. Exposure to cadmium causes kidney, liver, lung, and neurological and bone damage (itai - itai diseases) [18,19]. Cd causes damage to the placenta which leads to infertility, congenital malformations and



abortion; in males, the damage caused by Cd has resulted in decreased sperm motility, testicular deformation and prostate cancer [19]. Exposure to Pb can cause neurological disorders that are expressed by symptoms such as learning and pronunciation problems, memory loss, depression and general fatigue ^[12,20,21]. It also causes other problems such as gastrointestinal disorders and anemia ^[21]. Thus, this review aims to analyze and evaluate the results obtained in different studies on the levels of trace element contamination of meat, chicken, eggs and milk by these three toxic elements As, Cd and Pb, and to compare concentrations with the regulatory limits to assess if they constitute a health risk for the consumer. The articles used in this study to analyze and evaluate previous studies are 55 research articles representing 10% of total papers collected from four main datavases which are Google Scholar, SNDL (National System of Online Documentation), PubMed, and ResearchGate. The 55 research articles were chosen since they precisely met our criterion of the analysis of critical toxic trace elements in foods from animal origin that we intended to examine. The period of download was from April 2023 to November 2023. These collected and analyzed articles come from different continents: Asia, Africa, Europe and America, with those from Asia being the most numerous.

TOXIC TRACE ELEMENTS IN FOOD

Concentration of As, Cd and Pb in Different Tissues of Chicken

The results of the literature (Table 1) on the concentrations of As, Cd and Pb are very different in each tissue analyzed, in each species of chicken studied and also in each region of origin. For As, the highest concentration was reported by Bazzaz et al.^[22] in the thigh and the breast meat of cock from Brazil (1.82 and 1.82 mg/kg w.w., respectively) and Türkiye (1.57 and 1.77 mg/kg w.w., respectively), respectively. The same authors showed that breast meat accumulates As more than thigh meat, which would support the observations that As concentrations vary according to muscle type for the same animal species Mottalib et al.^[23]. reported that the highest concentrations of As in liver (0.94 mg/kg w.w.) in the broiler chicken from Bangladesh and the concentrations were not the same in the three species studied. The lowest concentration of As (0.06 mg/ kg w.w.) was measured by Uluozlu et al.^[24] in kidney and liver of the cock chicken from Türkiye. These maximum concentrations in the liver of the majority of the results compared to other tissues could be related to the important role liver plays in trace element metabolism. In the case of Cd, Kamaly and Sharkawy ^[25] registered the highest concentrations in the meat of six brands of chicken (14; 13.01; 10.93; 10.15; 9.63; 5.87 mg/kg w.w.) which were higher than those in the liver (0.01; 0.02; 0.03; 0.05

Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg

Table 1. Summary of the concentrations of trace elements in different parts of chicken						
Trace Elements	Type of Chicken (local names)	Tissues	Concentration (mg/kg wet weight)	Countries	References	
		Heart	0.06			
		Kidney	0.09	Türkive	Uluozlu et al. ^[24]	
	Cock	Liver	0.06			
	oten	Meat	0.07			
		Breast	0.45			
		Liver	0.37			
	Broiler	Breast	0.63	Bangladesh	Mottalib et al ^[23]	
	Dionor	Liver	0.94	Dunguation		
	Laver	Breast	0.21			
		Liver	0.24			
	Broiler		0.04	_		
As	Local	Meat	0.04	Bangladesh	Ullah et al. ^[28]	
	Sonali		0.04			
		Meat	0.19	Malaysia	Abdulialeel et al. ^[27]	
		Liver	0.51			
		Tight	1.57	Türkive		
		Breast	1.77	Turrayo	Bazzaz et al. ^[22]	
	Cock	Tight Breast	1.82 1.82	Brazil		
		Meat	0.43	Bangladesh	Ahmed et al. ^[29]	
		Meat	0.02	Brazil	Ng et al. ^[30]	
		Meat	0.31	India	Das et al. ^[31]	
		Meat	0.43	Bangladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]	
	Cock	Heart	0.25			
		Kidney	0.25			
		Liver	2.24	– Türkiye	Uluozlu et al. ^[24]	
		Meat	6.09			
		Heart	0.70		Yilmaz and Gecgel [33]	
		Liver	0.05	Türkiye		
		Meat	0.01			
-	Broiler		0.01			
	Local	Meat	0.01	Bangladesh	Ullah et al. ^[28]	
-	Sonali		0.01			
		Meat	0.23	Bangladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]	
	Cock	Meat	0.15			
		Liver	0.15	Malaysia	Abduljaleel et al. ^[27]	
-		Meat	5.87			
	Brands I of poultry	Liver	0.05			
Ca		Meat	0.63			
	Brands 2 of poultry	Liver	0.01			
		Meat	13.01			
	Brands 3 of poultry	Liver	0.02	Tt	Variable and Chalasses [25]	
	Durin de 4 e fair eultrure	Meat	14.00	Egypt	Kamaly and Shakawy	
	Brands 4 of poultry	Liver	10.93			
	Durinda Ela formalterra	Meat	0.03			
	branus 5 of poultry	Liver	0.02			
	Prondo 6 of noulture	Meat	10.15			
	brands 6 of poultry	Liver	0.03			
	White cornish	Meat	0.04	Egypt	Elsharawy [34]	
	Lavor	Liver	0.06			
	Layer	Meat	0.06	Eaunt	El Borromi et al [26]	
	Broiler	Liver	0.10	Egypt	EI Dayonni et al.	
	Broiler	Meat	0.09			

	Type of Chicken		Concentration		D.C.
Trace Elements	(local names)	Tissues	(mg/kg wet weight)	Countries	References
		Heart	0.04		
		Kidney	0.02	Türkiyo	I lluozlu et al [24]
		Liver	0.12	Iurkiye	Oluoziu et al.
	Cock	Meat	0.40		
		Heart	0.01		
		Liver	0.03	Türkiye	Yilmaz and Gecgel ^[33]
		Meat	0.02		
	Broiler		0.59		
	Local	Meat	0.64	Bangladesh	Ullah et al. ^[28]
	Sonali		1.02		
	Cock	Meat	0.37	Bangladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]
	Prond 1 of noultry	Meat	0.10		
	Brands 2 of poultry	Liver	2.57		
		Meat	0.03		
		Liver	3.15		
	Brands 3 of poultry	Meat	0.04		
Pb		Liver	2.56	Earmt	Variation of Charleson [25]
		Meat	0.04	Едурі	Kamary and Sharkawy
	Brands 4 of pount y	Liver	2.58		
	Duan do 5 of noultmy	Meat	0.02		
	brands 5 of poultry	Liver	0.03		
	Duran do Cofin outinu	Meat	0.30		
	brands 6 of poultry	Liver	5.55		
	White cornish	Meat	0.30	Egypt	Elsharawy [34]
		Tight	0.43	Titulsing	
		Breast	0.49	Тигктуе	Perman et al [22]
	Code	Tight	0.55	Duanil	Dazzaz et al.
	Cock	Breast	0.50	Brazii	
		Meat	0.21	Malarraia	Abdulialas] at al [27]
		Liver	0.35	Ivialaysia	Abduljaleel et al.
	Τ	Liver	0.21		
	Layer	Meat	0.10	Emmt	El Davromi et al [26]
	Ductor	Liver	0.34	Egypt	El Bayomi et al. ¹²⁰
	Broller	Meat	0.31		

mg/kg w.w.). Uluozlu et al.^[24] also recorded the highest concentration of Cd in the meat of cock chicken from Türkiye (6.09 mg/kg w.w.). This could be a function of the strong assimilation of this metal in the muscle compared to that in the other organs (liver, kidney heart).

Regarding the levels of Pb, the authors reported different concentrations depending on the tissues and chicken species studied as well as the area of origin (*Table 1*). Kamaly and Sharkawy^[25] measured the highest concentration of Pb in the liver of the six brands of cock from Egypt. The liver accumulates more Pb than other tissues in cock ^[25-27]. This is linked to the role of the liveras an organ of metabolism, which is why it is the most important target for this metal.

Concentrations of As, Cd and Pb in Meat of Cattle and Sheep

The studies examined have found different concentrations

of As in cattle meat (Table 2), the highest of which (5.6 and 3.7 mg/kg w.w.) were recorded by Sathyamoorthy et al.^[10] in India. Adjei et al.^[35] registered a differences in values from four study sites where the highest was 0.28 mg/kg w.w. and the lowest 0.00 mg/ kg w.w. which was the lowest concentration recorded compared to the others results. For As in sheep, the highest concentration (0.34 mg/kg w.w.) was measured by Abd-Elghany et al.[36] in Kuwait and the lowest concentrations (0.00 mg/kg w.w.) were registered by Xiang et al.^[37] from China. Regarding Cd concentrations in meat of cattle, Sathyamoorthy et al.^[10] in India reported the highest concentrations (6.6 and 5.1 mg/kg w.w.) whereas the lowest concentration was recorded by Di Bella et al.^[38] in Italy where the value was below the limit of detection (ND) (Table 2). The highest concentration of Cd in the meat of sheep (0.23 mg/kg w.w.) was reported by Raeeszadeh et al.^[39] in Iran and the lowest concentrations (0.00 mg/ kg w.w.) was obtained

Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg

MEHOUEL, FOWLER, UC-PERAZA, JINADASA

Table 2. Summary of the concentrations of trace elements in meat of cattle and sheep							
Trace Elements	Type of Meat	Concentration (mg/kg wet weigh	s ht)	Cou	ntries	References	
		0.01		Italy		Di Bella et al. ^[38]	
		2.73		Bang	ladesh	Chowdhury et al. ^[41]	
		0.00		Gh	lana	Nkansah and Ansah [43]	
		3.7		Site 1	India	Sathyamoorthy et al. ^[10]	
	Cattle	5.6		Site 2			
		0.28		Site 1	-		
		0.00		Site 2	Ghana	Adiei et al. ^[35]	
		0.00		Site 3			
		0.01		Site 4			
As		0.57		Bang	ladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]	
110		0.23		Ir	an	Raeeszadeh et al. ^[39]	
		0.01		Gh	lana	Nkansah and Ansah [43]	
		0.34	1	Ku	wait	Abd-Elghany et al. ^[36]	
		Shoulder clod	0.00				
	Sheen	Tenderloin	0.00				
	oncep	Neck	0.00	- Ch	ina	Xiang et al ^[37]	
		Rump	0.00		lina		
		Mutton tripe	0.00				
		Intercostal meat	0.00				
		0.14		Bangladesh		Shaheen et al. ^[32]	
		ND		Italy		Di Bella et al. ^[38]	
		0.02		Thailand		Jankeaw et al. ^[44]	
		0.00		Gh	ana	Adzitey et al. ^[45]	
		0.01		Bang	ladesh	Kamal et al. ^[46]	
		0.4		Uga	anda	Kasozi et al. ^[40]	
		0.00		Bang	ladesh	Chowdhury et al. ^[41]	
		0.07		Gh	iana	Nkansah and Ansah ^[43]	
	Cattle	0.00		Nig	geria	Sabuwa and Nafarnda [48]	
		6.6		Site 1		Cathrong conthract al [10]	
		5.1		Site 2	India	Sathyamoorthy et al.	
		0.10		Sit	te 1		
		0.05		Site 2		A diai at al [35]	
		0.04		Site 3		Aujer et al.	
CI		0.00		Site 4			
Ca		0.12		Bang	ladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]	
		Young	0.03	Ea	wat	Derwich at al [42]	
		Aged	0.06	гg	ypt	Darwish et al. ⁽¹⁴⁾	
		0.23		Ir	an	Raeeszadeh et al. ^[39]	
		0.01		Gh	ana	Nkansah and Ansah ^[43]	
		0.30		Ku	wait	Abd-Elghany et al. ^[36]	
		0.14		Bang	ladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]	
	Sheep	0.01		Eg	ypt	Abou-Arab ^[47]	
		Shoulder clod	0.00				
		Tenderloin	0.00				
		Neck	0.00				
		Rump	0.00	Ch	lina	Xiang et al. ^[37]	
		Mutton tripe	0.00				
		Intercostal meat	0.00				

Table 2. Summary of the	concentrations of tr	ace elements in meat of cattle	e and sheep (c	ontinued)		
Trace Elements	Type of Meat	Concentration (mg/kg wet weig	s ht)	Countries		References
		0.01		It	aly	Di Bella et al. ^[38]
		0.04		Tha	iland	Jankeaw et al. ^[44]
		0.00		Gh	iana	Adzitey et al. ^[45]
		0.09		Bang	ladesh	Kamal et al. ^[46]
		5.4		Uga	anda	Kasozi et al. ^[40]
		4.62		Bang	ladesh	Chowdhury et al. ^[41]
		1.15		Gh	iana	Nkansah and Ansah ^[43]
	Cattle	0.05		Nig	geria	Sabuwa and Nafarnda [48]
		4.6		Site 1	India	Sathyamoorthy et al [10]
		2.4		Site 2	Illula	Sattiyanoortiiy et al.
		0.09		Site 1	Ghana	
		0.01		Site 2		Adiei et al [35]
		0.04		Site 3		nujer et al.
Ph		0.00		Site 4		
10		0.48		Bang	ladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]
		Young	0.07	Egypt		Darwish et al ^[42]
		Aged	0.25	15	,ypt	
		Shoulder clod	0.00			
		Tenderloin	0.00			
		Neck	0.00	CI	ina	Xiang et al ^[37]
	Chaon	Rump	0.00		iiiiu	
	Sheep	Mutton tripe	0.00	-		
		Intercostal meat	0.00			
		0.37		Gh	iana	Nkansah and Ansah [43]
		11.79		Ir	an	Raeeszadeh et al. ^[39]
		0.48		Ku	wait	Abd-Elghany et al. ^[36]
		0.01		Eg	ypt	Abou-Arab [47]
		0.15		Bang	ladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]
As: Arsenic, Cd: Cadmium, H	Pb: Lead, ND: Not Dete	ected				

in different areas of China by Xiang et al.^[37]. For Pb in the meat of cattle, Kasozi et al.^[40] measured the highest concentration (5.4 mg/kg w.w.) in meat from Uganda. Chowdhury et al.^[41] in Bangladesh and Sathyamoorthy et al.^[10] in India also recorded high concentrations of Pb with a similar value (4.6 mg/kg w.w.). The concentrations recorded in the other studies were negligible (Table 2). For Pb in sheep meat from Iran, Raeeszadeh et al.^[39] measured a significantly high concentration (11.79 mg/kg w.w.) which was higher compared to the results of all the other studies and the lowest concentrations were recorded by Xiang et al.^[37] from different locations in China. Darwish et al.^[42] showed that there is a difference in Pb concentration in sheep meat as a function of the animals' age, the concentration in meat of older sheep (0.25 mg/kg w.w.) was higher than that of younger individuals (0.07 mg/kg w.w.). The results of these different studies (Table 2) show that there are important variations in concentrations of the accumulation of trace elements (i.e. As, Cd and Pb) in cattle and sheep

meat underscoring the importance of such regional studies on the contents of these elements in comestible species.

Concentrations of As, Cd and Pb in Eggs

The concentrations of the targeted trace elements (As, Cd and Pb) in eggs (*Table 3*) are quite different. For the same metal, the analyticle results differ depending on the type of egg and for the same type of egg the results are different depending on the method of breeding of the species producing these eggs and therefore on its food type and the animals' geographic location. For As, the higest concentrations were reported by Shaheen et al.^[32] from Bangladesh in chicken and duck eggs (0.30 and 034 mg/kg w.w., respectively). Nisianakis et al.^[49] in Greece found similar concentrations (0.01 mg/kg w.w.) in three types of eggs (chicken, duck and goose), a finding that is explained by the fact that these species of hens have the same rearing method and especially the same diet. These values were higher than those reported by the same

MEHOUEL, FOWLER, UC-PERAZA, JINADASA

Table 3. Summary of the concentrations of trace elements in eggs of different poultry species						
Trace Elements	Type of Eggs	Concentrations (mg/kg wet weight)		Countries		References
	Chicken	0.01				
	Türkiye	0.00		C maaga		Nicionalria at al [49]
	Duck	0.01		Greece		INISIAIIAKIS et al.
	Goose	0.01				
		Balady eggs	0.14			
		Commerciel eggs	0.12	Egypt		Saad Eldin and Raslan ^[50]
		Organic eggs	0.04			
		Local 1	BDL			
	Chicken	Local 2	BDL			
	Chicken	Local 3	BDL	D		C 1
As		Local 4	BDL	Bangladesh		Samad et al.
		Local 5	BDL			
		Local 6	BDL			
		0.30		D 1 1 1		01 1 (1/32)
Duck	0.34		Bangladesh		Snaneen et al.	
		0.02		North		
C		0.03		Middle	1	TT 1+1 . 1[E6]
		0.02		South Egypt		Hashish et al. ^[30]
	Chicken	0.02		Upper Egypt	1	
		0.00		France		Leblanc et al. ^[54]
		0.02		Egypt		Ferweez et al. ^[57]
		0.00		United Kingdom		Ysart et al. ^[55]
	Chicken	0.00				
	Türkiye	0.00				NT: 1 1 1 [40]
	Duck	0.00		Greece		Nisianakis et al. ¹⁹⁹
	Goose	0.00				
		Balady eggs	0.18			
		Commerciel eggs	0.09	Egypt		Saad Eldin and Raslan ^[50]
	Chicken	Organic eggs	0.04			
		0.30				
	Duck	0.34		Bangladesh		Shaheen et al. ^[32]
		0.18		Iran		Sobhan Ardakani et al. ^[53]
		Local 1	< 0.001			
		Local 2	< 0.001			
Ca		Local 3	< 0.001			
		Local 4	< 0.001	Bangladesh		Samad et al.
	Chicken	Local 5	< 0.001			
		Local 6	< 0.001			
		0.01		North		
		0.01		Middle		TT 1+1 . 1[52]
		0.00		South Egypt Upper Egypt		Hashish et al. ^[30]
		0.00				
		0.00		France		Leblac et al. ^[54]
	Duck	0.93		Indonesia		Asnawi [52]
		0.03		Egypt		Ferweez et al. ^[57]
	Chicken	0.00		United Kingdom		Ysart et al. ^[55]

Table 3. Summary of the concentrations of trace elements in eggs of different poultry species (continued)						
Trace Elements	Type of Eggs	Concentrations (mg/kg wet weight)		Countries		References
		Balady eggs	0.34			
	Commercial eggs	0.18	Egypt		Saad Eldin and Raslan ^[50]	
	Chicken	Organic eggs	0.08			
		0.28		Pangladash		Shahaan at al [32]
	Duck	0.32		Dangiadesh		Shaheen et al.
		0.29		Iran		Sobhan Ardakani ^[53]
		0.09		Egypt		Ferweez et al. ^[57]
		0.22		North	Egypt	Hashish et al. ^[56]
		0.30		Middle		
Pb		0.17		South		
		0.17		Upper Egypt		
	Chickon	0.01		France		Leblanc et al. ^[54]
	Chicken	Local 1	0.37			
		Local 2	0.29			
		Local 3	0.51	Pangladash		Samad at al [5]]
		Local 4	1.90	Daligiadesii		Samau et al.
		Local 5	0.50	-		
		Local 6	1.58			
		0.00		United Kingdom		Ysart et al. ^[55]
As Arsenic Cd. Cadmium Phy Lead RDL · Relaw detection limit						

authors for Türkiye. eggs (0.009 mg/kg w.w.). In Egypt, Saad Eldin and Raslan^[50] reported high and almost similar concentrations for Ballady and comercial eggs (0.12 and 0.14 mg/kg w.w., respectively) the concentrations for which are much higher than that obtained for the organic eggs (0.04 mg/kg w.w.). Samad et al.^[51] from Bangladesh reported the negligible and lowest recorded values of As in chicken eggs which were below the limit of detection (BDL).

For Cd, Asnawi [52] in Indonesia reported the highest value (0.93 mg/kg w.w.) in duck eggs followed by the results registered by Shaheen et al.^[32] in Bangladesh in chicken and duck eggs (0.30 and 0.34 mg/kg w.w., respectively). Sobhan Ardakani et al.^[53] in Iran also registered the highest concentration in chicken eggs (0.18 mg/kg w.w.). Nisianakis et al.^[49] in Egypt, Leblanc et al.^[54] in France, Ysart et al.^[55] in United Kingdom, Hashish et al.^[56] in upper and south Egypt and Samad et al.[51] in Bangladesh reported the lowest concentrations in chicken eggs. The highest concentrations in chicken eggs were reported by Shaheen et al.^[32] in Bangladesh which recorded similar values in chicken and duck eggs. Hashish et al.^[56] in Egypt reported different concentrations in chicken eggs from different regions for which the highest levels were found in the eggs from the north and middle regions of the country, and the lowest values were registered in those from the south and in Upper Egypt.

For Pb, the highest concentrations were registered in chicken eggs by Samad et al.^[51] (1.9; 1.58; 0.51 mg/kg w.w.) from different sites in Bangladesh, followed by the results obtained by Hashish et al.^[56] from Egypt (0.34 and 0.30 mg/kg w.w., respectively) in chicken eggs. Shaheen et al.[32] in Bangladesh also obtained a high concentration in duck eggs (0.32 mg/kg w.w.). Shaheen et al.^[32] from Bangladesh and Sobhan Ardakani et al.^[53] from Iran recorded similar levels in chicken eggs. Hashish et al.^[56] also found similar concentrations in hens' eggs from southern and middle Egypt (0.17 mg/kg w.w.). Leblanc et al.^[54] from France and Ysart et al.^[55] from United Kingdom reported the lowest concentrations (0.011; 0.003 mg/kg w.w., respectively). The results of the various studies analyzed show that the study region and poultry species greatly influence the levels of these trace elements in eggs.

Concentrations of As, Cd and Pb in Milk

For each trace element; the concentrations in milk differ according to the type of milk (cow, Ewe, goat) and for the same type of milk, the concentrations also differ according to the region of study. For As, Castro-González et al.^[58] from Mexico obtained a significantly high concentration (1.15 mg/kg w.w.). Sarkar et al.^[59] from India and Shaheen et al.^[32] from Bangladesh also reported high concentrations in cow milk (1 and 0.44 mg/kg w.w., respectively). Monteverde et al.^[60] registered the lowest and negligible values in two groups of cow milk in Italy whish are below the detection limit.

Reagrding Cd in the cow milk (Table 4), the highest

concentration (1.24 mg/kg w.w.) was reported by Elatrash et al.^[61] in Lybia. Monteverde et al.^[60] in Italy; Ali et al.^[62] in Tanzania; Ismail et al.^[63] in Pakistan; Belete et al.^[64] from Ethiopia and Bali from Algeria reported the lowest values of Cd. For Cd in goat milk, Balli et al.^[65] registered different concentrations at three study sites in Algeria where the concentration recorded in site 1 was similar to that reported by Yabrir et al.^[66] in goat milk (0.01 mg/kg w.w.). Yabrir et al.^[66] also registered a low concentration in ewe milk (0.06 mg/kg w.w.).

For Pb; Malhat et al.^[67] from the four sites in Egypt and Capcarova et al.^[68] from Slovakia, and Elatrash et al.^[61] in Lybia registered a high concentrations in cow milk while the highest values were reported by Malhat et al.^[67] in Egypt (*Table 4*). Ismail et al.^[63] from Pakistan and Castro-González et al.^[69] from Mexico registered the same value (0.03 mg/kg w.w.). The lowest concentrations of Pb in cow milk were registered by Belete et al.^[64] from Ethiopia; Shaheen et al.^[32] from Bangladesh; Ismail et al.^[63] at site 3 from Pakistan; and Elsaim et al.^[70] from Sudan. In Algeria, Yabrir et al.^[66] registered different concentrations among which the value registered in the ewe milk was higher (1.18 mg/kg w.w.) than that measured in goat milk (0.07 mg/kg w.w.). For Pb in goat milk Balli et al.^[65] recorded the highest values at three sites in Algeria. Homayonibezi et al.^[71] found Pb values from the two Iranian sites that were different and low (*Table 4*). The lowest values of Pb were registered by Ismail et al.^[63] in four sites from Pakistan. All these results again show the importance of the animal species, study location and geographical area in the concentration of the toxic trace elements in milk.

Comparison of the Concentrations Obtained in Different Foodstuffs Reviewed with the Regulatory Limits

For As, there is no threshold limit set for this element in the foods analyzed. For Cd and Pb, the results of the studies were compared to the different regulatory limits set by the European Union (EU), Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ) and Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA), with

Table 4. Summary of the concentrations of trace elements in milk					
Trace Elements	Type of Milk	Concentrations (mg/kg wet weight)	Co	ntries	References
		0.44	Ban	gladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]
		1.00	I	ndia	Sarkar et al. ^[59]
		0.12	М	exico	Castro-González et al. ^[69]
As	Cow milk	1.15	M	exico	Castro-González et al. ^[58]
		BDL	Group 1	Italy	Monteverde et al ^[60]
		BDL	Group 2	italy	wonteverte et al.
		0.03	Al	geria	Bousbia et al. ^[72]
		0.27	SI	ovak	Capcarova et al. [68]
		0.44	Ban	gladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]
		0.08	E	gypt	Enb et al. ^[73]
		0.28	Site 1		
		0.27	Site 2		Malhat et al. ^[67]
		0.20	Site 3	Egypt	
Cow milk		0.22	Site 4		
		0.23	Site 5		
		0.00	Site 1		
	0.00	Site 2	Sudan	Elsaim et al. ^[70]	
		0.00	Site 3		
		BDL	Group 1	Italır	Monteverde et al. ^[60]
		BDL	Group 2	Italy	
		ND	Tanzania		Ali et al. ^[62]
Cd		1.24	L	ibya	Elatrash et al. ^[61]
		0.00	Site 1		
		BDL	Site 2	Dalristan	Ismail at al [63]
		BDL	Site 3	Pakistali	Isman et al.
		0.00	Site 4		
		ND	Eth	niopia	Belete et al. ^[64]
		0.01	Site 1		
		0.00	Site 2	Algeria	Balli et al. ^[65]
		0.03	Site 3		
	Goat milk	BDL	Site 1		
		BDL	Site 2	D L L	T 1 . 1 [22]
		BDL	Site 3	Pakistan	Ismail et al. ¹⁰³
		0.001	Site 4		
	Ewe milk	0.06			
	Goat milk	0.01	A	geria	Yabrir et al. ¹⁰⁰

Table 4. Summary	Table 4. Summary of the concentrations of trace elements in milk (continued)				
Trace Elements	Type of Milk	Concentrations (mg/kg wet weight)	Contries		References
		3.8	5	Slovak	Capcarova et al. ^[68]
		0.26	Т	anznia	Ali et al. ^[62]
		0.03	Site 1		
		0.02	Site 2	Delstaten	I
		BDL	Site 3	Pakistan	Ismail et al. ¹⁰³
		0.01	Site 4		
		0.27	Bai	ngladesh	Shaheen et al. ^[32]
		3.43		Libya	Elatrash et al. ^[61]
		0.03	Ν	Aexico	Castro-González et al. ^[69]
	C 11	0.03	N	Лexico	Castro-González et al. ^[58]
	Cow milk	ND	E	thiopia	Belete et al. ^[64]
		0.06]	Egypt	Enb et al. ^[73]
		1.85	Site 1		
		3.5	Site 2	Egypt	
		2.9	Site 3		Malhat et al. ^[67]
		4.4	Site 4		
Pb		3.05	Site 5		
		0.00	Site 1		
		0.00	Site 2	Sudan	Elsaim et al. ^[70]
		0.00	Site 3		
	Ewe milk	1.18		1	V-h
	Goat milk	0.07	Algeria		fabrir et al. ¹⁰⁰
	Corremille	0.02	Group 1	Italır	Montovendo et al [60]
	Cow milk	0.03	Group 2	Italy	Monteverde et al.
		0.42	Site 1		
		0.38	Site 2	Algeria	Balli et al. ^[65]
		0.33	Site 3		
		0.00	Site 1		
	Goat milk	0.00	Site 2	Dalristan	Ismail at al [63]
		0.00	Site 3	Fakistali	Isiliali et al.
		BDL	Site 4		
		0.14	Site 1	Iron	Homewoniberi et al [71]
		BDL	Site 2	Iran	riomayombezi et al.
As Arsenic Cd. Cadmium Phy Lead RDI. Relaw Detection Limit ND: Not detected					

which the majority of the results largely exceeded these limits. As showen in *Table 1*, Uluozlu et al.^[24] (6.09 mg/kg w.w.), Shaheen et al.^[32] (0.23 mg/kg w.w.), Abduljaleel et al.^[27] (0.15 mg/kg w.w.), Kamaly and Sharkawy ^[25] (5.87; 9.63; 13.01; 14; 10.93; 10.01 mg/kg w.w.), El Bayomi et al.^[26] (0.06; 0.09 mg/kg w.w.) reported Cd concentrations in chicken meat exceeding the threshold limit set by EU^[74] (0.05 mg/kg w.w.). In liver of poultry the concentration of Cd recorded by Uluozlu et al.^[24] (2.24 mg/kg w.w.) largely exceed the threshold limit set by EU ^[74] (0.5 mg kg¹ w.w.) but the value they obtained in Kidney (0.25 mg/kg w.w.) is less the threshold limit (1 mg/kg w.w.) (Table 4). For Cd in meat of cattle; the values reported by Kasozi et al.^[40] (0.4 mg/kg w.w.), Nkansah and Ansah [43] (0.079 mg/kg w.w.), Sathyamoorthy et al.^[10] (6.6; 5.1 mg/kg w.w.), Adjei et al.^[35] (0.1 mg/kg w.w.), Shaheen et al.^[32] (0.57 mg/kg w.w.) all exceeded the limits set by EU $^{[74]}$ and FSANZ $^{[75]}$ (0.05mg/kg w.w.). In the meat of sheep; Darwish et al.^[42] (0.06 mg/kg w.w.), Raeeszadeh et al.^[39] (0.23 mg kg¹ w.w.), AbdElghany et al.^[36] (0.30 mg/kg w.w.) recorded the highest concentrations which exceeded the limits set by EU^[74] and FSANZ ^[75] (0.05 mg/kg w.w.). There are no threshold limits for Cd in eggs and milk. For the concentrations of Pb in meat of poultry (*Table 1*); in all studies concentations were higher than the permissible limits (0.1 mg/kg w.w.) set by EU ^[74]; FSANZ ^[75] and by JECFA ^[76] except those registered by Yilmaz and Gecgel [33] and Kamaly and Sharkawy^[25]. In the liver of poultry the values recorded by Kamaly and Sharkawy^[25] in differents brands of poultry (2.57; 3.15; 2.56; 2.58; 3.30; 5.55) largely exceeded the permissibl limit set by EU^[74] (0.1 mg/kg w.w.). In the meat of cattle the majority of the concentrations of Pb greatly exceeded the permissible limit (Table 5), e.g. Kasozi et al.[40] (5.4 mg/kg w.w.), Chowdhury et al.^[41] (4.62 mg kg¹ w.w.), Nkansah and Ansah^[43] (1.15 mg/kg w.w.), Sathyamoorthy et al.^[10] (4.6; 2.4 mg/kg w.w.), Shaheen et al.^[32] (0.48 mg/ kg w.w.) (Table 2). In the meat of sheep the concentrations recorded by Darwish et al.^[42] (0.25 mg/kg w.w.),

Table 5. Permissible limits in meat, poultry, eggs and milk					
Trace Elements	Type of Food	Permissible Limits (mg/kg wet weight)	References		
	Meat of bovine animals, sheep and poultry	0.05	EU ^[74]		
Cd	Liver of poultry	0.5	EU ^[74]		
	Kidney of poultry	1	EU [74]		
	Meat of cattle and sheep	0.05	FSANZ ^[75]		
	Meat of bovine animals, sheep and poultry	0.10	EU ^[74]		
	Meat of cattle, sheep and poultry	0.10	FSANZ ^[75]		
Pb	Meat of cattle, sheep and poultry	0.10	JECFA [76]		
	Poultry offal	0.1	EU ^[74]		
	Mille	0.02	EU [74]		
	IVIIIK	0.02	JECFA [76]		

As: Arsenic, Cd: Cadmium, Pb: Lead, EU: Commission Regulation, FSANZ:Food Standards Australia New Zealand.JECFA: Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives

Raeeszadeh et al.^[39] (11.79 mg/kg w.w.), Abd-Elghany et al.^[36] (0.48 mg/kg w.w.), Shaheen et al.^[32] (1.15 mg/kg w.w.) far exceeded the permissible limits set by EU^[74]; FSANZ^[75] and by JECFA^[76] (0.1 mg/kg w.w.). In the cow, goat and ewe milk the majority of the results (Table 4) exceed the permissible limit set by EU^[74] and JECFA^[76] (0.02 mg/kg w.w.). Capcarova et al.^[68] (3.8 mg/kg w.w.), Ali et al.^[62] (0.26 mg/kg w.w.), Shaheen et al.^[32] (0.27 mg/ kg w.w.), Ismail et al.^[63] (0.03 mg/kg w.w.), Elatrash et al.^[61] (3.43 mg kg¹ w.w.), Castro-González et al.^[58] and Castro-González et al.^[69] (0.03 mg/kg w.w.), Enb et al.^[73] (0.06 mg kg1 w.w.), Malhat et al.^[67] (1.85; 3.5; 2.9; 4.4; 3.05 mg/kg w.w.), Monteverde et al.^[60] (0.03 mg/kg w.w.) in cow milk. Yabrir et al.^[66] (1.18; 0.07 mg/kg w.w.) in ewe and goat milk, respectively. Balli et al.^[65] (0.42; 0.38; 0.33 mg/kg w.w.), Homayonibezi et al.^[71] (0.14 mg/kg w.w.) recorded a values which largely exceed the permissible limit (Table 5). No permissible limits are set for Pb in eggs.

Conclusion and Recommendation

In this review we have thoroughly analyzed and discussed the data of different studies on the contamination of certain foodstuffs of animal origin by three toxic trace elements (As, Cd and Pb), and the results have clearly identified the the presence of contamination in these foodstuffs by these trace elements. In the case of arsenic, the ofe highest concentrations have been recorded in cattle meat (5.6, 3.7 mg/kg w.w.). For Cd the highest concentrations were recorded in the meat of chicken and the meat of cattle (6.09 and 6.6, mg/kg w.w., respectively). The highest concentration of Pb was recorded in the meat of sheep (11.7 mg/kg w.w.). Surprisingly the majority of the concentrations of the three trace elements studied found in all these food matrices largely exceed the international regulatory thresholds which points to a potential hazard risk for the health of the consumer. To alleviate this potential international public health problem related to trace element poisoning via food, it will be very important for researchers in this field to make further assessments of this subject and to identify, if possible, the source of contamination for these foodstuffs by these contaminants by carrying out studies on water and food intended for the animals, and also to carry out regular monitoring and controls in order to prevent the risks to populations consuming these local foods.

DECLARATIONS

Acknowledgements: The authors thank Inge Van Hauteghem and O. Herbert Iko Afe for thier help.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The authors have declared that the article, tables and figure were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Authors' Contributions: F. Mehouel: Conceptualization, investigation, writing-original draft preparation, methodology and supervision, S.W. Fowler: Investigation, methodology and revised the final draft, B.K. Kolita Kamal Jinadasa and R.G. Uc-Peraza: Investigation and revised the final draft. All authors have read and agreed to the final version of the manuscript.

References

1. Elhelaly AE, Elbadry S, Eltanani GSA, Saad MF, Darwish WS, Tahoun ABMB, Abd Ellatif SA: Residual contents of the toxic metals (lead and cadmium), and the trace elements (copper and zinc) in the bovine meat and dairy products: residues, dietary intakes, and their health risk assessment. *Toxin Rev,* 40 (1): 968-975, 2021. DOI: 10.1080/15569543.2021.1968435

2. Nematollahi A, Abdi L, Abdi-Moghadam Z, Fakhri Y, Borzoei M, Tajdar-Oranj B, Thai VN, Linh NTT, Khaneghah AM: The concentration of potentially toxic elements (PTEs) in sausages: A systematic review and meta-analysis study. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*, 28 (39): 55186-55201, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-021-14879-2

3. Bhavadharini B, Kavimughil M, Malini B, Vallath A, Prajapati HK, Sunil CK: Recent advances in biosensors for detection of chemical contaminants in food - A review. *Food Anal Methods*, 15:1545-1564, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/s12161-021-02213-y

4. Escamilla Rosales MF, Olvera Rosales L, Jara Gutiérrez CE, Jaimez Ordaz J, Santana Sepúlveda PA, González Olivares LG: Proteins of milk, egg and fish as a source of antioxidant peptides: Production, mechanism of action and health benefits. *Food Rev Int*, 40(6): 1600–1620, 2023. DOI: 10.1080/87559129.2023.2227974

5. Mehouel F, Fowler SW: Review of the toxic trace elements arsenic, cadmium, lead and mercury in seafood species from Algeria and contiguous waters in the Southwestern Mediterranean Sea. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*, 29 (3): 3288-3301, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-021-17130-0

6. Abd Elnabi MK, Elkaliny NE, Elyazied MM, Azab SH, Elkhalifa SA, Elmasry S, Mouhamed MS, Shalamesh EM, Alhorieny NA, Abd Elaty AE, Elgendy IM, Etman AE, Saad KE, Tsigkou K, Ali SS, Kornaros M, Mahmoud YAG: Toxicity of heavy metals and recent advances in their removal: A review. Toxics, 11:580, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/toxics11070580

7. Gall JE, Boyd RS, Rajakaruna N: Transfer of heavy metals through terrestrial food webs: A review. *Environ Monit Assess*, 187 (201): 1-21, 2015. DOI: 10.1007/s10661-015-4436-3

8. Mehouel F, Bouayad L, Berber A, Van Hauteghem I, Van de Wiele M: Analysis and risk assessment of arsenic, cadmium and lead in two fish species (*Sardina pilchardus* and *Xiphias gladius*) from Algerian coastal water. *Food Addit Contam Part A*, 36 (10): 1515-1521, 2019. DOI: 10.1080/19440049.2019.1634840

9. El Hosry L, Sok N, Richa R, Al Mashtoub L, Cayot P Bou-Maroun E: Sample preparation and analytical techniques in the determination of trace elements in food: A review. *Foods*, 12(4):895, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ foods12040895

10. Sathyamoorthy K, Sivaruban T, Barathy S: Assessment of heavy metal pollution and contaminants in the cattle meat. *J Ind Pollut Control*, 32 (1): 350-355, 2016. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.13140174

11. Zaynab M, Al-Yahyai R, Ameen A, Sharif Y, Ali L, Fatima M, Khan KA, Li S: Health and environmental effects of heavy metals. *J King Saud Univ Sci*, 34(1):101653, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.jksus.2021.101653

12. Meng R, Zhu Q, Long T, He X, Luo Z, Gu R, Wang W, Xiang P: The innovative and accurate detection of heavy metals in foods: A critical review on electrochemical sensors. *Food Control*, 150:109743, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j. foodcont.2023.109743

13. Mukherjee AG, Renu K, Gopalakrishnan AV, Veeraraghavan VP, Vinayagam S, Paz-Montelongo S, Dey A, Vellingiri B, George A, Madhyastha H, Ganesan R: Heavy metal and metalloid contamination in food and emerging technologies for its detection. *Sustainability*, 15(2):1195, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/su15021195

14. Ziarati P, Shirkhan F, Mostafidi M, Tamaskoni Zahedi M: An overview of the heavy metal contamination in milk and dairy products. *Acta Sci Pharma Sci*, 2 (7): 8-21, 2018. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.13140242

15. Poonia T, Singh N, Garg MC: Contamination of Arsenic Chromium and Fluoride in the Indian groundwater: A review, meta-analysis and cancer risk assessment. *Int J Environ Sci Technol*, 18, 2891-2902, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s13762-020-03043-x

16. Kumar A, Kumar R, Rahman MdS, Ali M, Kumar R, Nupur N, Gaurav A, Raj V, Anand G, Niraj PK, Kumar N, Srivastava A, Biswapriya A, Chand GB, Kumar D, Rashmi T, Kumar S, Sakamoto M, Ghosh KA: Assessment of arsenic exposure in the population of Sabalpur village of Saran district of Bihar with mitigation approach. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*, 28, 43923-43934, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-021-13521-5

17. Ozturk M, Metin M, Altay V, Bhat RA, Ejaz M, Gul A, Unal BT, Hasanuzzaman M, Nibir L, Nahar K: Arsenic and human health: Genotoxicity, epigenomic effects, and cancer signaling. *Biol Trace Elem Res*, 200, 988-1001, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s12011-021-02719-w

18. Kar I, Patra AK: Tissue bioaccumulation and toxicopathological effects of cadmium and its dietary amelioration in poultry - A review. *Biol Trace Elem Res*, 199, 3846-3868, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s12011-020-02503-2

19. Suhani I, Sahab S, Srivastava V, Singh RP: Impact of cadmium pollution on food safety and human health. *Curr Opin Toxicol*, 27, 1-7, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.cotox.2021.04.004

20. Mitra AK, Anderson-Lewis C: Lead poisoning prevention: A community-based participatory research program in Mississippi. *IMC J Med Sci*, 15 (1): 16-25, 2021. DOI: 10.3329/imcjms.v15i1.54197

21. Sani AH, Amanabo M: Lead: A concise review of its toxicity, mechanism and health effect. GSC Biol Pharm Sci, 5 (1): 55-62, 2021. DOI: 10.30574/gscbps

22. Bazzaz JNA, Yakub NY, Hammad GR: Determination of some heavy metals resides in different types of poultry production. *Tikrit J Agric Sci*, 23 (2): 201-208, 2023. DOI: 10.25130/tjas.23.2.17

23. Mottalib MA, Zilani G, Suman TI, Ahmed T, Islam S: Assessment of trace metals in consumer chickens in Bangladesh. *J Health Pollut*, 8(20):181208, 2018. DOI: 10.5696/2156-9614-8.20.181208

24. Uluozlu OD, Tuzen M, Mendil D, Soylak M: Assessment of trace element contents of chicken products from Turkey. *J Hazard Mater*, 163 (2-3): 982-987, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.07.050

25. Kamaly HF, Sharkawy AA: Health risk assessment of metals in chicken meat and liver in Egypt. *Environ Monit Assess*, 195(7):802, 2023. DOI: 10.1007/s10661-023-11365-9

26. El Bayomi, RM, Darwish WS, Elshahat SS, Hafez AE: Human health risk assessment of heavy metals and trace elements residues in poultry meat retailed in Sharkia governorate, Egypt. *Slov Vet Res*, 55 (20): 211-219, 2018. DOI: 10.26873/SVR-647-2018

27. Abduljaleel SA, Shuhaimi-Othman M, Babji A: Assessment of trace metals contents in chicken (*Gallus gallus domesticus*) and quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) tissues from Selangor (Malaysia). *J Environ Sci Technol*, 5 (6): 441-451, 2012. DOI: 10.3923/jest.2012.441.451

28. Ullah AKMA, Afrin S, Mozammal Hosen M, Musarrat M, Ferdoushy T, Nahar Q, Quraishi SB: Concentration, source identification and potential human health risk assessment of heavy metals in chicken meat and egg in Bangladesh. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*, 29, 22031-22042, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-021-17342-4

29. Ahmed MK, Shaheen N, Islam MS, Habibullah-Al-Mamun M, Islam S, Islam MM, Kundu GM, Bhattacharjee L: A comprehensive assessment of arsenic in commonly consumed foodstuffs to evaluate the potential health risk in Bangladesh. *Sci Total Environ*, 544, 125-133, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j. scitotenv.2015.11.133

30. Ng JC, Ciminelli V, Gasparon M, Caldeira C: Health risk apportionment of arsenic from multiple exposure pathways in Paracatu, a gold mining town in Brazil. *Sci Total Environ*, 673, 36-43, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j. scitotenv.2019.04.048

31. Das A, Joardar M, Chowdhury NR, De A, Mridha D, Roychowdhury T: Arsenic toxicity in livestock growing in arsenic endemic and control sites of West Bengal: Risk for human and environment. *Environ Geochem Health*, 43, 3005-3025, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s10653-021-00808-2

32. Shaheen N, Ahmed MK, Islam MS, Al-Mamun MH, Tukun AB, Islam S, Rahim ATMA: Health risk assessment of trace elements via dietary intake of 'non-piscine protein source' foodstuffs (meat, milk and egg) in Bangladesh. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*, 23 (8): 7794-7806, 2016. DOI: 10.1007/ s11356-015-6013-2

33. Yilmaz I, Gecgel U: Some heavy metal contents of chicken meat, liver, heart, veal liver and lamb kidney sold in Tekirdag, Turkey. *J Environ Prot Ecol*, 12 (2): 437-446, 2011. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.13144564

34. Elsharawy NT: Control of cadmium, copper, iron and lead residues in chicken meat and their offal. *J Food Nutr Sci*, 6 (1): 62-67, 2019. DOI: 10.15436/2377-0619-19.19

35. Adjei RL, Nkrumah T, Okai MA, Kruenti F, Blessie E: Assessment of heavy metal concentrantion and their relationship in beef sold in markets. *Cor Bio*, 1 (1): 26-34, 2023. DOI: 10.37446/corbio/rsa/1.1.2023.26-34

36. Abd-Elghany SM, Mohammed MA, Abdelkhalek A, Saad FSS, Sallam KI: Health risk assessment of exposure to heavy metals from sheep meat and offal in Kuwait. *J Food Prot*, 83 (3): 503-510, 2020. DOI: 10.4315/0362-028X. JFP-19-265

37. Xiang J, Chen X, Liu Q, Dai X, Li T, Zhang X, Jing H: Detection and correlation of metals in soil, feed and mutton meat. *Pak J Agri Sci*, 60 (2): 391-396, 2023. DOI: 10.21162/PAKJAS/23.141

38. Di Bella C, Traina A, Giosuè C, Carpintieri D, Dico GML, Bellante A, Del Core M, Falco F, Gherardi S, Uccello MM, Ferrantelli V: Heavy metals and PAHs in meat, milk, and seafood from Augusta area (Southern Italy): Contamination levels, dietary intake, and human exposure assessment. *Front Public Health*, 8:273, 2020. DOI: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00273

39. Raceszadeh M, Gravandi H, Akbar A: Determination of some heavy metals concentration in species animal meat (sheep, beef, turkey, and ostrich) and carcinogenic health risk assessment in Kurdistan province, western Iran. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 29 (41): 62248-62258, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-022-19589-x

40. Kazozi KI, Otim EO, Zirintunda G, Tamale A, Otim O: Multivariate analysis of heavy metals content of beef from Soroti, Uganda. *Toxicol Rep*, 10, 400-408, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.toxrep.2023.03.004

41. Chowdhury MZA, Siddique ZA, Hossain SMA, Kazi AII, Ahsan AA, Ahmed S, Zaman MM: Determination of essential and toxic metals in meats, meat products and eggs by spectrophotometric method. *J Bangladesh*

Chem Soc, 24 (2): 165-172, 2011. DOI: 10.3329/jbcs.v24i2.9705

42. Darwish WS, Hussein MA, El-Desoky KI, Ikenaka Y, Nakayama S, Mizukawa H, Ishizuka M: Incidence and public health risk assessment of toxic metal residues (cadmium and lead) in Egyptian cattle and sheep meats. *Int Food Res J*, 22 (4): 1719-1726, 2015. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.13144668

43. Nkansah MA, Ansah JK: Determination of Cd, Hg, As, Cr and Pb levels in meat from the Kumasi Central Abattoir. *Int J Sci Res Publ*, 4 (8): 1-4, 2014. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.13144717

44. Jankeaw MN, Tongphanpharn R, Khomrat CB, Iwai Pakvilai N: Heavy metal contamination in meat and crustaceans products from Thailand local markets. *Int J Environ Rural Dev*, 6 (2): 153-158, 2015. DOI: 10.5281/ zenodo.13144744

45. Adzitey F, Mireku D, Huda N: Assessment of selected heavy metal concentrations in fresh and grilled beef - A case study in East Legon, Ghana. *Int J One Health*, 4, 40-44, 2018. DOI: 10.14202/ijoh.2018.40-44

46. Kamal MT, Hashem MA, Al-Mamun M, Hossain MM, Razzaque MA: Assessment of heavy metals in feed and beef in Bangladesh: A safety issues. *Meat Res*, 2 (1): 1-6, 2022. DOI: 10.55002/mr.2.1.10

47. Abou-Arab AAK: Heavy metal contents in Egyptian meat and the role of detergent washing on their levels. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 39 (6): 593-599, 2001. DOI: 10.1016/s0278-6915(00)00176-9

48. Sabuwa AM, Nafarnda WD: Determination of concentration of some heavy metals in tissues of cattle slaughtered from Southern Agricultural Zone of Nasarawa State, Nigeria. *EAS J Vet Med Sci*, 2 (5): 55-60, 2020. DOI: 10.36349/easjvms.2020.v02i05.001

49. Nisianakis P, Giannenas I, Gavriil A, Kontopidis GI, Kyriazakis I: Variation in trace element contents among chicken, turkey, duck, goose, and pigeon eggs analyzed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). *Biol Trace Elem Res*, 128, 62-71, 2009. DOI: 10.1007/s12011-008-8249-x

50. Saad Eldin WF, Raslan AA: Residues of some toxic heavy metals and trace elements in chicken eggs. *Zagazig Vet J*, 46 (1): 8-16, 2018. DOI: 10.21608/ZVJZ.2018.7619

51. Samad A, Roy D, Hasan MdM, KS Ahmed, Sarker S, Hossain MdM, Shajahan MD: Intake of toxic metals through dietary eggs consumption and its potential health risk assessment on the peoples of the capital city Dhaka, Bangladesh. *Arab J Chem*, 16(10):105104, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j. arabjc.2023.105104

52. Asnawi A: Heavy metal content in duck eggs and meat that consumes feed containing Sapu-sapu fish (*Hypostomus pelcostomus*). *Biodevrsitas*, 24 (6): 3201-3206, 2023. DOI: 10.13057/biodiv/d240613

53. Sobhan Ardakani S: Assessment of levels and health risk of heavy metals (Pb, Cd, Cr, and Cu) in commercial hen's eggs from the city of Hamedan. *Pollut*, 3 (4): 669-677, 2017. DOI: 10.22059/POLL.2017.62781

54. Leblanc JC, Guérin T, Noël L, Calamassi-Tran G, Volatier JL, Verger P: Dietary exposure estimates of 18 elements from the 1st French total diet study. *Food Addit Contam*, 22 (7): 624-641, 2005. DOI: 10.1080/02652030500135367

55. Ysart G, Miller P, Croasdale M, Crews H, Robb P, Baxter M, De L'Argy C, Harrison N: 1997 UK total diet study - Dietary exposures to aluminium, arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, nickel, selenium, tin and zinc. *Food Addit Contam*, 17 (9): 775-786, 2000. DOI: 10.1080/026520300415327

56. Hashish SM, Abdel-Samee,LD, Abdel-Wahhab MA: Mineral and heavy metals content in eggs of local hens at different geographic areas in Egypt. *Global Vet*, 8 (3): 298-304, 2012.

57. Ferweez H, Khalifa AH, Metwelly GM, Maguid AE, Safwat D: Study on some heavy metals of poultry meat and its products in New Valley Governorate, Egypt. *New Valley J Agric Sci*, 3 (8): 894-902, 2023. DOI: 10.21608/NVJAS.2023.215605.1222

58. Castro-González NP, Calderón-Sánchez E, Pérez-Sato M, Soní-Guillermo E, Reyes-Cervantes E: Health risk due to chronic heavy metal consumption via cow's milk produced in Puebla, Mexico, in irrigated wastewater areas. *Food Addit Contam Part B*, 12 (1): 38-44, 2018. DOI: 10.1080/19393210.2018.1520742

59. Sarkar P, Ray PR, Ghatak PK, Sen M: Arsenic concentration in water,

rice straw and cow milk - A micro level study at Chakdaha and Haringhata block of West Bengal. *Indian J Dairy Sci*, 69 (6): 676-679, 2016.

60. Monteverde V, Camilleri G, Arfuso F, Pennisi M, Perillo L, Patitò G, Gioia G, Castronovo C, Piccione G: Heavy metal levels in milk and serum of dairy cows from different farms located near an industrial area. *Animals (Basel)*, 12 (19):2574, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/ani12192574

61. Elatrash S, Atoweir N: Determination of lead and cadmium in raw cow's milk by graphite furnace atomic absorption spectroscopy. *Int J Chem Sci*, 12 (1): 92-100, 2014. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.13144872

62. Ali HR, Ame MM, Sheikh MA, Bakari SS: Levels of lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd) and cobalt (Co) in cow milk from selected areas of Zanzibar Island, Tanzania. *Am J Anal Chem*, 14 (7): 287-304, 2023. DOI: 10.4236/ ajac.2023.147016

63. Ismail A, Riaz M, Akhtar S, Ismail T, Zulfiqar A, Hashmi MS: Estimated daily intake and health risk of heavy metals by consumption of milk. *Food Addit Contam Part B*, 8 (4): 260-265, 2015. DOI: 10.1080/19393210.2015.1081989

64. Belete T, Hussen A, Rao VM: Determination of concentrations of selected heavy metals in cow's milk: Borena Zone, Ethiopia. *J Health Sci*, 4 (5): 105-112, 2014. DOI: 10.5923/j.health.20140405.01

65. Balli N, Lebsir D, Habila S, Boutenoun H, Boussouf L, Bouchekhou N, Belkouicem SI: Health risk assessment of heavy metals in goat's milk for adults group in Jijel province (Algeria). *J Appl Boil Sci*, 17 (1): 93-110, 2023. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.7579841

66. Yabrir B, Chenouf A, Chenouf N, Bouzidi A, Gaucheron F, Mati A: Heavy metals in small ruminant's milk from Algerian area steppe. *Int Food Res J*, 23 (3): 1012-1016, 2016. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.13145087

67. **Malhat F, Hagag M, Saber A, Fayz AE:** Contamination of cows milk by heavy metal in Egypt. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 88, 611-613, 2012. DOI: 10.1007/s00128-012-0550-x

68. Capcarova M, Binkowski LJ, Stawarz R, Schwarczova L, Massanyi P: Levels of essential and xenobiotic elements and their relationships in milk available on the Slovak market with the estimation of consumer exposure. *Biol Trace Elem Res*, 188, 404-411, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/s12011-018-1424-9

69. Castro-González NP, Moreno-Rojas R, Calderón-Sánchez F, Moreno-Ortega A, Juárez-Meneses M: Assessment risk to children's health due to consumption of cow's milk in polluted areas in Puebla and Tlaxcala, México. *Food Addit Contam Part B*, 10 (3): 200-207, 2017. DOI: 10.1080/19393210.2017.1316320

70. Elsaim MH, Jame R, Ali Y: Investigation of heavy metal contents in cow milk samples from Area of Merowe-Sudan. *Am J Mech*, 8 (1): 21-24, 2020. DOI: 10.11648/j.ajma.20200801.14

71. Homayonibezi N, Dobaradaran S, Arfaeinia H, Mahmoodi M, Sanati AM, Farzaneh MR, Kafaei R, Afsari M, Fouladvand M, Ramavandi B: Toxic heavy metals and nutrient concentration in the milk of goat herds in two Iranian industrial and non-industrial zones. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 28, 14882-14892, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-020-11732-w

72. Bousbia A, Boudalia S, Gueroui Y, Ghebache R, Amrouchi M, Belase B, Meguelati S, Belkheir B, Benidir M, Chelaghmia ML: Heavy metal concentrations in raw cow milk produced in the different livestock farming types in Guelma province (Algeria): Contamination and risk assessment of consumption. *J Anim Plant Sci*, 29 (2): 386-395, 2019. DOI: 10.5281/ zenodo.13145154

73. Enb A, Abou Donia MA, Abd-Rabou NS, Abou-Arab AAK, El-Senaity MH: Chemical composition of raw milk and heavy metal behaviour during processing of milk products. *Global Vet*, 3 (3): 268-275, 2009. DOI: 10.5281/ zenodo.13145276

74. Commission Regulation (EU): Commission Regulation (EU) 2023/915 of 25 April 2023 on maximum levels for certain contaminants in food and repealing Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006.

75. Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ): Standard 1.4.1-Contaminants and Natural Toxicants (F2011C00542).

76. Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA): General Standard for Contaminants and Toxins in Foods and Feed. Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives.

Research Article

Application of A Rational Feeding Strategy to Increase the Cell Density of Avian *Pasteurella multocida*

Yu SUN ² ^(b) Yanli BI ¹ ^(b) Xiaojing XIA ² ^(*) ^(b) Xiubao ZHAO ¹ ^(b) Lu GUO ¹ ^(b) Qiang FU ¹ ^(b) Chundi WANG ¹ ^(b) Wenxiu WANG ¹ ^(b) Na TANG ¹ ^(b) Jishan LIU ¹ ^(*) ^(b) Likun CHENG ¹ ^(*) ^(b)

¹Shandong Binzhou Animal Science and Veterinary Medicine Academy, Research Institution of Veterinarian, Binzhou 256600, CHINA

²Henan Institute of Science and Technology, College of Animal Science and Veterinary Medicine, Xinxiang 453003, CHINA



(*) **Corresponding author:** Xiaojing XIA, Jishan LIU & Likun CHENG

Phone: +86-373-3040718 (X.X.) +86-543-3418279 (J.L.) +86-543-3418279 (L.C.) E-mail: quik500@163.com (X.X.) 877325780@qq.com (J.L.) clksd@126.com (L.C.)

How to cite this article?

Sun Y, Bi Y, Xia X, Zhao X, Guo L, Fu Q, Wang C, Wang W, Tang N, Liu J, Cheng L: Application of a rational feeding strategy to increase the cell density of avian *Pasteurella multocida*. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 587-593, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31586

DOI: 10.9773/Kvid.2024.31380

Article ID: KVFD-2024-31586 Received: 13.01.2024 Accepted: 05.07.2024 Published Online: 06.08.2024

Abstract

Avian *Pasteurella multocida* infection, can cause serious economic losses to the poultry industry every year. The inactivated vaccines of avian *Pasteurella multocida* are used to prevent infection. Increasing the cell density of avian *Pasteurella multocida* is the key to the application of these inactivated vaccines. This can be achieved by controlling the feeding strategy. This study aimed to achieve high-cell-density cultivation of avian *Pasteurella multocida* by applying an appropriate medium and a rational feeding strategy based on viable cell growth and dissolved oxygen level variation during a fermentation process. An optimized medium suited for the growth of avian *P. multocida* was used. Meanwhile, besides the online real-time determination of viable cell density, the concentration of glucose was maintained at 1.5 g/L using a glucose-stat feeding strategy after 2 h. The selected nutrient mixture, including yeast extract, tryptone, betaine, $V_{\rm B1}$, and $V_{\rm H}$, was fed using a dissolved oxygen feedback feeding strategy after 4 h. As a result, the viable cell density and cell count of avian *P. multocida* under optimized conditions were increased to OD₆₀₀: 9.38 and 4.58×10^{10} CFU/mL, which were higher by 7.27 and 7.26 times than those under the original conditions, respectively.

Keywords: Avian *Pasteurella multocida*, Cell density, Feeding strategy, Medium, Online viable cell monitoring

INTRODUCTION

Pasteurella multocida, a Gram-negative bacterium, is a zoonotic pathogen ^[1,2]. Fowl cholera, caused by avian P. multocida, is a highly contagious disease among various domestic and wild avian species. It is associated with high mortality and morbidity, resulting in significant economic losses in global livestock production ^[3]. Antibiotics used to treat diseases caused by avian P. multocida often result in the existence of antibiotic residues in animal-derived products, eventually leading to antibiotic resistance [4,5]. Vaccination is a successful method of controlling avian P. multocida infection, but vaccine application and disease control are limited by low fermentation concentration and high production costs [6,7]. The inactivated vaccines of avian P. multocida have been proven effective in preventing avian P. multocida infection [8]. Increasing the cell density of avian P. multocida can reduce vaccine production costs and improve vaccine efficacy.

Appropriate concentrations of nutrients in the fermentation medium could satisfy the requirement of cell growth and increase cell density ^[9]. Optimizing the medium components via a Box-Behnken design, the cell count of Lactobacillus plantarum Y44 was increased to 3.363×10¹⁰ CFU/mL, which was higher by 6.11 times than that in the MRS medium ^[10]. Meanwhile, based on the characteristics of bacterial growth, the addition of specific nutrient components could further increase the abundance of bacteria. Further, 20 mM histidine was added to the basal medium, which greatly enhanced the growth of gdhA derivative P. multocida B:2 mutant by approximately 19 times compared with that in the control culture [11]. Thiamine and biotin had the highest bioavailability from midexponential to late-exponential phase of Streptococcus thermophilus MN-ZLW-002, media containing trace elements can be useful for highdensity cultures of bacteria ^[12]. Betaine can act as a stress

protectant, methyl donor, or enzyme stabilizer *in vitro* ^[13], the maximum L-threonine production of 127.3 g/L and glucose conversion percentage of 58.12% was obtained fed by *Escherichia coli* with the glucose solution containing 2 g/L betaine hydrochloride, which increased by 14.5 and 6.87% more compared to that of the control ^[14].

In the present study, appropriate nutrient components were selected for the growth of avian *P. multocida*. Meanwhile, the time point of feeding was detected rationally based on online viable cell monitoring. An appropriate feeding strategy was used to maintain glucose concentration and feed nutrient mixture, leading to an increase in the cell density of avian *P. multocida*.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Strain and Media

The strain of avian *P. multocida* used in this study was obtained from the China Veterinary Culture Collection Center (Collection Number: CVCC44802).

The strain was cultured in the TSB medium containing (in g/L) glucose 2.5, tryptone 17.0, soy peptone 3.0, K_2 HPO₄ 2.5, and NaCl 5.0.

The four kinds of media for avian *P. multocida* fermentation in *Table 1*. The five kinds of nutrient mixture solutions used as the feed medium during avian *P. multocida* fermentation in *Table 2*.

Culture Conditions

A sample of 100-mL seed medium in a 500-mL baffled flask was inoculated with a single colony of avian *P. multocida* and cultivated at 37°C by shaking at 160 rpm for 8 h. This culture grown in the baffled flask was then inoculated

aseptically (5% v/v) into 3 L of fermentation medium in a 5-L fermenter (Biotech 2012, Shanghai Bailun Biotech Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China). The temperature and pH were controlled at 37°C and 7.0, respectively, whereas the DO level was maintained at 30% by adjusting the agitation and aeration rates. We maintained the concentration of glucose at the stated level and fed the nutrient mixture solution using the DO feedback feeding strategy ^[15] to meet the experimental requirements.

Analytical Methods

The viable cell density of avian P. multocida was assessed by combining cell capacitance determination with spectrophotometric absorbance reading (OD₆₀₀). The cell capacitance was determined using an online viable cell monitoring system (DN 12-120, Switzerland), in a high-frequency electric field, living cells are treated as tiny capacitors, according to the principle of capacitance measurement a capacitance probe is used to measure the charge carried by the viable cell count. The viable cell count was determined by a flat colony counting method, dilution of the culture solution to the Appropriate concentration and apply to glass garden with 0.1 mL, repeat three times; calculated from the equation between capacitance and the viable cell count. The glucose concentration was determined using a glucose biosensor (SBA-40E; Biology Institute of Shandong Academy of Sciences, China), glucose oxidation to generate H₂O₂, H₂O₂ contact with the electrode generates a current, the current signal is proportional to the concentration of glucose, used to indirectly determine the concentration of glucose (Glucose + O_2 + $H_2O \xrightarrow{Glucose Oxidase} Gluconic acid +$ H_2O_2).

Table 1. The media for avian P. multocida fermentation			
Media	Components of Media (g/L)		
Medium I	glucose 5.0, yeast extract 5.0, tryptone 10.0		
Medium II	glucose 5.0, yeast extract 5.0, tryptone 10.0, $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ 4.0, $MgSO_4$ 1.0, KH_2PO_4 3.0		
Medium III	glucose 5.0, yeast extract 5.0, tryptone 10.0, $\rm (NH_4)_2SO_4$ 4.0, $\rm MgSO_4$ 1.0, $\rm KH_2PO_4$ 3.0, citric acid 3.0, KCl 2.0		
Medium IV	glucose 5.0, yeast extract 5.0, tryptone 10.0, $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ 4.0, $MgSO_4$ 1.0, KH_2PO_4 3.0, citric acid 3.0, KCl 2.0, betaine 2.0, V_{B1} 0.025, V_{H} 0.01.		

Table 2. The nutrient mixture solutions for avian P. multocida fermentation					
Supply Strategy Components of Nutrient Mixture Solution (g/L)					
Strategy I	yeast extract 5.0 and tryptone 10.0				
Strategy II	yeast extract 5.0, tryptone 10.0, $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ 4.0, MgSO ₄ 1.0, KH ₂ PO ₄ 3.0				
Strategy III	yeast extract 5.0, tryptone 10.0, $\rm (NH_4)_2SO_4$ 4.0, $\rm MgSO_4$ 1.0, $\rm KH_2PO_4$ 3.0, citric acid 3.0, and KCl 2.0				
Strategy IV	yeast extract 5.0, tryptone 10.0, $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ 4.0, MgSO ₄ 1.0, KH ₂ PO ₄ 3.0, citric acid 3.0, KCl 2.0, betaine 2.0, V _{B1} 0.025, and V _H 0.01				
Strategy V	yeast extract 5.0, tryptone 10.0, betaine 2.0, V_{BI} 0.025, and V_{H} 0.01				

589

RESULT

The Relationship of Between Capacitance Value, Viable Cell Density and Cell Count for Avian *P. multocida*

The relations among capacitance value, cell density, and viable cell counts during the logarithmic phase of avian *P. multocida* cultivation are displayed in *Fig. 1.* The cell count and capacitance showed a good linear relationship (y=8.0597x; y: cell count OD_{600} ; x: capacitance pF/cm; R²=0.9922); the cell count and viable cell density showed a good linear relationship (y=1.9241x; y: cell count OD_{600} ; x: viable cell density (x10¹⁰CFU/mL); R²=0.9934); the capacitance and viable cell density showed a good linear relationship (y=4.3469x; y: capacitance pF/cm; x: viable cell density (x10¹⁰CFU/mL); R²=0.9906). The results showed a good linear relationship between capacitance value, viable cell density and cell count. The viable cell density during avian *P. multocida* cultivation, thus, could be calculated based on viable cell density via this equation.

Avian P. multocida Fermentation with Different Media

The cell capacitance and glucose concentration with different media in avian *P. multocida* fermentation are displayed in *Fig. 1*. The type of medium not only affected

cell growth according to cell capacitance but also impacted glucose consumption. The cell capacitance with medium IV was the highest compared with that with other media. The maximum cell capacitance with medium IV was 2.0 h, indicating that the cells of avian *P. multocida* did not grow after 2.0 h. The glucose consumption with medium IV was the maximum, which was caused by higher cell density. The glucose concentration was 1.0 g/L after cultivation for 2.0 h.

Viable Cell Density and Cell Count

The viable cell density and cell count with different media during avian *P. multocida* fermentation are presented in *Fig. 2*. The viable cell density and cell count increased with an increase in the amount of nutrients in the media, which was in accordance with the cell capacitance shown in *Fig. 1*. The viable cell density (2.58, OD_{600}) and cell count (1.26^x10¹⁰ CFU/mL) with medium IV were the highest, which were higher by 2.01 and 2.03 times than those with medium I.

Avian *P. multocida* Fermentation with Different Glucose Concentrations

Fig. 3 shows the cell capacitance, viable cell density, and cell count with different glucose concentrations after 2.0



Fig 1. Relationship between capacitance and cell density and between viable cell density and cell count. (a) Linear relationship between capacitance and cell count. (b) Linear relationship of between viable cell density and cell count, (c) Linear relationship of between capacitance and viable cell density





h using the glucose-stat feeding strategy. The glucose concentration controlled at more than 1.0 g/L could extend the growth period of avian *P. multocida* and increase its viable cell density and cell count, but the viable cell density and cell count decreased with glucose concentration more than 1.5 g/L. The maximum cell capacitance was achieved at a glucose concentration of 1.5 g/L, and the DO level increased suddenly at the same time. The viable cell density and cell count obtained at the aforementioned

glucose concentration were the highest, which were 4.65 (OD_{600}) and 2.27×10¹⁰ CFU/mL, respectively (*Fig. 4*).

Avian *P. multocida* Fermentation with Different Feed Mixture Solutions

The avian *P. multocida* fermentation with different nutrient mixture solutions after 4.0 h using the DO feedback feeding strategy is displayed in *Fig. 5*. The nutrient mixture solutions supplied after 4.0 h also extended the

591

cell growth period, leading to an improvement in the viable cell density and cell count. The viable cell density and cell count with the feed nutrient mixture I were 6.53 (OD₆₀₀) and 3.19×10^{10} CFU/mL. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture II and mixture III were not significant different from those with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture IV increased by 43.03% and 42.95% compared with that with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and 42.95% compared with that with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I. The viable cell density and cell count with feed nutrient mixture I.

DISCUSSION

This study showed that the growth of bacteria was affected by fermentation medium and cultivation conditions. The form of the medium was the basis for fermentation ^[16]. Higher cell density and cell count were obtained with the enriched medium compared with different media for avian *P. multocida* fermentation; the highest cell density and count were achieved with medium IV. During *Streptococcus suis* fermentation, the cell density increased by 15.37% on increasing the concentration of nitrogen source ^[17].

The key nutrient compounds were essential for cell growth and enhancing cell density in the medium ^[18]. As shown in *Fig.* 5, yeast extract, tryptone, betaine, V_{B1} , and V_{H} increased the cell density and viable cell count. The hydrolyzed yeast components contained in yeast extract efficiently supplied the TCA cycle, improving oxidative metabolism and increasing Chinese hamster ovary cell density by 70% ^[19]. Adding an appropriate amount of V_{H} improved the cell viability of *Corynebacterium glutamicum*, thus increasing the yield and productivity of the product ^[20]. When betaine was fed into the fermentation culture medium, the metabolic flux entering into the pentose phosphate pathway and the biosynthesis route of L-threonine increased by 57.3% and 10.1%, respectively, increasing the production of L-threonine by 14.5% ^[21].

The concentration of glucose affected cell growth, and a higher cell density of avian *P. multocida* was achieved at a glucose concentration of 1.5 g/L after 2.0 h. When the concentration of glucose was less than 1.5 g/L, the glucose uptake rate of cells was not adequate for the growth of avian *P. multocida* ^[22,23]. However, the synthesis of by-products inhibited the growth of *E. coli* ^[24]. High glucose concentrations can increase the osmotic pressure of the culture medium, which is detrimental to microbial growth, thus, the growth of avian *P. multocida* was inhibited at a glucose concentration of more than 1.5 g/L. Glucose concentration was a key parameter for the biosynthesis of desired products by *E. coli* ^[25]. The flux and accumulation of

acetate during L-tryptophan production were reduced by genetically modifying a strain that produced L-tryptophan and implementing glucose feedback feeding. The flux of tryptophan formation and yield of L-tryptophan increased by 21.36% and 35.81%, respectively ^[26].

The viable cell sensor was a reliable online biomass monitoring tool for Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria ^[27]. Applying a rational feeding method was an effective strategy for high-cell-density cultivation of bacteria ^[28]. Based on the selection of feeding time by online viable cell monitoring, suitable nutrients were fed using the appropriate feeding strategy after 2 or 4 h, leading to high-cell-density cultivation of avian P. multocida. The viable cell sensor and electronic nose in ethanol fermentation is used to monitor the cell density of Saccharomyces cerevisiae B1, a dynamic feeding strategy of glucose was applied, and the ethanol concentration, productivity, and yield were enhanced by 15.4%, 15.9%, and 9.0%, respectively [28]. Real-time monitoring and pH regulation strategies were implemented. The total viable count of Clostridium butyricum was 3.32 times higher than that in the control group, and the sporulation rate escalated from 73.9% to 96.6% [29]. In Glaesserella parasuis (G. parasuis formerly Haemophilus parasuis) fermentation, based on online viable cell monitoring, combined with the relationship between nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) consumption and cell growth, the feeding concentration of NAD was adjusted to 30 mg/L. The viable cell count of G. parasuis increased to 1.57×10^{10} CFU/mL, which was higher by 8.26 times compared with that obtained in tryptic soy broth (TSB) medium ^[30]. Real-time monitoring allows for a more comprehensive understanding of the bacterial fermentation process. The development and application of effective real-time and online sensors plays an important role in optimizing biological processes to improve product concentration, productivity, and yield [30], thus providing a more effective feeding strategy for bacterial fermentation culture.

In this study, an appropriate medium was selected for the fermentation of avian *P. multocida*. Meanwhile, using online real-time monitoring and DO-level variations, the glucose concentration was maintained at 1.5 g/L after 2 h and a nutrient mixture containing yeast extract, tryptone, betaine, V_{B1} , and V_H was fed after 4 h using the DO feedback feeding strategy. Thus, the viable cell density and cell count of avian *P. multocida* under the optimized conditions increased to OD₆₀₀: 9.38 and 4.58×10¹⁰ CFU/mL, which were higher by 7.27 and 7.26 times than those under the original conditions, respectively. This experiment provides a reference for the high-density fermentation culture of avian *P. multocida* and lays the foundation for the preparation of inactivated vaccine. Simultaneously, the research methods presented in this study provide a theoretical foundation and technical approach for the high-density cultivation of other auxotroph bacteria, only the media components and media replenishment strategies were investigated and the effect of fermentation process parameters on avian *P. multocida* was neglected.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The authors declare that the data and materials are available on request from the corresponding author (L.C.).

Acknowledgments: We thank all authors for their significant contributions to this study.

Funding Support: This study was financially supported by the Youth Science and Technology Morning-star Project of Binzhou (Project number: QMX2023003), and the Innovation Program of Modern Agricultural Industry System of Shandong (Project number: SDAIT-09-12).

Competing Interests: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The article and/or tables and figures were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Ethical Statement: This study does not require the approval of the local ethics committee for animal experiments.

Authors' Contributions: YS and YB performed the experiments, analysed the results, and drafted the manuscript. XZ, LG and WW assisted in the experimental design and summarized the experimental results. QF, NT and CW put forward valuable suggestions for the revision and improvement of the paper. XX, JL and LC conceived and designed the study, revised the manuscript and funded the study. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Smith E, Miller E, Aguayo JM, Figueroa CF, Nezworski J, Studniski M, Wileman B, Johnson T: Genomic diversity and molecular epidemiology of *Pasteurella multocida*. *PLoS One*, 16 (4):e0249138, 2021. DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0249138

2. Omaleki L, Blackall PJ, Cuddihy T, Beatson SA, Forde BM, Turni C: Using genomics to understand inter- and intra- outbreak diversity of *Pasteurella multocida* isolates associated with fowl cholera in meat chickens. *Microb Genom*, 6 (3):e000346, 2020. DOI: 10.1099/mgen.0.000346

3. Mombeni EG, Gharibi D, Ghorbanpoor M, Jabbari AR, Cid D: Toxigenic and non-toxigenic *Pasteurella multocida* genotypes, based on capsular, LPS, and virulence profile typing, associated with pneumonic pasteurellosis in Iran. *Vet Microbiol*, 257:109077, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. vetmic.2021.109077

4. Lee EB, Abbas MA, Park J, Tassew DD, Park SC: Optimizing tylosin dosage for co-infection of *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* and *Pasteurella multocida* in pigs using pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modeling. *Front Pharmacol*, 14:1258403, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2023.1258403

5. Manyi-Loh C, Mamphweli S, Meyer E, Okoh A: Antibiotic use in agriculture and its consequential resistance in rnvironmental sources: Potential public health implications. *Molecules*, 23 (4):795, 2018. DOI: 10.3390/molecules23040795

6. Guan LJ, Song JJ, Xue Y, Ai X, Liu ZJ, Si LF, Li MY, Zhao ZQ: Immune protective efficacy of China's traditional inactivated and attenuated vaccines against the prevalent strains of *Pasteurella multocida* in mice. *Vaccines*, 9 (10):1155, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/vaccines9101155

7. Gu W, Chen SW, Chen GP, Ji ZX: Enhancement of *Haemophilus parasuis* serovar 5 yields by medium optimization. *Lett Appl Microbiol*, 61 (1): 44-49, 2015. DOI: 10.1111/lam.12421

8. Luo Q, Kong L, Dong J, Zhang T, Wang H, Zhang R, Lu Q, Chen H, Shao H, Jin M: Protection of chickens against fowl cholera by supernatant proteins of *Pasteurella multocida* cultured in an iron-restricted medium. *Avian Pathol*, 48 (3): 221-229, 2019. DOI: 10.1080/03079457.2019.1568390

9. Choi GH, Lee NK, Paik HD: Optimization of medium composition for biomass production of *Lactobacillus plantarum* 200655 using response surface methodology. *J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 31 (5): 717-725, 2021. DOI: 10.4014/jmb.2103.03018

10. Ding X, Qian F, Mu G, Tuo Y: Optimization of medium composition of *Lactobacillus plantarum* Y44 using Plackett-Burman and Box-Behnken designs. *Prep Biochem Biotechnol*, 53 (9): 1058-1066, 2023. DOI: 10.1080/10826068.2023.2166957

11. Oslan SNH, Tan JS, Saad MZ, Halim M, Mohamed MS, Ariff AB: Influence of amino acids and vitamins on the growth of *gdhA* derivative *Pasteurella multocida* B:2 for use as an animal vaccine. *Bioprocess Biosyst Eng*, 42 (3): 355-365, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/s00449-018-2040-y

12. Liu G, Qiao Y, Zhang Y, Leng C, Sun J, Chen H, Zhang Y, Li A, Feng Z: Profiles of *Streptococcus thermophilus* MN-ZLW-002 nutrient requirements in controlled pH batch fermentations. *Microbiologyopen*, 8(2):e00633, 2019. DOI: 10.1002/mbo3.633

13. Zhao G, He F, Wu C, Li P, Li N, Deng J, Zhu G, Ren W, Peng Y: Betaine in inflammation: Mechanistic aspects and applications. *Front Immunol*, 9:1070, 2018. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01070

14. Su Y, Guo QQ, Wang S, Zhang X, Wang J: Effects of betaine supplementation on L-threonine fed-batch fermentation by *Escherichia coli*. *Bioprocess Biosyst Eng*, 41 (10): 1509-1518, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/s00449-018-1978-0

15. Cheng LK, Zhao CG, Yang XY, Song Z, Lin CW, Zhao XB, Wang JL, Wang J, Wang L, Xia XJ, Shen ZQ: Application of a dissolved oxygen control strategy to increase the expression of *Streptococcus suis* glutamate dehydrogenase in *Escherichia coli*. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 37 (4):60, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11274-021-03025-2

16. Venkateswarulu TC, Prabhakar KV, Kumar RB: Optimization of nutritional components of medium by response surface methodology for enhanced production of lactase. *3 Biotech*, 7 (3):202, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/s13205-017-0805-7

17. Cheng LK, Wang J, Fu Q, Miao LZ, Yang XY, Li SG, Li F, Shen ZQ: Optimization of carbon and nitrogen sources and substrate feeding strategy to increase the cell density of *Streptococcus suis*. *Biotechnol Biotec Eq*, 29 (4): 779-785, 2015. DOI: 10.1080/13102818.2015.1039465

18. Sabu S, Singh ISB, Joseph V: Optimisation of critical medium components and culture conditions for enhanced biomass and lipid production in the oleaginous diatom *Navicula phyllepta:* A statistical approach. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int,* 24 (34): 26763-26777, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-017-0274-x

19. Mosser M, Chevalot I, Olmos E, Blanchard F, Kapel R, Oriol E, Marc I, Marc A: Combination of yeast hydrolysates to improve CHO cell growth and IgG production. *Cytotechnology*, 65 (4): 629-641, 2013. DOI: 10.1007/ s10616-012-9519-1

20. Li Y, Sun L, Feng J, Wu R, Xu Q, Zhang C, Chen N, Xie X: Efficient production of α-ketoglutarate in the *gdh* deleted *Corynebacterium glutamicum* by novel double-phase pH and biotin control strategy. *Bioprocess Biosyst Eng*, 39 (6): 967-976, 2016. DOI: 10.1007/s00449-016-1576-y

21. Su Y, Guo QQ, Wang S, Zhang X, Wang J: Effects of betaine supplementation on L-threonine fed-batch fermentation by *Escherichia coli*. *Bioprocess Biosyst Eng*, 41 (10): 1509-1518, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/s00449-018-1978-0

22. Jeckelmann JM, Erni B: Transporters of glucose and other carbohydrates in bacteria. *Pflugers Arch*, 472 (9): 1129-1153, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s00424-020-02379-0

23. Mizzi L, Maniscalco D, Gaspari S, Chatzitzika C, Gatt R, Valdramidis VP: Assessing the individual microbial inhibitory capacity of different sugars against pathogens commonly found in food systems. *Lett Appl Microbiol*, 71

(3): 251-258, 2020. DOI: 10.1111/lam.13306

24. Wang J, Shang Q, Zhao C, Zhang S, Li Z, Lin C, Shen Z, Cheng L: Improvement of *Streptococcus suis* glutamate dehydrogenase expression in Escherichia coli through genetic modification of acetate synthesis pathway. *Lett Appl Microbiol*, 70 (2): 64-70, 2020. DOI: 10.1111/lam.13244

25. Fernández-Gutierrez D, Veillette M, Ávalos Ramirez A, Giroir-Fendler A, Faucheux N, Heitz M: Biovalorization of glucose in four culture media and effect of the nitrogen source on fermentative alcohols production by *Escherichia coli. Environ Technol*, 41 (2): 211-221, 2020. DOI: 10.1080/09593330.2018.1494751

26. Lu N, Zhang B, Cheng LK, Wang JS, Zhang SL, Fu SJ, Xiao YQ, Liu HY: Gene modification of *Escherichia coli* and incorporation of process control to decrease acetate accumulation and increase L-tryptophan production. *Ann Microbiol*, 67 (8): 567-576, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/s13213-017-1289-8

27. Horta ACL, da Silva AJ, Sargo CR, Cavalcanti-Montaño ID, Galeano-Suarez CA, Velez AM, Santos MP, Gonçalves VM, Giordano RC, Zangirolami TC: On-line monitoring of biomass concentration based on a capacitance sensor: assessing the methodology for different bacteria and yeast high cell density fed-batch cultures. *Braz J Chem Eng*, 32 (4): 821-829, 2015. DOI: 10.1590/0104-6632.20150324s00003534

28. Klausmann P, Hennemann K, Hoffmann M, Treinen C, Aschern M, Lilge L, Morabbi Heravi K, Henkel M, Hausmann R: Bacillus subtilis high cell density fermentation using a sporulation-deficient strain for the production of surfactin. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, 105 (10): 4141-4151, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s00253-021-11330-x

29. Feng Y, Tian X, Chen Y, Wang ZY, Chu J: Real-time and on-line monitoring of ethanol fermentation process by viable cell sensor and electronic nose. *Bioresour Bioprocess*, 8 (1): 1-10, 2021. DOI: 10.21203/ rs.3.rs-234697/v1

30. Cheng LK, Li F, Li SG, Lin CW, Fu Q, Yin HH, Tian FR, Qu GG, Wu JQ, Shen ZQ: A novel nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide control strategy for increasing the cell density of *Haemophilus parasuis*. *Biotechnol Prog*, 35 (3):e2794, 2019. DOI: 10.1002/btpr.2794

31. Xu F, Zhang W, Wang Y, Tian X, Chu J: Enhancing and monitoring spore production in *Clostridium butyricum* using pH-based regulation strategy and a robust soft sensor based on back-propagation neural networks. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 121 (2): 551-565, 2024. DOI: 10.1002/bit.28597

32. Alves-Rausch J, Bienert R, Grimm C, Bergmaier D: Real time in-line monitoring of large scale *Bacillus* fermentations with near-infrared spectroscopy. *J Biotechnol*, 189, 120-128, 2014. DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiotec. 2014.09.004

Research Article

Impact of Vitamin E and Selenium Prior the Ovsynch Synchronization on Reproductive Performance in Friesian Dairy Cows During Hot Season

Al-Moataz Bellah Mahfouz SHAARAWY ¹ Ahmed Mohamed SHEHABELDIN ² Mohamed El-Shafie Abd El-Kader OMAR ¹ Ashraf Ali MEHANY ¹ Reda Abdel Samee Ahmed REZK ³ Hamada Mahmoud YOUSIF ³ ^(*)

¹ Agricultural Research Center (ARC), Animal Production Research Institute (APRI), Department of Cattle Breeding Research, 12618, Dokki. Giza, EGYPT

² Agricultural Research Center (ARC), Animal Production Research Institute (APRI), Department of Biotechnology Research, 12618, Dokki. Giza, EGYPT

³ Agricultural Research Center (ARC), Animal Health Research Institute (AHRI), Department of Biochemistry, Toxicology and Feed Deficiency, 12618, Dokki, Giza, EGYPT



(*) **Corresponding author:** Hamada Mahmoud YOUSIF

Phone: +20 1223074010 Fax: +20 33350030 E-mail: hamadayousif82@gmail.com

How to cite this article?

Shaarawy AM, Shehabeldin AM, Omar MEA, Mehany AA, Rezk RAA, Yousif HM: Impact of vitamin E and selenium prior the ovsynch synchronization on reproductive performance in Friesian dairy cows during hot season. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 595-602, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31740

Article ID: KVFD-2024-31740 Received: 05.02.2024 Accepted: 23.06.2024 Published Online: 12.07.2024

Abstract

Heat stress during hot season enhances oxidative stress, alters hormonal secretion and adversely affects reproductive performance. So, it's necessary to supply antioxidants such as vitamin E and selenium. This work aimed to investigate the impact of vitamin E and selenium administration on reproductive performance before ovsynch synchronization and artificial insemination (AI) in Friesian cows during hot season. Twenty ovsynchsynchronized Friesian cows were divided according to the time of vitamin E and selenium administration into four groups (each 5 cows), G1 control group without any administration, G₂ administered pre-synchronization, G₃ administered at AI, G₄ administered two doses pre-synchronization and at AI. Follicular functions during synchronization period revealed a significant increase in both follicle number and diameter of G2 and G4 compared to G1 and G3. Blood samples were collected from all cows weekly from 0-day to 5th week post AI for hormones and antioxidant detection. Serum analysis results revealed increased progesterone, prolactin, CAT, SOD, GSH and total antioxidant capacity (TAC), while decreased cortisol and MDA of G₄ compared to G₁, G₂ and G₃. Pregnancy detection was performed at 60 days post-AI. Conception rates were 40, 60, 60, and 80% in G1, G2, G3 and G4, respectively. Therefore, vitamin E and selenium administration improve antioxidant activities and overcome oxidative stress providing a better impact on reproductive performance even in hot season.

Keywords: Antioxidants, Conception rate, Heat stress, Hormones, Synchronization, Vitamin E and selenium

INTRODUCTION

Heat stress during hot season could change the physiological, biochemical, and productive functions of the livestock resulting in reduced fertility and economic losses for the dairy industry. Furthermore, the adverse effect of environmental high temperatures on fertility rates cannot be omitted ^[1]. Exposure of dairy cows to heat stress during early lactation can adversely affect their productivity, fertility, and blood biochemistry in subsequent lactation periods ^[2]. Under such conditions, heat stress can affect the cellular functions of germ cells and directly impact fertility. Heat stress directly affects follicular development, follicular waves, steroid gene activity in both

follicular and granulosa cells, corpus luteum development and functionality via reduced progesterone production ^[3]. Low progesterone secretion during the luteal phase can alter oocyte maturation leading to implantation failure and early embryonic death ^[4]. While, reduced feed intake during heat stress reduces the frequency of luteinizing hormone (LH) and lengthens the follicular waves with the appearance of smaller dominant follicles ^[5].

Heat stress increases body temperature, pulse rate, and respiration rate leading to reduced feed intake, redistribution of blood flow, weakening of the immune system, and changes in endocrine function, which ultimately affects fertility ^[6]. Environmental heat stress, may

 \odot \odot

Month	Ambient Temperature (°C)			Relative Humidity (%)			
	Max.	Min.	Average	Max.	Min.	Average	IHI
June	33	26	28.89±0.28	57	35	50.85±0.90	76.82±0.27
July	32	27	29.85±0.21	59	42	51.14±0.62	78.16±0.25
August	33	29	29.95±0.16	60	45	54.04±0.76	78.74±0.16
September	31	26	28.51±0.18	60	47	54.57±0.72	76.92±0.28

activate the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and the sympathetic-adrenal axis, both of which mediate hormonal changes. Additionally, it suppresses thyroid and pancreas activity, resulting in decreased secretion of thyroid hormones and insulin, while concurrently enhancing adrenal cortex activity and increasing the secretion of the stress hormone cortisol ^[7]. Animals exposed to heat stress revealed altered hormones concentrations such as thyroxin, cortisol, and prolactin. Plasma cortisol levels are used as a marker of heat stress, decreasing during heat acclimation to reduce heat production ^[8]. Furthermore, heat stress reduces antioxidant activity and induces oxidative stress, while it promotes excessive production of free radicals, and reduces antioxidant status by impairing antioxidant defense systems ^[9].

Vitamin E and selenium (Se), both necessary co-factors of the enzyme glutathione peroxidase (GSH-px), are a vital part of the antioxidant defense system present in various cell types ^[10], and are playing important roles in animal growth performance, immune function, and reproductive performance through their participation in key enzymatic reactions [11]. The contribution of vitamin E and Se to progesterone production by the corpus luteum improves the resumption of ovarian activity [12]. It has been demonstrated that administration of vitamin E and/ or Se increases the pregnancy rates and both together can improve the conception rate of cattle and sheep by decreasing early embryonic deaths [13,14]. Furthermore, vitamin E and Se could improve reproduction, metabolic profiles, and antioxidant capacity in cows under conditions of heat stress.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the impact of vitamin E and selenium administration on the reproductive performance of Friesian cows during the hot summer season.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

This protocol was approved by the Research Committee of the Animal Health Research Institute and authorized by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (ARC-IACUC)/Agricultural Research Center (ARC/AHRI/33/24).

Farm Location and Climatic Conditions

This work was established at Animal Production Experimental Station, Sakha (31°05'17.3" north and 30°56'29.9" east), Kafr El-Sheikh, belonging to Animal Production Research Institute (APRI), Agricultural Research Center, Egypt from June to September 2022. Ambient temperature and relative humidity (RH) during the hot season are shown in *Table 1*. These parameters were recorded daily for the entire experimental period outside by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Langley Research Centre (LaRC) Prediction of Worldwide Energy Resource (POWER) Project funded through the NASA Earth Science/Applied Science Program. Temperature humidity index (THI) was calculated using the formula proposed by Mader et al.^[15]:

THI = $(0.8 \times \text{ambient temperature}) + [(\% \text{ RH}) / 100) \times (\text{ambient temperature} - 14.4)] + 46.4$

Armstrong ^[16] describes the temperature humidity index (THI) for dairy cattle, establishing a spectrum where a THI up to 71 is classified as comfort. Indices ranging from 72 to 79 signify mild thermal stress, 80 to 89 indicate moderate stress, and values exceeding 90 represent severe stress, and a THI surpassing 100 indicates lethal outcomes.

Experimental Design

Twenty apparently healthy Friesian cows, with an age range 5-6 years, an average body weight 500±45 kg, daily milk yield 18±5 kg, and within 55 to 70 days postpartum, were used in this study. Ovsynch synchronization of all cows was performed according to the following protocol; 2 mL GnRH was injected on day 0, followed by 2 mL PGF₂ α injected on the 7th day, and concluding with a second 2 mL GnRH injection on day 9 with artificial insemination (AI) being performed 16 hours post-final injection [17]. The cows were divided into four groups; the 1st group (N=5) did not receive any administration used as a control group (G_1) , the 2nd group (N=5) received a single dose of E-SELEN[®] (1 mL/45 kg BW) immediately pre-synchronization only (G_2), the 3rd group (N=5) was administered a single dose of E-SELEN° (1 mL/45 kg BW) at the time of AI only (G₃), and the 4^{th} group (N=5) received a double dose of E-SELEN^{*} (1 mL/45 kg BW) the first dose immediately pre-synchronization and the second dose at the time of AI (G_4).

The follicular functions were detected on day 0, as well as on the 7th and 10th day after synchronization using a realtime ultrasound scanning device (Ultrasound scanner, model MyLab 30 Gold ultrasound machine-Esaote-Pie Medical-Holland-Italy) with LV 315 Linear trans-rectal probe. Scans of both ovaries were executed to enumerate follicles and measure their diameters in millimeters. Also, the same real-time ultrasound scanning device was used for pregnancy diagnosis on day 60 post-AI.

Samples

Blood samples were collected from the jugular vein of all cows on day 0, and 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 5th-week post-AI. Serum samples were obtained by centrifugation of blood samples at 5000 rpm for 5 min. The clear sera were aliquoted into clean, dry Eppendorf tubes and maintained at 4°C for subsequent hormonal assays, followed by storage at -20°C pending biochemical analyses.

Chemicals and Medications

Estrumate^{*}; Beef and dairy cattle were intramuscularly injected with Prostaglandin $F_2\alpha$ (PGF₂ α) (MSD Animal Health Company). Cystorelin^{*}; a synthetic GnRH analogue for the release of both luteinizing (LH) and folliclestimulating hormone (FSH), contains Gonadorelin (GnRH) diacetate tetrahydrate 50 mcg/mL, manufactured by Ceva-Africa Company. E-SELEN^{*}; each mL contains 5.48 mg sodium selenite (equivalent to 2.5 mg selenium), 50 mg (68 IU) vitamin E (as α -alpha tocopherol acetate), manufactured by NITA-FARM Company.

Serum Biochemical Analysis

Serum progesterone concentrations were estimated using ELISA kit (Catalog No. 10005, PerkinElmer) with a sensitivity threshold of 0.2 ng/mL. The serum concentration of tri-iodothyronine (T_3), thyroxin (T_4), and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) were assessed using ELISA kit (Immunospec corporation, USA, catalog No. PerkinElmer-10301, PerkinElmer-10302 and PerkinElmer-10304). Serum cortisol levels were evaluated using ELISA kit (PekinElmer-10005; 00000; DBC, Canada; catalog No. CAN-C-270 and SinoGene-Clon-SG-60105). Serum prolactin (PRL) concentration were detected using Bovine Prolactin ELISA kit (SinoGene-Clon Biotech Co., Ltd) with a sensitivity threshold of 0.3 ng/mL.

Commercial kits were used to determine Superoxide dismutase activity (BIODIAGNOSTIC, CAT. No. SD2521) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC) (CAT. No. TA2513). Lipid peroxidation expressed as malondialdehyde (MDA) was detected calorimetrically according to Okhawa et al.^[18], reduced glutathione (GSH) levels were detected by the method described by Pleban et al.^[19], and catalase (CAT) activity was detected by the method described by the method described by Aebi ^[20].

Statistical Analysis

Data were statistically analyzed using one-way (ANOVA) by SPSS 22 software to assess the significant differences between groups and times within groups. The results were demonstrated as means \pm SE. The results were considered statistically significant at P<0.05.

RESULTS

The results of follicular functions (*Table 2*) revealed a significant (P<0.05) increase in follicle number (FN) in both G_2 and G_4 groups on the 10th day of synchronization compared to the other groups. There was a gradual significant (P<0.05) increase in follicle diameter (FD) from the 7th day to the 10th day of synchronization in both G_2 and G_4 groups compared to groups G_1 and G_3 .

Serum hormone results (*Table 3*) revealed a gradual increase of progesterone (P4) level in all groups, but there was a significant (P<0.05) increase in G_4 from the 1st week to week 5 post-AI compared to G_1 and a non-significant

Table 2. Effects of vitamin E and selenium administration of ovsynch synchronized Friesian cows on follicle number (FN) and diameter (FD) during hot season								
	Time	Groups						
Item		1 st Group (G ₁)	2 nd Group (G ₂)	3 rd Group (G ₃)	4 th Group (G ₄)			
Follicle Number	0-day	1.80 ± 0.84	2.00±0.71	1.80 ± 0.84	2.00±0.71			
	7 th day	2.00±0.71	3.00±0.71	2.20±0.84	3.20±0.84			
	10 th day	2.20 ± 0.84^{b}	3.40±1.14ª	2.40±0.55 ^b	3.60±1.14ª			
Follicle Diameter (mm)	0-day	5.60±0.87	6.26±0.71	5.66±0.64	6.14±0.86			
	7 th day	6.16±0.66 ^{bB}	9.40±0.81 ^{aAB}	6.22 ± 0.74^{bB}	9.62±0.86 ^{aAB}			
	10 th day	7.82 ± 0.77^{bA}	10.00±0.8 ^{aA} 7	7.90 ± 0.89^{bA}	10.60±0.80ªA			

Data are expressed as mean \pm SE

^{a,b} Superscript: Mean significance difference among groups in the same row on P<0.05

^{A,B} Superscript: Mean significance difference among administration times in the same column on P<0.05

Table 3. Effects of vitamin E and selenium administration of ovsynch synchronized Friesian cows on serum hormones during hot season								
Darameters	Groups	Times						
Farameters		0-day	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	
	1 st group (G ₁)	$0.287 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	1.037 ± 0.411^{bB}	2.580±0.935 ^A	3.301 ± 1.724^{bA}	$3.535 \pm 1.861^{\text{bA}}$	4.594±2.201 ^{bA}	
Progesterone	2 nd group (G ₂)	0.311±0.056 ^D	2.376±0.704 ^{abC}	3.740±1.340 ^{BC}	5.380±1.81 ^{aAB}	5.580±1.630 ^{abAB}	6.499±1.446 ^{abA}	
(ng/mL)	3 rd group (G ₃)	0.294±0.057 ^D	2.288±0.571 ^{abC}	3.820±1.150 ^{BC}	5.420±1.85 ^{aAB}	5.620±1.650 ^{aAB}	6.579±1.495 ^{abA}	
	4 th group (G ₄)	0.344±0.072 ^E	2.592±0.673 ^{aD}	4.420±1.336 ^{CD}	6.420 ±2.13 ^{aBC}	7.420±2.023 ^{aAB}	8.379±1.847ªA	
	1 st group (G ₁)	3.034±0.417	2.993±0.21 ^b	2.933±0.201 ^b	2.994±0.171 ^b	3.009±0.193 ^b	3.088±0.271°	
Τ,	2 nd group (G ₂)	3.165±0.334 ^B	3.25±0.233 ^{abAB}	3.411±0.227 ^{aAB}	3.63±0.294ªA	3.598±0.245ªA	3.368±0.275 ^{bcAB}	
(ng/mL)	3 rd group (G ₃)	3.032±0.385 ^c	3.27±0.329 ^{abBC}	3.59±0.255 ^{aAB}	3.687 ±0.264 ^{aA}	3.694±0.205 ^{aA}	3.613±0.232 ^{abAB}	
	4 th group (G ₄)	3.294±0.347 ^B	3.452±0.328 ^{aAB}	3.71±0.268ªA	3.763±0.26 ^{aA}	3.783±0.272 ^{aA}	3.86±0.225ªA	
	1 st group (G ₁)	6.549±0.689	6.233±0.749	6.224±0.632	6.396±0.602	6.414±0.57	6.444±0.63	
Τ ₄ (μg/dL)	2 nd group (G ₂)	6.494±0.668	6.362±0.597	6.28±0.579	6.421±0.644	6.542±0.555	6.636±0.532	
	3 rd group (G ₃)	6.589±0.727	6.433±0.572	6.456±0.694	6.441±0.669	6.58±0.568	6.676±0.583	
	4 th group (G ₄)	6.629±0.668	6.808±0.637	6.861±0.496	6.804±0.556	7.053±0.479	7.118±0.574	
TSH (µU/mL)	1 st group (G ₁)	0.871±0.068 ^{bD}	1.025±0.089 ^{bC}	1.032±0.058 ^c	1.057±0.061 ^{BC}	1.175±0.078 ^{AB}	1.223±0.079 ^A	
	2 nd group (G ₂)	1.010 ± 0.077^{aD}	1.054 ± 0.091^{abCD}	1.103±0.07 ^{BCD}	1.177 ± 0.084^{AB}	1.206±0.094 ^{AB}	1.232±0.115 ^A	
	3 rd group (G ₃)	0.986 ± 0.087^{aB}	1.131±0.068 ^{abA}	1.134±0.075 ^A	1.161±0.072 ^A	1.191±0.091 ^A	1.227±0.107 ^A	
	4 th group (G ₄)	1.076 ± 0.097^{a}	1.173±0.076ª	1.133±0.068	1.113±0.056	1.112±0.054	1.133±0.068	
	1 st group (G ₁)	20.663±2.696 ^{aA}	22.86±2.965 ^{aAB}	23.103±2.819 ^{aB}	23.863±2.965 ^{aBC}	24.663±2.877 ^{aBC}	25.623±2.926 ^{aC}	
Cortisol	2 nd group (G ₂)	15.42±1.42 ^b	15.1±1.38 ^b	14.42±1.22 ^b	14.02±1.096 ^b	14.26±1.07 ^b	14.46±1.24 ^b	
(µg/dL)	3 rd group (G ₃)	19.86±1.898 ^{aB}	15.29±1.27 ^{bA}	14.07±1.18 ^{bA}	13.78±1.15 ^{bA}	13.62±1.12 ^{bA}	13.55±1.05 ^{bA}	
	4 th group (G ₄)	14.90±1.2 ^b	13.7±1.07 ^b	13.48±0.74 ^b	13.26±0.62 ^b	13.09±0.67 ^b	12.77±0.78 ^b	
	1 st group (G ₁)	241.10±22.07 ^c	236.40±21.87°	235.20±21.65°	238.05±20.09°	242.69±21.44°	247.15±21.1°	
Prolactin	2 nd group (G ₂)	310.90±25.8 ^{ab}	316.70±25.85 ^b	324.30±24.16 ^b	331.16±24.48 ^b	327.34±25.62 ^b	331.35±28.37 ^b	
(ng/mL)	3 rd group (G ₃)	286.6±27.34 ^{bC}	313.88±25.39 ^{bBC}	339.10±22.33 ^{bAB}	347.11±24.55 ^{bAB}	352.80±25.58 ^{bAB}	360.54±30.27 ^{bA}	
	4 th group (G ₄)	326.940±25.49ªE	372.50±27.27 ^{aD}	406.97±29.03 ^{aC}	434.30±34.38 ^{aBC}	459.10±39.47 ^{aAB}	474.62±37.35 ^{aA}	
Data are expressed	d as mean + SE							

Data are expressed as mean \pm SE

^{a, b, c} Superscript: Mean significance difference among groups in the same column on P<0.05

A, B, C, D, E Superscript: Mean significance difference among administration times in the same row on P<0.05

increase compared to the other two groups, G₂ and G₃. There was a non-significant change in T₄ levels during the experimental period between all groups. There was a gradually non-significant decrease in T₃ level of G₁ until the week 4. A significant (P<0.05) increase in the T₃ level of G₂, G₃, and G₄ from week 2 to week 5 compared to G₁. TSH levels results revealed a gradual increase in G1, G2, and G_3 from week 1 to week 5 with only a significant (P<0.05) decrease in G_1 on the 1st day post-AI compared to G_2 , G_3 , and G_4 and also a significant (P<0.05) decrease on the week 1 compared to G₄. There was a significant (P<0.05) increase in cortisol levels of G₁ throughout the experimental period compared to G₂, G₃, and G₄ groups. On the other hand, there was a significant (P<0.05) increase in the prolactin level of G₄ throughout the experimental period compared to G₁, G₂, and G₃. In the same time, there was a

significant (P<0.05) increase in prolactin levels of G_2 and G_3 throughout the experimental period compared to G_1 .

The results of oxidative stress biomarkers and antioxidants activities (*Table 4*) revealed a significant (P<0.05) increase in MDA and a significant (P<0.05) decrease in GSH, CAT, SOD, and TAC activities in G_1 compared with the other groups (G_2 , G_3 , and G_4) from week 1 to week 5 post-AI. At the same time, there was a significant (P<0.05) decrease in MDA and a significant (P<0.05) increase in GSH, CAT, SOD, and TAC of G_4 compared to the other two groups of vitamin E and selenium administration G_2 and G_3 on the most of the periods post-AI.

The results of pregnancy diagnosis (*Table 5*) revealed that the conception rates were 2/5 (40%), 3/5 (60%), 3/5 (60%), and 4/5 (80%) in G₁, G₂, G₃, and G₄, respectively.

Table 4. Effects of vitamin E and selenium administration of ovsynch synchronized Friesian cows on serum oxidative stress biomarkers during hot season								
Demonsterne	Groups	Times						
Parameters		0-day	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	
MDA (nmol/mL)	1 st group (G ₁)	1.785±0.139ª	1.830±0.134ª	1.759 ± 0.14^{a}	1.744±0.136ª	1.775±0.125ª	1.797±0.154ª	
	2^{nd} group (G ₂)	1.461±0.128 ^b	1.414 ± 0.108^{b}	1.360±0.093 ^b	1.395±0.097 ^b	1.417 ± 0.099^{b}	1.431±0.091 ^b	
	3 rd group (G ₃)	1.709±0.123ªA	1.394±0.107 ^{bB}	1.287±0.103 ^{bBC}	1.206±0.082 ^{cC}	1.163±0.103 ^{cC}	1.209±0.102 ^{cC}	
	4 th group (G ₄)	1.354±0.128 ^{bA}	1.226 ± 0.06^{cAB}	1.106±0.071 ^{cBC}	1.013 ± 0.084^{dC}	0.982 ± 0.055^{dC}	1.1040±0.078 ^{cC}	
	1 st group (G ₁)	2.297±0.179°	2.264 ± 0.196^{d}	2.309±0.122 ^c	2.452±0.141 ^d	2.377 ± 0.116^{d}	2.305±0.113 ^d	
GSH	2^{nd} group (G ₂)	4.129±0.362 ^{aC}	4.448±0.383 ^{bB}	4.553±0.384 ^{bA}	4.339±0.363 ^{cBC}	4.048±0.346 ^{CD}	3.818±0.277 ^{cD}	
(mg/dL)	3 rd group (G ₃)	2.900±0.176 ^{bC}	3.949±0.283 ^{cB}	4.837±0.326 ^{bA}	5.049±0.361 ^{bA}	$4.998 \pm 0.358^{\mathrm{bA}}$	4.707±0.321 ^{bA}	
	4 th group (G ₄)	4.254±0.324 ^{aA}	$5.094{\pm}0.407^{aB}$	5.522±0.438 ^{aC}	5.681±0.449 ^{aC}	5.767±0.433 ^{aC}	5.547±0.351 ^{aC}	
CAT (U/mL)	1 st group (G ₁)	7.751 ± 0.604^{b}	7.638±0.661°	7.592±0.671°	7.715 ± 0.682^{d}	7.742 ± 0.684^{d}	7.558 ± 0.656^{d}	
	2^{nd} group (G ₂)	13.529±1.189ªAB	$14.178 \pm 1.218^{\text{bAB}}$	15.084±1.26 ^{bA}	14.665±1.199 ^{cAB}	13.721±1.12 ^{cAB}	13.020±1.15 ^{cB}	
	3^{rd} group (G ₃)	8.952±0.727 ^{bC}	13.845±1.192 ^{bB}	15.636±1.156 ^{bA}	16.79±1.314 ^{bA}	16.86±1.439 ^{bA}	16.216±1.462 ^{bA}	
	4^{th} group (G ₄)	13.901±1.054 ^{aB}	17.539±1.277 ^{aA}	18.484±1.355 ^{aA}	18.719±1.478 ^{aA}	19.023±1.535 ^{aA}	18.865±1.423ªA	
	1 st group (G ₁)	13.422±1.046°	13.228±1.144°	13.494±0.714°	14.331±0.826°	13.891±0.681 ^d	13.47±0.66 ^d	
SOD (U/mL)	2^{nd} group (G ₂)	26.16±2.587 ^{aBC}	$28.10 \pm 2.844^{\text{bAB}}$	30.448±2.321 ^{bA}	30.134±2.34 ^{bA}	26.979±1.819 ^{cB}	24.074±1.718 ^{cC}	
	3 rd group (G ₃)	16.893±1.401 ^{bC}	27.02±2.03 ^{bB}	31.63±2.373 ^{abA}	33.67±2.77 ^{aA}	32.06±2.18 ^{bA}	29.81±2.39 ^{bA}	
	4^{th} group (G ₄)	27.77±2.92 ^{aC}	31.73±2.79 ^{aB}	34.22 ± 2.66^{aAB}	35.36±2.87ªA	36.31±2.42ªA	34.63±2.35 ^{aAB}	
	1 st group (G ₁)	1.089 ± 0.085^{b}	1.073±0.093°	1.094±0.058°	1.162±0.067°	1.127 ± 0.055^{d}	1.092 ± 0.054^{d}	
TAC	2^{nd} group (G ₂)	$1.34{\pm}0.089^{aB}$	$1.394 \pm 0.129^{\text{bAB}}$	1.492±0.122 ^{bA}	1.496 ± 0.114^{bA}	1.391 ± 0.102^{cAB}	1.324±0.108 ^{cB}	
(mU/L)	3^{rd} group (G ₃)	1.185±0.073 ^{bC}	1.357±0.097 ^{bB}	1.576±0.128 ^{bA}	1.636±0.134 ^{bA}	1.654±0.142 ^{bA}	1.573±0.126 ^{bA}	
	4 th group (G ₄)	1.418±0.122 ^{aD}	1.531±0.13 ^{aCD}	1.632±0.129ªBC	1.719±0.143ªAB	1.762±0.152ªA	1.714±0.121ªAB	
Data are expresse	d as mean ± SE							

a. b. c. and d Superscript: Mean significance difference among groups in the same column on P<0.05 A. B. C. and D Superscript: Mean significance difference among times of administration in the same row on P<0.05

Table 5. Effects of vitamin E and selenium administration of ovsynch synchronized Friesian cows on conception rate during hot season of each group (n=5)

	Rate	Groups					
Parameter		1 st Group (G1)	2 nd Group (G ₂)	3 rd Group (G ₃)	4 th Group (G ₄)		
Conception rate	Number	2	3	3	4		
	Percent (%)	40	60	60	80		

DISCUSSION

In this study, ovsynch synchronization was provided using a GnRH and PGF₂ α combination protocol, consistent with the previous studies in buffalo ^[21], and Friesian cows ^[22]. The results showed decreased follicular number and diameter in both G₁ and G₃ groups that did not receive vitamin E and Se supplementation. This decrease may be attributed to the adverse impact of heat stress during the hot season on reproductive performance and fertility ^[1,2]. Heat stress at the beginning of ovulation reduces the diameter and volume of the dominant follicle ^[23]. Additionally, it may directly impair the cellular function of reproductive cells, influence follicular maturation and waves ^[3], and result in smaller dominant follicles due to decreased feed intake during the hot season ^[5]. Heat stress adversely affects fertility by disrupting follicles and oocytes, likely due to oxidative damage ^[24]. Elevated temperatures in the hot season reduces feed intake that may compromise the energy balance of cattle and/or disrupting the hypothalamic-hypophyseal-ovarian axis. These factors impair the reproductive performance of the cow and compromise the quality of oocytes, and corpora lutea ^[25]. Vitamin E and selenium administration in group G₂ and G₄ led to increased follicular number and diameter, highlighting their role in enhancing reproductive performance and follicular development ^[26,27]. Administration of vitamin E improves fertility in cows by regulating the free radicals within ovarian tissues. It was thought that this fertility improvement is likely attributed to the intracellular antioxidant activities of vitamin E and selenium which protect the cell membranes from oxidative damage by scavenging reactive oxygen radicals ^[28]. Notably, reactive oxygen species play important roles in ovulation, oocyte maturation, corpus luteum dynamics, implantation, and fetal development ^[29].

The hormonal profile revealed a gradual increase in progesterone concentration across all groups, especially after insemination which correlated with embryonic development ^[30]. The groups administered vitamin E and selenium showed a significantly higher progesterone concentration compared to group G1 (control group), consistent with previous research ^[31,32]. These results are likely related to the role of vitamin E and selenium in improving the resumption of ovarian activity by contributing to progesterone production by the corpus luteum ^[12].

Thyroid hormones revealed a gradual decline in T, levels alongside a corresponding elevation of TSH in group G, starting from the 1st week post-AI. These findings were consistent with previous studies in pregnant cows [33,34]. Reduced T₂ levels during the hot season could be attributed to the negative impact of elevated temperature on thyroid function and thyroid hormone levels [7]. This decrease in thyroid hormones may aid animals in acclimatizing to heat stress, as reduced thyroid concentration leads to decreased cellular oxygen consumption and metabolic heat production ^[35]. The significant increase of T₂ in the groups which received vitamin E and selenium was consistent with Shakirullah et al.^[36] who reported enhanced thyroid hormone production in sheep exposed to combined vitamin E and Se supplementation during heat stress. Selenium is involved in the metabolism of thyroid hormones. The enzyme 5-iodothyronine de-iodinase is a seleno-dependent^[37], so co-administration of vitamin E and selenium may promote T3 levels by facilitating the deiodination of T4 into its active form T3.

The increased cortisol level in G_1 are in agreement with previous studies, which have reported increased serum cortisol levels during heat stress in the hot season ^[38]. This finding shows that the cows experience heat stress during such periods. The higher serum cortisol level may be attributed to thermal stress activating the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal cortical axis (HPA) leading to enhanced secretion of the stress hormone cortisol ^[7]. The reduction of cortisol levels observed in the groups administered vitamin E and selenium was consistent with previous studies in sheep ^[36], and dairy cows ^[7]. These results highlight the potential role of vitamin E and selenium in heat stress acclimation, acting as anti-stress factors.

The decrease of prolactin level observed in G, compared to the other administered groups may be attributed to the exposure of animals to heat stress, which alters the concentration of hormones such as thyroid hormones, cortisol, and prolactin. Hence, these hormone levels could be used as indicators of stress in animals [8]. Additionally, heat stress reduces feed intake, and also leads to blood flow redistribution, immune system depression and alterations in endocrine functions ultimately affecting the productivity and reproductive performance in cattle^[6]. The significant increase in prolactin levels observed in groups administered vitamin E and selenium might be related to the role of selenium and vitamins in stimulating prolactin synthesis and secretion [39]. Current results provide the impact of vitamin E and selenium administration in stimulating prolactin secretion and improving milk yield even during the hot season ^[26,27].

Despite the adverse effects of heat stress on fertility, including follicle and oocyte disruption potentially induced by oxidative damage, it was essential to assess oxidative stress markers in this study. An increase in MDA activity, as well as decrease in GSH, CAT, SOD and TAC activities within G₁ compared to the administered groups, could be attributed to heat stress induced reduction in antioxidant activity, leading to oxidative stress [9,24,40,41]. Heat stress provides overproduction of free radicals and reactive oxygen species (ROS), disrupting the steady-state concentrations of free radicals, leading to both cellular and mitochondrial oxidative damage. Additionally, the decline in glutathione levels (glutathione insufficiency) is characteristic of reduced glutathione synthesis [42]. Decreased serum TAC concentration may be referred to thermal stress, suggesting that the antioxidant potential as a free radical scavenger has become depleted. Additionally, decreased SOD levels may reveal also endogenous antioxidant mobilization to neutralize free radicals [43]. Lipid peroxidation, mainly involving polyunsaturated fatty acids produces lipid peroxides, with MDA being the most prevalent among them [44]. Improving antioxidant activities in groups administered vitamin E and selenium were in accordance with previous studies in sheep [36], dairy cows [26], buffalos [45], which are in corroboration with the current findings. This condition indicates the positive effects of vitamin E and selenium, which have antioxidant roles. They are important components of the antioxidant defense system, contributing significantly to immune function and reproductive success through their involvement in essential enzymatic reactions ^[11]. Vitamin E acts as an intra-cellular antioxidant, and scavenging ROS thereby protecting cellular membranes from oxidative damage. Selenium acts as a co-factor in the glutathione
peroxidase enzyme system responsible for extracellular detoxification of free radicals [46].

Pregnancy diagnosis revealed an improved conception rate in groups administered vitamin E and selenium, consistent with findings from previous studies ^[26,32,47] reporting administration of vitamin E and selenium during late pregnancy improved conception rates in subsequent seasons. This provides the role of vitamin E and selenium to minimize postpartum disorders and improve cow's reproductive efficiency. Hemingway ^[13] who reported that supplementation of vitamin E plus selenium before mating improved the conception rate of cattle and sheep by decreasing early embryonic deaths. Also, administration of selenium and/or vitamin E combinations has been associated with increased pregnancy rates ^[14].

In conclusion, heat stress during hot season adversely affects reproductive performance by suppression of reproductive hormones production and enhancement of oxidative stress. Vitamin E and selenium administration reduces the effects of heat stress, acting as potent antioxidant activators, which involvement in crucial enzymatic reactions significantly contributes to reproductive success. Administering two doses of vitamin E and selenium, before synchronization and at artificial insemination, provides more impact on the conception rate compared to a single dose administered either before synchronization or pre artificial insemination.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data sets analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author H. M. Yousif on reasonable request.

Financial Support: There was no financial support.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): This article and/or tables were not written or created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Author Contributions: A. M. Shaarawy, A. M. Shehabeldin, M. E. A. Omar and A. A. Mehany were participated in the research design and collect the samples. H. M. Yousif and R. A. A. Rezk were performed the experimental duties of this study and serum biochemical analysis. All authors participate in writing and approved the final version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Turk R, Podpečan O, Mrkun J, Flegar-Meštrić Z, Perkov S, Zrimšek P: The effect of seasonal thermal stress on lipid mobilization, antioxidant status and reproductive performance in dairy cows. *Reprod Domest Anim*, 50 (4): 595-603, 2015. DOI: 10.1111/rda.12534

2. Stefanska B, Sobolewska P, Fievez V, Pruszynska-Oszmałek E, Purwin C, Nowak W: The effect of heat stress on performance, fertility, and adipokines involved in regulating systemic immune response during lipolysis of early lactating dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci*, 107 (4): 2111-2128, 2024.

DOI: 10.3168/jds.2023-23804

3. Wolfenson D, Sonego H, Bloch A, Shaham-Albalancy A, Kaim M, Folman Y, Meidan R: Seasonal differences in progesterone production by luteinized bovine theca and granulosa cells. *Domest Anim Endocrinol*, 22 (2): 81-90, 2002. DOI: 10.1016/s0739-7240(01)00127-8

4. Guzeloglu A, Ambrose JD, Kassa T, Diaz T, Thatcher MJ, Thatcher WW: Long term follicular dynamics and biochemical characteristics of dominant follicles in dairy cows subjected to acute heat stress. *Anim Reprod Sci*, 66 (1-2): 15-34, 2001. DOI: 10.1016/s0378-4320(01)00082-3

5. Sartori R, Rosa GJ, Wiltbank MC: Ovarian structures and circulating steroids in heifers and lactating cows in summer and lactating and dry cows in winter. *J Dairy Sci*, 85 (11): 2813-2822, 2002. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74368-3

6. Al-Samawi KA, Al-Hassan MJ, Swelum AA: Thermoregulation of female Aardi goats exposed to environmental heat stress in Saudi Arabia. *Indian J Anim Res*, 48 (4): 344-349, 2014. DOI: 10.5958/0976-0555.2014.00453.1

7. Kalmath GP, Swamy-Narayana M: Effect of antioxidants supplementation on plasma hormonal profiles in Hallikar cattle during different seasons. *Indian J Anim Res*, 53 (1): 28-32, 2019.

8. Sivakumar AVN, Singh G, Varshney VP: Antioxidants supplementation on acid base balance during heat stress in goats. *Asian-Australas J Anim Sci*, 23 (11): 1462-1468, 2010. DOI: 10.5713/ajas.2010.90471

9. Alhidary IA, Shini S, Al Jassim RAM, Abudabos AM, Gaughan JB: Effects of selenium and vitamin E on performance, physiological response and selenium balance in heat-stressed sheep. *J Anim Sci*, 93 (2): 576-588, 2015. DOI: 10.2527/jas.2014-8419

10. Scherf H, Machlin LJ, Frye TM, Krautmann BA, Williams SN: Vitamin E bio-potency: Comparison of various natural derived and chemically synthesized α - tocopherol. *Anim Feed Sci Technol*, 59 (1-3): 115-126, 1996. DOI: 10.1016/0377-8401(95)00892-6

11. Maraba KP, MLambo V, Yusuf AO, Marume U, Hugo A: Extra dietary vitamin E-selenium as a mitigation strategy against housing-induced stress in Dohne Merino lambs: Effect on growth performance, stress biomarkers, and meat quality. *Small Ruminant Res*, 160, 31-37, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j. smallrumres.2018.01.009

12. Kamada H, Hodate K: Effect of dietary selenium supplementation on the plasma progesterone concentration in cows. *J Vet Med Sci*, 60 (1): 133-135, 1998. DOI: 10.1292/jvms.60.133

13. Hemingway RG: The influences of dietary intakes and supplementation with selenium and vitamin E on reproduction diseases and reproductive efficiency in cattle and sheep. *Vet Res Commun*, 27 (2): 159-174, 2003. DOI: 10.1023/a:1022871406335

14. Zanella R, Bondan C, Soares JCM, Zanella EL, de-Lima MR: Use of antioxidants to improve the pregnancy rate in beef cattle submitted to a synchronization protocol with progesterone (P4). *Ci Anim Bras*, 11 (3): 477-481, 2010. DOI: 10.5216/cab.v11i3.3848

15. Mader TL, Davis MS, Brown-Brandl T: Environmental factors influencing heat stress in feedlot cattle. *J Anim Sci*, 84 (3): 712-719, 2006. DOI: 10.2527/2006.843712x

16. Armstrong DV: Heat stress interaction with shade and cooling. *J Dairy Sci*, 77 (7): 2044-2050, 1994. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302 (94)77149-6

17. Jena D, Das S, Patra BK, Biswal SS, Mohanty DN, Samal P: Certain hormonal profiles of postpartum anestrus jersey crossbred cows treated with controlled internal drug release and ovsynch protocol. *Vet World*, 9 (10): 1102-1106, 2016. DOI: 10.14202/vetworld.2016.1102-1106

18. Okhawa H, Ohishi N, Yagi K: Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. *Anal Biochem*, 95 (2): 351-358, 1979. DOI: 10.1016/0003-2697(79)90738-3

19. Pleban PA, Munyani A, Beachum J: Determination of selenium concentration and glutathione peroxidase activity in plasma and erythrocytes. *Clin Chem*, 28 (2): 311-316, 1982. DOI: 10.1093/clinchem/28.2.311

20. Aebi H: Catalase *in vitro. Methods Enzymol*, 105, 121-126, 1984. DOI: 10.1016/s0076-6879(84)05016-3

21. Roza E, Aritonang SN, Susanti H, Sandra A: Synchronization of GnRH and PGF2 α on estrus response, pregnancy, progesterone hormones in

crossing of Swamp Buffalo and Water Buffalo in West Sumatra, Indonesia. *Biodiversitas*, 20 (10): 2910-2914, 2019. DOI: 10.13057/biodiv/d201019

22. González-Maldonado J, Rangel-Santos R, Rodríguez-de Lara R, Ramírez-Valverde G, Bribiesca JER, Vigil-Vigil JM, García-Espinosa MF: Effects of injecting increased doses of vitamins C and E onreproductive parameters of Holstein dairy cattle. *Rev Mex de Cienc Pecuarias*, 10 (3): 571-582, 2019.

23. Badinga L, Thatcher WW, Diaz T, Dorst M, Wolfenson D: Effect of environmental heat stress on follicular development and steroidogenesis in lactating Holstein cows. *Theriogenology*, 39 (4): 797-810, 1993. DOI: 10.1016/0093-691x(93)90419-6

24. Roth Z: Effect of heat stress on reproduction in dairy cows: Insights into the cellular and molecular responses of the oocyte. *Annu Rev Anim Biosci*, 5, 151-170, 2017. DOI: 10.1146/annurev-animal-022516-022849

25. De-Rensis F, Lopez-Gatius F, García-Ispierto I, Morini G, Scaramuzzi RJ: Causes of declining fertility in dairy cows during the warm season. *Theriogenology*, 91, 145-153, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology. 2016.12.024

26. Kassab AY, Hamdon H, Senosy W, Daghash H, Soliman A: Impact of antioxidants supplementation on metabolic status and reproductive performance of Aberdeen Angus cows during seasonal thermal stress in arid subtropical regions. *Egyptian J Anim Prod*, 57 (1): 1-11, 2020. DOI: 10.21608/EJAP.2020.92753

27. Chen YH, Chen YM, Tu PA, Lee KH, Chen JY, Hsu JT: Effect of supplementing vitamin E, selenium, copper, zinc, and manganese during the transition period on dairy cow reproductive performance and immune function. *Vet Sci*, 10 (3): 1-15, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/vetsci10030225

28. Kaya S, Kocak G, Demir MC, Kacar C: The effect of vitamin e-trace mineral treatments on reproductive performance in Morkaraman sheep during the breeding season. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 29 (2): 161-169, 2023. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2022.28901

29. Musa SI, Bitto II, Ayoade JA, Oyedipe OE: Effects of vitamin E and selenium on fertility and lamb performance of Yankasa sheep. *Open J Vet Med*, 8 (9): 167-173, 2018. DOI: 10.4236/ojvm.2018.89015

30. LemLey CO, Vonnahme KA, Tager LR, Krause KM, Wilson ME: Dietinduced alterations in hepatic progesterone (P4) catabolic enzyme activity and P4 clearance rate in lactating dairy cows. *J Endocrinol*, 205 (3): 233-241, 2010. DOI: 10.1677/JOE-10-0042

31. Kamada H: Effects of selenium-rich yeast supplementation on the plasma progesterone levels of postpartum dairy cows. *Asian-Austral J Anim Sci*, 30 (3): 347-354, 2017. DOI: 10.5713/ajas.16.0372

32. Damarany AI: Effect of treatment with vitamin e and selenium during late gestation period on mastitis, retained placenta and postpartum reproductive parameters in Egyptian Baladi cows. *Egyptian J Anim Prod*, 58 (2): 47-56, 2021. DOI: 10.21608/ejap.2021.73169.1014

33. Steinhoff L, Jung K, Meyerholz MM, Heidekorn-Dettmer J, Hoedemaker M, Schmicke M: Thyroid hormone profiles and TSH evaluation during early pregnancy and the transition period in dairy cows. *Theriogenology*, 129, 23-28, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2019.01.023

34. Fazio E, Bionda A, Chiofalo V, Crepaldi P, Lopreiato V, Medica P,

Liotta L: Adaptive responses of thyroid hormones, insulin, and glucose during pregnancy and lactation in dairy cows. *Animals*, 12 (11): 1395, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/ani12111395

35. Shido O, Sakurada S, Hashimoto T, Fujikake K, Nagasaka T: Increase in plasma thyroid levels during the previous heat exposure time in heat-acclimated rats. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 71 (12): 904-907, 1993. DOI: 10.1139/y93-137

36. Shakirullah, Qureshi MS, Akhtar S, Khan RU: The effect of vitamin E and selenium on physiological, hormonal and antioxidant status of Damani and Balkhi sheep submitted to heat stress. *App Biol Chem*, 60 (6): 585-590, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/s13765-017-0313-9

37. Mehdi Y, Dufrasne I: Selenium in cattle: A review. *Molecules*, 21 (4):545, 2016. DOI: 10.3390/molecules21040545

38. Alameen AO, Abdelatif AM: Metabolic and endocrine responses of crossbred dairy cows in relation to pregnancy and season under tropical conditions. *American-Eurasian J Agric Environ Sci*, 12 (8): 1065-1074, 2012. DOI: 10.5829/idosi.aejaes.2012.12.08.6619

39. Jia Y, Li Q, Burris WR, Aiken GE, Bridges PJ, Matthews JC: Forms of selenium in vitamin-mineral mixes differentially affect serum prolactin concentration and hepatic glutamine synthetize activity of steers grazing endophyte-infected tall fescue. *J Anim Sci*, 96 (2): 715-727, 2018. DOI: 10.1093/jas/skx068

40. Mutwedu VB, Nyongesa AW, Oduma JA, Kitaa JM, Mbaria JM: Thermal stress causes oxidative stress and physiological changes in female rabbits. *J Therm Biol*, 95:102780, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. jtherbio.2020.102780

41. Saleh MA, Rateb MH, Abd-Allah EAA, Mohamed GA: Effect of hot dry environment on the oxidative stress indices in male Barki lambs. *Assiut Vet Med J*, 68 (174): 88-95, 2022. DOI: 10.21608/AVMJ.2022.143473.1065

42. Habeeb AAM: Symptoms of heat stress in tropical and subtropical regions on farm animals. *Euro J Agri Food Sci*, 2 (6): 1-5, 2020. DOI: 10.24018/ejfood.2020.2.6.107

43. Ellamie AM, Fouda WA, Ibrahim WM, Ramadan G: Dietary supplementation of brown seaweed (*Sargassum latifolium*) alleviates the environmental heat stress-induced toxicity in male Barki sheep (*Ovis aries*). *J Therm Biol*, 89:102561, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102561

44. Gutteridge JMC, Halliwell B: Mini-review: Oxidative stress, redox stress or redox success? *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 502 (2): 183-186, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.05.045

45. Hassan MS, Abd-Allah EA: Impact of vitamin E and selenium supplementation on oxidative parameters and reproductive efficiency of Egyptian buffaloes. *J Multidiscip Sci*, 3 (1): 16-20, 2021.

46. Speckmann B, Grune T: Epigenetic effects of selenium and their implications for health. *Epigenetics*, 10 (3): 179-190, 2015 DOI: 10.1080/15592294.2015.1013792

47. Khalili M, Chamani M, Amanlou H, Nikkhah A, Sadeghi AA, Dehkordi FK, Rafiei M, Shirani V: The effect of feeding inorganic and organic selenium sources on the hematological blood parameters, reproduction and health of dairy cows in the transition period. *Acta Sci Anim Sci*, 42 (1):e45371(1-10), 2020. DOI: 10.4025/actascianimsci.v42i1.45371

Research Article

Effect of Propofol Induction on Antioxidant Defense System, Cytokines, and CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells in Cats

Didar AYDIN KAYA ¹ [©] Özlem GÜZEL ¹ [©] Duygu SEZER ² [©] Gülşen SEVİM ² [©] Erdal MATUR ³ [©] Ezgi ERGEN ³ ^(*) [©] Feraye Esen GÜRSEL ⁴ [©] Gizem ATMACA ⁴ [©]

¹Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Surgery, TR-34320 Istanbul - TÜRKİYE

² Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Graduate Education Institute, TR-34320 Istanbul - TÜRKİYE

³ Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Physiology, TR-34500 Istanbul - TÜRKİYE

⁴ Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Biochemistry, TR-34500 Istanbul - TÜRKİYE



(*) **Corresponding author:** Ezgi ERGEN Phone: +90 212 866 37 00/43360 Cellular phone: +90 537 686 3139 E-mail: ezgi.ergen@iuc.edu.tr

How to cite this article?

Aydin Kaya D, Güzel Ö, Sezer D, Sevim G, Matur E, Ergen E, Gürsel FE, Atmaca G: Effect of propofol induction on antioxidant defense system, cytokines, and CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in cats. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 603-610, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31756

Article ID: KVFD-2024-31756 Received: 09.02.2024 Accepted: 02.08.2024 Published Online: 29.08.2024

Abstract

We investigated the effects of propofol on the antioxidant defense mechanisms, pro and anti-inflammatory cytokine expressions and specific defense processes in the study since these parameters play a significant role in postoperative complications, regulation of immune reactions, and wound healing. Twenty male cats were included in the study, anesthesia protocol was induced by IV administration of 6 mg/kg of propofol. Blood samples were harvested right before (T0) and fifteen minutes after (T1) propofol injection. Serum malondialdehyde (MDA), catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px), IL-4, IL-8, TNF-a, IL-1β, and IFN-γ levels; the number of CD4+, CD8+ T cells and CD4/CD8 ratio in peripheral blood were determined. Propofol reduced the serum MDA and GSH-Px, while CAT and SOD levels remained unchanged. Furthermore, propofol did not impact serum IL-8, TNF- α , and IL-1 β levels. Contrastingly, IFN- γ level tended to elevate, and serum IL-4 level was significantly increased. On the other hand, the CD8+ T cell population was significantly decreased, while the number of CD4+ T cells and the CD4/CD8 ratio were unaffected. Briefly, propofol did not adversely affect oxidative defense mechanisms, proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine cascade, and cell mediated immunity. Considering the insufficiency of cats' hepatic drug metabolism, we may conclude that propofol is a safe product regarding the investigated parameters.

Keywords: Antioxidant, Cat, Cytokine, Propofol, T cells

INTRODUCTION

Propofol (2,6-diisopropyl-phenol) is a sedative and hypnotic agent widely used to induce and maintain anesthesia in companion animals. It is favored in humans and animals due to the rapid induction of anesthesia, short action time, and fast elimination ^[1]. Propofol is mainly metabolized directly in the liver in humans, while, in cats, it is initially oxidized to 4-hydroxy propofol in the lungs and then eliminated due to the hepatic UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzyme deficiency ^[2]. The relatively slow and inadequate extrahepatic metabolization of propofol impacts the cat's physiological status ^[3].

Oxidative stress is the impairment of the balance between antioxidants and free radicals in favor of the latter. It is reported that oxidative stress occurs because tissue perfusion and oxygenation changes during anesthesia ^[4]. In addition, feline erythrocytes are more prone to oxidative stress than other species due to relatively high concentrations of oxidizable sulfhydryl compounds. Particularly, repetitive anesthesia was indicated to have exerted oxidative damage in cats ^[3]. On the other hand, the antioxidant properties of propofol were shown in *in-vitro* and *in-vivo* studies conducted with humans and experimental animals ^[5]. Preoperative oxidative stress impacts postoperative wound healing, and its elevated levels play a role in potential complications. Therefore, considering the cats' susceptibility to oxidative stress, the potential effect of propofol on oxidative defense mechanisms is worth being investigated in this species.

Cytokines are small proteins that serve in inter-cellular signaling, regulating immune cells' development,

proliferation, function, and survival, and thus, they play a crucial role in inflammation and infections. Cytokines are rapidly released in response to stimuli and tissue injury due to cytokine-encoding genes' fast-acting transcription and translation processes ^[6]; thus, short-term applications, like anesthesia, are highly likely to affect cytokine production. Changes in cytokine expression or impaired balance between pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines impact the efficacy of immune response and wound healing, exerting potential postoperative complications ^[7]. The potential effects of anesthetics on cytokine production have been evaluated in humans and experimental animals [8]. In cats, cytokine levels have been investigated during infectious and noninfectious inflammation ^[9]. Studies emphasizing the need for further exploration in cats solely focus on cytokine production during anesthesia.

This addition emphasizes the need for further research on cytokine production specifically during inflammation in cats. The function of T cells is highly significant since they are the fundamentals of the specific defense system, inducing both cytotoxic and antigen-producing activities benefiting the defense responses ^[10]. These cells are also closely associated with cytokines, since it is through cytokines that helper T cells are able to recognize the invading pathogen and present it to the specific defense system [11]. Therefore, cytokines and T cells should be simultaneously assessed while investigating the potential effects of anesthetics. The relevant connection was relatively investigated in humans [12]; however, few documented studies address the animal phenomenon [13]. Therefore, examining the effects of propofol anesthesia on cellular immune responses in cats would be beneficial.

The dispersion of propofol into the tissues and its metabolism and elimination is distinct in cats compared to dogs and other species ^[14]. This difference has the potential to alter the effects of an esthetics on the physiological system. However, more data are required concerning the issue in question. Therefore, this study was designed to reveal the potential effects of propofol on the cardiopulmonary

system, antioxidant defense mechanisms, pro and antiinflammatory cytokine expressions, and specific defense processes since all these parameters play a significant role in potential postoperative complications, regulation of immune reactions, and wound healing.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

This study was carried out with the permission of Istanbul University Local Ethics Committee (Approval no: 35980450-050.01.04). Additionally, informed consent forms were obtained from the owners.

Animals

Twenty cats that had to be operated on for various conditions were included in the study. The cats comprised 1-6-year-old males to rule out age and gender-associated variation (*Table 1*). Of the cases in the study, 8 were castration, 2 were tooth extraction, 2 were blepharoplasty, 1 was urethrostomy, 1 was cystotomy, 1 was tibial fracture osteosynthesis, 1 was wound revision, 1 was removal of osteochondrodysplastic exostoses, 1 was femoral fracture osteosynthesis, 1 patient with inguinal cryptorchid, and 1 patient with enucleation underwent anesthesia.

Anesthesia

According to the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical status classification system, ASA I and II patients were subjected to evaluations. All patients preoperatively underwent a routine physical exam, including hemograms and biochemical testing. Food and water intake ceased 6 h and 1 h before the induction of anesthesia, respectively. Each cat was administered IV 6 mg/kg of propofol through a 22 G angiocath (Vasofix; B. Braun Melsungen AG, Germany) inserted into the v. cephalica antebrachii.

Heart rate (HR), respiratory rate (fR), end-tidal CO_2 (ETCO₂), oxygen saturation (SpO₂), and body temperature were recorded before and during anesthesia. The heart

Table 1. Demographic data of the cats included in the study								
Breed	n	Age (year)		Body Weight (kg)				
		Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
Mixed breed	10	2.45	1.34	4.15	0.98			
Scottish Fold	4	2.12	0.47	4.67	1.01			
Exotic Shorthair	2	2	1.41	3.5	0.7			
Persian cat	2	1.5	0.71	2.75	0.35			
Siamese	1	4		4				
Norwegian forest cat	1	4		7				
Total	20	2.4		4.13	1.2			

rhythm was monitored by a multifunctional ECG monitor (Advisor V9212 AR; Surgivet, Waukesha, WI, USA) based on lead II. The respiratory rate was initially determined by monitoring the chest movement and then the movements of the reservoir bag after endotracheal intubation.

The ETCO₂ levels were recorded by a capnometer integrated into the ECG monitor (Advisor V9212 AR; Surgivet, Waukesha, WI, USA), attached to the intubation tube. The SpO₂ was measured on the tongue mucosa using a pulse oximeter probe (Advisor V9212 AR; Surgivet, Waukesha, WI, USA). The body temperature was rectally taken by a digital thermometer (Omron, The Netherlands) during the anesthesia. Once the jaw muscles relaxed, endotracheal intubation was performed using appropriate-sized intubation tubes (Rüsch, Germany). General anesthesia was initiated by 4% and maintained by 2% isoflurane, after the blood draw at the 15th min following propofol induction (Royal-77 Anesthesia Machine CE 0434, Seul KOREA).

Blood Sampling

Blood samples were harvested through v. jugularis right before (T0) and 15 min after propofol administration prior to surgical incision (T1) and collected into anticoagulant and non-anticoagulant tubes for hemogram plus flow cytometry and to obtain sera stored at -80°C for further analyses, respectively.

Determining the Effect of Propofol on Antioxidant Levels

Serum malondialdehyde (MDA), catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD), and glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) levels were measured to assess the potential effect of propofol on oxidative defense mechanisms by the ELISA method using commercial kits specific to the cat (Abbkine Scientific, Hubei, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Estimating the Effect of Propofol on Cytokine Expression Levels

Proinflammatory IL-8, IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IFN and antiinflammatory cytokines IL-4 were measured by the ELISA method using commercial kits specific to the cat (Abbkine Scientific, Hubei, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly the stock solution (containing 400 ng/L cytokine) included in the kit was subjected to a series of dilutions by the sample diluent to obtain the standard solutions. In total, 150 µL of the former diluted solution was transferred to the latter in each dilution step, ensuring the final standard solutions contained a maximum assay concentration of 200 ng/L and minimum of 12.5 ng/L. Serum samples (50 µL) processed with the standard solutions were subjected to ELISA analysis according to the manufacturer's instructions. Absorbance measurements were taken at a wavelength of 405 nm using an RT6000 spectrophotometer (Rayto, Shenzhen, China). Intra- and inter-assay variabilities were determined to be <9% and <11%, respectively, based on information provided by the manufacturer.

Flow Cytometry Analysis

Cat-specific monoclonal CD3+ (CD3-FITC), CD4+ (CD4-PE), and CD8+ (CD8a-PE) antibodies (Southern Biotech[©] Birmingham, USA) were used to label T cells. Before the analyses, CD3-FITC and CD4-PE were diluted at a ratio of 1:50 and CD8a-PE at a ratio of 1:100 using PBS and stored at 2-8°C. Two flow cytometry tubes (12x75 mm, polystyrene) were prepared for each specimen, and 10 µL of CD3 FITC + CD4 PE and CD3 FITC + CD8 PE were pipetted into the tubes, respectively, and then 100 μ L of whole blood was added into each tube. The tubes were vortexed at medium speed for 2 sec and left for 15 min-incubation in the dark, enabling the leukocytes to be stained with the antibodies. For removing the erythrocytes, 2 mL of the lysing solution was pipetted into each tube, which was vortexed and left to dark incubation for 10 min, centrifugated at 300 g for 5 min. The obtained supernatant was disposed of by a pipette. Then, 2 mL of PBS was added into the tubes, which were centrifuged again following the same procedure, and the supernatant was pipetted out. Finally, 500 μ L of PBS was added into the tubes, and the specimens containing rinsed and monoclonal antibodylabeled leukocytes were read on the flow cytometer. The CellQuest program (Becton Dickinson, New Jersey. USA) was used for cytometric analysis. Twenty thousand cells per specimen were run through the flow cytometer, and CD4+ and CD8+ T cells were assessed by FL-1 and FL-2 detectors.

Statistical Analysis

The IBM SPSS Statistics Version 21 program (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA) was used for statistical analysis. The Shapiro-Wilk test was applied to determine whether or not the data were normally distributed. The difference between the parameters regarding T0 (before anesthesia) and T1 (after anesthesia) and the normally distributed data of the paired specimens were analyzed by the dependent t-test. Non-normally distributed data were analyzed by the Wilcoxon Signed Rank test. The results were presented as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM) for parametric and median and inter-quarterly range (IQR) for non-parametric data. The significance was estimated at a level of P<0.05.

RESULTS

The effects of propofol on the cardiopulmonary system and body temperature is presented in *Fig.1*.



Fig 1. The effects of propofol on the cardiopulmonary system and body temperature. Data are presented by box plots where the central lines represent the median, and the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values (n=20). Different letters above the columns indicate a significant difference between the groups, P<0.05 (n=20)



Fig 3. The effects of propofol on proinflammatory cytokines. Serum interleukin 8 (IL-8), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α), interleukin 1 beta (IL-1B), interferon gamma (IFN-G), and interleukin 4 (IL-4) levels before sedation (T0) and 15 min after anesthesia induction (T1) in cats anesthetized with propofol. Data are presented by box plots where the central lines represent the median, and the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values. Different letters above the columns indicate a significant difference between the groups, P<0.05 (n=20)



Fig 2. The effects of propofol on antioxidant defense responses. Serum malondialdehide (MDA), catalase (CAT), superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione peroxidase (GSH-px) levels measured before sedation (T0) and 15 min after anesthesia induction (T1) in cats anesthetized with propofol. Data are presented by box plots where the central lines represent the median, and the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values. Different letters above the columns indicate a significant difference between the groups, P<0.05 (n=20)



Fig 4. The effects of propofol on CD3+, CD4+, and CD8+ T cells. Peripheral blood CD3+, CD4+, CD8+ cells percentages and CD4/CD8 cell ratio before sedation (T0) and 15 min after anesthesia induction (T1) in cats anesthetized with propofol. Data are presented by box plots where the central lines represent the median, and the whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values. Different letters above the columns indicate a significant difference between the groups, P<0.05 (n=20)

The effects of propofol on antioxidant defense responses is presented in *Fig.2*. Serum MDA level was significantly decreased after propofol administration (P=0.007). Likewise, serum GSH-Px level was also reduced (P=0.002). On the other hand, propofol did not affect serum CAT and SOD activities (P=0.103 and P=0.154, respectively).

The effects of propofol on proinflammatory cytokines is demonstrated in *Fig.3*. The data revealed no significant changes in serum IL-8, TNF- α , and IL-1 β levels (P=0.421; P=0.140 and P=0.433, respectively). On the other hand, serum IFN- γ level was noted to have been increasing (P=0.061). Serum IL-4 level was significantly elevated after propofol anesthesia (P=0.037).

The effects of propofol on CD3+, CD4+, and CD8+ T cells is presented in *Fig.4*. The data revealed a significant decrease in CD3+ and CD8+ T cells (P=0.001 and P=0.004, respectively). In contrast, propofol anesthesia did not impact the number of CD4+ T cells and the CD4/ CD8 ratio.

DISCUSSION

Propofol leads to a dose-dependent decrease in systemic blood pressure, myocardial contractility, and cardiac output. Likewise, it was previously reported to have decreased the heart rate in rabbits ^[15]. On the other hand, documented studies indicated that dogs' heart rates remained unaffected ^[16]. In this study, unlike the dog, propofol anesthesia markedly decreased the heart rate in cats. Cats do not possess the UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzymes found in humans and dogs, and they also lack conjugation enzymes such as N-acetyltransferase and thiopurine methyltransferase. The lack of these enzymes delays propofol's elimination ^[14], which was associated with a decreased heart rate in cats after propofol anesthesia.

IV administration of 6 mg/kg of propofol reduced the respiratory rate, and elevated the oxygen saturation in this study. In a previous study, the respiratory rate was similarly decreased, while, contrastingly, oxygen saturation remained unchanged in cats ^[17]. The increase in the SpO₂ level in our study was associated with the cats' intubation, followed by ventilation with 100% oxygen. A similar condition was previously reported in dogs anesthetized with propofol ^[16].

Hypothermia is a widely encountered complication of general anesthesia in small animal practice. In this study, hypothermia did not occur after propofol induction, yet, the body temperature was prominently decreased (*Fig.1*). It was indicated that the body temperature was decreased by approximately 1.5° C in a short while in humans anesthetized with propofol ^[18]. Mild hypothermia ^[19] and unchanged body temperature ^[16], previously reported in dogs, were associated with the anesthetic dose.

Even though cats are quite susceptible to oxidative stress, few studies investigated this subject ^[20]. In this context, it

is crucial to investigate the impact of propofol anesthesia on oxidative mechanisms. The MDA level is one of the biomarkers indicating oxidative stress in humans and animals, and an elevation in the MDA level points out oxidative stress. In previous studies, propofol anesthesia did not impact serum MDA levels in dogs [21]. On the other hand, propofol was reported to have reduced MDA levels in humans [22]. Our data revealed that propofol prominently reduced serum MDA levels, thus preventing oxidative stress. It is unlikely to elucidate the underlying mechanism thoroughly; nevertheless, propofol chemically resembles certain antioxidants such as a-tocopherol, butylated hydroxytoluene, and butylated hydroxyanisole. It was suggested that propofol neutralizes free radicals like the relevant antioxidants due to their chemical similarity ^[23], which was associated with our study's decrease in the MDA levels.

In the study, it was an intriguing finding that GSH-Px levels were decreased despite no increase in the MDA level, which raises the question of why the GSH-Px level decreased even though oxidative stress did not occur. A similar finding was previously demonstrated in humans, indicating that propofol reduced GSH-Px activity in the platelets by 28.3% [24]. Extensive oxygen exposition increases mitochondrial ROS production, and 2% of the oxygen entering the mitochondria emerges as ROS ^[25]. In the study, oxygen saturation was significantly elevated due to oxygen application through intubation, which was considered to be associated with the over-production of reactive oxygen molecules in the mitochondria, depleting the GSH-Px enzyme participating in the elimination of oxidative radicals. It was previously reported that the GSH-Px enzyme is abundant in the mitochondria and plays a significant role in eliminating the ROS that emerged ^[26]. Conclusively, the decrease in GSH-Px level was not associated with propofol but with the oxygen source administered.

The main function of superoxide dismutase (SOD) is to accelerate the dismutation of superoxide anion into hydrogen peroxide and molecular oxygen ^[27]. In our study, the serum SOD level remained unchanged in the cats anesthetized with propofol. No data are available revealing the effect of propofol anesthesia on the serum SOD level, hampering the comparison of our findings. Nevertheless, some documented studies previously indicated that the serum SOD level was not impacted either in dogs ^[16].

It was noted in the study that propofol did not affect proinflammatory cytokines other than IFN- γ , of which level tended to elevate after anesthesia (*Fig.3*). It was reported in humans that, after propofol induction, when the cells in the whole blood cultures were stimulated by lipopolysaccharides (LPS), a significant increase was recorded in IFN- γ secretion ^[8]. Similarly, propofol increased IFN-y production in lymphocyte^[12], macrophage, and natural killer cell cultures [28]. However, unlike the mentioned in-vitro studies, propofol revealed a decrease in IFN-y production in dogs [16]. Therefore, *in-vitro* studies must be supported by in-vivo research. The issue is more critical in cats since immune cellular or inflammatory responses differ from those of other species [29]. In this study, the data from previous in-vitro studies conducted with humans were clinically verified in cats. IFN-y is crucial in coordinating non-specific immune processes, antigen presentation to the specific defense system, and lymphocyte-endothelial cell interactions [30]. IFN-y is one of the major stimulants activating inactive macrophages ^[31]. Furthermore, it increased the cellular proliferation and maturation in the injured tissues of mice [32]. In-vitro studies showed that IFN-y accelerated wound healing by supporting the injured tissues' repair in the defective areas ^[33]. Therefore, we consider that the IFN- γ level's tendency to increase during anesthesia might efficiently prevent postoperative infections and improve wound healing.

Propofol was shown to exert anti-inflammatory effects in humans ^[34], which was previously associated with the inhibition of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 ^[7]. Likewise, it was demonstrated that propofol inhibited TNF- α production in the type-II alveolar epithelial cells ^[35]. We may deduce that propofol also elicited an anti-inflammatory effect in cats. However, we assume propofol revealed such an effect not by inhibiting proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α or IL-1 β but by increasing the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-4's secretion.

The main source of IL-4 is T helper 2 (Th2) cells, a subtype of helper T cells ^[36]. When stimulated by various factors, helper T cells differentiate into Th1 and Th2 cells ^[37]. The transformation of T cells into Th2 and, thus, IL-4 secretion is inhibited by the leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) ^[38]. Propofol has been shown to inhibit LFA-1 in humans ^[39]. Therefore, it was hypothesized that propofol may have increased IL-4 secretion in cats by abolishing LFA-1's inhibition on Th2 cells. Additionally, the inhibition of LFA-1 by propofol might also explain the tendency for increased production of IFN- γ . This is because Th1 cells, which are inhibited by LFA-1, are one of the main sources of IFN- γ ^[40]. Propofol's annihilation of the inhibitory activity of these cells might have increased the IFN- γ production.

Besides IL-4's inhibitory effect on proinflammatory cytokine expressions, it stimulates B cell activation and proliferation, which plays a role in antibody-mediated immune response ^[41]. The increase in the IL-4 level after propofol anesthesia was considered an affirmative output due to the restriction in potential postoperative infection and stimulation of antibody-mediated humoral immunity against potential risk for contamination.

Anesthetic agents are known to cause immunosuppression ^[42] and affect the subtypes of T lymphocytes ^[43]. In this study, no changes were recorded in CD4+ T cells and CD4+/ CD8+ ratio; however, a significant decrease was detected in CD8+ T cells (*Fig. 4*). Similarly, propofol induction in humans with lung cancer decreased CD8+ T cells, while CD4+ T cells remained unchanged ^[44]. No change was noted in the CD4+/CD8+ ratio in the patients with mammary cancer ^[45], which was compatible with our findings. It was reported in dogs that CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in the peripheral blood were decreased within a short time after propofol induction, yet they returned to their preoperative status after a while ^[13]. In the same study, the CD4+/CD8+ ratio remained unchanged, which was compatible with our findings.

CD8+ T cells are freely distributed between the blood circulatory system and the secondary lymphoid organs under homeostasis [46]. Expression of specific molecules on T and endothelial cells changes during infection or inflammation due to simultaneous effects of cytokines expressed and the antigenic agents, which impacts the CD8+ T cells' transfer from blood vessels to the tissues and from the tissues to the lymphoid organs and lymphoid vessels [47]. In this study, the decrease in CD8+ T cells in the peripheral blood vessels after propofol anesthesia might be associated with these cells' increased migration to the tissues since the cardinal molecule affecting the CD8+ T's transition from the blood vessels into the tissues is L-selectin expressed on the endothelial cells [48]. Propofol, along with remifentanil, is known to induce L-selectin expression ^[49]. Furthermore, in our study, the IFN- γ level's tendency to elevate after propofol induction might have increased CD8+ T cells' transfer to the tissues. It was also previously reported in an experimental model that when the IFN-yknockout mice received recombinant IFN-y, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) expression on cerebral blood vessels was increased, which stimulated the CD8+ T cells' transition into the tissues [50].

Anesthetic agents such as fentanyl, thiopental, and isoflurane were reported to have increased CD8+ T cells in the peripheral blood ^[43], suggesting that, unlike propofol, these anesthetics did not stimulate the mechanisms mediating cell migration from the blood vessels to the tissues. Regardless of the underlying mechanism, the decrease in the ratio of circulatory CD8+ T cells due to their transfer to the tissues is not considered an adverse event since naïve CD8+ T cells transferred to the tissues gain cytotoxic activity to directly demolish pathogen-infected cells and play a role in inflammatory cytokine production in the infection zone ^[47]. Therefore, they may offer drastic contributions to the host's defense responses in the postoperative period.

This study has some limitation. It was intended to evaluate the effects of propofol alone, without the effect

609

of isoflurane. Since we had to intubate the patient 15 min after giving a bolus dose of propofol, we were able to evaluate the effects of propofol after 15 min. In further studies, the effects of continuous infusion of propofol on cytokines and T cells can be evaluated.

The data obtained in the study revealed the suppressive effect of propofol anesthesia on the cardiorespiratory system in cats, which necessitates monitoring patients with heart conditions. Propofol also reduces body temperature; therefore, precautions should be taken against the potential risk of hypothermia during the surgery. Propofol did not adversely affect the antioxidant enzymes; on the contrary, it exhibited anti-inflammatory properties by reducing the MDA level and increasing IL-4 secretion. Furthermore, it did not negatively impact the cells of the specific defense system in the peripheral circulation.

In conclusion, propofol may enhances postoperative wound healing, reduces potential infection, and supports immune defense responses since it does not adversely impact the oxidative defense system, inflammatory/ anti-inflammatory mechanisms, and cells of the specific defense system. Considering the cats' unique hepatic drug metabolism, propofol might be safely administered in this species regarding the investigated parameters.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author (E. Ergen) upon reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: We would like to express our gratitude to Dr. Mert Erek and Songül Erhan for their technical support.

Financial Support: This study was supported by the Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Scientific Research Projects Unit (Grant number: TSA-2018-30118).

Conflict of Interests: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The authors declare that the article and/or tables and figures were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Author's Contributions: Conceptualization, D.A.K., Ö.G. and E.M.; funding acquisition, D.A.K.; methodology, E.M.; resources, D.A.K., Ö.G., D.S. and G.S.; investigation Ö.G., D.S., G.S., E.E., F.E.G. and G.K.; formal analysis, E.M., E.E.; writing-original draft preparation, E.M., E.E.; writing-review & editing, F.E.G. and G.K.; visualization, E.E.. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Glowaski MM, Wetmore LA: Propofol: Application in veterinary sedation and anesthesia. *Clin Tech Small Anim Pract*, 14 (1): 1-9, 1999. DOI: 10.1016/S1096-2867(99)80021-8

2. Court MH: Feline drug metabolism and disposition: Pharmacokinetic evidence for species differences and molecular mechanisms. Vet Clin

North Am Small Anim Pract, 43 (5): 1039-1054, 2013. DOI: 10.1016/j. cvsm.2013.05.002

3. Baetge CL, Smith LC, Azevedo CP: Clinical heinz body anemia in a cat after repeat propofol administration: Case report. *Front Vet Sci*, 7:591556, 2020. DOI: 10.3389/fvets.2020.591556

4. Halliwell B: Reactive oxygen species in living systems: Source, biochemistry, and role in human disease. *Am J Med*, 91 (3C): 14S-22S, 1991. DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(91)90279-7

5. Zhang Z, Yan B, Li Y, Yang S, Li J: Propofol inhibits oxidative stress injury through the glycogen synthase kinase3 beta/nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2/heme oxygenase-1 signaling pathway. *Bioengineered*, 13 (1): 1612-1625, 2022. DOI: 10.1080/21655979.2021.2021062

6. Lin E, Calvano SE, Lowry SF: Inflammatory cytokines and cell response in surgery. Surgery, 127 (2): 117-126, 2000. DOI: 10.1067/msy.2000.101584

7. Yan Y, Jin P, Lu J, Cheng D, Xu J, Yua J, Yu Z, Hu Y: Postoperative cytokine levels and their predictive value in critical patients after major abdominal surgery: A retrospective cohort study. *Ann Palliat Med*, 11 (1): 1-15, 2022. DOI: 10.21037/apm-21-2171

8. Brand JM, Schmucker P, Breidthardt T, Kirchner H: Upregulation of IFN-gamma and soluble interleukin-2 receptor release and altered serum cortisol and prolactin concentration during general anesthesia. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 21 (10): 793-796, 2001. DOI: 10.1089/107999001753238024

9. DeClue AE, Delgado C, Chang CH, Sharp CR: Clinical and immunologic assessment of sepsis and the systemic inflammatory response syndrome in cats. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 238 (7): 890-897, 2011. DOI: 10.2460/javma.238.7.890

10. Kumar BV, Connors TJ, Farber DL: Human T cell development, localization, and function throughout life. *Immunity*, 48 (2): 202-213, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.01.007

11. Del Prete G: The concept of type-1 and type-2 helper T cells and their cytokines in humans. *Int Rev Immunol*, 16 (3-4): 427-455, 1998. DOI: 10.3109/08830189809043004

12. Rossano F, Tufano R, Cipollaro de L'EG, Servillo G, Baroni A, Tufano MA: Anesthetic agents induce human mononuclear leucocytes to release cytokines. *Immnopharmacol Immunotoxicol*, 14 (3): 439-450, 1992. DOI: 10.3109/08923979209005403

13. Tomihari M, Nishihara A, Shimada T, Yanagawa M, Miyoshi M, Miyahara K, Oishi A: A comparison of the immunological effects of propofol and isoflurane for maintenance of anesthesia in healthy dogs. *J Vet Med Sci*, 77 (10): 1227-1233, 2015. DOI: 10.1292/jvms.14-0611

14. Bester L: Pharmacokinetics of propofol in cats. *PhD Thesis.* Pretoria University, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Department of Companion Animal Clinical Studies, 2009.

15. Topal A, Gül NY, Ateş O, Uçkan EM, Yavaş O, Cangül IT: Comparison of the effects of ketamine-diazepam, tiletamine-zolazepam and propofol infusion anesthesia in rabbit. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 29 (2): 137-144, 2023. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2022.28744

16. Güzel O, Sevim G, Aydin Kaya D, Sezer D, Erek M, Esen Gürsel F, Atmaca G, Demirtaş B, Matur E: Ketamine or propofol anesthesia in dogs: How do they affect cytokines, antioxidants and neutrophil functions? *J Hellenic Vet Med Soc*, 73 (1): 3783-3792, 2022. DOI: 10.12681/jhvms.25780

17. Mendes GM, Selmi AL: Use of a combination of propofol and fentanyl, alfentanil, or sufentanil for total intravenous anesthesia in cats. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 223 (11): 1608-1613, 2003. DOI: 10.2460/javma.2003.223.1608

18. Ikeda T, Sessler DI, Kikura M, Kazama T, Ikeda K, Sato S: Less core hypothermia when anesthesia is induced with inhaled sevoflurane than with intravenous propofol. *Anesth Analg*, 88 (4): 921-924, 1999. DOI: 10.1097/0000539-199904000-00044

19. Ichinose K, Okamoto T, Tanimoto H, Taguchi H, Tashiro M, Sugita M, Takeya M, Terasaki H: A moderate dose of propofol and rapidly induced mild hypothermia with extracorporeal lung and heart assist (ECLHA) improve the neurological outcome after prolonged cardiac arrest in dogs. *Resuscitation*, 70 (2): 275-284, 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j. resuscitation.2005.12.011

20. Webb CB, Lehman TL, McCord KW: Effects of an oral superoxide dismutase enzyme supplementation on indices of oxidative stress, proviral

load, and CD4:CD8 ratios in asymptomatic FIV-infected cats. J Feline Med Surg, 10 (5): 423-430, 2008. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfms.2008.01.008

21. Katerina T, Alenka N, Ana N, Aleksandra D, Tomaž V, Alenka S: Influence of sevoflurane or propofol anaesthesia on oxidative stress parameters in dogs with early-stage myxomatous mitral valve degeneration. *Acta Vet*, 68 (1): 32-42, 2018. DOI: 10.2478/acve-2018-0003

22. Han C, Ding W, Jiang W, Chen YU, Hang D, Gu D, Jiang G, Tan Y, Ge Z, Ma TA: Comparison of the effects of midazolam, propofol and dexmedetomidine on the antioxidant system: A randomized trial. *Exp Ther Med*, 9, 2293-2298, 2015. DOI: 10.3892/etm.2015.2410

23. Volti GL, Murabito P, Attaguile G, Rodella LF, Astuto M, Giacomo CD, Gullo A: Antioxidant properties of propofol: When oxidative stress sleeps with patients. *EXCLI J*, 5, 25-32, 2006. DOI: 10.17877/de290r-7980

24. De La Cruz JP, Zanca A, Carmona JA, De La Cuesta FS: The effect of propofol on oxidative stress in platelets from surgical patients. *Anesth Analg,* 89 (4): 1050-1055, 1999. DOI: 10.1097/00000539-199910000-00043

25. Radak Z, Zhao Z, Koltai E, Ohno H, Atalay M: Oxygen consumption and usage during physical exercise: The balance between oxidative stress and ROS-dependent adaptive signaling. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 18 (10): 1208-1246, 2013. DOI: 10.1089/ars.2011.4498

26. Orrenius S, Gogvadze V, Zhivotovsky B: Mitochondrial oxidative stress: Implications for cell death. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, 47, 143-183, 2007. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.47.120505.105122

27. Candellone A, Saettone V, Badino P, Girolami F, Radice E, Bergero D, Odore R, Meineri G: Management of feline hyperthyroidism and the need to prevent oxidative stress: What can we learn from human research? *Antioxidants (Basel)*, 10 (9):1496, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/antiox10091496

28. Inada T, Kubo K, Shingu K: Promotion of interferon-gamma production by natural killer cells via suppression of murine peritoneal macrophage prostaglandin E_2 production using intravenous anesthetic propofol. *Int Immunopharmacol*, 10 (10): 1200-1208, 2010. DOI: 10.1016/j. intimp.2010.06.027

29. Cho JG, Oh YI, Song KH, Seo KW: Evaluation and comparison of serum procalcitonin and heparin-binding protein levels as biomarkers of bacterial infection in cats. *J Feline Med Surg*, 23 (4): 370-374, 2021. DOI: 10.1177/1098612X20959973

30. Billiau A: Interferon-gamma in autoimmunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev*, 7 (1): 25-34, 1996. DOI: 10.1016/1359-6101(96)00004-4

31. Arango Duque G, Descoteaux A: Macrophage cytokines: Involvement in immunity and infectious diseases. *Front Immunol*, 5:491, 2014. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00491

32. Kanno E, Tanno H, Masaki A, Sasaki A, Sato N, Goto M, Shisai M, Yamaguchi K, Takagi N, Shoji M, Kitai Y, Sato K, Kasamatsu J, Ishii K, Miyasaka T, Kawakami K, Imai Y, Iwakura Y, Maruyama R, Tachi M, Kawakami K: Defect of interferon γ leads to impaired wound healing through prolonged neutrophilic inflammatory response and enhanced MMP-2 activation. *Int J Mol Sci*, 20 (22):5657, 2019. DOI: 10.3390/ ijms20225657

33. Lee BNR, Chang HK, Son YS, Lee D, Kwon SM, Kim PH Cho JY: IFN-γ enhances the wound healing effect of late EPCs (LEPCs) via BST2-mediated adhesion to endothelial cells. *FEBS Lett*, 592 (10): 1705-1715, 2018. DOI: 10.1002/1873-3468.13078

34. Yi S, Tao X, Wang Y, Cao Q, Zhou Z, Wang S: Effects of propofol on macrophage activation and function in diseases. *Front Pharmacol*, 13:964771, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2022.964771

35. Ma L, Wu X, Chen W, Fujino Y: Propofol has anti-inflammatory effects

on alveolar type II epithelial cells. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand*, 54 (3): 362-369, 2010. DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.2009.02127.x

36. Roosje PJ, Dean GA, Willemse T, Rutten VP, Thepen T: Interleukin 4-producing CD4+ T cells in the skin of cats with allergic dermatitis. *Vet Pathol*, 39 (2): 228-233, 2002. DOI: 10.1354/vp.39-2-228

37. Dong C, Flavell RA: Cell fate decision: T-helper 1 and 2 subsets in immune responses. *Arthritis Res*, 2 (3): 179-188, 2000. DOI: 10.1186/ar85

38. Jenks SA, Eisfelder BJ, Miller J: LFA-1 co-stimulation inhibits T(h)2 differentiation by down-modulating IL-4 responsiveness. *Int Immunol*, 17 (3): 315-323, 2005. DOI: 10.1093/intimm/dxh211

39. Yuki K, Soriano SG, Shimaoka M: Sedative drug modulates T-cell and lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 function. *Anesth Analg*, 112 (4): 830-838, 2011. DOI: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e31820dcabb

40. Viallard JF, Pellegrin JL, Ranchin V, Schaeverbeke T, Dehais J, Longy-Boursier M, Ragnaud JM, Leng B, Moreau JF: Th1 (IL-2, interferongamma (IFN-gamma)) and Th2 (IL-10, IL-4) cytokine production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). *Clin Exp Immunol*, 115 (1): 189-195, 1999. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.1999.00766.x

41. Day M: Clinical Immunology of the Dog and Cat. Manson Publ, London, 1999.

42. Jubert AV, Lee ET, Hersh EM, McBride CM: Effects of surgery, anesthesia and intraoperative blood loss on immunocompetence. *J Surg Res*, 15 (6): 399-403, 1973. DOI: 10.1016/0022-4804(73)90110-8

43. Brand JM, Frohn C, Luhm J, Kirchner H, Schmucker P: Early alterations in the number of circulating lymphocyte subpopulations and enhanced proinflammatory immune response during opioid-based general anesthesia. *Shock*, 20 (3): 213-217, 2003. DOI: 10.1097/00024382-200309000-00003

44. Yamaguchi A, Kawagoe I, Inoue S, Kochiyama T, Fukuda M, Saito M Hayashida M: Propofol decreases CD8+ T cells and sevoflurane increases regulatory T cells after lung cancer resection: A randomized controlled trial. *J Thorac Dis*, 13 (9): 5430-5438, 2021. DOI: 10.21037/jtd-21-878

45. Woo JH, Baik HJ, Kim CH, Chung RK, Kim DY, Lee GY, Chun EH: Effect of propofol and desflurane on immune cell populations in breast cancer patients: A randomized trial. *J Korean Med Sci*, 30 (10): 1503-1508, 2015. DOI: 10.3346/jkms.2015.30.10.1503

46. Klonowski KD, Williams KJ, Marzo AL, Blair DA, Lingenheld EG, Lefrançois L: Dynamics of blood-borne CD8 memory T cell migration *in vivo. Immunity*, 20 (5): 551-562, 2004. DOI: 10.1016/s1074-7613(04)00103-7

47. Nolz JC: Molecular mechanisms of CD8(+) T cell trafficking and localization. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 72 (13): 2461-2473, 2015. DOI: 10.1007/ s00018-015-1835-0

48. Hirata T, Furie BC, Furie B: P-, E-, and L-selectin mediate migration of activated CD8+ T lymphocytes into inflamed skin. *J Immunol*, 169 (8): 4307-4313, 2003. DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4307

49. Bosch DJ, Meurs MV, Jongman RM, Heeringa P, Abdulahad WH, Struys MMRF: Effects of propofol and dexmedetomidine with and without remifentanil on serum cytokine concentrations in healthy volunteers: A post hoc analysis. *Br J Anaesth*, 125 (3): 267-274, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j. bja.2020.05.039

50. Wang X, Michie SA, Xu B, Suzuki Y: Importance of IFN-gammamediated expression of endothelial VCAM-1 on recruitment of CD8+ T cells into the brain during chronic infection with Toxoplasma gondii. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 27 (4): 329-338, 2007. DOI: 10.1089/jir.2006.0154

Research Article

Correlation Between Body Measurements of *Gazella marica* Fawns After Weaning and Estimating Body Weight From These Measurements

Adil UZTEMUR¹^(*) Abdülkadir ORMAN¹

¹ The University of Bursa Uludag, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Animal Science, TR-16059 Bursa - TÜRKİYE



(*) **Corresponding author:** Adil UZTEMUR Cellular phone: +90 534 726 6337 E-mail: vet.hek.adiluztemur@gmail.com

How to cite this article?

Uztemur A, Orman A: Correlation between body measurements of Gazella marica fawns after weaning and estimating body weight from these measurements. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 611-618, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32011

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32011 Received: 12.03.2024 Accepted: 17.08.2024 Published Online: 09.09.2024

Abstract

This study aims to find out for the first time the change in body measurements of gazelle fawns from birth to weaning and the estimation of live weight based on body measurements (BW, BL, CC, CD, AC, SH) of a total of 42 fawns, 17 female and 25 male, taken after birth, and a total of 30 fawns, 15 female and 15 male, were taken after weaning. Weighings were made with electronic scales. Measurements were made with a 150 cm strip measure. At the end of the 165-day suckling period, female fawns gained an average live weight of 8.07 kg and male fawns gained an average live weight of 9.17 kg. There is no statistical difference between the measurements at birth and the body measurements after weaning depending on gender (P>0.05). In general, the highest correlation (0.910) according to body measurements is between chest circumference and body weight (P<0.01). In male fawns, body weight can be predicted by chest circumference at a rate of 89% (P<0.01). In female fawns body weight can be predicted by shoulder height and chest circumference at rate of 79% (P<0.01). By selecting breeding individuals based on the high correlations and prediction values investigated in this study we can ensure faster genetic progress in a gazelle herd.

Keywords: *Gazella marica*, Correlations, Estimating body weight, Body measurements, Body weight, Weaning

INTRODUCTION

Gazelles belong to the genus Gazella, from the antelope subfamily of the horned family, and have a wide habitat extending from China to North Africa. The lower range of gazelles, which belong to the Gazella marica species, extends from Yemen and Oman to Şanlıurfa^[1-4]. Their numbers in the wild are reported to be 1750-2150 [5]. It is known that there are around 400-500 in the wild in Türkiye. The mating season begins in November and December and pregnancies last for about 5 months. Births generally occur from late April to mid-May. After a gestation period of five months, females usually give birth to one or two fawns ^[6]. Gazelle fawns suck their mother for approximately 4 months [7]. While suckling is most frequently observed in May, a few short-term suckling have been observed at least in August and in September^[8]. However, the suckling period in small ruminants is kept shorter. For example the lactation period in lambs lasts approximately 3 months for economically. They are weaned from the age of 3 months and subjected to various fattening programs ^[9,10]. However, the main food source of gazelles in the first three months is milk. In addition

to decreasing suckling behavior, grazing behavior is also increasing. Gazelles show interest in grass and exhibit grazing behavior when they are approximately 3-4 days old after birth ^[11]. Since gazelles grow rapidly, grazing behavior occurs inversely proportional to sucking behavior. As suckling decreases day by day, grazing also increases ^[8]. This plays an important role in the survival of baby gazelles. Birth weight has a major impact on the survival of offspring in ungulate species. Offspring with high birth rates have higher survival rates ^[12]. Male gazelle fawns are born heavier on average than female gazelle fawns. Additionally, single fawns have higher average birth weights than twin fawns ^[13,14].

Body weight and measurements are an important indicator of growth. These indicators depend on genetic and environmental factors ^[15]. It has also been reported that in *Capreolus capreolus*, male body size and higher horns are more effective for selection in males ^[16]. It has been reported livestock weight in lambs depends on breed, gender, nutrition, season, age, etc. ^[17]. Studies made on domestic and wild animals have reported positive correlations between body weight and body measurements ^[13,18,19]. Moreover, body weight can be estimated from body measurements ^[20]. In a study made on goats, estimating live weight by chest circumference gives 91% confidence ^[21]. Many studies have been done on adult and young body measurements of gazelles ^[13,14]. In addition, the weights of their offspring were determined by the previous study ^[13]. To what extent the change in body measurements occurs during the suckling period has been wondered.

Based on this information, it was aimed to reveal to what extent the body measurements of gazelle fawns, whose body measurements were recorded after birth, changed after they were weaned naturally. We also aimed to find the unknown body measurements of gazelle fawns and to find the change in body measurements during the suckling period. In addition, we tried to find out whether there are differences in body measurements by gender and whether there is a correlation between body weight and body measurements, both on a gender basis and in general. We also tried to find out whether body weight could be predicted from body measurements.

Following the results, we aimed to be obtained, to lead the formation of weaning programs for gazelle fawns for gazelle breeding stations, the number of which is increasing day by day in our country and around the world. We also aimed to increase the importance of records made during the lactation period for the selection of gazelle fawns according to their phenotypic characteristics.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

The research permissions were obtained with the letter dated 23.03.2023 and numbered E-21264211-288.04-9308521 from the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, General Directorate of Nature Conservation and National Parks.

Ethical approval was also obtained by Harran University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee Presidency with decision number 2023/01/02 and ethics committee permission dated 11/01/2023 and numbered 196981.

Animals

The research was carried out at the Ceylan Breeding Station in Yeniköy (Cudeyde) of Haliliye District of Şanlıurfa Province. The origin of gazelles in Şanlıurfa Ceylanpınar Gazelle Breeding Station. The location of the Breeding Station is at 37° 07′ 31″ North latitude and 38° 50′ 24″ East longitude and is located at an altitude of 449 meters above sea level.

Study Program

Fawns were recorded by taking measurements at 1-2 days of age from birth and after weaning. The study started on May 1 and continued until November 30. Weaning time



Fig 1. Body measurements *Gazella marica*. BL: Body Length, CC: Chest Circumference, CD: Chest Depth, AC: Abdominal Circumference, SH: Shoulder Heigth

was recorded as 165 days. Because the suckling detected was observed during this period. In addition, after this period, pre-mating preparations of the broodstock begin. The fawns born on May 15 were weaned in November. Since estrus begins in October and November, suckling is completed at the end of this period. In addition, this period was kept optimal as it allowed mothers' mammary glands to rest for the next pregnancy and birth. Body measurements taken are as follows: Body Weight, (BW), Body Length, (BL), Chest Circumference, (CC), Chest Depth, (CD), Abdominal Circumference, (AC), Shoulder Heigth (SH) (Fig. 1) [30]. After birth, body measurements were taken from 25 male and 17 female fawns. All of these individuals were born as a result of a single-fawn birth. The ages of the mothers ranged from 2 to 8 years. However, after 165 days due to deaths of male and female offspring and the sale of male offspring, final body measurements were taken only from 15 males and 15 females. While the herd was divided into groups after weaning and before the mating of the mothers, these body measurements of the fawns were taken again and recorded. Adult and young males were kept separate from the herd during pregnancy and birth to prevent harm to the mother and the fawns. It is kept together with females only during the mating season.

Care and Feeding of Mother and Fawns

Gazella fawns suckled their mothers freely. The fawns stayed with their mothers throughout the lactation period. No artificial milk or hand feeding was used. While the fawns started grazing, they consumed the *Medicago sativa* grown in the area. They consumed ready-made fattening feed ration as supplementary feed. The content of the ready feed given was as follows: 18% Crude protein, 10% Crude fiber, 3% Crude fat, Dry matter 88%, Metabolic energy 2800 Kcal/kg. They were fed on a total of 10 decares of land, 8 decares of grazing land and 2 decares of empty land. Medicago sativa is cultivated in the 8-decare cultivated area for 12 months of the year and is constantly irrigated. The 8-decare area is divided into two according to need, and grazing is done alternately. Mother gazelles were given cracked barley (Crude protein 10.30%, Crude fat 2.48%, Dry matter 92.56%, NDF 20.7%) as concentrated feed as well as dairy feed. There was 120 gazellas in breeding stations. When we were starting to feding, barley and dairy feed was given to 120 gazellas 3 times a day, with a total of 45 kg of cracked barley, 13.5 kg per day.

Weighing and Measurements

Portable Electronic Scale PLT Power A08 model scale, which can weigh up to 50 kg, has a sensitivity of 5 grams for 0-10 kg and a sensitivity of 10 grams for weights of 10-50 kg, was used for weighing the fawns. Additionally, another TEM BM2CAA 35*40 150 kg electronic scale was used to control the weighing results. A 150 cm strip measure was used for body measurements. Body measurements; Body Weight, (BW), Body Length, (BL), Chest Circumference, (CC), Chest Depth, (CD), Abdominal Circumference, (AC), Shoulder Heigth (SH), postnatal and post-weaning measurements were recorded.

Vaccination, Protection and Treatment

As a vaccine, a combination vaccine is given twice a year only against enterotoxemia. Vitamin B, A, D, E and K were used as vitamin supplement. Mineral licking stone blocks were used for salt and minerals.

Statistical Analysis

Normality test of body measurements was made by Shapiro-Wilk. The data are normally distributed according to Shapiro-Wilke. According to the relation between genders and body measurements was tested with Independent Samples T test. We analyzed correlation body weight with body measurements with Pearson Correlation test. We performed Linear Regression analysis to estimate body weight by body measurements. All regression analyses were performed to determine which independent variables best predicted live weight. The best regression equations were obtained using a stepwise procedure. The multiple regression equations were evaluated with the determination coefficient (R2) and the residual standard deviation (RSD).

Significance levels were taken as P<0.05. All data were analyzed by SPSS (version 28.0) statistical program.

RESULTS

The average birth weight of male fawns was found as 1.71 kg and the average birth weight of female fawns was 1.64 kg. The general average body weight was found to be 1.68 kg. The average body length of female fawns is slightly longer than that of male fawns. CD and SH were slightly higher in male offspring than in female fawns, but CC and AC were on average higher in female fawns than in males. There are no significant differences between genders and body measurements (P>0.05) (*Table 1*).

Table 1. Body 1	Cable 1. Body measurements of birt								
м		Females	(n = 17)	Males (
Measure		Min-max	Mean±SE	Min-max	Mean±SE	Р			
	BW (kg)	0.91-2.30	1.64±0.08	1.26-2.36	1.71±0.06	0.47			
	BW (kg) G.		1.68±0.51	0.91-2.36					
	BL (cm)	16.0-29.0	23.77±0.73	20.5-29.0	23.44±0.43	0.69			
	BL (cm) G.		23.57±0.39	16.0-29.0					
	CC (cm)	21.0-30.5	26.28±0.57	22.0-30.0	26.14±0.43	0.84			
$C_{\rm em} = 1/(C_{\rm e})$	CC (cm) G.		26.20±0.34	21.0-30.5					
General (G.)	CD (cm)	7.0-11.0	9.15±0.28	7.5-11.0	9.20±0.22	0.88			
	CD (cm) G.		9.18±0.17	7.0-11.0					
	AC (cm)	21.0-33.0	26.38±0.71	21.5-30.0	25.76±0.45	0.44			
	AC (cm) G.		26.01±0.39	21.0-33.0					
	SH (cm)	25.0-35.0	30.29±0.62	28.0-38.0	31.74±0.55	0.09			
	SH (cm) G.		31.16±0.42	25.0-38.0					
BW: Body Weight Heigth n: Numb	t, BL: Body Length, CC: Ch er of induviduals_SF: Stand	est Circumferenc lart Frror Min: 1	e, CD: Chest Dep Minimum Max:	oth, AC: Abdomii Maximum	nal Circumferenc	e, SH: Shoulder			

Table 2. Body measurements after weaning									
		Females	(n = 15)	Males (
Measure		Min-Max	Mean±SE	Min-Max	Mean±SE	Р			
	BW (kg)	8.33-11.58	9.71±0.27	6.23-14.44	10.90±0.66	0.11			
	BW (kg) G.		10.31±0.37	6.23-14.44					
	BL (cm)	42.0-56.0	48.53±1.04	39.0-57.0	50.70±1.41	0.23			
	BL (cm) G.		49.62±0.89	39.0-57.0					
	CC (cm)	47.5-55.0	52.03±0.61	44.5-60.0	53.10±1.21	0.44			
	CC (cm) G.		52.57±0.6	44.5-60.0					
General (G.)	CD (cm)	17.5-23.0	20.70±0.40	15.0-26.0	21.47±0.79	0.39			
	CD (cm) G.		21.08±0.44	15.0-26.0					
	AC (cm)	41.0-57.0	49.63±1.24	42.0-57.0	50.43±1.10	0.63			
	AC (cm) G.		50.03±0.82	41.0-57.0					
	SH (cm)	45.0-53.0	49.70±0.58	46.0-56.0	51.53±0.77	0.07			
	SH (cm) G.		50.61±0.50	45.0-56.0					

BW: Body Weight, BL: Body Length, CC: Chest Circumference, CD: Chest Depth, AC: Abdominal Circumference, SH: Shoulder Heigth, n: number of induviduals, SE: Standart Error, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

Table 3. Body measurements changes over 165 days									
Maxim		Females	(n = 15)	Males (n				
Measure		Min-Max	Mean±SE	Min-max	Mean±SE	P			
	BW (kg)	6.70-9.58	8.07±0.25	4.87-12.43	9.17±0.60	0.10			
	BW (kg) G.		8.61±0.34	4.87-12.43					
	BL (cm)	17.0-32.5	24.60±1.33	14.0-35.0	27.50±1.34	0.14			
	BL (cm) G.		26.05±0.97	14.0-35.0					
	CC (cm)	21.0-29.5	25.71±0.68	19.5-32.0	26.93±0.96	0.31			
$C_{\rm em} = 1/(C_{\rm e})$	CC (cm) G.		26.32±0.59	19.5-32.0					
General (G.)	CD (cm)	9.0-14.0	11.60±0.39	7.0-17.0	12.13±0.74	0.53			
	CD (cm) G.		11.87±0.41	7.0-17.0					
	AC (cm)	14.5-32.0	23.07±1.43	19.5-31.0	24.87±0.72	0.27			
	AC (cm) G.		23.97±0.80	14.5-32.0					
	SH (cm)	15.0-24.0	19.37±0.69	16.5-24.0	20.20±0.56	0.36			
	SH (cm) G.		19.78±0.45	15.0-24.0					
BW: Body Weight,	BL: Body Length, C	CC: Chest Circumf	erence, CD: Chest	Depth, AC: Abdom	inal Circumferenc	e, SH: Shoulder			

BW: Body Weight, BL: Body Length, CC: Chest Circumference, CD: Chest Depth, AC: Abdominal Circumference, SH: Shoul Heigth n: Number of induviduals, SE: Standart Error, Min: Minimum, Max: Maximum

The body measurements of the same fawns taken after weaning as a result of the suckling period are presented in *(Table 2)*. While the average body weight of male fawns was 10.90 kg, the average body weight of female fawns was 9.71 kg. While the average chest circumference of male fawns is 53.10 cm, it is 52.03 cm for females. While the average shoulder height of female fawns was 49.70 cm, this height reached 51.53 cm for male fawns. There are no significant differences between genders and body measurements (P>0.05).

The differences between the body measurements at the end of the suckling period and the body measurements taken after birth during the 165-day suckling period are presented in (*Table 3*). Male fawns gained an average live weight of 9.17 kg during this period, while female fawns gained an average live weight of 8.07 kg. This means an average daily live weight gain of 55.58 g in males during the suckling period. In female fawns, there was an average daily live weight gain of 48.91 g during the suckling period. While the abdominal circumference of male

Table 4. Correlation coefficients between body measurements of males (above diagonal) and females (below										
diagonal) after weaning										

Measurements	BW (kg)	BL (cm)	CC (cm)	CD (cm)	AC (cm)	SH (cm)
BW (kg)		0.762**	0.945**	0.736**	0.755**	0.806**
BL (cm)	0.532*		0.672**	0.690**	0.593*	0.579*
CC (cm)	0.800**	0.451		0.790**	0.783**	0.813**
CD (cm)	0.587*	0.613*	0.464		0.713**	0.775**
AC (cm)	0.692**	0.604*	0.714**	0.451		0.684**
SH (cm)	0.728**	0.548*	0.495	0.895**	0.463	

BW: Body Weight, BL: Body Length, CC: Chest Circumference, CD: Chest Depth, AC: Abdominal Circumference, SH: Shoulder Heigth ** P<0.01

Table 5. Correlation coefficients between body measurements after weaning								
Measurements	BL (cm)	CC (cm)	CD (cm)	AC (cm)	SH (cm)			
BW (kg)	0.707**	0.910**	0.715**	0.654**	0.785**			
BL (cm)		0.615**	0.670**	0.588**	0.597**			
CC (cm)			0.730**	0.707**	0.714**			
CD (cm)				0.579**	0.793**			
AC (cm)					0.565**			
BW: Body Weight, BL: Body Length, CC: Chest Circumference, CD: Chest Depth, AC: Abdominal Circumference, SH: Shoulder Heigth ** P<0.01								

				Indeper	ndent Va	ariables		ªRSD	Р
Dependent Variable	Gender	Model	Intercept	СС	SH	BL	⁵ R ²		
	Male	1	-16.40	0.5	-	-	0.89	0.95	< 0.01
	Female	1	-8.7	0.35	-	-	0.64	0.80.	< 0.01
		2	-13.83	0.26	0.20	-	0.79	0.87	< 0.01
Body Weigth	General	1	-15.73	0.5	-	-	0.83	0.94	< 0.01
		2	-20.27	0.39	0.2		0.87	0.93	< 0.01
		3	-19.82	0.35	0.16	0.08	0.88	0.94	< 0.01

Table 6. Multiple regression equations for chest circumference, shoulder height and body length for predicting

CC: Chest Circumference, SH: Shoulder Heigth, BL: Body Length, ^a RSD: Residual standard deviation, ^b R²: Determination coefficient. Model 1: Predictors: (Constant), Chest Circumference, Model 2: Predictors: (Constant), Chest Circumference, Shoulder Heigth, Model 3: Predictors: (Constant), Chest Circumference, Shoulder Heigth, Body Length

fawns increased by 24.87 cm on average, the abdominal circumference of female fawns increased by 23.07 cm. There are no significant differences between genders and body measurements (P>0.05) (*Table 3*).

The correlation between body measurements in male and female fawns after weaning is presented in (*Table 4*). In male fawns, there is a very high positive correlation (0.945) between body weight and chest circumference, while there is a medium positive correlation (0.579)between body length and shoulder height. There is a high positive correlation (0.783) between abdominal circumference and chest circumference (P<0.01). There is a high positive correlation (0.800) between body weight and chest circumference in female fawns. However, it is slightly lower than that of males. However, in female fawns, the highest correlation (0.895) is between chest depth and shoulder height. The lowest correlations are between chest circumference and body length (0.451) and between abdominal circumference and chest depth (0.451), with a near-medium correlation (P<0.01).

There is a very high positive correlation (0.910) between body weight and chest circumference. There is a moderate positive correlation (0.565) between shoulder height and abdominal circumference. There is a moderate positive correlation between body length and chest circumference, chest depth, abdominal circumference, and shoulder height, respectively (0.615, 0.670, 0.588, 0.597) (P<0.01) (*Table 5*).

In male gazelle fawns, body weight can only be estimated based on chest circumference. Body weight can be predicted by chest circumference at a rate of 89% (P<0.01). In female gazelle fawns, body weight can be estimated by both chest circumference, chest circumference and shoulder height. In female offspring, 64% of body weight can be predicted by chest circumference (P<0.001). Body weight can be predicted by 79% with shoulder height and chest circumference measurements (P<0.01). In general, 83% of body weight can be estimated by chest circumference measurements (P<0.01). In general, body weight can be estimated as 87% by measurements of shoulder height and chest circumference (P<0.01). Body weight can be predicted by 88% with body length, shoulder height and chest circumference (P<0.01) (*Table 6*).

DISCUSSION

In this study, no statistically significant difference was found between body measurements and gender in gazelle fawns after birth and after the suckling period. There were small differences between males and females, but there was no statistical difference. The body size of male fawns is larger than females. This is because male fawns are thought to grow faster and more dominant than females. After birth, the average body length of female fawns was longer than male fawns, while after weaning, the average body length of males was longer than females. It has been reported that the average weight of the newborn fawns is around 1.84 kg for females and 1.95 kg for males. It has also been reported that the average birth weight of singleborn is 1.92 kg and the average birth weight of twins is 1.82^[13]. In addition, Martin et al.^[14] reported male gazelle fawns of Gazella arabia are born heavier than females. The results of Gürler et al.^[13] and Martin et al.^[14] are similar to each other. However, our results showed that the average body weights of male and female fawns were lower than those of reported by Gürler et al.^[13] and Martin et al.^[14]. One of the reasons for this is that the study maden Gürler et al.^[13] included fawns born between 1-3 days. This may be due to the fact that the study we studied was on fawns that were 1-2 days old. These results show that if gazelle fawns can be detected at the first day of age, they will have lower birth weights and body measurements. The body weight, chest circumference and shoulder height results we found after weaning are similar to the studied on young gazelles maden by Gürler et al. [13]. Gazelle fawns can reach the same body size as youngsters in 5.5 months. Since Gürler et al.^[13] measured fawns and juveniles in the same period, the gazelles specified as young were those that had completed one year of age. Gazelles raised in semicaptive conditions will have higher body weight and body measurements starting from 5.5 months, thanks to good care and feeding conditions [13]. After 165 days of suckling peiod, the fawns gained an average daily live weight of 49-55 g. Post-weaning body changes in Capreolus capreolus fawns in roe deer species in two different regions were reported to be 0.017 kg/day in Chizé and 0.014 kg/day in Dourdan for the October-March period ^[22]. Daily live weight gain after weaning in Central Anatolian Merino (CAM) and Malya sheep lambs was reported as 310 g and 280 g, respectively [23]. In Kıvırcık lambs, an average daily live weight gain of 0.203 kg was achieved during the 75day fattening period from birth [24]. In addition, if the feed given to gazelle fawns is made as a result of a controlled study, the feed conversion rate can be found.

Studies on some sheep breeds have reported that morphometric measurements differ from each other ^[25]. In a study done to by Topai and Macit ^[18] estimating body weight in Morkaraman sheep, it was reported that the highest correlation (0.867) was found between heart circumference and body weight, while the lowest correlation (-0.014) was between chest circumference and body length. In another study, it was reported that there was a high positive correlation (0.078) between body weight and body length in Tahalli sheep ^[26]. In a study done on dwarf goats in Ghana, it was reported that there was a medium correlation (0.44-0.59) between body weight and body length, shoulder height, chest/heart circumference, shoulder tip width, rump length and rump width ^[19].

In studies done on domestic sheep in Pakistan, it was reported that there was a high level of positive correlation between chest circumference and body weight (0.744) and a medium significant relationship between shoulder height and body weight (0.419) [27]. In their study, Esen and Elmaci [28] reported that the highest correlation between body measurements and live weight in meat type lambs was chest circumference. In addition, body weight estimation based on body measurements varies between 74% and 92% according to race. In a study done on the species Gazella rufifrons kanuri, it was reported that there was a positive correlation between body weight, body length and horn length [22]. It is reported that Gazella dorcas has a correlation coefficient of 0.79 between body length and chest circumference, and Redunca redunca antelope has a correlation coefficient of 0.99. The rate of estimating the body weight of Gazella dorcas based on its body measurements varies between 78% and 89% [20]. In a study maden on Florida White-tailed Deer (Odocoileus virginianus), it was reported that chest circumference was the single best determinant of body mass, and sub-gender,

617

age and sub-species information did not affect determining body mass ^[29]. When estimating body weight using chest circumference, shoulder height and body length; Body weight cannot be estimated based on chest depth and abdominal circumference. Since these values constantly change, it becomes difficult to obtain accurate results [30]. When examined in general, body weight estimation can be made in gazelle fawns with 3 different models. These are chest circumference, chest circumference and shoulder height respectively, and finally, chest circumference, shoulder height and body length and body weight are estimated. In the study done on Gazella dorcas, it was reported that the estimated body weight according to age and gender was 76% [30]. In Eastern Anatolian Red calves, live weight estimation can be estimated at a level of 95% based on chest circumference from birth to the 6th month [31]. In a study done on Madura cattle breeds, it was reported that the estimated growth curve with body weight was 68-70% [32].

As a result, selecting new individuals as breeders according to their phenotypic characteristics is very important for herd's future. The offspring, consisting of individuals with high body sizes, will carry the characteristics of their parents [33-35]. In addition, selecting better individuals under the same care and feeding conditions will result in higher genetic progress. This situation can also be used in gazelles. For example, in male gazelles, selecting individuals with larger body sizes and the same care and feeding conditions will facilitate selection. It will be beneficial in obtaining new individuals with high average scores within the herd. When female individuals reach sufficient body size, it will be easier for them to be used in breeding. A better selection can be made by genetic analysis in addition to body measurements [36]. In this way, the transmission of hereditary diseases found in breeding individuals to new individuals can be prevented. Selecting breeding individuals based on the high correlations and prediction values we have obtained will ensure faster genetic progress in the herd.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data results obtained in this study are available from the corresponding author (A. Uztemur) upon request.

Acknowledgments: I would also like to thank Casim FELHAN and Fevzettin FELHAN, the owners of the gazelle production business, for the realization of this study.

Funding Support: This research received no grant from any funding agency/sector.

Competing Interests: The authors of this research declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): This article and charts are not written by AI and AI-assisted technology.

Author Contributions: AU: Field work and data collect, AO: Statistical analyze, AU and AO: writing manuscript.

References

1. Cunningham PL, Wacher T: Changes in the distribution, abundance and status of Arabian Sand Gazelle (*Gazella subgutturosa marica*) in Saudi Arabia: A review. *Mammalia*, 73 (3): 203-210, 2009. DOI: 10.1515/ MAMM.2009.041

2. Kankiliç T, Özüt D, Gürler Ş, Kence M, Bozkaya F, Kence A: Rediscovery of a new mountain gazelle population and clarification of taxonomic status of the genus Gazella in Turkey using mtDNA sequencing. *Folia Zool*, 61 (2): 129-137, 2012. DOI: 10.25225/fozo.v61.i2.a6.2012

3. Saatoglu FD, Oncu MD, Emir H, Hatipoglu T, Acan SC, Kankilic T, Togan İ, Bastanlar EK: Genetic diversity of gazelles (*Gazella marica* and *Gazella gazella*) in Southeast Turkey: A special emphasis on ongoing conservation studies of *Gazella marica* in Turkey. *Eur J Biol*, 78 (2): 89-103, 2019. DOI: 10.26650/EurJBiol.2019.0014

4. Orman A, Uztemur A: Ensuring the reproduction of gazelles, whose numbers are decreasing in Türkiye and whose habitats are confined to a narrow region, in newhabitats. *J Res Vet Med*, 41 (2): 127-132, 2022.

5. Wacher T, Wronski T, Hammond RL, Winney B, Blacket MJ, Hundertmark KJ, Mohammed OB, Omer SA, Macasero W, Lerp H, Plath M, Bleidorn C: Phylogenetic analysis of mitochondrial DNA sequences reveals polyphyly in the goitred gazelle (*Gazella subgutturosa*). *Conserv Genet*, 12, 827-831, 2011. DOI: 10.1007/s10592-010-0169-6

6. Radhi KK, Abdulhamza JR, Al-Hamedawi TM, Al-Anawe SI, Sallah AH, Maktouf AH, Neamah D: Relationship between season and level of hormones in *Gazelle subgutturosa marica* in Iraq. *Ann Romanian Soc Cell Biol*, 25 (5): 2372-2379, 2021.

7. Schuler PY, Hammer C, Clauss M, Hammer S, Wibbelt G, Kretzschmar P, Hofer H: Birth seasonality in captive bovids at Al Wabra Wildlife Preservation (AWWP), Qatar. In, *Proc Int Conf Dis Zoo Wild Anim*, 297-303, 2009. DOI: 10.5167/uzh-18837

8. Blank D, Yang W: Suckling behavior in goitered gazelle: Do females invest more in twins or singletons? *Zoology*, 118 (5): 348-356, 2015. DOI: 10.1016/j. zool.2015.02.005

9. Sari M, Önk K, Aydin E, Tilki M, Tufan, T: Effects of different fattening systems on fattening performance and body measurements of Hemsin male lambs. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 20 (2): 209-215, 2014. DOI: 10.9775/ kvfd.2013.9823

10. Şen M, Uğurlu M: Romanov koyun ırkında dölverimi özellikleri, yaşama gücü, büyüme performansı ve bazı vücut ölçüleri. *Atatürk Univ Vet Bil Derg*, 16 (2): 155-163, 2021. DOI: 0.17094/ataunivbd.813491

11. Blank DA, Ruckstuhl K, Yang W: Antipredator strategy of female goitered gazelles (*Gazella subgutturosa* Guld., 1780) with hiding fawn. *Behav Proc*, 119, 44-49, 2015. DOI: 10.1016/j.beproc.2015.07.013

12. Lamb S, McMillan BR, van de Kerk, M, Frandsen PB, Hersey KR, Larsen RT: From conception to recruitment: Nutritional condition of the dam dictates the likelihood of success in a temperate ungulate. *Front Ecol Evol*, 11:1090116, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fevo.2023.1090116

13. Gürler Ş, Bozkaya F, Özüt D, Durmuş M: Some morphological characteristics and neonatal weights of reintroduced gazelle (*Gazella subgutturosa*) in Turkey. *Turk J Zool*, 39 (3): 458-466, 2015. DOI: 10.3906/ zoo-1312-43

14. Martin RA, Riesch R, Plath M, Al Hanoosh NA, Wronski T: Reproductive biology of Gazella arabica: Predictors of offspring weight and short-and long-term offspring survival. *Curr Zool*, 69 (6): 643-653, 2023. DOI: 10.1093/cz/zoac084

15. Terada C, Tatsuzawa S, Saitoh T: Ecological correlates and determinants in the geographical variation of deer morphology. *Oecologia* 169, 981-994, 2012. DOI: 10.1007/s00442-012-2270-7

16. Hewison AJM, Gaillard JM, Angibault JM, Van Laere G, Vincent JP: The influence of density on post-weaning growth in roe deer *Capreolus capreolus* fawns. *J Zool*, 257 (3): 303-309, 2002. DOI: 10.1017/S0952836902000900

17. Aktaş AH, Dursun Ş, Doğan Ş, Kiyma Z, Demirci U, Halıcı İ: Effects of ewe live weight and age on reproductive performance, lamb growth, and survival in Central Anatolian Merino sheep. *Arch Anim Breed*, 58, 451-459, 2015. DOI: 10.5194/aab-58-451-2015

18. Topai M, Macit M: Prediction of body weight from body measurements in Morkaraman sheep. *J Appl Anim Res*, 25 (2): 97-100, 2004. DOI: 10.1080/09712119.2004.9706484

19. Ofori SA, Hagan JK, Kyei F: Morphometric characterization and differentiation of West African Dwarf goat populations in Ghana. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 53, 1-14, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-020-02498-x

20. Rashad AMA, Taha TK, Mahdy AE, Aziz MA, Badran AE: Morphometric measurements and the relationship with body weight in the Sudanese Dorcas Gazelle and Bohor Reedbuck. *Sci Rep*, 12:16854, 2022. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-20156-0

21. Atta M, Ali ABS, Mohamed MB, Al-Dosari HM, Al-Shamari HS: Prediction of body weight using body measurements in some sheep and goats in Qatar. *J Appl Anim Res*, 52 (1): 2288917, 2024. DOI: 10.1080/09712119.2023.2288917

22. Nchanji A, Amubode F: The physical and morphological characteristics of the red-fronted gazelle (*Gazella rufifrons kanuri* Gray 1846) in Waza National Park, Cameroon. *J Zool*, 256 (4): 505-509, 2002. DOI: 10.1017/ S0952836902000559

23. Behrem S, Tuncer SS, Şenyüz HH: Comparison of reproductive performance, live weight, survivability, and fleece characteristics of indoor-raised Central Anatolian Merino and Malya sheep. *R Bras Zootec*, 51:e20210036, 2022. DOI: 10.37496/rbz5120210036

24. Şengül Ö, Çelik Ş, Ak İ: Determination of the effects of silage type, silage consumption, birth type and birth weight on fattening final live weight in Kıvırcık lambs with MARS and bagging MARS algorithms. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 28 (3): 379-389, 2022. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2022.27149

25. Marković B, Dovč P, Marković M, Radonjić D, Adakalić M, Simčič M: Differentiation of some Pramenka sheep breeds based on morphometric characteristics. *Arch Anim Breed*, 62 (2): 393-402, 2019. DOI: 10.5194/aab-62-393-2019

26. Tirink C: Comparison of bayesian regularized neural network, random forest regression, support vector regression and multivariate adaptive regression splines algorithms to predict body weight from biometrical measurements in Thalli sheep. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 28 (3): 411-419,

2022. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2022.27164

27. Mohammad MT, Rafeeq M, Bajwa MA, Awan MA, Abbas F, Waheed A, Bukhari FA, Akhtar P: Prediction of body weight from body measurements using regression tree (RT) method for indigenous sheep breeds in Balochistan, Pakistan. *J Anim Plant Sci*, 22 (1): 20-24, 2012.

28. Esen VK, Elmaci C: The estimation of live weight from body measurements in different meat-type lambs. *J Agr Sci*, 27 (4): 469-475, 2021. DOI: 10.15832/ankutbd.719037

29. Bartareau TM: Estimating body mass of Florida white-tailed deer from standard age and morphometric measurements. *Wild Res*, 46 (4): 334-342, 2019.

30. Taha TK, Rashad AMA, Mahdy AE, Aziz MA, Badran AE: Effect of sex and age on body weight and some morphometric measurements of *Gazelle dorcas* and reedbuck in the Sudan. *JAPFP*, 7 (1): 17-24, 2018.

31. Ulutaș Z, Saatçi M, Özlütürk A: Prediction on of body weights from body measurements in Eeast Anatolian Red Calves. *Atatürk Üniv Ziraat Fak Derg*, 72 (10): 878-881, 2002.

32. Hartati H, Pintaka Bayu Putra W: Predicting the growth curve of body weight in Madura cattle. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 27 (4): 431-437, 2021. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2021.25448

33. Putra WPB, Ilham F: Principal component analysis of body measurements and body indices and their correlation with body weight in Katjang does of Indonesia. *J Dairy Vet Anim Res*, 8 (3): 124-134, 2019. DOI: 10.15406/jdvar.2019.08.00254

34. Vanpé C, Gaillard JM, Kjellander P, Liberg O, Delorme D, Hewison AM: Assessing the intensity of sexual selection on male body mass and antler length in roe deer *Capreolus capreolus*: Is bigger better in a weakly dimorphic species? *Oikos*, 119 (9): 1484-1492, 2010. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18312.x

35. Uztemur A, Orman A: Determination of the relationship between beak length and body weight of juvenile Northern Bald Ibis (*Geronticus eremita*) and estimating body weight from beak length. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (4): 525-531, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.31884

36. Aksoy A, Ertürk YE, Eyduran E, Tariq MM: Utility of MARS algorithm for describing non-genetic factors affecting pasture revenue of Morkaraman breed and Romanov×Morkaraman F1 crossbred sheep under semi intensive conditions. *Pak J Zool*, 51, 235-240, 2019. DOI: 10.17582/journal. pjz/2019.51.1.235.240

Research Article

Impact of Early Qualitative Feed Restriction and the Provision of Barrier Perch on Morphometric and Biomechanical Measurements of Bones in Broiler Chickens

Solmaz KARAARSLAN¹^(*) Figen SEVİL KİLİMCİ² Mehmet KAYA¹ Onur TATLI³

¹ Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Animal Science, TR-09020 Aydın - TÜRKİYE

² Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Anatomy, TR-09020 Aydın - TÜRKİYE

³ Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Animal Nutrition and Nutritional Diseases, TR-09020 Aydın - TÜRKİYE



(*) Corresponding authors: Solmaz KARAARSLAN
Phone: +90 256 220 60 00 (6288)
E-mail: solmazkaraarslan@adu.edu.tr
How to cite this article?
Karaarslan S, Sevil Kilimci F, Kaya M, Tatlı
O, Nazlıgül A: Impact of early qualitative feed restriction and the provision of barrier

teed restriction and the provision of barrier perch on morphometric and biomechanical measurements of bones in broiler chickens. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 619-629, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32099

DO1. 10.97797Kv10.2024.32099

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32099 Received: 02.04.2024 Accepted: 22.08.2024 Published Online: 09.09.2024

Abstract

An experiment investigated the effects of early qualitative feed restriction and barrier perch provision on the morphometric and biomechanical measurements of the bones in broiler chickens. A total of 504 one-day-old Ross 308 male broiler chickens were randomly assigned to a completely randomized design with a 2×2 factorial arrangement (three replicate pens/group;42 chickens/pen) of qualitative feed restriction (presence-QFR+/absence-QFR-) and the provision of barrier perch (presence-BP+/absence-BP-). On days 21 and 42, morphometric and biomechanical parameters were measured. As a result of this study, barrier perch presence showed no significant impact on morphometric and biomechanical measurements. In the QFR- group, the weight and length of femur bones in 42-day-old broiler chickens were found to be higher (P<0.0001, P=0.034, respectively), alongside increased weight (P=0.001), inner (mediolateral P=0.002 and craniocaudal P=0.040) and outer (mediolateral P=0.047) diameter of the tibiotarsus bones. Furthermore, weight-length index values of the femur and tibiotarsus bones were higher (P=0.001, P<0.0001, respectively) in the QFR- group, while robusticity index values were lower (P=0.029, P=0.006, respectively) on the 42nd day. Regarding biomechanical parameters, the ultimate force level of tibiotarsus bones was statistically higher (P=0.030) at 42 days in the QFR- group. In summary, early protein and energy restriction caused slight decreases in some measurements of the femur and tibiotarsus bones. Strong correlations were observed between specific morphometric and biomechanical parameters, demonstrating their potential to predict biomechanical measurements.

Keywords: Animal welfare, Barrier perch, Bone, Broiler chicken, Diluted diet, Threepoint bending

INTRODUCTION

Poultry meat is an economical, readily available ^[1], and globally consumed source of protein ^[2]. In the past five decades, chicken meat production has increased fivefold, parallel to the doubling of the global population. FAOSTAT forecasts indicate that this upward trajectory in poultry meat consumption will persist, driven by factors like affordability, consistent quality, adaptability, and high protein/low-fat content ^[3]. In order to meet this rising demand within the modern poultry industry, both the production amount has been increased, and hybrids have been developed that attain slaughter weight faster,

and more breast muscle yield ^[4]. Rapid body growth and exacerbated development of the pectoralis major muscle have shifted broiler chickens' center of gravity and altered the broiler chickens' posture and load on the skeleton, leading to biomechanical imbalances ^[5-7]. This situation, resulted in increased load on the leg bones, particularly the femur and tibiotarsus ^[8]. This imbalance in muscle and skeletal development has led to issues like compromised leg health and lameness in modern broiler strains. These skeletal problems along with poor leg health, can lead to culling, mortality, reduced feed efficiency, and growth redaction, and are recognized as the leading cause



of economic losses in broiler chicken production ^[9]. Therefore, in recent years, studies have focused on nutritional and environmental factors to minimize the economic losses and animal welfare concerns caused by leg health problems in broiler chickens ^[6].

In modern broiler strains, a high growth rate leads to rapid periosteal bone deposition, compromised mineralization, altered biomechanical properties, and increased cortical bone porosity ^[10,11]. Low levels of mineralization have been linked to higher fracture risk, as the degree of bone mineralization directly impacts bone strength ^[12]. Modulating the growth rate through feed restriction has been demonstrated to enhance bone mineralization and skeletal development, thereby positively impacting bone quality ^[10]. Thus, various feed restriction techniques are utilized during the early stage of life to mitigate issues related to the excessive growth rates of modern strains ^[13-16]. These techniques include quantitative feed restriction methods, such as daily feed restriction, skipa-day feeding, and time-restricted feeding, as well as qualitative feed restriction methods, such as diet dilution, low-protein diets, and low-energy diets ^[14]. Quantitative feed restriction involves limiting the amount of feed provided to animals daily [17]. Qualitative feed restriction is an effective approach that involves nutrient dilution in the diet ^[17-19]. Because this strategy mitigates the adverse impacts of either starvation or chronic starvation on broiler welfare [11].

Another negative result of a high growth rate is the increase in the time spent sitting in broilers together with the increase in growth rate and decrease in locomotor activities^[20]. Therefore, there has been a focus on increasing mobility levels to improve animal welfare in recent years. It has been reported that increased mobility may both have positive impacts on leg health and reduce the risk of ammonia burns in broiler chickens by improving litter conditions ^[21]. To this end, a multitude of studies have been carried out to explore the impacts of environmental enrichments like perches ^[22,23], barriers ^[24,25], straw bales ^[26,27], or platforms ^[28,29]. Nevertheless, the literature review revealed a scarcity of studies that specifically delved into the impacts of environmental enrichments on bone measurements.

To evaluate bone quality, researchers use invasive techniques, including bone-breaking force, bone mineral density, bone mineral content, and bone ash content ^[30,31], and non-invasive techniques, including dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and various imaging approaches ^[32]. In addition, calculations based on morphometric measurements such as cortical index, robusticity index, and weight-length index (Seedor index) are also used to measure bone mineralization ^[33].

The study has been designed considering the issues observed in the poultry industry' described above. Given that normal bone development in healthy broiler chickens reaches its peak within the initial three weeks of life [34], it was hypothesized that slowing the growth rate during this period could promote better bone development. To this purpose, qualitative feed restriction was applied during the first three weeks of life. Barrier perch was preferred to increase the mobility level of broiler chickens, and therefore, it was placed between the feeder and the drinker. In addition, its widespread usability and cost in the chicken industry were considered. In line with the information, this study aimed to investigate the impacts of implementing early-life qualitative feed restriction to limit weight gain and the use of a barrier perch to enhance mobility on morphometric and biomechanical measurements.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

All experimental procedures conducted in this study received approval from the Local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments at Aydın Adnan Menderes University (approval no: 64583101/2023/57).

Experimental Design and Groups

An experiment was conducted based on a completely randomized design involving a 2x2 factorial arrangement of groups. A total of 504 one-day-old Ross 308 male broiler chickens (initial body weights: 46.73 ± 0.17) were randomly allotted four groups and three replicates (3 replicates/group; 42 birds/pen). The experimental design is explained in detail in *Table 1*. The groups were categorized based on the application of early qualitative feed restriction (qualitative feed restriction-QFR-) and the provision of barrier perches (the presence of barrier perch-BP+/the absence of barrier perch-BP-).

All diets used in the experiment were formulated based on corn and soybean meal. The diets were prepared in three phases: starter, grower, and finisher, following the recommendations provided in the Ross 308 commercial

Table 1. Experimental design ¹									
QFR	BP	Replicates	Birds Per Pen	Total Per Group					
-	-	3	42	126					
-	- +		42	126					
+	-	3	42	126					
+	+	3	42	126					
Total	·			504					
¹ QFR: qualita	¹ QFR: qualitative feed restriction, BP: barrier perch.								

hybrid catalog [35]. In the QFR- group, the broiler chickens were fed a starter diet containing 3000 kcal/kg metabolizable energy (ME) and 23% crude protein (CP) from day 0 to 10. From day 11 to 24, they received a grower diet with 3100 kcal/kg ME and 21.5% CP. Finally, from day 25 to 42, they were provided with the finisher diet containing 3200 kcal/kg ME and 19.5% CP. For the QFR+ group, the feeding regimen was modified during the first 21 days. The quantity of soybean meal and vegetable oil in the diet was reduced, while the inclusion of wheat bran was increased to 15%. As a result, the CP content of the diet was reduced by 20% (18.6% and 17.2% CP), and the ME level was reduced by 10% (2700 and 2790 kcal/ kg ME). From day 21 to 42, the broiler chickens in the QFR+ group were fed the same diet as the QFR- group. In the groups with BP+, a wooden perch barrier measuring 1.8 cm in width and 5 cm in height was installed between the feeder and the drinker from the 3rd day to the 14th day of the experiment. From the 14th day until the end of the experiment, a barrier perch measuring 1.8 cm in width and 15 cm in height was used in the same location.

Housing and Management

Broiler chickens were raised in floor pens (measuring 2 m in width, 2 m in depth, and 0.75 m in height) and located at the Poultry Research Unit, Aydın, Türkiye, for 42 days. Each pen was furnished with two drinker lines and two round feeders, ensuring ad libitum access to feed and water. Bedding material consisting of wood shavings (6 cm in depth) was utilized. The stocking density (33 kg/m²) and lighting regimen (24 h of light for the initial seven days and 18 h of light with 6 h of darkness for the subsequent days) were established following the European Union Directive (2007/43/EC) ^[36]. The broiler chickens were maintained under optimal management conditions, which included temperature and humidity control ^[37].

Data Collection and Measurement Procedures

On day 21, a total of 60 broiler chickens (15 chickens per group), and on day 42, a total of 80 broiler chickens (20 chickens per group) were randomly selected and slaughtered. A total of 140 right femur and tibiotarsus bones were collected, and the surrounding tissues were removed. These bones were then stored in a deep freezer at -20°C for further measurements.

Morphometric measurements: Geometric properties (length, weight, mediolateral external diameter- DE_{ML} ; mediolateral internal diameter- DI_{ML} ; craniocaudal external diameter- DE_{CrCau} ; craniocaudal internal diameter- DI_{CrCau}) and index measurements (cortical index-CI; weight-length index-WLI; robusticity index-RI) were determined on the tibiotarsus bones. The femur bones were measured for weight, length, DE_{ML} , RI, and WLI. The weights of the bones were measured using a digital weight scale (Scaltec

SBP52, Heiligenstadt, Germany), while the length and diameter were measured using a digital caliper (Mitutoyo, Model No: CD-15CP, Code No: 500-181 U, Absolute Digital Caliper, Tokyo, Japan). Index measurements of the bones were calculated using the following formulas ^[38].

Contribution (CD) - ML external diameter - ML internal diameter
Cortical index (CI) =
$Weight - length index (WLI) = \frac{bone \ weight \ (mg)}{bone \ length \ (mm)}$
Robusticity index (RI) = $\frac{bone \ length}{\sqrt[3]{bone \ weight}}$

Biomechanical measurements: The right tibiotarsus bones (n=140) underwent a three-point bending test to evaluate their biomechanical properties. These tests were performed using a three-point bending test apparatus (ANSI/ASAE S459) on the Zwick/Roell Z 0.5 (Zwick Roell, Ulm, Baden-Württemberg, Germany) testing device at Aydın Adnan Menderes University Agricultural Research Center (TARBİYOMER). The span length was set at 50 mm. The device operated at the speed of 10 mm/min, with a preload force of 2 N applied. The testXpert II software was used to record the measured data. Data on bone deformation under pressure were obtained graphically, and the following parameters were determined from graph ^[39].

Ultimate force (F_{max}): The maximum force applied to the bone at the time of fracture. It's extrinsic strength properties of bone (Newton-N).

Stiffness (S): The resistance required to flex the bone is calculated using the slope of the elastic portion of the force-deformation curve. It's intrinsic properties of bone (N/mm).

Ultimate strength (σ): The maximum strength that a bone can withstand. It's intrinsic properties of bone (MegaPascal-MPa).

Elastic modulus (E): The resistance required to flex the bone is calculated using the slope of the elastic portion of the stress-strain curve. It's intrinsic properties of bone (MegaPascal-MPa).

Moment of inertia (l_x) : Calculated based on the crosssection of the bone (inner and outer bone diameter at the bending point) to determine the bending strength and elastic modulus of the bone (mm⁴).

Statistical Analysis

The data obtained from the study were analyzed using the SPSS software package (version 22.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). To assess the normal distribution of the variables, the Shapiro-Wilk test/Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was employed. Non-normally distributed variables were subjected to logarithmic, square, and reverse transformation. The assumption of homogeneity of variances was evaluated using Levene's test. Bone measurements were subjected to analyses using a general linear model procedure, and means were compared using the least square difference (LSD) method. The experimental model for the design was defined as follows:

$$Y_{ijk} = \mu + \alpha_i + \beta_j + (\alpha\beta)_{ij} + E_{ijk}$$

Where Y_{ijk} =the observed value, μ =the overall mean, α_i =the effect of qualitative feed restriction (QFR- and QFR+), β_j = the effect of barrier perch (BP- and BP+), $(\alpha\beta)_{ij}$ = the interaction between qualitative feed restriction and barrier perch, and E_{ijk} = the test error per observation. Since the interaction between groups was determined to be insignificant for the investigated traits, it was not included in the tables.

The correlation analyses and scatterplots were carried out between biomechanical measurements and geometric properties/index measurements of the tibiotarsus of broiler chickens aged 42 days old using the ggpairs function from the GGally package (version 2.1.2) of RStudio software (version 4.3.1, Inc, Boston, MA, USA). P value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Morphometric Measurements

To determine the effect of feed restriction applied during the first 21 days, lower values were obtained in the group of QFR+ in all geometric properties made on the femur and tibiotarsus bones of the 21-day-old broiler chickens (*Tables 2, Table 3*). The differences detected in all measurements except the length and internal diameter measurements (length, DI_{ML} and DI_{CrCau}) of the tibiotarsus were found to be statistically significant (femur: weight P<0.0001; length P=0.012; DE_{ML} P<0.0001; tibiotarsus: weight P<0.0001; DE_{ML} P<0.0001; DE_{CrCau} P<0.0001). Similarly, in the

Table 2. Effects of QFR and BP on geometric properties of femur in broiler chickens ^{1,2,3}									
Dur	Manager	Qualitative Feed Restriction				SEM			
Day	Measurements	QFR-	QFR+	Р	BP-	BP+	Р	SEM	
21 st day	Weight (g)	4.92	4.09	< 0.0001	4.57	4.44	0.450	0.12	
	Length (mm)	50.31	48.70	0.012	49.70	49.39	0.658	0.46	
	DE _{ML} (mm)	6.50	5.79	< 0.0001	6.16	6.12	0.724	0.08	
42 nd day	Weight (g)	18.92	17.40	< 0.0001	18.09	18.23	0.721	0.29	
	Length (mm)	76.37	75.30	0.034	75.82	75.85	0.943	0.35	
	DE _{ML} (mm)	10.51	10.21	0.059	10.33	10.39	0.737	0.11	

¹ Data presented as the least square means; ² The sample size is 60 on the 21st day and 80 on the 42nd day; ³ The interaction between groups was not significant for investigated traits (P>0.05); ⁴ DE_{ML}: medio-lateral external diameter

Table 3. Effects of QFR and BP on geometric properties of tibiotarsus in broiler chickens ^{1,2,3}									
		Qualitative Feed Restriction				CEM			
Day	Measurements	QFR-	QFR+	Р	BP-	BP+	Р	SEM	
	Weight (g)	7.00	6.00	< 0.0001	6.48	6.51	0.914	0.17	
	Length (mm)	69.88	68.45	0.130	69.51	68.83	0.468	0.66	
01st J	DE _{ML} (mm)	6.03	5.36	<0.0001	5.72	5.68	0.735	0.08	
21 ^{ar} day	DI _{ML} (mm)	2.75	2.66	0.254	2.73	2.69	0.668	0.06	
	DE _{CrCau} (mm)	5.23	4.76	<0.0001	5.05	4.94	0.337	0.08	
	DI _{CrCau} (mm)	2.60	2.55	0.568	2.58	2.57	0.843	0.06	
	Weight (g)	26.09	24.29	0.001	25.25	25.13	0.811	0.36	
	Length (mm)	107.62	106.85	0.248	106.91	107.56	0.326	0.46	
tand 1	DE _{ML} (mm)	10.10	9.75	0.047	9.90	9.95	0.753	0.12	
42 nd day	DI _{ML} (mm)	5.76	5.37	0.002	5.51	5.62	0.368	0.08	
	DE _{CrCau} (mm)	8.39	8.12	0.064	8.31	8.20	0.456	0.10	
	DI _{CrCau} (mm)	5.14	4.90	0.040	5.04	5.00	0.728	0.08	

¹ Data presented as the least square means; ²The sample size is 60 on the 21st day and 80 on the 42nd day; ³ The interaction between groups was not significant for investigated traits (P>0.05); ⁴ DE_{ML}: medio-lateral external diameter, DI_{ML}: medio-lateral internal diameter, DE_{CrCau}: cranio-caudal external diameter, DI_{CrCau}: cranio-caudal internal diameter

Table 4. Effects of QFR and BP on index measurements of bones in broiler chickens ^{1,2,3}									
D		Qualitative Feed Restriction		Barrier Perch					
Day	Measurements*	QFR-	QFR+	Р	BP-	BP+	Р	SEM	
	Tibiotarsus	Tibiotarsus							
	CI	54.29	50.18	0.001	52.00	52.47	0.699	0.86	
	Effects of QFR and BP on index measurements of bonQualitative Feed RMeasurements4QFR-QFR+ $QFR-$ QFR+QFR+Tibiotarsus54.2950.18WLI99.6987.34RI3.663.78FemurWLI97.39WLI97.3983.57RI2.973.06TibiotarsusCI42.86KI2.42.28227.18RI3.633.69FemurWLI247.59230.85RI2.872.91	87.34	< 0.0001	92.82	94.21	0.602	1.87		
21 st day	RI	3.66	3.78	< 0.0001	3.74	3.70	0.118	0.02	
	Femur								
	WLI	97.39	83.57	< 0.0001	91.44	89.52	0.452	1.79	
	RI	2.97	3.06	< 0.0001	3.01	3.02	0.778	0.02	
	Tibiotarsus								
	CI	42.86	44.81	0.054	44.25	43.42	0.405	0.70	
	WLI	242.28	227.18	< 0.0001	236.06	233.40	0.521	2.91	
42 ⁿ day	RI	3.63	3.69	0.006	3.65	3.68	0.199	0.02	
	Femur								
	WLI	247.59	230.85	0.001	238.35	240.08	0.711	3.29	
	RI	2.87	2.91	0.029	2.89	2.89	0.676	0.01	
	Femur WLI RI	247.59 2.87	230.85 2.91	0.001 0.029	238.35 2.89	240.08 2.89	0.711	3.29 0.01	

¹Data presented as the least square means; ²The sample size is 60 on the 21st day and 80 on the 42nd day; ³The interaction between groups was not significant for investigated traits (P>0.05); ⁴CI: cortical index, WLI: weight-length index, RI: robusticity index

geometric properties of the femur and tibiotarsus bones of the 42-day-old broiler chickens, higher values were observed in the group of QFR-. Statistically significant differences were detected in all geometric properties (femur: weight P<0.0001; length P=0.034; tibiotarsus: weight P=0.001; DE_{ML} P=0.047; DI_{ML} P=0.002; DI_{CrCau} P=0.040) except for the DE_{ML} of the femur and the length and DE_{CrCau} of the tibiotarsus.

In the tibiotarsus of 21-day-old broiler chickens, the CI was significantly higher (P=0.001) in the QFR- group, whereas in the tibiotarsus of 42-day-old broiler chickens, it was

higher (P=0.054) in the QFR+ group (*Table 4*). The WLI of tibiotarsus bones of 21 and 42-day-old broiler chickens with qualitative feed restriction was found to be lower (P<0.0001) while the RI was higher (P<0.0001; P=0.006, respectively). The WLI of the femur of 21 and 42-day-old broiler chickens with qualitative feed restriction was lower (P<0.0001; P=0.001, respectively) while the RI was higher (P<0.0001; P=0.029, respectively). The presence of the barrier perch did not affect the morphometric measurements (geometric and index) of the tibiotarsus and femur bones in 21 and 42-day-old broiler chickens.

Table 5. Effects of QFR and BP on biomechanical measurements of tibiotarsus in broiler chickens ^{1,2,3}								
	Measurements ⁴	Qualitative Feed Restriction			Barrier Perch			CEN
Day		QFR-	QFR+	Р	BP-	BP+	Р	SEM
	F _{max} (N)	166.46	123.43	<0.0001	147.53	142.37	0.512	5.53
21 st day	S (N/mm)	77.81	67.67	0.004	72.30	73.18	0.794	2.38
	σ (MPa)	81.96	84.14	0.450	82.28	83.83	0.589	2.02
	E (MPa)	1141.26	1503.32	<0.0001	1278.03	1366.55	0.346	65.87
	l _x (mm ⁴)	41.70	27.20	<0.0001	35.88	33.02	0.403	2.18
42 nd day	F _{max} (N)	315.35	287.57	0.030	305.15	297.77	0.598	9.04
	S (N/mm)	87.67	84.12	0.208	84.45	87.34	0.303	1.97
	σ (MPa)	79.46	78.60	0.799	78.35	79.71	0.688	2.37
	E (MPa)	1644.29	1753.85	0.235	1621.94	1776.20	0.207	80.64
	l _x (mm ⁴)	261.23	231.88	0.076	250.06	243.05	0.669	11.54

¹ Data presented as the least square means;² The sample size is 60 on the 21st day and 80 on the 42nd day;³ The interaction between groups was not significant for investigated traits (P>0.05); ⁴ F_{max} ; ultimate force, S: stiffness, σ : ultimate strength, E: elastic modulus, I_x : moment of inertia

Biomechanical Measurements

In the tibiotarsus of 21-day-old broiler chickens, the ultimate force, stiffness, and moment of inertia were higher in the QFR- group (P<0.0001; P=0.004; P<0.0001, respectively), whereas ultimate strength and elastic modulus were higher in the QFR+ group (P=0.450; P<0.0001, respectively). When examining the biomechanical measurements of the tibiotarsus bones of 42-day-old broiler chickens, all parameters, except for ultimate force (P=0.030), showed statistically insignificant differences between the QFR groups. The presence of barrier perch did not impact the biomechanical measurements of the tibiotarsus in 21 and 42-day-old broiler chickens (*Table 5*).

Correlation Analysis Between Morphometric and Biomechanical Measurements

The study adopted the correlation coefficient standards described by Hayran and Hayran ^[40], where coefficients ranging from 0.05 to 0.30 are considered insignificant, those between 0.30 and 0.40 are categorized as low, those between 0.40 and 0.60 are categorized as moderate, those between 0.60 and 0.70 are categorized as good, those between 0.70 and 0.75 are categorized as very good, and those between 0.75 and 1.00 are categorized as indicating a strong correlation. The correlation coefficients (r) between

geometric properties and biomechanical measurements of 42-day-old tibiotarsus bones are presented in Fig. 1. A strong positive correlation was found between outer diameters (DE_{ML} and DE_{CrCau}) and moment of inertia (r=0.877, P<0.001; r=0.970, P<0.001, respectively). Conversely, elastic modulus and outer diameters had a strong negative correlation (r=-0.789, P<0.001; r=-0.863, P<0.001). These results suggest that as outer diameters increase, there is a corresponding increase in the moment of inertia while a decrease in elastic modulus is observed. It was found that DE_{ML} showed a good negative correlation with ultimate strength (r=-0.659, P<0.001), while DE_{CrCau} exhibited a moderate negative correlation with ultimate strength (r=-0.557, P<0.001). Conversely, there was a good positive correlation (r=0.643, P<0.001) between DE_{CrCau} and ultimate force. The analysis revealed a moderate negative correlation between DI_{ML} and ultimate strength (r=-0.501, P<0.001). Furthermore, there was a moderate positive correlation noted between DI_{ML} and moment of inertia (r=0.512, P<0.001), as well as between DI_{CrCau} and moment of inertia (r=0.522, P<0.001).

The correlation coefficients (r) between the index and biomechanical measurements of 42-day-old tibiotarsus bones are shown in *Fig. 2*. The correlations between CI and biomechanical measurements were observed to be

Weight (g)	Length (mm)	DEML (mm)	DIML (mm)	DECrCau (mm)	DICrCau (mm)	Fmax (N)	S (Nimm)	σ (MPa)	E (MPa)	lx (mm4)
0.15- 0.10- 0.05- 0.00-	Corr: 0.575*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.472* BP(-):QFR(+): 0.415. BP(+):QFR(-): 0.736*** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.636**	Corr: 0.658*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.550* BP(-):QFR(+): 0.687*** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.608** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.689***	Corr: 0.368*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.554* BP(-):QFR(+): 0.160 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.043 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.435.	Corr: 0.662*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.699*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.632** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.603** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.639**	Corr: 0.469*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.664** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.355 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.204 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.509*	Corr: 0.661*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.755*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.626** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.550* BP(+):QFR(+): 0.608**	Corr: 0.359** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.354 BP(-):QFR(-): 0.210 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.371 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.439.	Corr: -0.183 BP(-):QFR(-): 0.033 BP(-):QFR(+): -0.125 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.254 BP(+):QFR(+): -0.366	Corr: -0.560*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.449* BP(-):QFR(+): -0.523* BP(+):QFR(-): -0.636** BP(+):QFR(+): -0.595**	Corr: 0.662*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.686*** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.643** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.594** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.660**
110 - 105 -	A	Corr: 0.158 BP(-):QFR(-): -0.054 BP(-):QFR(+): -0.080 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.138 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.346	Corr: 0.114 BP(-):QFR(-): 0.115 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.144 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.196 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.227	Corr: 0.262* BP(-):QFR(-): 0.367 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.141 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.220 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.161	Corr: 0.231* BP(-):QFR(-): 0.303 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.260 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.006 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.313	Corr: 0.328** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.507* BP(-):QFR(+): 0.130 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.352 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.103	Corr: 0.190. BP(-):QFR(-): 0.147 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.196 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.219 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.087	Corr: 0.045 BP(-):QFR(-): 0.290 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.165 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.015 BP(+):QFR(+): -0.143	Corr: -0.143 BP(-):QFR(-): -0.151 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.129 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.271 BP(+):QFR(+): -0.097	Corr: 0.238* BP(-):QFR(-): 0.268 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.049 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.178 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.236
11- 10- 9-	1.945		Corr: 0.626*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.710*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.371 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.566** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.791***	Corr: 0.808*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.733*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.758*** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.910*** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.767***	Corr: 0.560*** BP(-):OFR(-): 0.549* BP(-):QFR(+): 0.451* BP(+):QFR(-): 0.523* BP(+):QFR(+): 0.627**	Corr: 0.440*** BP(-):OFR(-): 0.372 BP(-):OFR(+): 0.499* BP(+):OFR(-): 0.190 BP(+):OFR(+): 0.554*	Corr: 0.291** BP(-):0FR(-): 0.357 BP(-):0FR(+): 0.190 BP(+):0FR(-): 0.127 BP(+):0FR(+): 0.392.	Corr: -0.659*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.657** BP(-):QFR(+): -0.560* BP(+):QFR(-): -0.774*** BP(+):QFR(+): -0.671**	Corr: -0.789*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.619** BP(-):QFR(+): -0.768*** BP(+):QFR(-): -0.926*** BP(+):QFR(+): -0.802***	Corr: 0.877*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.847*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.849*** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.933*** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.846***
	- Charles	19-19-20-20		Corr: 0.553*** BP(-):0FR(-): 0.671** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.403. BP(+):0FR(-): 0.502* BP(+):0FR(+): 0.637**	Corr: 0.758*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.733*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.915*** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.619** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.771***	Corr: 0.118 BP(-):QFR(-): 0.283 BP(-):QFR(+): -0.187 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.084 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.171	Corr: 0.171 BP(-):OFR(-): 0.400. BP(-):QFR(+): -0.030 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.189 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.203	Corr: -0.501*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.488* BP(-):QFR(+): -0.515* BP(+):QFR(-): -0.502* BP(+):QFR(+): -0.769***	Corr: -0.454*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.446* BP(-):QFR(+): -0.253 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.477* BP(+):QFR(+): -0.714***	Corr: 0.512*** BP(-):0FR(-): 0.650** BP(-):0FR(-): 0.463* BP(+):0FR(-): 0.613**
9- 8- 7-	- Cantol	State of the state	A.		Corr: 0.621*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.697*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.611** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.496* BP(+):QFR(+): 0.661**	Corr: 0.643*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.712*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.668** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.406. BP(+):QFR(+): 0.674**	Corr: 0.403*** BP(-):0FR(-): 0.335 BP(-):0FR(+): 0.410. BP(+):0FR(-): 0.230 BP(+):0FR(+): 0.646**	Corr: -0.557*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.416. BP(-):QFR(+): -0.429. BP(+):QFR(-): -0.647** BP(+):QFR(+): -0.687***	Corr: -0.863*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.811*** BP(-):QFR(+): -0.714*** BP(+):QFR(-): -0.966*** BP(+):QFR(+): -0.874***	Corr: 0.970*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.964*** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.968*** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.977*** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.962***
60- 55- 50- 45- 40-	See.	No.	ANT CO.		A	Corr: 0.285* BP(-):OFR(-): 0.508* BP(-):OFR(+): 0.049 BP(+):OFR(-): 0.122 BP(+):OFR(+): 0.283	Corr: 0.172 BP(-):OFR(-): 0.358 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.104 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.166 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.273	Corr: -0.348** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.175 BP(-):QFR(+): -0.464* BP(+):QFR(-): -0.273 BP(+):QFR(+): -0.580**	Corr: -0.477*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.416. BP(-):QFR(+): -0.348 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.465* BP(+):QFR(+): -0.614**	Corr: 0.522*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.612** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.481* BP(+):QFR(-): 0.370 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.580** (m)
400 - 350 - 300 - 250 - 200 -				. All			Corr: 0.502*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.353 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.557* BP(+):QFR(-): 0.554* BP(+):QFR(+): 0.632**	Corr: 0.226* BP(-):QFR(-): 0.299 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.296 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.398. BP(+):QFR(+): 0.010	Corr: -0.443*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.447* BP(-):QFR(+): -0.360 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.306 BP(+):QFR(+): -0.508*	Corr: 0.629*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.675** BP(-):QFR(+): 0.706*** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.318 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.718***
120 - 100 - 80 - 60 -	-	- 神影行	STATE:			194-194	\bigwedge	Corr: 0.035 BP(-):QFR(-): -0.024 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.223 BP(+):QFR(-): 0.146 BP(+):QFR(+): -0.209	Corr: 0.016 BP(-):QFR(-): 0.216 BP(-):QFR(+): 0.251 BP(+):QFR(-): -0.060 BP(+):QFR(+): -0.297	Corr: 0.410*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.387. BP(-):QFR(+): 0.412. BP(+):QFR(-): 0.195 BP(+):QFR(+): 0.640**
120 - 100 - 80 - 60 -		Signa .	- With	Maria S	Webs-	Me Th			Corr: 0.682*** BP(-):QFR(-): 0.544* BP(+):QFR(+): 0.640** BP(+):QFR(-): 0.720*** BP(+):QFR(+): 0.789***	Corr: -0.581*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.487* BP(+):QFR(+): -0.442. BP(+):QFR(-): -0.719*** BP(+):QFR(+): -0.633**
3000 - 2000 - 1000 -	ANNA.	all and the second	and the second	"rufe sugar	Maria	Mapa.	Alex .	AN AL	\bigwedge	Corr: -0.840*** BP(-):QFR(-): -0.769*** BP(-):QFR(+): -0.744*** BP(+):QFR(-): -0.964*** BP(+):QFR(+): -0.814***
400 300 200 100	a state	in the state		- And a start of the second		and the second		Mary .	Sinter.	It (nmd)
20.0 22.5 25.0 27.5 30.0	100 105 110	8 9 10 11	4 5 6 7	7 8 9	4.0 4.5 5.0 5.5 6.0	200 250 300 350 400	60 80 100 120	60 80 100 120	1000 2000 3000	100 200 300 400

Fig 1. Scatterplots showing the correlation matrix results for biomechanical measurements and geometric properties of broiler chickens^{1,2} (Created in RStudio version 4.3.1. using ggpairs function from the GGally package version 2.1.2). ¹DE_{ML}: medio-lateral external diameter, DI_{ML}: medio-lateral internal diameter, DI_{ML}: medio-lateral internal diameter, DI_{CrCau}: cranio-caudal external diameter, DI_{CrCau}: cranio-caudal internal diameter, F_{max}: ultimate force, S: stiffness, σ : ultimate strength, E: elastic modulus, I_x: moment of inertia; ²A total of 80 tibiotarsus bones from 42-day-old broiler chickens were used in the correlation analysis

KARAARSLAN, SEVİL KİLİMCİ, KAYA, TATLI, NAZLIGÜL



Fig 2. Scatterplots showing the correlation matrix results for biomechanical and index measurements of broiler chickens^{1,2} (Created in RStudio version 4.3.1. using ggpairs function from the GGally package version 2.1.2). ¹CI: cortical index, WLI: weight-length index, RI: robusticity index, F_{max} : ultimate force, S: stiffness, σ : ultimate strength, E: elastic modulus, I_x : moment of inertia; ²A total of 80 tibiotarsus bones from 42-day-old broiler chickens were used in the correlation analysis

low or insignificant (r<0.40). Conversely, a good positive correlation was identified between WLI and ultimate force (r=0.652, P<0.001), as well as moment of inertia (r=0.685, P<0.001). Additionally, a moderate negative correlation was found between elastic modulus and WLI (r=-0.598, P<0.001). RI and elastic modulus were observed to have a moderate positive correlation (r=0.519, P<0.001). A moderate negative correlation was identified between RI and ultimate force (r=-0.434, P<0.001), as well as moment of inertia (r=-0.531, P<0.001).

DISCUSSION

In the research findings, qualitative feed restriction was observed to decrease the length and weight of femur bones of 42-day-old broiler chickens while leaving the diameter unaffected. Similar to the present findings, Yalçın et al.^[41] reported that broiler chickens subjected to protein restriction exhibited shorter femur length. In contrast, Bruno et al.^[42] reported that early qualitative feed restriction had no impact on the weight and length of femur bones but, resulted in a decrease in femur bone diameter in broiler chickens. Furthermore, Bruno et al.^[43] indicated that early quantitative feed restriction did not affect the weight of femur bones, but led to reductions in both the length and diameter of femur bones in broiler chickens. In the study, it was found that qualitative feed restriction resulted in decreases in all geometric properties of the tibiotarsus bones of 42-day-old broiler chickens although the reductions in length and diameter (DE_{CrCau}) were not statistically significant. Consistent with the study findings, El-Faham et al.^[44] and Pirzado et al.^[45] reported that low energy levels did not affect the tibia length of 42-day-old broiler chickens. Similarly, Bruno et al.^[42] found that early qualitative feed restriction did not influence tibia length. Conversely, Bruno et al.^[43] stated that early quantitative feed restriction significantly reduced tibia length. Additionally, contrary to the present study findings, previous studies reported that tibia weight was not affected by low protein/energy levels [45,46] or early qualitative/quantitative feed restriction [42,43] in broiler chickens. Venalainen et al.^[47] stated that tibia length, external diameter, and weight were greater in broiler chickens given high ME diets than in those given low ME diets. In the study, better results were obtained in 42-dayold broiler chickens in the group without feed restriction in terms of WLI and RI. Conversely, El-Faham et al.^[44]

reported that energy restriction did not affect levels of WLI and RI. This discrepancy among study results might be related to differences in methods, duration, or levels of feed restriction. When the findings of the current trial were evaluated, it was observed that qualitative feed restriction reduced or tended to reduce all geometric properties of the femur and tibiotarsus on day 42. This situation is thought to be due to the limitation of growth caused by feed restriction. This notion is also evident from the 240.53 g body weight difference observed between the QFR groups on days 0-42 in the present study (data not shown).

The research findings align with previous studies that reported no significant effect on the presence of barrier perch on the weight, length, and diaphysis diameter of tibiotarsus bones of 42-day-old broiler chickens [22,48]. Similarly, Ventura et al.^[49] observed in their study that the use of barriers did not affect the diameter and length of the tibia bones in broiler chickens. In contrast to these findings, Türkyılmaz et al.^[50] stated that perch use significantly increased the broiler chickens' tibia weight, length, and diameter. Bizeray et al.^[24] reported that the utilization of barriers did not have an impact on broiler chickens' tibia length but led to an increase in diameter. Consistent with the research results, Karaarslan and Nazlıgül [38] and Dereli Fidan et al.[48] noted that the provision of perch did not affect index measurements of the tibiotarsus bones (CI, WLI, RI) of 42-day-old broiler chickens. It is thought that the inconsistent findings might be due to differences in the designs and configurations of the perches used.

It was determined that implementing protein and energy level restrictions to decelerate the growth rate of broiler chickens did not result in the anticipated levels of difference in bone biomechanical measurements among the groups. The limited impact of the feed restriction is attributed to its application solely during the initial 21 days, followed by a return to a normal diet for the subsequent 21 days. The effect of early qualitative feed restriction on biomechanical measurements of tibiotarsus bones in 42-day-old broiler chickens was statistically insignificant, except for ultimate force. However, there was a visible trend towards an increase in the elastic modulus value. Unlike research outcomes, some researchers reported that protein and/or energy restriction impacts on breaking strength (ultimate force) were insignificant [45,46,51]. The inconsistency observed among study results may stem from variations in the methodologies, durations, or levels of feed restriction implemented. Further research exploring these factors in greater detail may help elucidate the underlying reasons for the discrepancies observed in the literature.

It was observed that the barrier perches, utilized to enhance bone strength by promoting mobility, did not achieve the anticipated effect on the biomechanical measurements of the tibiotarsus. Despite observing higher values of stiffness, ultimate strength, and elastic modulus in the tibiotarsus bones of broiler chickens raised in pens with barrier perches, these values fell below expectations. This outcome is attributed to the low levels of perching ratio of 2% observed in broiler chickens (data not shown). The effect of providing barrier perch on all biomechanical parameters of tibiotarsus bones in 21- and 42-dayold broiler chickens was statistically insignificant. It is consistent with the research results described by Bizeray et al.^[24], who reported that the effect of barrier provision on the breaking strength and stiffness of tibia bones was statistically insignificant. Aksit et al.^[22] revealed similar findings' showing that perch use had no significant effect on breaking strength. Similarly, Dereli Fidan et al.[48] observed that the presence of a perch did not affect the moment of inertia value. Moreover, Türkyılmaz et al.^[50] stated that the use of perch did not affect the ultimate strength and elastic modulus. However, contrary to research findings, Türkyılmaz et al.^[50] reported conflicting results stating that perch use led to a significant increase in ultimate force, stiffness, and moment of inertia. The inconsistencies in findings are thought to arise from variations in the designs and configurations of the perches employed in the studies.

The center of gravity in broiler chickens shifted towards the front of the body due to increased breast meat yield and growth rate, consequently altering the biomechanics of the leg bones ^[5]. For this reason, recent studies have primarily focused on the parameters of the tibia and femur bones. Yalçın et al.^[41] reported a significant correlation between bone-breaking strength and bone weight, as well as bone length, suggesting that the bone-breaking strength can be predicted from these variables. Similarly, in line with the research findings, a positive and good correlation was found between bone weight and breaking strength (ultimate force). Additionally, in the present study, a substantial positive and good correlation was identified between weight and moment of inertia. Furthermore, according to the study results, as the outer diameter of the tibiotarsus bone (DE_{ML} , DE_{CrCau}) increased, a decrease in the level of elastic modulus and an increase in moment of inertia were observed. In light of these results, predictions can be made regarding ultimate force, moment of inertia, and elastic modulus based on the variables' weight and outer diameter.

The strength of a bone depends on its geometric properties, cortical thickness, porosity, and trabecular framework. Understanding bone strength often involves assessing bone density through techniques such as DEXA (Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry) or using a variety of imaging methods. Additionally, geometric indices such as

627

the cortical index, robusticity index, and weight-length index also provide valuable information. Biomechanical tests, such as three-point bending, offer more precise insights into bone strength ^[23]. In this context, it was examined that the correlation between these indices and biomechanical measurements to gain a comprehensive understanding of bone strength [52]. Therefore, it should be evaluated in light of this information when examining the correlation levels between the RI and biomechanical measurements. Although there is a significant correlation between the RI and all biomechanical measurements, in terms of the degree of correlation, it was determined that there was only a moderate negative correlation with ultimate force and moment of inertia and a moderate positive correlation with elastic modulus. In line with this result, it can be said that as the RI value decreases, ultimate force and moment of inertia increase, and elastic modulus decreases. Similarly, significant correlations were identified between the WLI and all biomechanical measurements. Specifically, a significant positive correlation was observed with ultimate force and moment of inertia, alongside a moderate negative correlation with elastic modulus. It can be said that, as the WLI value increases, ultimate force and moment of inertia increase, but elastic modulus decreases. Conversely, no remarkable correlation was discerned between the CI and biomechanical measurements. In light of these results, predictions can be made regarding ultimate force, moment of inertia, and elastic modulus based on the variables of RI and WLI.

In conclusion, a strong/good correlation was found between some morphometric and biomechanical parameters (DE_{ML} and $I_x/E/\sigma$, DE_{CrCau} and $I_x/E/F_{max}$, weight and F_{max}/I_x , WLI and I_x/F_{max}). It is thought that these variables can be suggested to predict biomechanical measurements. It was determined that the presence of barrier perches did not affect bone morphometric and biomechanical measurements. It was found that protein and energy restriction applied during the early period resulted in a slight decrease in some morphometric and biomechanical measurements of the femur and tibiotarsus bones. Additionally, the inconsistent results reported in previous studies for all parameters examined in this trial suggest that bone shape in broilers may exhibit a high degree of individual variation. Further research exploring these factors may help elucidate the underlying reasons for the discrepancies observed in the literature.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data that findings of this study are available from the corresponding author (S. Karaarslan) upon reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: The bone samples used in this study were obtained from animals involved in the project supported by Aydın

Adnan Menderes University Scientific Research Projects Directorate (code VTF-17015). The facilities and resources necessary to conduct the biomechanical tests reported in this manuscript were provided by Aydın Adnan Menderes University Agricultural Research Center (TARBİYOMER), for which sincere appreciation is expressed.

Financial Support: The authors receive no financial support for this article.

Ethical Statement: This study was approved by the Aydın Adnan Menderes University Local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments (approval no: 64583101/2023/57).

Competing Interests: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI)

The authors declare that the article and/or tables and figures were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Author Contributions: SK was responsible for the conception and design of the study. SK, MK, and OT performed the experiments. SK, MK, and FSK were biomechanical analyses in this study. SK and AN performed statistical data interpretation. SK wrote the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

References

1. Gultepe EE, Iqbal A, Cetingul IS, Uyarlar C, Ozcinar U, Bayram I: Effect of *Myrtus communis* L. plant extract as a drinking water supplement on performance, some blood parameters, egg quality and immune response of older laying hens. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 26 (1): 9-16, 2020. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2019.22058

2. Zhang L, Ren S, Liao HR, Sun J: High-throughput sequencing analysis of miRNA expression in embryonic chicken breast muscle. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 27 (2): 243-251, 2021. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2020.25033

3. OECD/FAO: OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2021-2030, OECD Publishing, Paris, 2021.

4. Bailey RA, Souza E, Avendano S: Characterising the influence of genetics on breast muscle myopathies in broiler chickens. *Front Physiol*, 11:1041, 2020. DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2020.01041

5. Huang S, Kong A, Cao Q, Tong Z, Wang X: The role of blood vessels in broiler chickens with tibial dyschondroplasia. *Poult Sci*, 98 (12): 6527-6532, 2019. DOI: 10.3382/ps/pez497

6. Lee J, Tompkins Y, Kim DH, Kim WK, Lee K: Increased sizes and improved qualities of tibia bones by myostatin mutation in Japanese quail. *Front Physiol*, 13:1085935, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2022.1085935

7. da Silva MIL, Almeida Paz ICdL, Jacinto AS, Nascimento Filho MA, Oliveira ABSd, Santos IGAd, Santos Mota Fd, Caldara FR, Jacobs L: Providing environmental enrichments can reduce subclinical spondylolisthesis prevalence without affecting performance in broiler chickens. *PLoS ONE*, 18 (4):e0284087, 2023. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0284087

8. Kwiecie 'n M, Jachimowicz-Rogowska K, Krupa W, Winiarska-Mieczan A, Krauze M: Effects of dietary supplementation of L-carnitine and mannanoligosaccharides on growth performance, selected carcass traits, content of basic and mineral components in liver and muscle tissues, and bone quality in turkeys. *Animals*, 13 (4):770, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ani13040770

9. Pearce J, Chang YM, Abeyesinghe S: Individual monitoring of activity and lameness in conventional and slower-growing breeds of broiler chickens using accelerometers. *Animals*, 13 (9):1432, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ani13091432

10. Pratt IV and Cooper DML: The effect of growth rate on the threedimensional orientation of vascular canals in the cortical bone of broiler chickens. *J Anat*, 233 (4): 531-541, 2018. DOI: 10.1111/joa.12847

11. Oikeh I, Sakkas P, Taylor J, Giannenas I, Blake DP, Kyriazakis I: Effects of reducing growth rate via diet dilution on bone mineralization, performance and carcass yield of coccidia-infected broilers. *Poult Sci*, 98

(11): 5477-5487, 2019. DOI: 10.3382/ps/pez400

12. Štofaníková J, Šály J, Molnár L, Sesztáková E, Vrabec V: The mechanical properties of broiler chicken bones affected by different dietary zinc levels. *Afr J Biotechnol*, 11 (20): 4681-4686, 2012.

13. Chen W, Guo YM, Huang YQ, Shi YH, Zhang CX, Wang JW: Effect of energy restriction on growth, slaughter performance, serum biochemical parameters and Lpin2/WDTC1/mRNA expression of broilers in the later phase. *J Poult Sci*, 49 (1): 12-19, 2012. DOI: 10.2141/jpsa.011001

14. Sahraei M: Feed restriction in broiler chickens production. *Biotechnol Anim Husb*, 28 (2): 333-352, 2012. DOI: 10.2298/BAH1202333S

15. Butzen FM, Ribeiro AML, Vieira MM, Kessler AM, Dadalt JC, Della MP: Early feed restriction in broilers. I-Performance, body fraction weights, and meat quality. *J Appl Poult Res, 22* (2): 251-259, 2012. DOI: 10.3382/japr.2012-00639

16. Poltowicz K, Nowak J, Wojtysiak D: Effect of feed restriction on performance, carcass composition and physicochemical properties of the *M. Pectoralis superficialis* of broiler chickens. *Ann Anim Sci*, 15 (4): 1019-1029, 2015. DOI: 10.1515/aoas-2015-0036

17. Cornejo S, Gadelha AC, Pokniak J, Villouta G: Qualitative feed restriction on productive performance and lipid metabolism in broiler chickens. *Arq Bras Med Vet Zootec*, 59 (6): 1554-1562, 2007. DOI: 10.1590/S0102-09352007000600031

18. Atapattu N, Silva L: Effects of gradual feed dilution with inert or less nutritive materials on growth performance, feed cost and meat organoleptic properties of broiler chicken. *Rev Brasil Ciênc Avíc*, 18 (3): 427-434, 2016. DOI: 10.1590/1806-9061-2015-0136

19. Xu C, Yang H, Wang Z, Wan Y, Hou B, Ling C: The effects of early feed restriction on growth performance, internal organs and blood biochemical indicators of broilers. *Anim Vet Sci*, 5 (6): 121-125, 2017. DOI: 10.11648/j. avs.20170506.14

20. Rutten M, Leterrier C, Constantin P, Reiter K, Bessei W: Bone development and activity in chickens in response to reduced weight-load on legs. *Anim Res*, 51, 327-336, 2002. DOI: 10.1051/animres:2002027

21. Kristensen HH, Cornou C: Automatic detection of deviations in activity levels in groups of broiler chickens: A pilot study. *Biosyst Eng*, 109, 369-376, 2011. DOI: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2011.05.002

22. Aksit M, Karacamakli Yardim Z, Yalcin S: Environmental enrichment influences on broiler performance and meat quality: Effect of light source and providing perches. *Eur Poultry Sci*, 81, 1-10, 2017. DOI: 10.1399/eps.2017.182

23. Dereli Fidan E, Okur EZ: Effect of light intensity and perch on fear and stress reactions and some meat quality characteristics in broilers. *Harran Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 11 (1): 37-42, 2022. DOI: 10.31196/huvfd.1050266

24. Bizeray D, Estevez I, Leterrier C, Faure JM: Influence of increased environmental complexity on leg condition, performance and level of fearfulness in broilers. *Poult Sci*, 81, 767-773, 2002. DOI: 10.1093/ps/81.6.767

25. Karaarslan S, Tatlı O, Kaya M, Türkyılmaz MK, Oral Toplu HD, Dereli Fidan E, Nazlıgül A, Okur EZ: Effects of barrier perch access and early dietary protein and energy dilution on some welfare parameters, tibiotarsus measurements, fear and mobility level in broiler chickens. *Br Poult Sci*, 63 (2): 99-107, 2022. DOI: 10.1080/00071668.2021.1949696

26. Bach MH, Tahamtani FM, Pedersen IJ, Riber AB: Effects of environmental complexity on behaviour in fast-growing broiler chickens. *Appl Anim Behav Sci*, 219:104840, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.applanim. 2019.104840

27. Jones PJ, Tahamtani FM, Pedersen IJ, Niemi JK, Riber AB: The productivity and financial impacts of eight types of environmental enrichment for broiler chickens. *Animals*, 10 (3):378, 2020. DOI: 10.3390/ani10030378

28. Pedersen IJ, Tahamtani FM, Forkman B, Young JF, Poulsen HD, Riber AB: Effects of environmental enrichment on health and bone characteristics of fast growing broiler chickens. *Poult Sci*, 99 (4): 1946-1955, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.psj.2019.11.061

29. Güz BC, de Jong IC, Da Silva CS, Veldkamp F, Kemp B, Molenaar R, van den Brand H: Effects of pen enrichment on leg health of fast and slower-

growing broiler chickens. *PLoS ONE*, 16 (12):e0254462, 2021. DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0254462

30. Li GS, Liu WW, Zhang F, Zhu F, Yang FX, Hao JP, Hou ZC: Genomewide association study of bone quality and feed efficiency-related traits in Pekin ducks. *Genomics*, 112 (6): 5021-5028, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j. ygeno.2020.09.023

31. Ma H, Xu B, LiW, Wei F, Kim WK, Chen C, Sun Q, Fu C, Wang G, Li S: Effects of alpha-lipoic acid on the behavior, serum indicators, and bone quality of broilers under stocking density stress. *Poult Sci*, 99 (10): 4653-4661, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.psj.2020.05.007

32. Khan K, Kilimci FS, Mehmet K: Biomechanical tests: applications and their reliability for the prediction of bone strength in broiler chicken. *Vet J Mehmet Akif Ersoy Univ*, 6 (2): 85-92, 2021. DOI: 10.24880/maeuvfd.936262

33. Mutuş R, Onar V: Rudimenter caput femoris bulunan bir köpeğin sol arka bacağındaki morfolojik değişiklikler. *İstanbul Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 20 (2-3): 71-78, 2006.

34. Williams B, Solomon S, Waddington D, Thorp B, Farquharson C: Skeletal development in the meat-type chicken. *Br Poult Sci*, 41 (2): 141-149, 2000. DOI: 10.1080/713654918

35. Aviagen 2019: Ross 308 Broiler: Nutrition Specifications. Huntsville, AL, USA

36. EU 2007: "EU Council Directive 2007/43/EC of 28 June 2007 laying down minimum rules for the protection of chickens kept for meat production." Official Journal of the European Union, Luxembourg. http:// data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2007/43/oj; *Accessed:* 15.02.2024.

37. Aviagen 2018: Ross Broiler Pocket Guide. Scotland, UK, 2018.

38. Karaarslan S, Nazlıguil A: Effects of lighting, stocking density, and access to perches on leg health variables as welfare indicators in broiler chickens. *Livest Sci*, 218, 31-36, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.livsci.2018.10.008

39. Turner, C: Biomechanics of bone: Determinants of skeletal fragility and bone quality. *Osteoporos Int*, 13, 97-104, 2002. DOI: 10.1007/s001980200000

40. Hayran M, Hayran M: Sağlık Araştırmaları için Temel Istatistik. Omega Araştırma, Kavaklıdere, Ankara, Türkiye, 2011.

41. Yalçın S, Settar P, Dicle O: Influence of dietary protein and sex on walking ability and bone parameters of broilers. *Br Poult Sci*, 39, 251-256, 1998. DOI: 10.1080/00071669889213

42. Bruno LDG, Luquetti BC, Furlan RL, Macari M: Influence of early qualitative feed restriction and environmental temperature on long bone development of broiler chickens. *J Therm Biol*, 32, 349-354, 2007. DOI: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2007.04.005

43. Bruno LDG, Furlan RL, Malheiros EB, Macari M: Influence of early quantitative food restriction on long bone growth at different environmental temperatures in broiler chickens. *Br Poult Sci*, 41 (4): 389-394, 2000. DOI: 10.1080/713654955

44. El-Faham AI, Nematallah GM Ali, MAM Abdelaziz: Assessment of light source and dietary energy in relation to carcass and bone characteristics of broiler chicks. *JAPPMU*, 9 (4): 205-209, 2018. DOI: 10.21608/jappmu. 2018.39812

45. Pirzado SA, Purba A, Huiyi C, Guilin C, Gouhua L: Effect of azomite with low energy diet on growth performance, nutrient digestibility and bone mineralization of broiler chickens. *Intl J Agric Biol*, 24 (3): 505-510, 2021. DOI: 10.1080/1828051X.2021.1953409

46. Konca Y, Yaylak E, Önenç A: Effects of meal-time feeding and protein restriction on walking ability and some bone and carcass properties in broilers. *Animal*, 2 (9): 1324-1330, 2008. DOI: 10.1017/S1751731108002437

47. Venalainen E, Valaja J, Jalava T: Effects of dietary metabolizable energy calcium and phosphorus on bone mineralisation, leg weakness and performance of broiler chickens. *Br Poult Sci*, 47 (3): 301-310, 2006. DOI: 10.1080/00071660600741776

48. Dereli Fidan E, Türkyılmaz MK, Nazlıgül A, Kaya M, Sevil Kilimci F: Effect of perch cooling and litter thickness on leg health and bone characteristics in broilers. *J Agric Sci Technol*, 23 (3): 531-544, 2021.

49. Ventura BA, Siewerdt F, Estevez I: Effects of barrier perches and density on broiler leg health, fear and performance. *Poult Sci*, 89, 1574-1583, 2010. DOI: 10.3382/ps.2009-00576

629

50. Türkyılmaz MK, Nazlıgül A, Fidan ED, Karaarslan S, Mehmet K, Kilimci FS: The effect of perch cooling and perch height on some bone strength parameters in broilers reared in summer. *Harran Üniv Vet Fak Derg*, 9 (2): 133-138, 2020. DOI: 10.31196/huvfd.770462

51. Yang H, Wang W, Wang Z, Yang Z, Wan Y, Hou B, Huang K, Lu H: Effects of early energy and protein restriction on growth performance, clinical blood parameters, carcass yield, and tibia parameters of broilers.

J Integr Agric, 15 (8): 1825-1832, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/S2095-3119(15)61234-5

52. Monteagudo MD, Hernandez E, Seco C, Gonzales-Riola J, Revilla M, Villa LF, Rico H: Comparison of the bone robusticity index and bone weight/ bone length index with the results of bone densitometry and bone histomorphometry in experimental studies. *Acta Anatomica*, 160: 195-199, 1997. DOI: 10.1159/000148011

Research Article

Molecular Detection of Selective Virulence Factors of *Mycoplasma bovis* Local Isolates Involved in Bovine Mastitis

Negar GHAZVINEH¹ ^(b) Azam MOKHTARI ¹ ^(*) ^(b) Masoud GHORBANPOOR NAJAF ABADI¹ ^(b) Ali KADIVAR³ ^(b) Somayeh SHAHROKH SHAHRAKI¹ ^(b)

¹ Department of Pathobiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Shahrekord University, Shahrekord, IRAN

²Research Institute of Zoonotic Diseases, Shahrekord University, Shahrekord, IRAN

³ Department of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Shahrekord University, Shahrekord, IRAN



^(*) **Corresponding authors:** Azam MOKHTARI Phone: +98 3832324401, Mobile: +989132864968, Fax: +98 3832324427 E-mail: a.mokhtari@sku.ac.ir

How to cite this article?

Ghazvineh N, Mokhtari A, Ghorbanpoor Najaf Abadi M, Kadivar A, Shahrokh Shahraki S: Molecular detection of selective virulence factors of Mycoplasma bovis local isolates involved in bovine mastitis. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 631-639, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32118

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32118 Received: 04.04.2024 Accepted: 04.08.2024 Published Online: 29.08.2024

Abstract

Mycoplasma bovis is believed to be a major cause of pneumonia, mastitis, and arthritis in cattle. Mastitis is the most prevalent production-related disease in dairy herds. The present study aimed to improve the current knowledge on the virulence factors of M. bovis-induced mastitis in dairy cows. To this end, sampling was done from farms in Chaharmahal and Bakhtiari province. The samples were monitored for growth in a specific PPLO medium in a CO2 incubator. Simultaneously, the DNA of the samples was extracted and PCR was used to detect M. bovis strains. After identifying susceptible isolates of M. bovis, P48, alpha-enolase, P81, and LppB genes were investigated in M. bovis positive PCR samples. In total, out of 204 samples, 11 isolates suspected of M. bovis were obtained (5.39%) via culture method and 21 positive samples (10.29%) were obtained through PCR. 57.14 (12/21), 66.66 (14/21), and 52.38 (11/21)% of the samples were positive concerning the presence of P48, alpha-enolase and LppB genes, respectively. P81 was not detected in any of the positive samples. The results of the present study showed that the presence of M. bovis in dairy herds in Chaharmahal and Bakhtiari could be considered among the factors that cause mastitis in cattle. alphaenolase gene was found to be more abundant than the other selected genes, which could play an important role in the future strategic measure to develop preventive measures against mycoplasmal mastitis.

Keywords: Mastitis, Mycoplasma bovis, Virulence gene, Prevalence

INTRODUCTION

Mastitis can inflict significant harm upon farm animals, primarily manifesting as diminished milk production in lactating cows during their lactation period and leading to the extermination of affected animals ^[1,2]. In cases of acute mastitis, substantial losses, and costs are tied to the removal and mortality of farm animals. Meanwhile, subclinical forms of mastitis, often stemming from delayed disease diagnosis, result in pronounced reductions in milk production and quality during lactation. The subclinical variant is the most prevalent type of mastitis, which poses the most significant detriment to the livestock industry. The acute form of mastitis, though less frequent, holds significance, too, with its extent of impact varying across different countries and farming setups ^[3,4]. Notably, acute

and subclinical mastitis can also detrimentally affect the fertility of farm animals. Mastitis syndrome is inherent in all mammals, yet its prevalence is heightened in cows due to milking-induced stress. The foremost pathological changes arising from mastitis, affecting both mammary tissue and milk, encompass alterations in milk color, presence of clots, elevation in somatic cell and white blood cell counts within milk, shifts in mammary gland tissue, and the occurrence of swelling, heat, pain, and detectable stiffness upon palpation of the mammary glands. It is essential to acknowledge that many instances of subclinical mastitis are challenging to identify readily ^[5,6].

The etiology of mastitis can be attributed to microorganisms and their toxins, parasites, physical trauma, or chemical irritants. Bacterial infections, notably caused by microorganisms like *Streptococcus agalactiae*,

© () (S

Staphylococcus aureus, *Streptococcus dysgalactiae*, *Streptococcus uberis*, and *Escherichia coli*, constitute about 95% of mastitis cases. The remaining 5% stem from other microorganisms ^[1,4,7].

Mycoplasma, which belong to the Mollicutes class of bacteria and lack a cell wall, are ubiquitous and can potentially infect eukaryotes. Mycoplasma bovis is a destructive pathogen affecting beef and dairy cows globally, significantly contributing to mastitis, pneumonia, and osteoarthritis. These maladies collectively engender substantial economic losses within the dairy farming sector. M. bovis infections culminate in calf mortality, weight loss in surviving calves, and diminished milk production in dairy cows ^[5,8]. Of particular concern is mycoplasmal mastitis, particularly the infection of teats with M. bovis, which results in a surge in somatic cell count (SCC) in milk (from 107 to 109 cells per mL). This type of mastitis notably curtails milk production ^[6,9]. Importantly, mastitis arising from M. bovis infection endures over an extended period and predominantly presents as a subclinical mammary gland infection ^[2,4]. It has been documented that M. bovis-induced mastitis triggers a sustained increase in SCC and pro-inflammatory cytokines in milk; however, this persistent inflammatory response is not potent enough to eliminate M. bovis from the mammary gland ^[1].

Mycoplasma infections encompass conditions such as calf pneumonia and osteoarthritis, and additionally, they can give rise to genital disorders. Managing M. bovis infections effectively necessitates early intervention. Presently, immunoprophylaxis and antibiotic therapy have proven ineffective against *M. bovis* ^[2,10]. Exploring the surface protein alpha-enolase from M. bovis and its binding to plasminogen becomes pertinent [5,11]. Intriguingly, antibodies against alpha-enolase from Streptococcus iniae exhibit protective effects in models of zebrafish and mice, hinting at α -enolase's potential as a target for M. bovis vaccine production. The research underscores the correlation between the presence of the bacterial surface protein α -enolase and bacterial adhesion to host cells ^[1,12]. Owing to the marked antigenic diversity in M. bovis, proteins universally conserved across strains are likely the most promising vaccine targets. One illustrative example is the surface lipoprotein P48. This highly hydrophilic protein bears conserved motifs linked to complement activation and cytokine induction, rendering it an apt starting point for probing pathogenicity mechanisms and immune shifts during infection ^[1,13]. Notably, ten highly protected M. bovis proteins, namely PdhA, PepA, Tuf, P48, P81, OppA, LppA, PepQ, O256, and DeoB, have been recommended as suitable candidates for recombinant vaccine production. Surface antigens like P48, P81, and LppB Lipoproteins hold significance in this context^[1,14].

In the present study, the lack of comprehensive investigations into *M. bovis* virulence factors implicated in mastitis, coupled with the underexplored roles of P48, alpha-enolase, P81, and LppB in mastitis cases, underscores the need for further research. This study delves into the genes associated with each factor, focusing on the milk samples collected from mastitis cases.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

The procedures were applied in the method section were in accordance with the experimental local ethics committee (Code of ethics: IR.SKU.REC.1399.005).

Sampling

Two hundred and four samples were gathered from eight semi-industrial cattle farms in the Chaharmahal and Bakhtiari province, specifically in Shahrekord city. For sampling, the cow's udder was washed and each cartier was wiped separately with a disposable napkin. The first three to four milkings were then discarded, and 50 mL of milk from each cartier was poured separately into a sterile falcon tube. After labeling, the samples were transferred to the laboratory on ice within a few hours. Clinical mastitis samples were procured from cows exhibiting at least one of the subsequent characteristics: (i) Visible abnormalities in the milk, such as discoloration, clots, or pus particles; (ii) Irregular physical conditions of the udder, including acute and diffuse swelling, warmth, pain, and redness; and (iii) General bodily responses encompassing varying degrees of anorexia, toxemia, dehydration, fever, increased heart rate, cessation of rumen movements, and listlessness. Before initiating the antibiotic treatment protocol, milk samples were obtained from the affected quarters.

Subclinical mastitis samples were acquired from quarters that tested positive using the California Mastitis Test (CMT). The CMT procedure was conducted as follows: following the exclusion of the initial three milkings from each quarter, starting from the fourth milking, approximately 2-3 mL of milk was deposited into the corresponding compartment of the CMT container (Maki Kala, product ID: MAKI-D-1041). Subsequently, 2-3 mL of CMT solution (purple bromocresol-containing detergent; KerbaTEST solution, KERBL Company) was introduced into each compartment. The CMT container was agitated for 10 sec to amalgamate the milk with the CMT solution. Ultimately, the outcomes of each Cartier test were independently interpreted and recorded.

Culture in PPLO Medium

The milk samples were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 40 min. Then the sediment was first cultured in 5 mL of PPLO Broth medium for 24 h at 37°C and in the presence

of 10% carbon dioxide. After initial enrichment, 2 mL of media containing samples were cultured in the new PPLO Broth medium including basic medium plus 20% horse serum, 0.05% thallium acetate, and penicillin G (500 U/mL) and 5 0.0% of yeast extract and incubated in a CO2 incubator for 5-7 days at 37°C, 90% humidity and 10% CO₂. The mediums were passaged again in PPLO Broth containing supplements two more times. At the end of each stage, 200 µL of the culture were transferred to the PPLO agar medium containing 20% horse serum, 0.05% thallium acetate, and 500 IU/mL penicillin G, and then incubated for 10 days at 37 degrees, 90% humidity, and 10% CO₂. After 72 h, for 10 days, the culture mediums were examined with an inverted microscope and with 10 X magnification in terms of growth and formation of "fried egg" shaped colonies.

DNA Extraction

After the centrifuging of the milk samples at 4000 rpm for 40 min, DNA extraction was done by DNP Kit (Cinacolon, Cat. No: EX6071) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, at first, 100 µL of protease buffer was added to 500 µL of milk sediment. After adding 5 µL of proteinase K and pipetting, the mixture was incubated for 30 minutes at 55°C. The lysis buffer was placed at 37°C for 10 minutes, then 400 μ L of it was added to 500 μ L of milk precipitate. In the next step, 300 µL of sedimentation buffer was added to the collection, vortexed for 5 sec, and then centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded, then 1 mL of washing buffer was added and vortexed for 3 to 5 sec, and afterward, centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 5 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was placed at 65°C for 5 min to dry completely. The precipitate was dissolved in 50 µL of the solvent buffer by gently shaking and placing it at 65°C for 5 min. After centrifugation at 12000 rpm for 30 sec, the supernatant containing DNA was collected. The extracted DNA was kept at -20°C until the PCR test was performed.

PCR

The primer design was done using Gene Runner software for the sequences related to the genes encoding the selected virulence factors (*Table 1*). For the molecular identification of *M. bovis*, species-specific primers ^[15] were applied. Briefly, PCR was performed at a total volume of 25 µL. Final concentrations in the reaction mixes were 12.5 µL of Taq DNA Polymerase Master Mix RED 2x (Ampliqon, Cat. No.: A180301), 1.5 mM MgCl2, 20 pmol of each primer, 0.5 µg of genomic DNA, and 9.5 µL of deionized Sterile water. Positive (prepared from the Mycoplasma Research Center - Razi Vaccine and Serum Institute) and negative controls (distilled water) were included in each PCR reaction. The temperature conditions were set according to the data described in *Table 2*. After the completion of the PCR reaction, the PCR products were subjected to electrophoresis on a 1.5% agarose gel next to a 100 bp DNA Ladder (Genaxxon bioscience, Cat No: M3340). Then the positive samples were sent to Bioneer Co, Korea for sequencing.

633

Statistical Analysis

SPSS software version 21 (IBM corporation, USA) was applied for the investigation of the relationship between the variables using the Chi-square test.

RESULTS

Statistical Results

After using SPSS software version 21 (IBM corporation, USA) for the investigation of relationships between the variables, applying the Chi-square test, no statistically significant relationship was found between the frequencies of virulence genes (P>0.05). There was a statistically significant difference between the prevalence of *M. bovis* among clinical and subclinical cases (P<0.05) using PCR test; but in case of culture method, this relationship was not significant (P>0.05). Furthermore no statistically significant relationships were found between the frequencies of virulence genes among clinical and subclinical cases (P>0.05). If M. bovis was detected by PCR in the first step, the investigation of virulence genes, was done. The relationship between the frequencies of virulence genes in cases isolated using culture method was not significant (P>0.05). Finally, a statistically significant relationship was found between the culture method and PCR in the detection of *M. bovis* (P<0.05).

Identification of Suspected Isolates of *M. bovis* Using Bacterial Culture

After culturing in PPLO agar and observing the morphology of the colonies, a number of isolates were considered as suspected *M. bovis*. After observation with a light microscope, the colonies suspected to be *M. bovis* had the characteristic morphology of this bacterium, i.e. "fried egg". Colonies were denser in the center and less dense in the periphery and were different in diameter (*Fig. 1*). In general, the diameter of hemispherical egg colonies in PPLO agar medium varies from 10 to 500 µm. After the bacterial culture, 11 suspected isolates of *M. bovis* were isolated. Using bacterial culture, the frequency of *M. bovis* in cases of clinical and subclinical mastitis were one and 10 cases, respectively (*Table 3*).

Molecular Identification of M. bovis by PCR

After the electrophoresis of the PCR products using a pair of specific primers to investigate *M. bovis*, the observation of a 1626 bp band in the tested samples and the positive control indicated the presence of *M. bovis* nucleic acid (*Fig. 2*).

From the total number of 204 examined milk samples that were simultaneously tested by bacterial culture and PCR, 21 positive samples were detected for the presence



Fig 1. Suspected colonies of *M. bovis* observed on PPLO agar medium (magnification: 10X)







Fig 3. Electrophoresis of PCR product to detect P48, alpha-enolase, LppB and P81 genes. **A:** Detection of P48; 1: Ladder (100bp), 2: Negative control, 3, 4: Negative PCR products, 5-8: Positive PCR products for P48 gene (501 bp); **B:** Detection of alpha-enolase; 5 and 1-3: Positive PCR products for alpha-anolase (354bp), 4: Negative control, 6: Ladder (100bp); **C:** Detection of LppB ; 1: Ladder (100bp), 3,5,7-9: Positive PCR products for LppB gene (561bp), 6,2,4: Negative PCR product, 10: Negative control; **D:** Detection of P81; 1,2,4,5: Negative PCR products for P81 gene, 3: Positive PCR product for P81 (877bp), 6: 1: Ladder (100bp)

of *M. bovis* nucleic acid (10.29%), using PCR. Among 21 PCR positive samples, only eleven samples were positive using bacterial culture. Furthermore, among the *M. bovis* positive PCR products, the frequency of infection in the clinical mastitis cases was 2 and in the subclinical mastitis cases was 19 (*Table 4*).

Investigation of Virulence Genes of M. bovis by PCR

In order to identify the selected virulence genes of *M. bovis*, PCR was performed on the DNA samples related to the cases that were found to be positive in the PCR test for the detection of *M. bovis*. After the electrophoresis of the PCR products for the detection of selected virulence genes, the bands with the sizes of 501 bp for P48, 354 bp for alpha-enolase, 877 bp for P81, and 561 bp for LppB were observed, indicating positive results for the presence of these genes. Unfortunately, in the case of the P81 gene, despite the application of several changes in the PCR protocol, only one suspected positive sample was obtained and the sample found was not confirmed by sequencing *(Fig. 3)*.

In total, out of 21 samples with positive results using the PCR test to identify *M. bovis*, after carrying out reactions related to the detection of virulence genes, 14, 11, and 12 samples were positive for the presence of the alpha-enolase, LppB, and P48, respectively (*Table 5*).

Sequencing

In order to verify the products obtained in PCR reactions, sequencing was performed. 50 μ L of the amplified fragments were sent to Gene Fanavaran Company for sequencing. The degree of homology (identity) of the sequence extracted from reading the PCR products with the sequences recorded in the gene bank and the expected amplicon was a good indication of the adequacy of PCR (*Fig. 4, Fig. 5, Fig. 6*).

Table 1. Sequence of primers used in this study						
Primer Name	Primer Sequence	Length	Tm (°C)			
MboF	TTACGCAAGAGAATGCTTCA	20	54			
MboR	TAGGAAAGCACCCTATTGAT	20	54			
P48F	TCAGTGCCATTGGTTGCTGCT	21	61			
P48R	TGCTGCAGGTTCGCCAGTGC	20	65			
AEF	ACCGGTGTTGCAAATGTGCCT	21	61			
AER	TGGCAGTGGCAATGTGTGAGC	21	63			
P81F	GGTAAGGGCGACGAGGACGA	20	65			
P81R	CGGTTCCAACTTCTTCAGCGCCT	23	66			
LppF	TGCTGCTAAATGTGGGGACGGT	22	64			
LppR	CCTTTGCCAGGTTGTGCTGCT	21	63			

Table 2. The thermal conditions for the amplification of the uvrC andvirulence genes				
Gene PCR Cycling				
uvrC	94°C for 5 min followed by 35 cycles at 94°C for 30 s, 52°C for 30 s and 72°C for 60 s, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 10 min			
P48	94°C for 5 min followed by 30 cycles at 94°C for 30 s, 60°C for 30 s and 72°C for 35 s, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 10 min			
alpha-enolase	94°C for 5 min followed by 30 cycles at 94°C for 30 s, 58°C for 30 s and 72°C for 30 s, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 5 min			
P81	94°C for 5 min followed by 30 cycles at 94°C for 45s, 67°C for 45 s and 72°C for 45 s, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 5 min			
LppB	94°C for 5 min followed by 35 cycles at 94°C for 30 s, 55°C for 30 s and 72°C for 45 s, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 10 min			

Table 3. Frequency of M. bovis in cases of mastitis using bacterial culture						
Mastitis Form	Total Frequency	Frequency of <i>M.</i> <i>bovis</i> Positive Cases	Percentage of <i>M. bovis</i> Frequency			
Clinical	61	1	1.63			
Subclinical	143	10	6.99			
Total	204	11	5.39			

Table 4. Frequency of M. bovis in cases of mastitis using PCR						
Mastitis Form	Total Frequency	Frequency of <i>M</i> . <i>bovis</i> Positive Cases	Percentage of <i>M. bovis</i> Frequency			
Clinical	61	2	3.27			
Subclinical	143	19	13.28			
Total	204	21	10.29			

Table 5. Frequency of M. bovis virulence genes using PCR							
Virulence Genes	Frequency Among Clinical Cases	Frequency Among Subclinical Cases	Total Frequency of Positive Cases	Percentage of Positive Results			
Alpha-enolase	2	12	14	66.66			
LppB	2	9	11	52.38			
P48	2	10	12	57.14			

DISCUSSION

The economic losses inflicted by mastitis are not solely attributed to afflicted cows but also encompass diminished milk production ^[16]. Additional expenses encompass medication costs, costs tied to the period of milk abstinence, veterinary charges, supplementary labor expenses, compromised milk quality, supplementary diagnostic supply expenses, and a decrease in the quality and quantity of a cow's life. Hence, addressing this disease necessitates an approach encompassing epidemiology, prevention, and treatment ^[17]. In the current study, 204 milk samples were procured from semi-industrial farms in Shahrekord, cultured on PPLO Agar medium, isolating 11 suspected *M. bovis* isolates. Subsequently, a PCR test revealed the presence of *M. bovis* nucleic acid in 21 samples (10.29%). The PCR test proved more sensitive to *M. bovis* than the bacterial culture method ^[18]. This highlights the significance of incorporating molecular tests, such as PCR, in conjunction with phenotypic assessments like bacteriological culture to diagnose the presence of *Mycoplasma* in mastitis precisely.

635

This outcome is congruent with prior research, which asserts that 30% of mastitis milk may not yield bacterial growth in culture media. However, PCR remains adept at identifying bacteria even when growth is hindered or terminated ^[18].

Though the culture method is meticulous due to the gradual growth of the *Mycoplasma* genus, distinguishing between various species based on colony examination is intricate ^[19]. While bacterial culture remains a definitive and precise technique, its application in detecting *Mycoplasma* in milk can be impeded by inherent or induced inhibitors, necessitating many additives contingent upon the *Mycoplasma* species ^[14]. The PCR method's heightened sensitivity and specificity in discerning *Mycoplasma* species has been proven. PCR's sensitivity and specificity for detection of mastitis milk samples has been reported at 96.2% and 99.1%, respectively ^[12]. Furthermore, PCR sensitivity in detecting *M. bovis* in milk has been documented in a number of previous studies ^[20,21].

Internationally, various studies have utilized the uvrC gene as a diagnostic target for *M. bovis*. Thomas et al.^[21] identified the uvrC gene as an amplification target for *M. bovis* strains. Later, Rosetti et al.^[22] devised a novel Real-time PCR method for uvrC gene detection, facilitating the direct identification of *M. bovis* from milk and tissue samples sans DNA extraction. Similarly, Imandar et al.^[15] identified *M. bovis* in cows with clinical mastitis using culture and PCR based on the uvrC gene. Those findings underscore the prevalence of *M. bovis* in Iranian dairy herds, potentially emerging as a principal cause of clinical mastitis in the country.

In congruence with the abovementioned research, the present study employed the uvrC gene to detect *M. bovis* species. The study's outcomes validate the PCR method's high sensitivity in detecting *M. bovis*, echoing the findings of earlier investigations. Notably, the prevalence of *M. bovis* varies across different regions in Iran. Moshkelani et al.^[23] conducted a study utilizing a PCR test based on 16SrRNA gene fragment amplification to assess the



prevalence of subclinical mastitis in dairy herds in the Chaharmahal and Bakhtiari provinces. The prevalence of mycoplasmal mastitis was 48.67%.

A study was conducted in Shahrekord by Sharifzadeh et al.^[24] using both culture and PCR methods to assess the abundance of *Mycoplasma* in industrial and semiindustrial dairy milk tanks. They found that the contamination of these tanks with *M. bovis* was 3.3%. The difference in the prevalence of mastitis due to *M*. Given that hygienic practices during milking are more rigorously followed in industrial farms compared to semi-industrial ones in this province and that pathogen dilution is higher in milk tank samples, it was anticipated that the prevalence of *M. bovis* in the study conducted by Sharifzadeh et al.^[24] would be lower than in the current study. At the time of sampling, we realized that,

contribute to the variations observed.


unfortunately, none of the necessary milking hygiene standards are observed in the sampling farms. The higher prevalence rate reported by Moshkelani et al.^[23], compared to the current study, could be attributed to various factors. Notably, their study identified mycoplasmal mastitis in 50 dairy cows in general without limiting it to a specific species. Other factors that may have affected the prevalence include differences in management practices, choosing an adequate sample size, sampling times, and conditions. Another study conducted in Ardabil examined 80 milk samples from dairy cows using culture in the Hyflick medium and immunoperoxidase testing. They found 39 samples (48.75%) of clinical mastitis cases were positive for M. bovis ^[25]. The methods employed for detecting M. bovis in study may have been effective in reporting a relatively high prevalence of *M. bovis*. Similarly, a study by Taleb Khan Grossi et al.^[26] revealed an infection rate of 15.38% of mycoplasmal mastitis in dairy herds around Mashhad which is lower than prevalence rate reported by Moshkelani et al.^[23], presumably due to a larger sample size and less incidence of antibiotic resistance in that year. Additionally, variation in dairy cattle breeding systems, milking hygiene within the herd and the timing and location of research can all lead to different results being obtained.

637

In the present study, the frequency of the alpha-enolase gene in the samples was higher than that of other selected genes, at 66.66%. Song et al.^[27] introduced alphaenolase as a virulence factor associated with M. bovis adhesion. Zhao et al.^[28] further stated that specific highly conserved bacterial proteins, such as alpha-enolase, which are involved in metabolic regulation or cellular stress responses, also act as adhesives. M. bovis-encoded enolase is considered a pathogen-related factor that plays a role in metabolic pathways. Prokaryotic alpha-enolase may contribute to pathophysiological processes ^[28]. Additionally, surface-associated enolase is an adhesionrelated factor in *M. bovis*, promoting adhesion by binding to plasminogen. Enolase could be a significant protein contributing to the virulence of *M. bovis* ^[29]. Although according to the available information, there are no reports comparing the difference in the prevalence of this virulence factor with other *M. bovis* virulence factors, the results of the current study revealed a higher frequency of the alpha-enolase gene among the selected virulence factors, indicating the particular functional importance of this protein.

The P48 protein is an immunodominant lipoprotein situated within the membrane. The P48 protein of *M. bovis* shares homology with the protein found in *M. agalactiae*. It serves as a valuable indicator of *M. bovis* infection and is an alternate candidate for the formulation of specific serological tests targeted at *M. bovis* ^[30]. Robino et al.^[31] reported the detectability of the P48 protein in all the tested isolates. Fu et al.^[32] developed a direct competitive ELISA for the detection of *Mycoplasma bovis* infection based on P48 protein.

Prysliak et al.^[33] evaluated immune responses to ten proteins from *M. bovis*, including P48 and P81. These proteins demonstrated high conservation levels, exhibiting 98% to 100% similarities between the PG45, HB0801, Hubei-1, and CQ-W70 strains. Consequently, these proteins emerge as promising targets for potential vaccines. Within the scope of this study, an exploration was undertaken to ascertain the frequency of select highly protected proteins, namely P48, P81, and LppB, in instances of bovine mastitis. Notably, P48 emerged as the second most prevalent virulence factor, with an incidence rate of 57.14%. Although there exists a lack of studies on the occurrence of this gene and other has chosen M. bovis genes, indications point toward the substantial significance of P48 [34]. LppB, an antigen shared among mycoplasmas, surfaced as a standard and distinct element ^[35]. In this study, the occurrence of this gene in samples collected from bovine mastitis cases registered at 52.38%, suggesting a possible pivotal role played by this gene in the pathogenicity of infections attributed to M. bovis in dairy cows. Encoded by the P81 virulence gene of M. bovis, the P81 protein stands as a membrane lipoprotein and represents one of the bacterial surface antigens. This specific protein has found utility in developing serological and PCR-based diagnostic methodologies for M. bovis [36]. A previous investigation spotlighted the efficacy of 9 recombinant proteins, including LppB and P81, when formulated with an adjuvant, in stimulating an effective Th17 response against *M. bovis*. Noteworthy results emerged from Zhang et al.^[37] study, underscoring the inhibitory antibody titers found within the anti-P81 serum. Despite implementing several adjustments in the PCR method, the targeted gene could not be conclusively identified in this current study. However, it remains uncertain whether this gene is present in Mycoplasma strains within the study area, and ascertaining the abundance of this gene within the study population necessitates further research. Righter et al.^[16] scrutinized 19 M. bovis isolates, discovering that using probes designed for M. bovis detection resulted in nucleotide disparities among 19 negative field samples. These disparities hindered probe hybridization, primarily due to critical discrepancies within the probe binding site. Across these isolates, the P81 gene encoding the membrane lipoprotein exhibited absence, truncation, or sequence elongation. This collection of findings signifies variations within the P81 gene that hinder primer or probe binding ^[36,37]. The study's results above partly clarify the current study's challenge in identifying M. bovis P81.

This current study unveiled the highest frequency of virulence genes within alpha-enolase and the lowest frequency within LppB. Notably, differences in the gene prevalence did not reach statistical significance, thereby underscoring the necessity for future research involving native isolates to definitively pinpoint the primary virulence factors.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data that support the findings of this study are openly available.

Acknowledgements: The authors acknowledge the Shahrekord University for the financial support of this research under Grant 98GRD30M1801.

Financial Support: This work was supported by grants from Shahrekord University (Grant number: 98GRD30M1801).

Ethical Approval: The procedures were applied in the method section were in accordance with the experimental local ethics committee (Code of ethics: IR.SKU.REC.1399.005).

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The authors have declared that the article and tables and figures were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Author Contributions: Azam Moktari and Masoud Ghorbanpoor Najaf Abadi designed the study and performed analysis, Negar Ghazvineh performed the tests. Ali Kadivar collected the samples and performed the test in the field. Azam Mokhtari and Somayeh Shahrokh Shahraki wrote the manuscript. All authors read and revised the manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Gelgie AE, Desai SE, Gelalcha BD, Kerro Dego O: *Mycoplasma bovis* mastitis in dairy cattle. *Front Vet Sci*, 11:1322267, 2024. DOI: 10.3389/ fvets.2024.1322267

2. Lin WC, Hsu KC, You MF, Lee KH, Chi CH, Chen JY: Octanoic acid promotes clearance of antibiotic-tolerant cells and eradicates biofilms of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from recurrent bovine mastitis. *Biofilm*, 6:100149, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.bioflm.2023.100149

3. Suzuki K, Kaneko F, Matsushita A, Hata E: Outbreaks of bovine mastitis caused by specific *Mycoplasma bovis* strains recurring at multi-year intervals. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 36 (3): 457-462, 2024. DOI: 10.1177/10406387241230939

4. Rifatbegović M, Nicholas RAJ, Mutevelić T, Hadžiomerović M, Maksimović Z: Pathogens associated with bovine mastitis: The experience of Bosnia and Herzegovina. *Vet Sci*, 11 (2):63, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/ vetsci11020063

5. Biesheuvel MM, Ward C, Penterman P, van Engelen E, van Schaik G, Deardon R, Barkema HW: Within-herd transmission of *Mycoplasma bovis* infections after initial detection in dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci*, 107 (1): 516-529, 2024. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2023-23407

6. Haapala V, Vähänikkilä N, Kulkas L, Tuunainen E, Pohjanvirta T, Autio T, Pelkonen S, Soveri T, Simojoki H: *Mycoplasma bovis* infection in dairy herds - Risk factors and effect of control measures. *J Dairy Sci*, 104 (2): 2254-2265, 2021. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2020-18814

7. Biesheuvel MM, Ward C, Penterman P, van Engelen E, van Schaik G, Deardon R, Barkema HW: Within-herd transmission of *Mycoplasma bovis* infections after initial detection in dairy cows. *J Dairy Sci*, 107 (1): 516-529, 2024. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2023-23407

8. Magro S, Visentin E, Chiarin E, Cendron F, Penasa M, Costa A, Cassandro M, De Marchi M: Pathogen detection via quantitative PCR in milk of healthy cows collected using different sampling protocols. *Pathogens*, 12 (7):935, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/pathogens12070935

9. Xu QY, Pan Q, Wu Q, Xin JQ: Mycoplasma Bovis adhesins and their target proteins. Front Immunol, 13:1016641, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.1016641

10. Dudek K, Nicholas RAJ, Szacawa E, Bednarek D: *Mycoplasma bovis* infections-occurrence, diagnosis and control. *Pathogens*, 9 (8):640, 2020. DOI: 10.3390/pathogens9080640

11. Perez-Casal J: Pathogenesis and virulence of *Mycoplasma bovis. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract*, 36 (2): 269-278, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j. cvfa.2020.02.002

12. Lai J, Lin H, Hsu P, Gondaira S, Higuchi H, Nagahata H: A novel polymerase chain reaction assay for the detection of seven *Mycoplasma* species of cattle origin. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 38 (7):128, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/s11274-022-03312-6

13. Dudek K, Szacawa E, Nicholas RAJ: Recent developments in vaccines for bovine mycoplasmoses caused by *Mycoplasma bovis* and *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides*. *Vaccines* (*Basel*), 9 (6):549, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ vaccines9060549

14. Gille L, Evrard J, Callens J, Supré K, Grégoire F, Boyen F, Haesebrouck F, Deprez P, Pardon B: The presence of *Mycoplasma bovis* in colostrum. *Vet Res*, 51 (1):54, 2020. DOI: 10.1186/s13567-020-00778-w

15. Imandar M, Pourbakhsh SA, Jamshidian M, Zahraei Salehi T: Isolation, identification and molecular characterization of *Mycoplasma bovis* in mastitic dairy cattle by PCR and culture methods. *J Hellenic Vet Med Soc*, 69 (1): 815-822. DOI: 10.12681/jhvms.16433

16. Righter DJ, Rurangirwa FR, Call DR, McElwain TF: Development of a bead-based multiplex PCR assay for the simultaneous detection of multiple *Mycoplasma* species. *Vet Microbiol*, 153 (3-4): 246-256, 2011. DOI: 10.1016/j. vetmic.2011.06.010

17. Halasa T, Huijps K, Østerås O, Hogeveen H: Economic effects of bovine mastitis and mastitis management: A review. *Vet Q*, 29 (1): 18-31, 2007. DOI: 10.1080/01652176.2007.9695224

18. Taponen S, Salmikivi L, Simojoki H, Koskinen MT, Pyörälä S: Realtime polymerase chain reaction-based identification of bacteria in milk samples from bovine clinical mastitis with no growth in conventional culturing. *J Dairy Sci*, 92 (6): 2610-2617, 2009. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2008-1729

19. González RN, Wilson DJ: Mycoplasmal mastitis in dairy herds. *Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract*, 19 (1): 199-221, 2003. DOI: 10.1016/s0749-0720(02)00076-2

20. Pinnow CC, Butler JA, Sachse K, Hotzel H, Timms LL, Rosenbusch RF: Detection of *Mycoplasma bovis* in preservative-treated field milk samples. *J Dairy Sci*, 84 (7): 1640-1645, 2001. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74599-7

21. Thomas A, Dizier I, Linden A, Mainil J, Frey J, Vilei EM: Conservation of the uvrC gene sequence in *Mycoplasma bovis* and its use in routine PCR diagnosis. *Vet J*, 168 (1): 100-102, 2004. DOI: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2003.10.006

22. Rossetti BC, Frey J, Pilo P: Direct detection of *Mycoplasma bovis* in milk and tissue samples by real-time PCR. *Mol Cell Probes*, 24 (5): 321-323, 2010. DOI: 10.1016/j.mcp.2010.05.001

23. Moshkelani S, Rabiee S, Javaheri-Koupaei M: Occurance of *Mycoplasma* in bovine mastitic milk in Iran. *ROAVS*, 1 (11): 694-696, 2011.

24. Sharifzadeh A, Hassani Tabatabaei A, Poorbakhsh SA: Study on frequency of *Mycoplasma* in bulk tank milks of industrial and semi-industrial dairy farms at Shahrekord by culture and PCR methods. *Iran J Vet Res*, 3 (12): 395-402, 2007.

25. Ghazaei C: Mycoplasmal mastitis in dairy cows in the Moghan region of

Ardabil State, Iran. J S Afr Vet Assoc, 77 (4): 222-223, 2006. DOI: 10.4102/ isava.v77i4.382

639

26. Talebkhan Garoussi MT, Mehr JN, Reheme R: Preliminary study on frequency of mycoplasmal mastitis in some dairy cattle herds in Mashhad Suburb, Iran. *J Vet Res*, 61 (4): 321-323, 2007.

27. Song Z, Li Y, Liu Y, Xin J, Zou X, Sun W: α -enolase, an adhesion-related factor of *Mycoplasma bovis. PLoS One*, 7 (6):e38836, 2012. DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0038836

28. Zhao G, Zhang H, Chen X, Zhu X, Guo Y, He C, Anwar Khan F, Chen Y, Hu C, Chen H, Guo A: *Mycoplasma bovis* NADH oxidase functions as both a NADH oxidizing and O_2 reducing enzyme and an adhesin. *Sci Rep*, 7 (1):44, 2017. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-00121-y

29. Rasheed MA, Qi J, Zhu X, Chenfei H, Menghwar H, Khan FA, Zhao G, Zubair M, Hu C, Chen Y, Chen H, Guo A: Comparative genomics of *Mycoplasma bovis* strains reveals that decreased virulence with increasing passages might correlate with potential virulence-related factors. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*, 7:177, 2017. DOI: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00177

30. Fu P, Sun Z, Zhang Y, Yu Z, Zhang H, Su D, Jiang F, Wu W: Development of a direct competitive ELISA for the detection of *Mycoplasma bovis* infection based on a monoclonal antibody of P48 protein. *BMC Vet Res*, 10:42, 2014. DOI: 10.1186/1746-6148-10-42

31. Robino P, Alberti A, Pittau M, Chessa B, Miciletta M, Nebbia P, Le Grand D, Rosati S: Genetic and antigenic characterization of the surface lipoprotein P48 of *Mycoplasma bovis. Vet Microbiol*, 109 (3-4): 201-209, 2005. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2005.05.007

32. Fu P, Sun Z, Zhang Y, Yu Z, Zhang H, Su D, Jiang F, Wu W: Development of a direct competitive ELISA for the detection of *Mycoplasma bovis* infection based on a monoclonal antibody of P48 protein. *BMC Vet Res*, 10:42, 2014. DOI: 10.1186/1746-6148-10-42

33. Prysliak T, Perez-Casal J: Immune responses to *Mycoplasma bovis* proteins formulated with different adjuvants. *Can J Microbiol*, 62 (6): 492-504, 2016. DOI: 10.1139/cjm-2015-0762

34. Jordan A, Sadler RJ, Sawford K, van Andel M, Ward M, Cowled B: *Mycoplasma bovis* outbreak in New Zealand cattle: An assessment of transmission trends using surveillance data. *Transbound Emerg Dis*, 68 (6): 3381-3395, 2021. DOI: 10.1111/tbed.13941

35. Monnerat MP, Thiaucourt F, Poveda JB, Nicolet J, Frey J: Genetic and serological analysis of lipoprotein LppA in *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. mycoides LC and *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *capri. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*, 6 (2): 224-230, 1999. DOI: 10.1128/CDLI.6.2.224-230.1999

36. Gondaira S, Nishi K, Tanaka T, Yamamoto T, Nebu T, Watanabe R, Konnai S, Hayashi T, Kiku Y, Okamoto M, Matsuda K, Koiwa M, Iwano H, Nagahata H, Higuchi H: Immunosuppression in cows following intramammary infusion of *Mycoplasma bovis. Infect Immun*, 88 (3):e00521-19, 2020. DOI: 10.1128/IAI.00521-19

37. Zhang YK, Li X, Zhao HR, Jiang F, Wang ZH, Wu WX: Antibodies specific to membrane proteins are effective in complement-mediated killing of *Mycoplasma bovis*. *Infect Immun*, 87 (12):e00740-19, 2019. DOI: 10.1128/ IAI.00740-19

Research Article

Recombinant Porcine Interferon Alpha Enhances the Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses to Porcine Transmissible Gastroenteritis Virus Inactivated Vaccine in Piglets

Hai-yang YU^{1,†} Dong-mei GAO^{2,†} Jiang DU^{3,†} Yan SU^{3(*)} Jun ZHAO^{1,4,5(*)}

† Hai-yang Yu, Dong-mei Gao, and Jiang Du contributed equally to this study

¹ Anhui Medical University, Department of Microbiology, 230032, Hefei, P.R. CHINA

²Third Affiliated Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Department of Clinical Laboratory, 230000, Hefei, P.R. CHINA

³Hefei Technology College, Department of Medicine, 230000, Hefei, P.R. CHINA

⁴ The Key Laboratory for Joint Construction of Synthetic Bioprotein of Anhui Province, Department of Research, 230000, Hefei, P.R. CHINA

⁵Hefei Comprehensive National Science, Institute of Health and Medicine, 230000, Hefei, P.R. CHINA



(*) Corresponding authors: Yan SU & Jun ZHAO

Phone: +86-551-82364057 (YS), +86-551-65119667 (JZ), Cellular phone: +86-13866189110 (JZ), Fax: +86-551-82364057 (YS), +86-551-65119667 (JZ) E-mail: sy@htc.edu.cn (SY),

junzhaomedical@163.com (JZ)

How to cite this article?

Yu HY, Gao DM, Du J, Su Y, Zhao J: Recombinant porcine interferon alpha enhances the humoral and cellular immune responses to porcine transmissible gastroenteritis virus inactivated vaccine in piglets. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 641-651, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32122

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32122 Received: 07.04.2024 Accepted: 29.08.2024 Published Online: 10.09.2024

Abstract

In this study, the effect of recombinant porcine interferon alpha (rPoIFNa) on porcine transmissible gastroenteritis virus inactivated vaccine (TGEV IV) in terms of immunological augmentation was examined. Seven experimental piglet groups, including PBS group, rPoIFNa group, inactivated vaccine (IV) alone group, 4.0x10⁴ U rPoIFNa+IV group, 2.0x10⁵ U rPoIFNa+IV group,1.0x10⁶ U rPoIFNa+IV group, 5.0x106 U rPoIFNa+IV group, were divided. The piglets in each group received a secondary vaccination at 28 days following the initial immunization. By using the ELISA assay, neutralization assay, MTT assay, and flow cytometry, we measured anti-TGEV-specific antibody expressions, neutralization antibodies, as well as lymphocyte proliferation index (Stimulation index, SI), specific IL-4 and IFN-y production, and T cell subpopulations (CD3+, CD4+, and CD8+). Piglets injected with IV supplemented with rPoIFNa at 1.0x106 U or 5.0x106 U developed significantly higher anti-TGEVspecific and neutralizing antibodies compared to those treated with IV alone. IV therapy with rPoIFNa at 1.0x106 U or 5.0x106 U can boost cellular immunity against TGEV by increasing SI, IL-4, IFN- γ , and the ratio of CD3+, CD4+, and CD8+ cell subgroups. The $\rm IV+5.0x10^6\,U$ rPoIFNa group showed a considerably larger immune increase than the IV+2.0x10⁵ U rPoIFNa group, suggesting that it works in a dose-dependent manner. Therefore, rPoIFNa at 1.0x106 U or 5.0x106 U enhances the immune response against TGEV IV and may function as an immune stimulant.

Keywords: Cellular immune response, Humoral immune response, Inactivated Vaccine (IV), Porcine transmissible gastroenteritis virus (TGEV), Recombinant porcine interferon alpha (rPoIFNα)

INTRODUCTION

Porcine transmissible gastroenteritis (TGE), a highly contagious disease in pigs, is caused by the pathogen of the porcine transmissible gastroenteritis virus (TGEV)^[1,2], with the exception of a non-pathogenic variant "porcine respiratory coronavirus (PRCV)" whose spike gene is deleted in TGEV and associated with mild or subclinical respiratory tract infections ^[3]. TGEV is classified as a member of the coronavirus family within the nidovirus

order ^[4]. If piglets encounter this virus, it will cause severe diarrhea and a high mortality rate. The pig industry is at risk from this important virus ^[5].

Immunization has a high-quality capacity to prevent the TGE outbreak and TGEV infection. The development of the TGEV vaccine is crucial for the therapy and prevention of TGEV infection^[6].

Currently, the efficiency of the TGEV-inactivated vaccination (IV) is insufficient ^[7]. Due to their high level



of safety, inactivated vaccines have been used extensively. However, they still have some drawbacks, such as short immunization duration and poor immunogenicity, the need for multiple booster doses, insufficient immunity in older animals, and strict production process safety regulations that drive up costs and cause unfavorable side effects ^[7-9]. Typically, adjuvants were needed in order for inactivated vaccines to be applied and have adequate immunogenicity ^[10]. Therefore, Boosting the TGEV vaccination's immune response is crucial for stopping and managing the spread of the TGE disease ^[11,12].

Various kinds of adjuvants have been employed to boost immunity and increase the efficacy of the TGEV IV vaccine, such as porcine interleukin-12 plasmid (IL-12 plasmid) and silicon nanoparticles (nano silicon particles) [13,14].

Studies on the adjuvant impact in the vaccination experiment have demonstrated that type alpha interferon, when administered parenterally with an inactivated vaccine formulation, has excellent adjuvant enhancement function ^[15].

According to studies, immune adjuvants like Freund's complete adjuvant and CpG use the interferon α of type I interferon as their main effector molecules. It significantly enhances the protective immunological response to influenza vaccines and animal foot-and-mouth disease (FMD) subunit vaccines, and leads those vaccinated individuals to develop large amounts of IgG2a antibodies ^[16,17].

According to research, when co-administered with an antigen, IFN- α/β can enhance the effects of a variety of immunological reagents, such as soluble proteins ^[18], inactivated vaccines ^[17], or recombinant DNA containing transgene materials ^[19].

Porcine interferon alpha (PoIFN α) has been demonstrated to possess cytokine (CK) properties and exhibit several fundamental biological roles. PoIFN α has long been the subject of research centered on its potent antiviral role, however, limited knowledge is known about its immunological function ^[20,21].

Previous studies have demonstrated that PoIFN α can generate an effective stimulating impact on porcine immune cells ^[22]. The recombinant porcine interferon alpha (rPoIFN α) prepared in *E. coli* has been demonstrated by way of us to inhibit the infection of TGEV *in vivo* ^[21] and *in vitro* ^[20].

We combined the soluble rPoIFN α made in our lab with the inactivated vaccine (IV) of TGEV in this study to further assess the viability of using recombinant porcine interferon in piglets ^[23]. We then co-injected them into pigs to explore the feasibility of developing a new mixed TGEV vaccine containing cytokine adjuvants.

Therefore, our research represents an *in vivo* examination of rPoIFNa's capacity to encourage the production of an immunological response to the TGEV-inactivated vaccine (IV) in pigs.

Through animal testing, This investigation aims to comprehend rPoIFN α 's potential as an adjuvant alternative for TGEV IV. It also aims to offer a new option available for preventing piglets from contracting TGEV and reducing the incidence of TGE.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

The animal experiment project of this study was approved by Anhui Medical University's Bioethics Committee (Hefei, Anhui, People's Republic of China) (Approved Serial number. LLSC20180307, Approved date:01.03.2018). The authors also affirmed that they had followed with all applicable international requirements and standards regarding the use and care of laboratory animals for research purposes.

Reagents and Drugs

Experiments were conducted using Concanavalin A (ConA) and 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) obtained from Sigma Co. Ltd. Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) was procured from Gibco Corp, while the TGEV antibody detection package (ELISA kit) was obtained from Ingenasa Tech. Catalog serial number 11.TGE.K.3/2, manufactured by Ingenasa Tech in Madrid, Spain.

The TGEV IV oil emulsion, which served as the vaccine control group, was manufactured and procured from TECBOND Biological Products Co., Ltd., located in Chengdu, Sichuan, P.R. China.

The recombinant porcine interferon α Protein (rPoIFNα) was synthesized by Wuhu Interferon Bio-products Industry Research Institute Co., Ltd (Wuhu, Anhui, P.R. China) using the established research and development methodologies employed by our research group ^[23], it is frozen in an ultra-low temperature refrigerator at -80°C.

Immunization of Experimental Animals in Groups

In this study, 28 white SPF Landrace pigs that were 30 days old were used; they were grown and kept in the barrier facility of the Animal Experiment Center of Anhui Medical University. The pigs had been obtained from a commercial herd that no longer included TGEV. During the tests, they consumed food and liquids *ad-libitum* throughout the experiments.

ELISA tests and PCR tests have been used to screen and verify that all pigs did not comprise TGEV-specific antibodies and that all viral genomes of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV), porcine parvovirus (PPV), pseudorabies virus (PRV), porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV-2), classical swine fever virus (CSFV) and TGEV were negative. This was done to ensure that the experimental piglets (participants) did not carry TGEV and different pig-related pathogens ^[24-26].

The inactivated vaccine of TGEV was prepared with the following procedures:

(1) A TGEV was inoculated in ST cells at a cell density of 80% at a dosage of 5 MOI. Subsequently, an adequate quantity of MEM medium supplemented with 5% FBS was added, followed by incubation at a temperature of 37° C in a 5% CO₂ incubator for a duration of 24-72 h. The culture supernatant was collected when the cell lesion rate was not less than 80%, and then the culture supernatant underwent a series of three freeze-thaw cycles, followed by centrifugation at 3.000 rpm for a duration of 10 min. When the TCID₅₀ value was not less than 10^{-6.0}, and then formaldehyde and Binary ethylenimine diethylenimine (BEI) were added to inactivate the virus. The final concentration of BEI was 5 mmol/L and the final mass fraction of formaldehyde was 0.2%.

After sufficient mixing, the mixture was placed at the temperature of 30°C, shaking for 72 h for virus inactivation; finally, the final concentration of 5 mmol/L of sterile sodium thiosulphate solution was added to terminate the inactivation for 1 h, and then mixed with sterile Tween-80 at a mass ratio of 24:1 mixed to make the aqueous phase;

(2) White oil, Spencer-80, and aluminum stearate were mixed in mass fraction 48:2:1 and autoclave sterilize was performed to make the oil phase;

(3) The aqueous phase and the oil phase were homogenized and emulsified at 10.000 rpm in a mass ratio of 1:1 for 3 min each time, and repeated 3 times, and then content determination test, sterility test, mycoplasma test, and exogenous virus test were carried out. When the test results were in accordance with the Veterinary Pharmacopoeia of the People's Republic of China, the described inactivated porcine transmissible gastroenteritis vaccine IV was obtained, and the commonly used dosage of the vaccine was 1 mL/piglet.

The piglets were allocated into seven groups, with each group consisting of four piglets, using a random assignment method. Each piglet belonged to 30-day-old SPF Landrace white piglet. Except for the first blank PBS control group and the second rPoIFN α control group, each of the third to seventh groups was injected with a mixture of 1 mL of TGEV IV and 1 mL of different doses of rPoIFN α . After the

mixture (the adjuvant and IV) is evenly mixed, we inject it into the pig. The first blank control group received 2 mL PBS as an immunization, the second rPoIFNa control group received 1 mL PBS+1 mL $2.0x10^5$ U rPoIFNa, the third vaccine control group received the 1 mL PBS+1 mL TGEV IV, and the fourth group received a combination of 1 mL $4.0x10^4$ U rPoIFNa+1 mL TGEV IV. 1 mL TGEV IV+1 mL $2.0x10^5$ U rPoIFNa were administered together to Group 5. 1 mL TGEV IV+1 mL $1.0x10^6$ U rPoIFNa were administered together to Group 6. 1 mL TGEV IV+1 mL 5.0×10^6 U rPoIFNa were administered together to Group 7.

A total of 2 mL of each preparation was injected. The mass of piglets was measured and their body temperatures were documented at 8 a.m. on the test day. Then, in accordance with the experimental grouping strategy, intramuscular injections were delivered to each pig into its neck. All of the experimental pigs received a boost vaccination on the 28^{th} day following their first immunization. Secondary immunization of each group of piglets was performed with a vaccine solution of whose composition and quality were the same as the first immunization of each group (PBS/rPoIFN α +IV). The study design and experimental grouping schemes are shown in *Fig.1*.



Clinical Symptom Tracking

(1) Clinical symptom recording: Following vaccination, the experimental pigs' mental state, hunger, respiratory health, skin color, and other clinical indicators were observed each day.

(2) Measurement of body temperature: After the experiment began, the pig's body temperature was recorded daily at 8 a.m. and 8 p.m., and the recording was kept up until the study's ending.

(3) Measurement of body weight: After the trial began, the piglets' body weights were assessed every six days at 8:00 a.m. (Daily Gain/Original Weight, RDWG, relative daily weight gain) was used to compute relative weight changes.

Pig Blood Sampling

Test tubes containing aseptic vacuum lithium heparin (150 USP units) were utilized to collect blood samples at specific time intervals: 1, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35, 42, and 56 days post-inoculation (dpi). Blood samples that were not subjected to anticoagulation were collected for the purpose of serum separation. The obtained sera were then kept at -20°C in a low-temperature refrigerator.

Separation of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMC)

PBMCs were extracted from pig heparinized blood using a density gradient centrifugation technique, as previously reported ^[27,28].

Test for PBMC Proliferation Specific to TGEV

Cultured PBMC cells were stimulated using purified TGEV antigens. As a negative control, PBMC that had not been activated by the TGEV antigen was employed. Positive controls included PBMC activated with the mitogen ConA (10 g/mL).

The proliferation response of PBMC cells was assessed using the common MTT methodology. The stimulation index (SI) was employed to quantify the extent of peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) proliferation. It is calculated by dividing the average value of the stimulated data by the average value of the unstimulated control ^[28].

Measuring the Antibody Titers Against TGEV

An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Catalog Serial No: 11.TGE.K.3/2, Ingenasa Tech, Madrid, Spain) was employed following the guidelines provided by the manufacturer to detect antibodies specific to TGEV in pig serum samples. The titer was reported using the S/P ratio ^[21,25,29]. The serum sample was deemed to be positive when the result was 0.4 or above, and it was deemed to be negative when the value was less than 0.4.

The Quantification of Serum TGEV Neutralizing Antibodies (Nas)

The serum neutralization (SN) assay was conducted in accordance with the previously reported experimental methodology ^[30]. Serial 1:2 dilutions of all pig serum samples were performed. The 200 TCID₅₀ TGEV virus suspension was then combined with the serial serum dilutions, incubated at 37°C for 1 h, and then transferred to a PK-15 cell monolayer in a 96-microwell cell culture plate. The CPE formed in each microwell was then examined following a 72-h incubation period. The TGEV-neutralizing antibody titer in each serum sample, reported as ND₅₀, was determined using the Reed-Muench formula^[31] (The maximum dilution required to achieve a 50 percent neutralization of viral activity.).

Experiment to Determine Cytokines

Based on the expression patterns of the cytokines they release, Th cell subpopulations may be identified. Interleukin-2 (IL-2), Interferon-gamma (IFN-y), and lymphotoxin are the primary products of Th1 cells, whereas IL-13, IL-10, IL-6, IL-5, and IL-4 are the main output products of Th2 cells. Following stimulation, the levels of peripheral blood lymphocyte proliferation and the release of interferon-alpha (IFN-y) and interleukin-4 (IL-4) can serve as indicators of the progression of acquired immunity. Porcine IL-4/IFN-y was measured using ELISA kits purchased from Adlitteram Diagnostic Laboratories Corporation. The sensitivity of the test was determined to be 1 pg/mL using Adlitteram Diagnostic Laboratories (ADL, San Diego, CA, USA) after following the instructions provided by the manufacturer. The measurement of optical density was conducted at a wavelength of 450 nm using an automated Bio-Rad Model 450 microplate ELISA reader manufactured by Bio-Rad in Hercules, CA, USA [32-35].

Peripheral Blood Lymphocyte Flow Cytometric Analysis

Resuspended PBMCs were supplemented with antibodies against the porcine CD molecule (anti-CD3 ϵ -FITC, anti-CD4 α -PE, and anti-CD8-SPRD) at a density of 1×10^7 cells/mL using different fluorescent dyes. The source of the antibodies is Southern Biotech, located in Birmingham, AL, USA. Using the flow cytometry technique, the frequency of CD₈⁺, CD₄⁺, and CD₃⁺ immune cells was quantitatively examined (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA).

Statistical Analysis

To conduct the statistical study, the researchers employed SPSS 17.0 Software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The mean and standard deviation (SD) results of the experiment were provided. The t-test was employed to conduct a comparison between two groups, whereas the one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) was utilized to compare variables across many groups. If the P-value is less than 0.01, the observed differences are considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Each Experimental Pig was Not Infected with Swine-Related Viruses

Both the ELISA and the PCR screen test results confirmed that none of the pigs tested exhibited antibodies specific to the porcine transmissible gastroenteritis virus (TGEV). Additionally, the results indicate the absence of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV), pseudorabies virus (PRV), porcine parvovirus (PPV),



Fig 2. Piglets need to be monitored for clinical signs at various time points following initial and booster vaccinations. These monitors include, but are not limited to, recording the change in the average weight growth of the piglets (A) and the average rectal temperature change of the piglets (B). Body weight growth was recorded in kilograms, while fever was defined as when a piglet's rectal temperature reached or exceeded 41°C. The data are reported as mean±standard deviation (SD), with each group containing four piglets, respectively



porcine circovirus type 2 (PCV-2), classical swine fever virus (CSFV), or TGEV viral genomes. This measure was implemented to ensure the absence of TGEV and other pig-associated viruses in the piglets comprising the trial participants^[24-26].

Clinical Signs in Each Pig Group Underwent Experimentally

Following the first inoculation and booster immunization, the pigs were weighed at various intervals.

Although there were little observed differences in the body weight growth (weight gain) of the piglets among the groups, the overall size of the piglets increased (*Fig. 2-A*). Furthermore, none of the piglets in any group had a fever, and their rectal temperatures were all lower than 41°C (*Fig. 2-B*). The aforementioned findings indicate that the vaccination administration did not provide any significant impact on the clinical performance of the experimental piglets in either of the groups.

Specific Anti-TGEV Antibody Titers

Fig. 3-A illustrates the kinetics of the fluctuating levels of TGEV-specific antibody responses in seven experimental groups, as assessed through the use of ELISA assay.

Pig groups inoculated with $IV+1.0x10^6$ U and $IV+5.0x10^6$ U rPoIFNa at 28 dpi exhibited significant antibody production against TGEV. Moreover, the production of these antibodies experienced a substantial increase subsequent to the booster immunization.

The IgG levels observed in the $IV+1.0x10^6$ U rPoIFNa group and the $IV+5.0x10^6$ U rPoIFNa group were found to be considerably elevated compared to the IV alone group at 42 dpi and 56 dpi (P<0.01).

At various points after vaccination, the $IV+1.0x10^6$ U rPoIFN α group and the $IV+5.0x10^6$ U rPoIFN α group's piglets showed greater antibody titers than the IV immunization alone group's. It is deduced that rPoIFN α



Fig 4. The concentrations of IL-4 (A) and IFN- γ (B) in the PBMC supernatant of experimental piglets at 28 and 56 dpi were measured using ELISA assays. The columns in the table present the average and variability (standard deviation) of the cytokine levels. These levels were measured in triplicate for a group of four subjects. The asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference (P<0.01) between the two groups



probably works in a dose-dependent manner to increase antibody response.

Neutralizing Antibodies are Determined Using the SN Test

Overall, the neutralizing antibody titers from the $IV+1.0x10^6$ U rPoIFN α group and $IV+5.0x10^6$ U rPoIFN α group were considerably greater than those from the IV alone group at 28 dpi and 56 dpi (*Fig. 3-B*).

Pigs inoculated with 2.0×10^5 U of rPoIFN α or PBS alone failed to produce any neutralizing antibodies against TGEV. Compared to the IV alone group, the IV+2.0 $\times 10^5$ U rPoIFN α group was able to develop moderate higher amounts of neutralizing antibodies. Furthermore, the group treated with IV+1.0 $\times 10^6$ U rPoIFN α and the group treated with IV+5.0 $\times 10^6$ U rPoIFN α exhibited higher levels of neutralizing antibodies compared to the group treated with IV alone. This is indicative of an enhanced humoral immune response to TGEV.

Specific Cytokines Secreted in Porcine PBMC Supernatant After TGEV Antigen Stimulation

The production levels of IFN- γ and IL-4 in the supernatant of swine PBMC were assessed using commercially available ELISA kits. This evaluation was conducted after stimulating the PBMCs with TGEV antigen.

The findings of the study indicate that the coadministration of rPoIFN α and IV vaccine can effectively elevate the production levels of IL-4 and IFN- γ . These cytokines play a crucial role in stimulating Th1 and Th2 immune responses and augmenting cell-mediated immunity (CMI) in piglets at various time intervals following immunization (*Fig. 4-A,B*). This is done when the piglets' peripheral blood lymphocytes are stimulated with the TGEV antigen.

RPoIFNa Induces Proliferation of the TGEV-Specific PBMCs (SI)

The rPoIFNa-mediated lymphocyte proliferation levels



(expressed in stimulation index, SI) were assessed using the MTT colorimetric test (*Fig. 5*). The piglet cells from the IV+1.0x10⁶ U rPoIFNa group and the IV+5.0x10⁶ U rPoIFNa group produced higher stimulation index (SI) at 28dpi, respectively, in comparison to the group receiving PBS alone and the group receiving IV alone. The statistical analysis revealed significant differences among the groups (P<0.01). Specifically, the SI of the IV+5.0x10⁶ U rPoIFNa group exhibited the greatest level at 56 dpi (P<0.01) in comparison to both the PBS-alone group and the IValone group. Based on the established association between PBMC proliferative response and cell-mediated immune response (CMI), the findings of this study indicate that the inclusion of rPoIFNa enhances the CMI of the IV administration in piglets.

Flow Cytometry Analysis of T Cell Subpopulations in Piglets' Blood Specimens.

The evolving profiles of the CD_3^+ , $CD_3^+CD_4^+$, $CD_3^+CD_8^+$, and $CD_3^+CD_4^+CD_8^+$ T cell subpopulations are shown in *Fig.* 6. Early in the post-first vaccination interval, $CD_3^+CD_8^+$ and $CD_3^+CD_4^+CD_8^+$ T cell counts increased somewhat in the majority of samples. At 56 dpi, Piglets' blood showed a notable increase in their values following booster vaccination. Among groups, differences were statistically significant (P<0.01). At 28 dpi, these growth values' arguments commenced.

DISCUSSION

Numerous investigations in recent years have focused on

examining the impact of IFN α as adjuvants in prophylactic vaccinations. In 2006, de Avila Botton et al.^[16] co-injected porcine IFN- α with the adenovirus containing the A24 capsid of the FMDV and the 3C enzymatic protease encoding region (Ad5-A24) into the pigs, the result could offer full protection, but the control group with only adenovirus could only postpone the development of viremia.

Similar to this, Cheng et al.^[36] cloned the swine interferon alpha gene into the pcDNA3.1 vector, created a recombinant vector, and administered it to pigs together with the protein vaccine for porcine FMD. This led to the induction of many neutralizing antibodies that are specific for FMD as well as a robust immunological response driven by T cells. However, the adjuvant-free control group can only stimulate a minimal cellular and humoral immune response ^[36]. It was also shown that interferon, when used as an adjuvant for protein vaccines, was able to stimulate a significant amount of inflammatory cytokines *in vitro* and activate a Th1-type immune response.

The pVAX1-gag-gp120 (DNA vaccine plasmid against HIV) and the pVAX1-IFN (eukaryotic expression plasmid) were both built by Jiang et al.^[37] based on the eukaryotic expression vector pVAX1. The BALB/C mice were given an intramuscular injection with the mixed resulting vaccine. In the mouse spleen T cells, according to the findings in comparison to the control group without adjuvant, there were substantial increases in the percentages of the lymphocyte $CD_3^+CD_8^+$ and $CD_3^+CD_4^+$

subpopulations as well as the cytotoxic activity of spleen cytotoxic T cells ^[37].

Proietti et al.^[17] revealed that endogenous type I interferon in mice was required for the Th1 type immune response elicited by conventional adjuvants. Interferon also showed strong adjuvant efficacy when paired with human influenza vaccination owing to the development of IgG2a and IgA.

In support of this claim, Bracci et al.^[38] showed that IFN- α may have a positive adjuvant effect when the influenza vaccination is administered intramuscularly or mucosally.

IFN-α may also greatly boost the cellular immune response to the PRRSV vaccination, according to Charerntantanakul ^[22], who was searching for an appropriate immunological adjuvant for the pig PRRSV vaccine. Primary lymphocyte proliferation, cytotoxic T cell activity, peripheral blood lymphocyte IFN-γ production, and T cell reactivity to the PRRSV antigen are all markedly enhanced. Intriguing studies on the adjuvant impact of IFN-α on preventative vaccinations have also been published by de Avila Botton et al.^[16], Le Bon et al^{-[18]}, and O'Brien et al.^[39].

The development of neutralizing antibodies (NA) is a crucial component of humoral immunity, as it aids in the elimination of TGEV and the prevention of viral infections ^[6]. Within the context of the host immune response against TGEV infection, cell-mediated immunity (CMI) is also an essential component ^[21]. However, protective immunity against infection with heterologous TGEV strains may require a dual enhancement of CMI and antibody production ^[7]. These strongly indicate that the production of TGEV NA antibodies and virusspecific cellular immune responses collaborate to facilitate the elimination of the virus. This suggests that novel formulations of non-infectious vaccines and delivery systems are required to stimulate both humoral and cellular responses in order to effectively control TGE ^[7,11-14,21,35].

Our results indicate that the combination of rPoIFNa with the TGEV IV vaccine has the ability to enhance the immunological response. Our study specifically showed that when rPoIFNa was given along with an inactivated TGEV vaccination, it resulted in the activation of both Th1 and Th2 immune responses in pigs. rPoIFNa exhibits a highly favorable safety profile. The clinical signs of the pigs, such as weight increase and body temperature, were not impacted after immunization (*Fig. 2*). After immunization, we also determined changes in parameters such as anti-TGEV-specific antibodies, NAs, cytokines IFN- γ and IL-4, lymphocyte proliferative activity (SI), and CD_{3^+} , CD_{4^+} , and CD_{8^+} cell subpopulations.

The results showed the following findings:

(1) Regarding the TGEV-specific antibody titers, the rPoIFN α +IV group exhibited an earlier generation of TGEV-specific antibodies compared to the IV alone group. The group receiving both rPoIFN α and IV showed elevated levels of TGEV-specific antibodies compared to the group receiving IV alone. This indicates that rPoIFN α increases the antibody response specific to TGEV that is stimulated by the IV vaccine (*Fig 3-A*).

(2) Regarding the levels of neutralizing antibodies, pigs vaccinated with rPoIFN α +IV showed a significant difference compared to those vaccinated with IV alone. This suggests that rPoIFN α boosts the production of neutralizing antibodies, which in turn may play a role in enhancing humoral immunity and providing protection against TGEV (*Fig 3-B*).

(3) Th2 cytokines, such as IL-4, play a crucial role in boosting the humoral immune system, while Th1 cytokines, such as IFN- γ , mainly affect cell-mediated immune responses ^[40]. Regarding cytokines, the inclusion of rPoIFN α notably augmented the synthesis of IFN- γ and IL-4, indicating that rPoIFN α enhances both Th1 and Th2 reactions. This suggests that rPoIFN α enhances the efficacy of the TGEV vaccine and acts as an adjuvant for both the cellular and humoral immune responses to TGEV IV vaccination (*Fig 4*).

(4) Regarding lymphocyte proliferative activities, our data demonstrated that the TGEV-specific lymphocyte proliferative response was considerably greater in the group that received the IV+rPoIFN α combination immunization compared to the group that received IV alone immunization (P<0.05) (*Fig. 5*). Given that lymphocyte proliferative responses are typically linked to cell-mediated immunity (CMI), this implies that the administration of both IFN- α and IV can enhance the CMI of the TGEV IV vaccine.

(5) Regarding T cell subpopulations, we conducted a more detailed analysis of alterations in the subpopulations of CD_3^+ , CD_4^+ , and CD_8^+ cells using flow cytometry (*Fig.* 6). During the early stage following the initial immunization, there was a small rise in the populations of CD_3^+ , CD_4^+ , and CD_8^+ cells in most groups. The quantities of CD_3^+ and CD_4^+ cells in pig blood exhibited a progressive increase in all groups at 28 dpi, followed by a considerable increase at 56 dpi subsequent to booster immunization.

We also found that the administration of rPoIFN α at dosages of 1.0×10^6 U or 5.0×10^6 U effectively boosted the immunological response of piglets when combined with the TGEV IV vaccination. More precisely, the inclusion of rPoIFN α in the TGEV IV vaccine resulted in improved

immune responses, both in terms of antibodies and cellular immune responses, when compared to the group that received only the TGEV IV vaccine. The results of our study indicated that the immune-boosting impact of rPoIFNa was more pronounced when administered at a dosage of 5.0×10^6 U compared to a dosage of 1.0×10^6 U. This suggests that the immunological response of piglets is enhanced by rPoIFNa in a dose-dependent manner. The longlasting impact was most pronounced at a concentration of 5.0×10^6 U. The results of our study align with the findings published by Tovey et al.^[15] and Damjanovska et al.^[41]. They noticed a considerable increase in IgG and IgA levels in bodily fluids when IFN-a was provided with inactivated influenza vaccine, and this increase was dependent on the dosage.

Our study showed that rPoIFN α exhibited good safety. After co-administration to piglets, the inactivated vaccine (IV) mixture including rPoIFN α may considerably increase the generation of antibodies, Th1 and Th2 cytokines, and PBMC proliferation when compared to TGEV IV alone. The piglets' immune response to TGEV was greatly enhanced by the combined administration. Furthermore, when the dose of rPoIFN α was increased, the immunological boost induced by the IV+5.0x10⁶ U rPoIFN α group was significantly bigger than that of the IV+2.0x10⁵ U rPoIFN α group.

Thus, the addition of rPoIFN α at doses of 1.0x10⁶ U or 5.0x10⁶ U to the IV vaccine resulted in higher levels of antibody titers, lymphocyte stimulation index (SI), IFN- γ and IL-4 secretion, and lymphocyte subpopulations compared to immunization with the TGEV IV vaccine alone. To our knowledge, this work represents the first investigation conducted in a living organism to assess the ability of rPoIFN α to enhance the immune response to the TGEV IV vaccine in piglets. The aforementioned results indicate that rPoIFN α has the potential to serve as an adjuvant, augmenting the immunological response to vaccines in farm animals.

Limitations of This Study: This study aimed to assess the suitability of rPoIFN α as an adjuvant for immune activation in vaccinations for farm animals. Nevertheless, additional field challenge tests are required to assess and thoroughly analyze the protective efficacy of rPoIFNa+IV on piglets.

In summary, rPoIFN α showed significant adjuvant effects when combined with TGEV- inactivated vaccines at doses of 1.0×10^6 U or 5.0×10^6 U. The results of our study show that rPoIFN α is an ideal adjuvant for immunostimulation of TGEV. The significance of our findings lies in the revelation of rPoIFN α 's potential as an optimal immunostimulatory adjuvant for TGEV-inactivated vaccines.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The authors affirm that they can provide the data that supports the findings of this study if a legitimate request is made.

Acknowledgments: The authors are very thankful to the entire research staff members in Wuhu Interferon Bio-products Industry Research Institute Co., Ltd, (Wuhu, Anhui, P.R. China) for their outstanding work in technical assistance.

Funding Support: This research was funded by the University Synergy Innovation Program of Anhui Province of "Anhui Provincial Department of Education" (Grant No.GXXT-2022-057), the Wuhu City Science and Technology Plan Project of "Wuhu Municipal Government" (Grant No.2022ly12 and Grant No. 2023yf003) and Anhui Provincial Key Research and Development Program of "Anhui Provincial Department of Science and Technology" (Grant No 2023S07020021).

Competing Interests: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Approval: The animal experiment project of this study was approved by Anhui Medical University's Bioethics Committee (Hefei, Anhui, People's Republic of China). (Approved Serial number. LLSC20180307, Approved date:01.03.2018).

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The article and/or tables and figures were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Author Contributions: HYY: Conducted data inquiry, performed data analysis, and drafted the manuscript. DMG: Data acquisition, investigation, and methodology. JD: Conducted data analysis and performed experiments and methods. YS: focused on designing the study, conducting thorough data analysis, and providing critical feedback for revising the manuscript. JZ: Engage in the examination, creation, oversight, and revision of the manuscript. All authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Li Y, Niu JW, Zhou X, Chu PP, Zhang KL, Gou HC, Yang DX, Zhang JF, Li CL, Liao M, Zhai SL: Development of a multiplex qRT-PCR assay for the detection of porcine epidemic diarrhea virus, Porcine Transmissible Gastroenteritis Virus and porcine Deltacoronavirus. *Front Vet Sci*, 10:1158585, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fvets.2023.1158585

2. Yan K, Feng S, Cheng J, Zheng F, Li Z, Deng Z, Yuan X: IFITM3 is a host restriction factor that inhibits porcine transmissible gastroenteritis virus infection. *Vet Microbiol*, 277:109622, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2022.109622

3. Turlewicz-Podbielska H, Pomorska-Mol M: Porcine Coronaviruses: Overview of the state of the art. *Virol Sin*, 36 (5): 833-851, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s12250-021-00364-0

4. Walker PJ, Siddell SG, Lefkowitz EJ, Mushegian AR, Adriaenssens EM, Alfenas-Zerbini P, Davison AJ, Dempsey DM, Dutilh BE, Garcia ML, Harrach B, Harrison RL, Hendrickson RC, Junglen S, Knowles NJ, Krupovic M, Kuhn JH, Lambert AJ, Lobocka M, Nibert ML, Oksanen HM, Orton RJ, Robertson DL, Rubino L, Sabanadzovic S, Simmonds P, Smith DB, Suzuki N, Van Dooerslaer K, Vandamme AM, Varsani A, Zerbini FM: Changes to virus taxonomy and to the International Code of Virus Classification and Nomenclature ratified by the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (2021). *Arch Virol*, 166 (9): 2633-2648, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s00705-021-05156-1

5. Pan X, Zhou Y, Duan X, Cui J, Liu J, Song X, Ma W, Zhang W, Liu Y, Fan Y: The inhibitory effect *Polygonum cillinerve* polysaccharide on transmissible gastroenteritis virus of swine. *Res Vet Sci*, 140, 47-55, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. rvsc.2021.08.005

6. Liu N, Li Y: A monoclonal antibody targeting C-terminal domain of transmissible gastroenteritis virus spike protein. *Monoclon Antib Immunodiagn Immunother*, 41 (6): 328-332, 2022. DOI: 10.1089/ mab.2022.0030

7. Guo R, Fan B, Chang X, Zhou J, Zhao Y, Shi D, Yu Z, He K, Li B: Characterization and evaluation of the pathogenicity of a natural recombinant transmissible gastroenteritis virus in China. *Virology*, 545, 24-32, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2020.03.001

8. Zheng L, Zhao F, Ru J, Liu L, Wang Z, Wang N, Shu X, Wei Z, Guo H: Evaluation of the effect of inactivated transmissible gastroenteritis virus vaccine with nano silicon on the phenotype and function of porcine dendritic cells. *Viruses*, 13 (11):2158, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/v13112158

9. Chen X, Tu C, Qin T, Zhu L, Yin Y, Yang Q: Retinoic acid facilitates inactivated transmissible gastroenteritis virus induction of CD8(+) T-cell migration to the porcine gut. *Sci Rep*, 6:24152, 2016. DOI: 10.1038/ srep24152

10. Del Giudice G, Rappuoli R, Didierlaurent AM: Correlates of adjuvanticity: A review on adjuvants in licensed vaccines. *Semin Immunol*, 39, 14-21, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.smim.2018.05.001

11. Xue R, Tian Y, Zhang Y, Zhang M, Tian F, Ma J, Jiang S: Efficacy and immunogenicity of a live *L. acidophilus* expressing SAD epitope of transmissible gastroenteritis virus as an oral vaccine. *Acta Virol*, 63 (3): 301-308, 2019. DOI: 10.4149/av_2019_310

12. Zhao F, Liu L, Xu M, Shu X, Zheng L, Wei Z: Assessments of different inactivating reagents in formulating transmissible gastroenteritis virus vaccine. *Virol J*, 17 (1):163, 2020. DOI: 10.1186/s12985-020-01433-8

13. Jin XH, Zheng LL, Song MR, Xu WS, Kou YN, Zhou Y, Zhang LW, Zhu YN, Wan B, Wei ZY, Zhang GP: A nano silicon adjuvant enhances inactivated transmissible gastroenteritis vaccine through activation the Toll-like receptors and promotes humoral and cellular immune responses. *Nanomedicine*, 14 (4): 1201-1212, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.nano.2018.02.010

14. Li X, Li P, Cao L, Bai Y, Chen H, Liu H, Ren X, Li G: Porcine IL-12 plasmid as an adjuvant improves the cellular and humoral immune responses of DNA vaccine targeting transmissible gastroenteritis virus spike gene in a mouse model. *J Vet Med Sci*, 81 (10): 1438-1444, 2019. DOI: 10.1292/jyms.18-0682

15. Tovey MG, Lallemand C, Meritet JF, Maury C: Adjuvant activity of interferon alpha: mechanism(s) of action. *Vaccine*, 24 (Suppl. 2): S46-S47, 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.01.117

16. de Avila Botton S, Brum MC, Bautista E, Koster M, Weiblen R, Golde WT, Grubman MJ: Immunopotentiation of a foot-and-mouth disease virus subunit vaccine by interferon alpha. *Vaccine*, 24 (17): 3446-3456, 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.02.011

17. Proietti E, Bracci L, Puzelli S, Di Pucchio T, Sestili P, De Vincenzi E, Venditti M, Capone I, Seif I, De Maeyer E, Tough D, Donatelli I, Belardelli F: Type I IFN as a natural adjuvant for a protective immune response: Lessons from the influenza vaccine model. *J Immunol*, 169 (1): 375-383, 2002. DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.1.375

18. Le Bon A, Schiavoni G, D'Agostino G, Gresser I, Belardelli F, Tough DF: Type i interferons potently enhance humoral immunity and can promote isotype switching by stimulating dendritic cells *in vivo. Immunity*, 14 (4): 461-470, 2001. DOI: 10.1016/s1074-7613(01)00126-1

19. Cull VS, Broomfield S, Bartlett EJ, Brekalo NL, James CM: Coimmunisation with type I IFN genes enhances protective immunity against cytomegalovirus and myocarditis in gB DNA-vaccinated mice. *Gene Ther,* 9 (20): 1369-1378, 2002. DOI: 10.1038/sj.gt.3301809

20. Zhao J, Yi XX, Yu HY, Wang ML, Lai PF, Gan L, Zhao Y, Fu XL, Chen J: Antiviral activity of recombinant porcine interferon-alpha against Porcine Transmissible Gastroenteritis Virus in PK-15 cells. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 23 (4): 603-611, 2017. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2017.17462

21. Gao DM, Yu HY, Zhou W, Xia BB, Li HZ, Wang ML, Zhao J: Inhibitory effects of recombinant porcine interferon-alpha on porcine transmissible gastroenteritis virus infections in TGEV-seronegative piglets. *Vet Microbiol*, 252:108930, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2020.108930

22. Charerntantanakul W: Adjuvants for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus vaccines. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol*, 129 (1-2): 1-13, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2008.12.018

23. Zhao J, Yu HY, Gan L, Zhao Y, Li SQ, Fu XL, Wang ML, Chen J: Soluble expression, protein purification and quality control of recombinant porcine interferon-alpha. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 23 (5): 825-829, 2017. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2017.17372

24. Jiang Y, Shang H, Xu H, Zhu L, Chen W, Zhao L, Fang L: Simultaneous detection of porcine circovirus type 2, classical swine fever virus, porcine parvovirus and porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in pigs by multiplex polymerase chain reaction. *Vet J*, 183 (2): 172-175, 2010. DOI: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2008.11.016

25. Lin Y, Qigai H, Xiaolan Y, Weicheng B, Huanchun C: The coadministrating of recombinant porcine IL-2 could enhance protective immune responses to PRV inactivated vaccine in pigs. *Vaccine*, 23 (35): 4436-4441, 2005. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.03.034

26. Yu HY, Qu MS, Zhang JL, Gan L, Zhao Y, Shan XQ, Zhou W, Xia BB, Chen J, Wang ML, Zhao J: Recombinant porcine interferon alpha enhances immune responses to killed porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus vaccine in pigs. *Viral Immunol*, 32 (9): 383-392, 2019. DOI: 10.1089/ vim.2019.0092

27. Linghua Z, Xingshan T, Fengzhen Z: In vivo immunostimulatory effects of CpG ODN in newborn piglets. *Mol Immunol*, 44 (6): 1238-1244, 2007. DOI: 10.1016/j.molimm.2006.05.016

28. Mosmann T: Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: Application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *J Immunol Methods*, 65 (1-2): 55-63, 1983. DOI: 10.1016/0022-1759(83)90303-4

29. Zhang D, Huang X, Zhang X, Cao S, Wen X, Wen Y, Wu R, Liang E: Construction of an oral vaccine for transmissible gastroenteritis virus based on the TGEV N gene expressed in an attenuated *Salmonella typhimurium* vector. *J Virol Methods*, 227, 6-13, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j. jviromet.2015.08.011

30. Xu K, Zhou Y, Mu Y, Liu Z, Hou S, Xiong Y, Fang L, Ge C, Wei Y, Zhang X, Xu C, Che J, Fan Z, Xiang G, Guo J, Shang H, Li H, Xiao S, Li J, Li K: CD163 and pAPN double-knockout pigs are resistant to PRRSV and TGEV and exhibit decreased susceptibility to PDCoV while maintaining normal production performance. *Elife*, 9:e57132, 2020. DOI: 10.7554/ eLife.57132

31. Reed LJ, Muench H: A simple method of estimating fifty percent endpoints. *Am J Epidemiol*, 27 (3): 493-497, 1938. DOI: 10.1093/oxfordjournals. aje.a118408

32. Li J, Jiang P, Li Y, Wang X, Cao J, Wang X, Zeshan B: HSP70 fused with GP3 and GP5 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus enhanced the immune responses and protective efficacy against virulent PRRSV challenge in pigs. *Vaccine*, 27 (6): 825-832, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j. vaccine.2008.11.088

33. Wang X, Li J, Jiang P, Li Y, Zeshan B, Cao J, Wang X: GM-CSF fused with GP3 and GP5 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus increased the immune responses and protective efficacy against virulent PRRSV challenge. *Virus Res*, 143 (1): 24-32, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j. virusres.2009.02.017

34. Du Y, Qi J, Lu Y, Wu J, Yoo D, Liu X, Zhang X, Li J, Sun W, Cong X, Shi J, Wang J: Evaluation of a DNA vaccine candidate co-expressing GP3 and GP5 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) with interferon alpha/gamma in immediate and long-lasting protection against HP-PRRSV challenge. *Virus Genes*, 45 (3): 474-487, 2012. DOI: 10.1007/ s11262-012-0790-1

35. Du P, Yan Q, Zhang XA, Zeng W, Xie K, Yuan Z, Liu X, Liu X, Zhang L, Wu K, Li X, Fan S, Zhao M, Chen J: Virus-like particle vaccines with epitopes from porcine epidemic virus and transmissible gastroenteritis virus incorporated into self-assembling ADDomer platform provide clinical immune responses in piglets. *Front Immunol*, 14:1251001, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1251001

36. Cheng G, Zhao X, Yan W, Wang W, Zuo X, Huang K, Liu Y, Chen J, Wang J, Cong W, Liu M, Gao H, Chen J, Lu Y, Zheng Z: Alpha interferon is a powerful adjuvant for a recombinant protein vaccine against footand-mouth disease virus in swine, and an effective stimulus of *in vivo* immune response. *Vaccine*, 25 (28): 5199-5208, 2007. DOI: 10.1016/j. vaccine.2007.04.089

37. Jiang W, Ren L, Jin N: HIV-1 DNA vaccine efficacy is enhanced by

coadministration with plasmid encoding IFN-alpha. *J Virol Methods*, 146 (1-2): 266-273, 2007. DOI: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2007.07.016

38. Bracci L, Canini I, Venditti M, Spada M, Puzelli S, Donatelli I, Belardelli F, Proietti E: Type I IFN as a vaccine adjuvant for both systemic and mucosal vaccination against influenza virus. *Vaccine*, 24 (Suppl. 2): S56-S57, 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.01.121

39. O'Brien L, Perkins S, Williams A, Eastaugh L, Phelps A, Wu J, Phillpotts R: Alpha interferon as an adenovirus-vectored vaccine adjuvant

and antiviral in Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus infection. *J Gen Virol*, 90 (Pt 4): 874-882, 2009. DOI: 10.1099/vir.0.006833-0

40. Romagnani S: Human TH1 and TH2 subsets: Doubt no more. *Immunol Today*, 12 (8): 256-257, 1991. DOI: 10.1016/0167-5699(91)90120-I

41. Damjanovska S, Smith C, Sayin I, Burant CJ, Gravenstein S, Canaday DH: Adjuvant effect of type I interferon induced by many but not all commercial influenza vaccines. *Vaccine*, 39 (5): 786-789, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.12.051

Research Article

Effects of Electroacupuncture on Behavioral deficits, Hippocampal Neuronal Death and Oxidative Stress in Rats with Parkinson's Disease

Dingding LIU¹ Van YUE^{1(*)}

¹Department of Chinese Medicine, Cangzhou Medical College, Cangzhou 061000, Hebei Province, P. R. CHINA



(*) **Corresponding authors:** Yan YUE Phone: +86-15046258813 E-mail: yueyancmc@csc-edu.cn

How to cite this article?

Liu D, Yue Y: Effects of electroacupuncture on behavioral deficits, hippocampal neuronal death and oxidative stress in rats with Parkinson's disease. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 653-660, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32234

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32234 Received: 30.04.2024 Accepted: 07.09.2024 Published Online: 10.09.2024

Abstract

We aimed to study electroacupuncture (EA) for its potential neuroprotection against oxidative stress, death of hippocampal neurons and behavioral deficits in rats with Parkinson's disease (PD). PD was induced by rotenone (2 mg/kg, subcutaneous injection) in male Wistar rats. EA group, control group, miR-331-5p antagomir group, model group and EA + miR-331-5p antagomir group were set up. The novel object recognition tests together with shuttle box tests were conducted to examine the cognitive function, and the pain sensitivity was measured by the tail flick test. In comparison to the control group, the cognitive function and thermal pain threshold significantly declined in the model group. The model group had decreased superoxide dismutase (SOD) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) activities, decreased brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression and increased malondialdehyde (MDA) level in the hippocampus. More hippocampal neuronal loss was detected from the model group. EA increased the hippocampal GPx plus SOD activity and decreased the MDA content. EA or miR-331-5p antagomir raised the quantity of alive hippocampal neurons and the BDNF expression. EA can prevent rotenone-induced non-motor disorders through antioxidation and neuroprotective functions.

Keywords: Electroacupuncture, miR, Neuroprotection, Oxidative stress, Parkinson's disease

INTRODUCTION

Belonging to a multi-system neurodegenerative illness, Parkinson's disease (PD) manifests motor or non-motor symptoms (NMSs) as the features. Known as a most frequently occurring NMS in PD patients, cognitive impairment results from neuronal injury in memoryrelated cerebral regions such as the hippocampus ^[1]. Studies have been extensively carried out on the hippocampal function and structure in PD sufferers, with the hippocampal volume decrease accompanied by cognitive impairment reported in some cases ^[2]. With an estimated prevalence of 68-95%, PD is characterized by pain as an additional common NMS, reducing patients' quality of life ^[2]. Pain in PD has a multifactorial etiology, and there has been no proper treatment yet at present.

Electroacupuncture (EA) is a noninvasive complementary therapy with application to relieve PD symptoms for a long time ^[3]. Through the normalization of basal ganglia neurotransmitters ^[4,5], EA stimulation at a high frequency (100 Hz) suppresses neuroinflammatory responses ^[6], alleviates oxidative stress as well as increases neurotrophic factor levels ^[7,8], thereby improving the movement function of diversified PD animal models. However, the exact mechanism of EA in relieving the motor symptoms of PD has not been clearly explained. For PD, miR-331-5p, as an exosomal miRNA, has become a potential biomarker. Its elevated expression may play a crucial role in the pathological progression of PD ^[9,10]. However, no reports are available on the role or function of miR-331-5p in the progression of PD.

Antagomir is an oligonucleotide that specifically inhibits the function of miRNA and can regulate the expression of target genes by binding and suppressing miRNA activity^[11]. Therefore, we intended to test the role of miR-331-5p antagomir or EA in the progression of rotenoneinduced PD in rats from the aspects of oxidative stress, neural damage and neural function. Additionally, EA has never been combined with miR-331-5p inhibition in the context of PD until now. This study may thus provide a novel strategy for addressing the multifaceted pathophysiology of PD.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

This study has been approved by the animal ethics committee of our hospital on June 28th, 2022 (Approval No. CMC202206003), and great efforts have been made to minimize the animals' suffering.

Reagents

Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), ethanol and xylene sourced from Merck (Germany). Rotenone was provided by Sigma (USA). ELISA kit for brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) was bought from Wuhan Boster Biological Technology Co., Ltd. (China).

Laboratory Animals

The Laboratory Animal Research Center of Cangzhou Medical College (China) supplied male Wistar rats (n=70, SPF grade, 200-220 g) for breeding with a 12/12 h dark/ light cycle, controlled humidity (50-55%) and temperature $(22\pm2^{\circ}C)$ as well as freely offered water plus standard food.

Experimental Design

An EA group, a miR-331-5p antagomir group, a model group, an EA + miR-331-5p antagomir group, and a control group were set (n=14). Seven rats of each group were used for inhibitory passive avoidance memory test, novel object recognition test and tail flick test. The remaining seven rats of each group were sacrificed for hippocampus-related experiments. Subcutaneous injection for 5 consecutive weeks with 98% sunflower oil plus 2% DMSO (1 mL/kg) was performed on rats in the control group once daily. In the model group, the rats were daily given 2 mg/kg rotenone (5 consecutive weeks of subcutaneous injection) once. In the EA group, the rats received 5 consecutive weeks of EA stimulation (100 Hz) at 1 h before subcutaneous injection of 2 mg/kg rotenone, once daily. Briefly, the acupoints Baihui (GV20, located at the midpoint of the line connecting the apexes of both ears) and Dazhui (GV14, located just underneath the cervical spinous process) were separately punctured using a stainless-steel EA needle (diameter: 0.25 mm) by 5 mm in depth. Next, a Han's acupoint nerve stimulator (HANS, Neuroscience Research Institute, Peking University) was employed to produce bi-directional square-wave electrical pulses (duration: 0.2 ms, 100 Hz), which were delivered for 30 min per day to the rats for 5 consecutive weeks (6 days weekly). The stimulation intensity gradually rose to 3 mA from 1 mA to 2 mA, which lasted for 10 min per time. The rats remained under an awake and unrestricted state in cages during EA. In the miR-331-5p antagomir group, at 1 h prior to 2 mg/kg rotenone subcutaneous injection, 10 mg/kg miR-331-5p antagomir was subcutaneously administered once daily to the rats for 5 consecutive

weeks. In the EA + miR-331-5p antagomir group, at 1 h previous to 2 mg/kg rotenone injected subcutaneously, the rats received 5 consecutive weeks of EA stimulation (100 Hz) and miR-331-5p antagomir (10 mg/kg, subcutaneous injection) once daily.

For the purpose of PD induction in rats, rotenone at 10 mg/mL in concentration was prepared by means of dissolution in DMSO first and then dilution using sunflower oil (98% sunflower oil plus 2% DMSO), which was once daily administrated at 2 mg/kg *via* subcutaneous injection for 5 weeks. The preparation of fresh solution was conducted at an interval of 3-4 days ^[12]. The rats from the control group merely received DMSO together with sunflower oil, and the death rate was zero.

Inhibitory Passive Avoidance Memory Test

The rats were assessed by passive avoidance memory test on the passive avoidance memory using the shuttle box apparatus manufactured by Borj Sanat Azma (Teheran, Iran). The apparatus consisted of brightly illuminated and dark chambers of the identical size (40x40x30 cm), a stainless-steel bar floor (diameter: 2.5 mm, and spacing: 1 cm) in connection with an electric shock generator, and an opaque guillotine door (7x9 cm) utilized to separate the chambers. 24 h before the test, each rat was habituated to the apparatus for 5 min. There were two sessions (training and testing) completed in two days in a row. Specifically, the brightly illuminated chamber equipped with an elevated guillotine door was applied to accommodate the rat that was permitted to access the dark chamber during the training session. Then with the guillotine door installed therein dropped, the rat was subjected to 3 s of constant current shock (50 Hz, 1 mA). Finally, the rat was placed back to the home cage after being taken out from the dark chamber 30 s later. After 120 s, the aforementioned steps were repeated again. The training was stopped in the case of 2-min residence of the rat in the brightly illuminated chamber, and successful passive avoidance learning was recorded. In contrast, the shock was applied in the same way again when the rat went back to the dark chamber within 2 min. Each rat received training three times at most. Twenty-four hours after training, the memory retention test was performed without applying electric shock. The rat entered the brightly illuminated chamber again, and step-through latency (300 s at most) was acquired by recording the latency of passing through the guillotine door ^[13].

NOR Test

A black cubic box $(60 \times 60 \times 20 \text{ cm})$ was used as an open field to carry out the NOR test. Specifically, the rat located in the box was allowed for 5 min exploration of two exactly the same objects on the first day. 24 h later, the rat entered the box containing the two familiar objects again, one of which was substituted using a "novel" object. The rat explored the novel object and familiar object for 5 min, with the time for probing the two different objects recorded. The duration from the rat sniffing the object or staying within 2 cm surrounding the object was determined as the object exploration time. Data were calculated based on the formula below ^[14]: (time of probing the novel object/[time of probing the novel object] x 100%).

Tail Flick Test

A tail flick apparatus provided by Borj Sanat Azma (Iran) was adopted for the tail flick test to measure rats' pain threshold. Briefly, the rat was released in a Plexiglas restrainer, with its tail fixed in a groove below the radiant heat source. Tail flick latency was defined as the latency to withdraw the tail from the light beam. As for the setting of light intensity, the baseline brightness of 4.5-5.5 s was provided for the whole animals through illuminating on a light spot at 8 cm away from the tail tip. Tissue injury was minimized by a cut-off period lasting for 10 s. Tail withdrawal time of each rat was recorded three times, with an interval of 5 min and the average value obtained ^[13].

Sample Acquisition and Processing

When the behavioral tests were completed, the rats had a deep and permanent anesthesia before being quickly decapitated in a non-stressful environment. The hippocampal tissue was extracted from the brains for homogenization using ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, 0.1 M) after being harvested on ice. After that, the homogenate was subjected to 10-min centrifugation (4°C and 3000 rpm). The resulting supernatant was aspirated and then preserved at -80°C for later biochemical assays.

Malondialdehyde (MDA) Content Detection

MDA content in the hippocampus was measured for lipid peroxidation quantification. Specifically, hippocampal samples (50 μ L) were mixed with thiobarbituric acid (6%, 100 μ L) and trichloroacetic acid (20%, 150 μ L) prior to incubation at 95°C for 20 min in a boiling water bath. Sample centrifugation at 5000 rpm was executed for 5 min subsequent to cooling on ice. Next, a clean microplate was utilized to transfer the clarified supernatants in a volume of 200 μ L, and the 535 nm wavelength was examined by a spectrophotometer (Bio-Tek, USA) to obtain the absorbance. Finally, MDA level was calculated as nmol/ mg protein according to the 1,1,3,3-tetraethoxypropaneprepared standard curve.

Activity Determination of Glutathione Peroxidase (GPx)

The RANSEL assay kit (Randox Laboratories Ltd., UK) was applied to detect the GPx activity (in U/mg protein).

Activity Assay for Superoxide Dismutase (SOD)

The SOD activity was measured using the Naoyuki Taniguchi's method according to the capability of SOD to repress the reduction of nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) dye triggered by superoxide anions resulting from hydroxylamine hydrochloride autoxidation. A reaction mixture containing NBT (24 μ M), sodium carbonate (50 mM, pH 10.2), Triton X-100 (0.03%, 30 μ L), and EDTA (0.1 mM) was prepared in order to assess the SOD activity. The reaction was started in a brain homogenate (10 μ L)-containing cuvette added with the reaction mixture and hydroxylamine hydrochloride (1 mM). The absorbance at 560 nm was measured to calculate the reduction rate of NBT complex, with the results expressed as IU/mg protein.

Determination of BDNF Level

The mouse BDNF PicoKine[™] double-antibody sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Wuhan Boster Biological Technology, Ltd., China) was used to measure the BDNF level in the hippocampus (pg/mg protein ^[15]). A multifunctional microplate reader (Bio-Tek, USA) was applied to test the 450 nm wavelength to acquire the absorbance.

Histological Analysis

Brain neurons were subjected to the cresyl violet staining for histological assays and to quantify neuronal injury. In brief, the rats were given Nesdonal overdose (100 mg/kg) to induce anesthesia. They were subsequently transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline and then 4% paraformaldehyde in a volume of 50 mL and 200 mL, respectively. Later, brains were immediately removed for overnight fixation with the same fixative. After dehydration using gradient alcohol, brain samples were subjected to xylene transparentization plus paraffin embedding. Afterwards, a cryostat (Leica, Germany) was utilized to prepare paraffin-embedded samples into 5-µm sections in the coronal plane. The serial brain sections underwent 0.1% cresyl violet staining following translocation to slides. Then a light microscope (BX-50F, Olympus, Japan) for observation (40x) and a digital camera for photography were used for the sections. The hippocampal CA1, CA3, and dentate gyrus (DG) regions were selected for manual counting of Nisslstained cells in three fields of each section. The average of three measurements from every region was taken as the final value.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis and plot drawing were accomplished by GraphPad Prism 8.0 software (GraphPad Software, USA). Data were described by mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Comparisons among groups were performed through one-way analysis of variance, with the Tukey's post-hoc test for analysis. P<0.05 denoted a difference with statistical significance.

RESULTS

Passive Avoidance Test Results

The initial latency showed insignificant differences among the control group, model group, EA group, miR-331-5p antagomir group and EA+miR-331-5p antagomir group $(4.32\pm0.61, 4.52\pm0.76, 3.81\pm0.69, 3.78\pm0.53$ and 3.56 ± 0.98 s) (P>0.05). The model group presented significantly shortened step-through latency by contrast to the control group (P<0.05), as well as to the EA and miR-331-5p antagomir groups (P<0.05), whereas it was significantly increased in the EA + miR-331-5p antagomir group in comparison to that in the model group (P<0.01) (*Table 1*).

NOR Test (Learning Memory) Results

Compared to the model group, significant increases in DI were observed in the control group (P<0.05), together with in the EA group, miR-331-5p antagomir group and EA + miR-331-5p antagomir group (P<0.01) (*Table 2*).

Tail Flick Test Results

The model group exhibited a significantly shorter tail flick latency than the control group (P<0.05) and the EA, miR-331-5p antagomir and EA + miR-331-5p antagomir groups (P<0.01, P<0.05, P<0.01) (*Table 3*).

Oxidative Stress in the Hippocampus

The model group, compared with the control group, had a significantly higher MDA level and significantly lower SOD and GPx activities (MDA: P<0.05, SOD: P<0.05, GPx: P<0.05). The EA, miR-331-5p antagomir and EA + miR-331-5p antagomir groups displayed a significantly reduced MDA level along with significantly enhanced SOD and GPx activities compared to the model group (MDA: P<0.05, SOD: P<0.05, GPx: P<0.05) (*Table 4*).

BDNF Level in the Hippocampus

In comparison to that in model group, the BDNF level in the hippocampus was significantly elevated (P<0.01), and climbed in the EA group, miR-331-5p antagomir group and EA + miR-331-5p antagomir group (P<0.05, P<0.05, P<0.01) (*Table 5*).

Table 1. Step-through latency (n=7)						
Indicator	ControlModelEAGroupGroupGroup		MiR-331-5p Antagomir Group	EA + MiR-331-5p Antagomir Group		
Step-through latency (s) 239.31±20.17 47. 22±7.36* 98. 14±8.62# 101.28±10.52# 150.58±						
*P<0.05 vs. control group, *P<0.05, **P<0.01 vs. model group						

Iable 2. DI values (n=7)							
Indicator Control Model Group Group		Model Group	EA Group	MiR-331-5p Antagomir Group	EA + MiR-331-5p Antagomir Group		
DI (%) 78.12±6.16 44. 25±4.31*** 62. 12±8.2		62.12±8.29#	64.26±10.31#	76.21±8.21#			

*P<0.05 vs. control group, #P<0.05, ##P<0.01 vs. model group

Table 3. Tail flick latency (n=7)						
Indicator	ControlModelEAGroupGroupGroup		EA Group	MiR-331-5p Antagomir Group	EA + MiR-331-5p Antagomir Group	
Tail flick latency (s)	4.43±0.48	2.94±0.31*	6.06±0.58#	6.22±0.63#	8.25±0.53##	
*P<0.05 vs. control group. #P<0.05. ##P<0.01 vs. model group.						

Table 4. Oxidative stress levels in the hippocampus (n=7)							
Indicator	Control Group	Model Group	MiR-331-5p Antagomir Group	EA + MiR-331-5p Antagomir Group			
MDA (nmol/mg)	1.68±0.15	5.21±0.62*	3.04±0.58#	2.98±0.61#	2.25±0.31#		
GPx (U/mg)	ng) 64.43±7.14 28.64±3.12* 48.98±6.15#		48.98±6.15#	46.05±6.27#	69.68±7.28#		
SOD (U/mg) 60.23±7.19 28.64±3.11* 39.68±4.15# 41.23±4.21# 59.02±7.18#							
*P<0.05 vs. control group, #P<0.05, ##P<0.01 vs. model group							

Table 5. BDNF level in the hippocampus (n=7)						
Indicator	Control Model EA MiR-331-5p EA + MiR- Antagomir Group Group Group Antagomir Antagomir					
BDNF (pg/mg) 68.27±7.12 32.63±4.14** 48.62±4.12# 51.26±5.21# 71.13±8.39##						
*P_C0.05 vs. control group #P_C0.05 ##P_C0.01 vs. model group						

*P<0.05 vs. control group, #P<0.05, ##P<0.01 vs. model group



Fig 1. Light microscopic images for histological changes of sections of hippocampal CA1, CA2, CA3 and DC regions subjected to cresyl violet staining

Histological Changes of the Hippocampus

Cresyl violet staining was performed on the histological changes of the hippocampus. The results showed that compared with those in the control group, EA group, miR-331-5p antagomir group and EA + miR-331-5p antagomir group, significant drops in Nissl-stained cell counts in the hippocampal CA1, CA2, CA3, and DG regions were observed in the model group (*Fig. 1*).

DISCUSSION

As a complementary and alternative therapy with the most extensive application, EA has been adopted to treat PD for a long period of time ^[16]. As revealed by increasingly more basic studies, EA is capable of alleviating central (vascular dementia, animal models of ischemic stroke, PD, Alzheimer's disease, spinal cord injury, traumatic brain injury, etc.) and peripheral (such as post-surgical injury or lipopolysaccharide injection) neuroinflammation ^[17]. For example, Cai et al.^[18] reported that EA reduced cognitive impairment through anti-neuroinflammation in PD animal models. EA ameliorates intestinal motility disorders by regulating the 5-HT4R-mediated cAMP/ PKA signaling in Thy1-αSyn mice with PD^[19]. In addition, EA has protective effects on dopaminergic neurons from the murine substantia nigra of PD model, which may be related to its regulatory effects on ferroptosisinduced oxidative stress and apoptosis [20]. The present research was designed to probe into the neuroprotective role of EA in rotenone-induced cognitive impairment and neuronal injury. The results revealed that EA with antioxidant properties could efficiently relieve rotenonetriggered non-motor deficits plus neuronal injury. Hence, antioxidants may become a useful therapeutic approach for rotenone toxicity by lowering neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in the neurons.

One of the predominant symptoms in the rotenoneinduced PD model is motor impairment. Rotenone neurotoxicity is associated with non-motor deficiencies involving depression, sleep disorders, and cognitive impairment in addition to motor dysfunctions [21,22]. Current studies have revealed through assessment by the passive avoidance and NOR tests that rotenone can induce memory impairment. This study yielded identical findings to earlier findings that rotenone exposure impairs memory *via* disruption of the blood brain barrier (BBB) mediated by microglia [23]. According to these research, oxidative stress created by rotenone disrupts the BBB and causes neuroinflammation, neuronal damage, and cognitive deficits ^[24]. In this study, it was found that the 5-week administration of EA alone or EA plus miR-331-5p antagomir could prevent memory impairment in the passive avoidance memory test. The NOR test showed that EA also relieved rotenone-induced cognitive disorder by increasing DI. As consistently denoted in reports, EA can mitigate amyloid-beta pathology and cognitive impairment in Alzheimer's disease by a novel mechanism involving activation of transcription factor EB [25]. Geng et al.^[26] found that EA took advantage of the TRPC1 and SIRT1/AMPK signaling pathways to ameliorate mitochondrial dysfunction besides neuronal injury in PD mice. Therefore, EA becomes a crucial participant in preventing cognitive impairment. EA's ability to reduce rotenone-induced neuroinflammation may possibly be responsible for its memory-enhancing properties due to its antioxidant effects.

With 40-85% of patients experiencing pain, it serves as a most ubiquitous NMSs in PD^[27]. Research has indicated that malfunction in the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) increases free radicals together with oxidative stress to participate in neuropathy ^[28]. This study demonstrated via the tail flick test that rotenone, a recognized inhibitor of mitochondrial complex I, enhanced the thermal pain sensitivity. These results demonstrated that various forms of pain are produced by mitochondrial malfunction and oxidative stress, and they also suggested that antioxidant medications are probably conducive to preventing and curing pain^[29]. For example, activation of Nrf2 mediates the antiallodynic effect of EA on the rat model of type I complex regional pain syndrome by reducing local oxidative stress and inflammation ^[30]. In this study, it was uncovered that EA alone or EA plus miR-331-5p antagomir significantly increased the pain threshold of animals treated with rotenone, and also interestingly prolonged tail flick latency by contrast to the control group.

Rotenone represses mitochondrial ETC complex I to impair adenosine triphosphate production while strengthening reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation ^[31]. The process where ROS induces oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids is defined as lipid peroxidation^[32]. Lipid peroxidation produces MDA, a genotoxic byproduct capable of creating stable microtubules through the coupling with DNA bases plus proteins, which can cause neuroinflammation and cell death. The results of the biochemical tests in this study showed that rotenone raised the MDA level in the hippocampus. Furthermore, rotenone dramatically reduced the activities of GPx and SOD in the rat hippocampal regions. The primary antioxidant enzymes that are crucial in scavenging and getting rid of free radicals are SOD and GPx [33]. Since rotenone inhibits mitochondrial complex I and destroys the antioxidant system, it can therefore cause an accumulation of free radicals and oxidative damage. EA alone or EA plus miR-331-5p antagomir significantly decreased the MDA level while enhancing the hippocampal SOD and GPx activities in rats, consistent with the findings of Li et al. $^{\mbox{\tiny [20]}}$ that EA reduced the MDA level in PD models. By the deactivation of free radicals and ROS as well as the boosting of endogenous antioxidant enzymes, EA may lessen lipid peroxidation.

It is well known that rotenone induces motor disorders by selectively degenerating dopaminergic neurons from the substantia nigra pars compacta of the PD model. The PD-associated cognitive impairment often has a correlation with hippocampal neuronal injury ^[34]. According to recent studies, rotenone also causes hippocampal neuronal apoptosis in the PD model in addition to memory impairment ^[35]. It was found by histological analysis through the present research that in the hippocampal CA1, CA3, and DG regions, rotenone exacerbated neuronal loss. By triggering microglia, rotenone contributes to the neuroinflammatory response and disrupts the BBB, which may result in neuronal death and memory loss ^[24]. In addition, EA alone or EA plus miR-331-5p antagomir mitigated the apoptosis of neurons from the CA1, CA3 and DG regions of hippocampus.

Concerning the cognitive function, BDNF functions in neuronal survival, neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity as an essential neurotrophin ^[36]. Cognitive impairment may be the result of neuronal death caused by decreased levels of BDNF ^[37]. In this study, the hippocampal BDNF expression decreased in rats administered with rotenone, consistent with previous findings, revealing that rotenone can lower the hippocampal BDNF expression ^[38]. Nevertheless, the exact chemical mechanism behind the reduction in BDNF expression after rotenone therapy remains unclear. Moreover, it was uncovered by the present research that EA could ameliorate the rotenoneinduced reduction in hippocampal BDNF expression. This signifies that EA achieves a neuroprotective effect possibly by increasing the hippocampal BDNF expression.

Nevertheless, this study is limited. Whether there is a synergistic relationship between EA and miR-331-5p antagomir is not studied, which still needs further validation.

In conclusion, EA had a positive impact on non-motor deficits resulting from rotenone-induced neurotoxicity. EA reduced rotenone-induced thermal hyperalgesia and memory impairment. Furthermore, EA reduced the hippocampal MDA (lipid peroxidation product) content and prevented neuronal injury in rats treated with rotenone. These findings demonstrate that the antioxidant properties of EA partly mediate its ability to ameliorate memory impairment and neuronal injury induced by rotenone.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets used and/ or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author (Y. Yue) on reasonable request.

Acknowledgements: None.

Funding Support: None.

Competing Interests: There is no conflict of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The article, tables and figure were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Authors' Contributions: Y. Y. designed and supervised the study,

and significantly revised the paper. D. L. performed this study and drafted the paper. Both authors have approved the submission and publication of the paper.

REFERENCES

1. Fang C, Lv L, Mao S, Dong H, Liu B: Cognition deficits in Parkinson's disease: Mechanisms and treatment. *Parkinsons Dis*, 2020:2076942, 2020. DOI: 10.1155/2020/2076942

2. Aarsland D, Batzu L, Halliday GM, Geurtsen GJ, Ballard C, Ray Chaudhuri K, Weintraub D: Parkinson disease-associated cognitive impairment. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*, 7:47, 2021. DOI: 10.1038/s41572-021-00280-3

3. Wang Y, Wang Y, Liu J, Wang X: Electroacupuncture alleviates motor symptoms and up-regulates vesicular glutamatergic transporter 1 expression in the subthalamic nucleus in a unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned hemi-parkinsonian rat model. *Neurosci Bull*, 34, 476-484, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/s12264-018-0213-y

4. Sun Z, Jia J, Gong X, Jia Y, Deng J, Wang X, Wang X: Inhibition of glutamate and acetylcholine release in behavioral improvement induced by electroacupuncture in parkinsonian rats. *Neurosci Lett*, 520, 32-37, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j.neulet.2012.05.021

5. Jia J, Li B, Sun ZL, Yu F, Wang X, Wang XM: Electro-acupuncture stimulation acts on the basal ganglia output pathway to ameliorate motor impairment in Parkinsonian model rats. *Behav Neurosci*, 124, 305-310, 2010. DOI: 10.1037/a0018931

6. Deng J, Lv E, Yang J, Gong X, Zhang W, Liang X, Wang J, Jia J, Wang X: Electroacupuncture remediates glial dysfunction and ameliorates neurodegeneration in the astrocytic alpha-synuclein mutant mouse model. *J Neuroinflammation*, 12:103, 2015. DOI: 10.1186/s12974-015-0302-z

7. Lv E, Deng J, Yu Y, Wang Y, Gong X, Jia J, Wang X: Nrf2-ARE signals mediated the anti-oxidative action of electroacupuncture in an MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Free Radic Res*, 49, 1296-1307, 2015. DOI: 10.3109/10715762.2015.1067696

8. Liang XB, Luo Y, Liu XY, Lu J, Li FQ, Wang Q, Wang XM, Han JS: Electro-acupuncture improves behavior and upregulates GDNF mRNA in MFB transected rats. *Neuroreport*, 14, 1177-1181, 2003. DOI: 10.1097/00001756-200306110-00015

9. Guevremont D, Roy J, Cutfield NJ, Williams JM: MicroRNAs in Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and diagnostic accuracy meta-analysis. *Sci Rep*, 13, 16272, 2023. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-43096-9

10. Yao YF, Qu MW, Li GC, Zhang FB, Rui HC: Circulating exosomal miRNAs as diagnostic biomarkers in Parkinson's disease. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, 22, 5278-5283, 2018. DOI: 10.26355/eurrev_201808_15727

11. Greene MA, Worley GA, Udoka AN, Powell RR, Bruce T, Klotz JL, Bridges Jr WC, Duckett SK: Use of AgomiR and AntagomiR technologies to alter satellite cell proliferation *in vitro*, miRNA expression, and muscle fiber hypertrophy in intrauterine growth-restricted lambs. *Front Mol Biosci*, 10, 1286890, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fmolb.2023.1286890

12. Nehru B, Verma R, Khanna P, Sharma SK: Behavioral alterations in rotenone model of Parkinson's disease: Attenuation by co-treatment of centrophenoxine. *Brain Res*, 1201, 122-127, 2008. DOI: 10.1016/j. brainres.2008.01.074

13. Dolatshahi M, Farbood Y, Sarkaki A, Mansouri SM, Khodadadi A: Ellagic acid improves hyperalgesia and cognitive deficiency in 6-hydroxidopamine induced rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Iran J Basic Med Sci*, 18, 38-46, 2015. DOI: 10.22038/ijbms.2015.3886

14. Gulinello M, Mitchell HA, Chang Q, Timothy O'Brien W, Zhou Z, Abel T, Wang L, Corbin JG, Veeraragavan S, Samaco RC, Andrews NA, Fagiolini M, Cole TB, Burbacher TM, Crawley JN: Rigor and reproducibility in rodent behavioral research. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, 165, 106780, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.nlm.2018.01.001

15. Xie M, Li M, Zhou J, Ding X, Shao Y, Jing J, Liu Y, Yao B: Brain-derived neurotrophic factor promotes human granulosa-like tumor cell steroidogenesis and proliferation by activating the FSH receptor-mediated signaling pathway. *Sci Rep*, 7, 180, 2017. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-00203-x

16. Gai C, Qiang T, Zhang Y, Chai Y, Feng W, Sun H: Electroacupuncture in treatment of Parkinson disease: A protocol for meta-analysis and systematic review. *Medicine*, 100:e23010, 2021. DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000023010

17. Xin YY, Wang JX, Xu AJ: Electroacupuncture ameliorates neuroinflammation in animal models. *Acupunct Med*, 40, 474-483, 2022. DOI: 10.1177/09645284221076515

18. Cai M, Lee JH, Yang EJ: Electroacupuncture attenuates cognition impairment via anti-neuroinflammation in an Alzheimer's disease animal model. *J Neuroinflammation*, 16:264, 2019. DOI: 10.1186/s12974-019-1665-3

19. Shen L, Wang Z, Huang R, Wu L, Huang Y, Qi Q, Zhong R, Chen Y, Li L, Wu H: Electroacupuncture modulates 5-HT(4R)-mediated cAMP/ PKA signaling to improve intestinal motility disorders in a Thy1-alphaSyn Parkinson's mouse model. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med*, 2022:8659462, 2022. DOI: 10.1155/2022/8659462

20. Li J, Wang LN, Xiao HL, Li X, Yang JJ: Effect of electroacupuncture intervention on levels of SOD, GSH, GSH-Px, MDA, and apoptosis of dopaminergic neurons in substantia nigra in rats with Parkinson's disease. *Zhen Ci Yan Jiu*, 39, 185-191, 2014.

21. Madiha S, Batool Z, Tabassum S, Liaquat L, Sadir S, Shahzad S, Naqvi F, Saleem S, Yousuf S, Nawaz A, Ahmad S, Sajid I, Afzal A, Haider S: Quercetin exhibits potent antioxidant activity, restores motor and non-motor deficits induced by rotenone toxicity. *PLoS One*, 16:e0258928, 2021. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0258928

22. Wang Y, Liu W, Yang J, Wang F, Sima Y, Zhong ZM, Wang H, Hu LF, Liu CF: Parkinson's disease-like motor and non-motor symptoms in rotenone-treated zebrafish. *Neurotoxicology*, 58, 103-109, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2016.11.006

23. Zhang D, Li S, Hou L, Jing L, Ruan Z, Peng B, Zhang X, Hong JS, Zhao J, Wang Q: Microglial activation contributes to cognitive impairments in rotenone-induced mouse Parkinson's disease model. *J Neuroinflammation*, 18:4, 2021. DOI: 10.1186/s12974-020-02065-z

24. Guo Z, Ruan Z, Zhang D, Liu X, Hou L, Wang Q: Rotenone impairs learning and memory in mice through microglia-mediated blood brain barrier disruption and neuronal apoptosis. *Chemosphere*, 291:132982, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.132982

25. Zheng X, Lin W, Jiang Y, Lu K, Wei W, Huo Q, Cui S, Yang X, Li M, Xu N, Tang C, Song JX: Electroacupuncture ameliorates beta-amyloid pathology and cognitive impairment in Alzheimer disease via a novel mechanism involving activation of TFEB (transcription factor EB). *Autophagy*, 17, 3833-3847, 2021. DOI: 10.1080/15548627.2021.1886720

26. Geng X, Zou Y, Huang T, Li S, Pang A, Yu H: Electroacupuncture improves neuronal damage and mitochondrial dysfunction through the TRPC1 and SIRT1/AMPK signaling pathways to alleviate Parkinson's disease in mice. *J Mol Neurosci*, 74:5, 2024. DOI: 10.1007/s12031-023-02186-z

27. Cury RG, Galhardoni R, Fonoff ET, Perez Lloret S, Dos Santos Ghilardi MG, Barbosa ER, Teixeira MJ, Ciampi de Andrade D: Sensory abnormalities and pain in Parkinson disease and its modulation by treatment of motor symptoms. *Eur J Pain*, 20, 151-165, 2016. DOI: 10.1002/ejp.745

28. Zheng H, Xiao WH, Bennett GJ: Functional deficits in peripheral nerve mitochondria in rats with paclitaxel- and oxaliplatin-evoked painful peripheral neuropathy. *Exp Neurol*, 232, 154-161, 2011. DOI: 10.1016/j. expneurol.2011.08.016

29. Xiao WH, Bennett GJ: Effects of mitochondrial poisons on the neuropathic pain produced by the chemotherapeutic agents, paclitaxel and oxaliplatin. *Pain*, 153, 704-709, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.pain.2011.12.011

30. Li X, Yin C, Hu Q, Wang J, Nie H, Liu B, Tai Y, Fang J, Du J, Shao X, Fang J, Liu B: Nrf2 activation mediates antiallodynic effect of electroacupuncture on a rat model of complex regional pain syndrome type-I through reducing local oxidative stress and inflammation. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2022:8035109, 2022. DOI: 10.1155/2022/8035109

31. Won JH, Park S, Hong S, Son S, Yu JW: Rotenone-induced impairment of mitochondrial electron transport chain confers a selective priming signal for NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *J Biol Chem*, 290, 27425-27437, 2015. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M115.667063

32. El-Sayed EK, Ahmed A, Morsy EE, Nofal S: Neuroprotective effect of agmatine (decarboxylated l-arginine) against oxidative stress and

neuroinflammation in rotenone model of Parkinson's disease. *Hum Exp Toxicol*, 38, 173-184, 2019. DOI: 10.1177/0960327118788139

33. Sushma N, Devasena TJH, Toxicology E: Aqueous extract of *Trigonella foenum graecum* (fenugreek) prevents cypermethrin-induced hepatotoxicity and nephrotoxicity. *Hum Exp Toxicol*, 29, 311-319, 2010. DOI: 10.1177/ 0960327110361502

34. Foo H, Mak E, Chander RJ, Ng A, Au WL, Sitoh YY, Tan LC, Kandiah N: Associations of hippocampal subfields in the progression of cognitive decline related to Parkinson's disease. *Neuroimage Clin*, 14, 37-42, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j.nicl.2016.12.008

35. Bisbal M, Sanchez M: Neurotoxicity of the pesticide rotenone on neuronal polarization: a mechanistic approach. Neural Regen Res, 14, 762-

766, 2019. DOI: 10.4103/1673-5374.249847

36. Phillips C: Brain-derived neurotrophic factor, depression, and physical activity: making the neuroplastic connection. *Neural Plast*, 20177:260130, 2017. DOI: 10.1155/2017/7260130

37. Miranda M, Morici JF, Zanoni MB, Bekinschtein P: Brain-derived neurotrophic factor: A key molecule for memory in the healthy and the pathological brain. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 13:363, 2019. DOI: 10.3389/ fncel.2019.00363

38. Zhao X, Kong D, Zhou Q, Wei G, Song J, Liang Y, Du G: Baicalein alleviates depression-like behavior in rotenone- induced Parkinson's disease model in mice through activating the BDNF/TrkB/CREB pathway. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 140:111556, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111556

Research Article

Effect of Nettle Extract on Metabolic Processes in Piglets During Weaning

Oksana BUCHKO¹ Viktoria HAVRYLIAK²^(*) Olena YAREMKEVYCH²

¹ State Scientific-Research Control Institute of Veterinary Medicinal Products and Feed Additives, National Reference Control Laboratory of Veterinary Drug Residues in product of animal origin and food additives, 79000 Lviv, UKRAINE

² Lviv Polytechnic National University, Department of Technology of Biologically Active Substances, Pharmacy and Biotechnology, 79013 Lviv, UKRAINE



^(*) **Corresponding author:** Viktoria HAVRYLIAK Phone: +38 032 258 2209 Cellular phone: +38 050 431 6582

E-mail: viktoria.v.havryliak@lpnu.ua

How to cite this article?

Buchko O, Havryliak V, Yaremkevych O: Effect of nettle extract on metabolic processes in piglets during weaning. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 661-667, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32236

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32236 Received: 01.05.2024 Accepted: 12.08.2024 Published Online: 20.08.2024

Abstract

The article deals with the use of a plant extract to improve metabolic processes and the adaptive capacity of piglets during the weaning period. The study focused on the effects of a 40% ethanolic extract of nettle (Urtica dioica L.) on hematological and biochemical parameters in the blood of piglets. The piglets were divided into two groups - control and experimental with 9 animals in each group. From 14 days of age until weaning, the experimental animals were fed with the nettle extract at a rate of 6 mg/kg body weight for 22 days. Blood samples were collected at 14, 36, and 42 days of piglets' age. The study found that the nettle extract improved the blood respiratory function and positively influenced protein and energy metabolism in piglets. The nettle extract led to increased hemoglobin concentration, erythrocytes and leukocyte count, total protein, transaminases activity, glucose concentration, alkaline phosphatase and creatine kinase activity. The piglets fed with nettle extract showed a 10% higher live weight and average daily gain at 42 days of age, and a 12% higher safety rate compared to piglets fed with a standard diet. The results indicate that adding 40% nettle extract to the standard piglets' diet can stimulate metabolic and adaptive processes, as well as improve productive performance during the critical period after weaning.

Keywords: *Urtica dioica* L. extract, biochemical and hematological parameters, weaning stress, piglets

INTRODUCTION

Numerous studies have shown that weaning is the most challenging period for pigs, affecting their welfare and productivity significantly ^[1-3]. During this time, piglets are exposed to several factors, including psychosocial (separation from the mother and movement to new groups), immunological, infectious, metabolic, and nutritional stress. These factors often result in diarrhea and intestinal damage, which can negatively impact the survival rate of young animals. The post-weaning mortality rate can range from 6-10% and can sometimes go up to 20%. To address this, animal nutritionists have been working to optimize feed composition to meet the needs of newly weaned pigs and have been exploring various nutritional factors and housing conditions to promote piglet health ^[4-6].

Herbs and essential oils are used in pig nutrition due to their antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and antiparasitic properties. The use of herbs in pig nutrition has shown many positive results, such as improving the taste of feed, increasing appetite, regulating digestion and metabolic processes, and lengthening intestinal villi, which improves the digestibility and digestion of the feed ration ^[7,8]. Researchers have also found that herbs decrease post-weaning diarrhea in piglets by reducing the number of Escherichia coli and ammonia emissions ^[9].

Common nettle (*Urtica dioica L.*) is a wild herbaceous perennial flowering plant that grows in Europe, Asia, North Africa, and North America. Nettle is known for its antiinflammatory, anti-proliferative, antioxidant, analgesic, anti-infective, hypotensive, and anti-ulcer properties. It can reduce the intensity of hormonal changes in the body, act as a coagulant, and be used to make fertilizers and insecticides. The plant's multifaceted chemical composition, which includes carboxylic acids, amino acids, lipids and fatty acids, nitrogen-containing compounds, essential oils, steroids, lectins, lignans, coumarins, histamine, pigments, vitamins, tannins, flavonoids, trace elements, and macronutrients, determines its high pharmacological properties ^[10,11]. Because of the vast array of natural biologically active compounds that make up nettle, and the large amounts of environmentally friendly raw materials available on almost all continents, it's possible to isolate these compounds and develop new drugs and food additives from nettle extract. These extracts can increase adaptive capacity, and correct metabolic disorders in animals and humans, making this research extremely relevant ^[12,13].

The study aimed to determine the effect of ethanol extract of common nettle on some biochemical, hematological, and productive parameters in piglets during weaning.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

The permission to perform the experiments was obtained from the Bioethics Committee of the Institute of Animal Biology NAAS of Lviv, Ukraine, approval No 77 of 20 December, 2021. All experiments were conducted according to the EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments.

Experimental Plant, Collection, Identification and Preparation

The common nettle (*Urtica dioica L.*) was harvested in the Skole district, located in the Carpathian highlands. The plant was identified as the common nettle (*Urtica dioica* L.) using the atlas-identifier of plants of Ukraine^[14]. Nettle air parts were dried under normal conditions (in a dark place, temperature 20-25°C, relative humidity 30-60%). The dry material was then crushed to a particle size of 1.5 mm and placed in the extractor. The extraction process took eight days at a temperature of 20°C. We used a classical maceration with the ratio of raw material to 40% water-alcohol solution as an extractant (1:20, m/v). After extraction, the nettle extract was filtered and dehydrated using a rotary evaporator until it acquired a powdery form. For the experiment, the dry extract was used.

Experimental Animals and Design

The experiment was performed on 14-day-old piglets of a large white breed with a live weight from 5.18 to 5.48 kg. After farrowing two groups (control and experimental) were formed: 3 sows with piglets in each group. Each sow was kept in a separate cage with piglets (8-10 heads). On the 35th day after birth, piglets were weaned and each litter was kept in a separate weaner cage. Animals were fed a standard diet *ad libitum*, using a premix from Sano (Ferkengold Forte) for weaned piglets with free access to feed and water.

Piglets of the experimental group (Nettle) received a 40%

extract of nettle in the dose of 6 mg/kg of body weight. The feed was mixed with a dry nettle extract and added to the feeders each morning for a group of animals in the cage from the 14th day after birth and to the weaning day (35th day of age). The extract feeding period lasted 22 days. At the same time, sows did not have access to the feed crib. The piglets of the control group (Control) were kept on a standard diet. The experiment lasted 30 days. Blood of piglets for the study (3 heads from each cage, 9 animals from the group) was taken before morning feeding from the anterior vena cava at 14, 36 (1 day after weaning), and 42 days of age (7 days after weaning). The survival and morbidity of piglets of both groups were monitored during the experiment. At the beginning and at the end of the experiment, the piglets were weighted.

Sampling Procedures

Piglets' blood and plasma were studied. 1% solution of heparin was used as an anticoagulant. The blood plasma was separated by centrifugation at 700 g for 15 min. Hematological parameters (number of erythrocytes and leukocytes in the Goriayev chamber) were determined in the blood and hemoglobin concentration was studied by hemoglobin-cyanide method ^[15].

Biochemical Analysis

The total protein in blood plasma was determined by the Lowry method ^[16], glucose concentration was measured by the glucose oxidase method ^[15], the activities of the creatine kinase (CK, EC 2.7.3.2), alkaline phosphatase (ALP, EC 1.11.1.7), alanine aminotransferase (ALT, EC 2.6.1.2) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST, EC 2.6.1.1) - using the kits "Simko LTD". The absorbance values were measured on a spectrophotometer "Unico" 1205 (USA).

Statistical Analysis

The result among the groups were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests. Statistical difference was considered significant at P<0.05. Results were expressed as mean ± Standard error of mean.

RESULTS

In the animals of the experimental group, nettle extract caused a significant increase in hemoglobin concentration by 6% (P<0.001) and 12% (P<0.001) on days 1 and 7 after weaning from sows (*Fig.* 1).

During the experiment, it was observed that 36 and 42-day-old piglets in the experimental groups had 8% (P<0.01) and 7% (P<0.01) more erythrocytes than the control group, respectively. In addition, the number of leukocytes in the experimental group on the 1 day after weaning was found to be 5% higher than that of the control group (P<0.001) (*Fig. 2-A,B*). At 42 days of age, both the



Fig 1. The concentration of hemoglobin in the blood of pigtets ($M \pm SE$, n = 9). * the differences are significant between the control and experimental groups of piglets (* P<0.05; ** P<0.01; *** P<0.001); * the differences are significant compared to 14-day-old animals (* P<0.05; ** P<0.01; *** P<0.001); Control - control group of piglets; Nettle - experimental piglets, which were fed additionally to the standard diet 40% extract of nettle (*Urtica dioica* L.) in the dose of 6 mg/kg of body weight

control and experimental groups showed a significant increase in the concentration of Hb (P<0.05) (*Fig. 1*) and the number of erythrocytes (P<0.01) (*Fig. 2-A*). Similarly, the number of leukocytes increased significantly on days 36 and 42 of life in both groups compared to the beginning



of the experiment, with an average increase of 1.3 times (P<0.001) (*Fig. 2-B*).

Our results have shown that at 36 and 42 days of age, the experimental group of piglets showed a significant increase in the content of total protein in their blood plasma by 15% (P<0.001) and 6% (P<0.001) respectively, compared to the control. It's worth noting that the total protein in the control group of piglets significantly decreased by 5% (P<0.01) on the first day after weaning, while the experimental piglets' concentration increased by 11% compared to the beginning of the study (P<0.001). By day 42, the total protein in the blood of animals significantly increased by 15% (P<0.001) in the control group and 23%





Fig.s. The concentration of total protein in the blood of piglets (M \pm SE, n = 9). * the differences are significant between the control and experimental groups of piglets (* P<0.05; ** P<0.01; *** P<0.001); ^{###} P<0.001; ^{###} P<0.05; ^{##} P<0.01;

(P<0.001) in the experimental group compared to day 14 of life (*Fig. 3*).

In the experimental group of animals, an increase in the activity of AST by 25% (P<0.001) and 15% (P<0.001) and ALT by 2.1 (P<0.001) and 1.5 (P<0.01) times was observed within the normal physiological range, on the 1 and 7 days after weaning, respectively, as compared to the control group. Both enzymes showed an increase in their activity at the same age periods in the blood of experimental piglets by 2 (P<0.001) and 1.5 (P<0.001) times, compared to 14-day-old animals However, in control animals, the activity of these enzymes remained at the same level throughout the experimental period (*Fig. 4*).

At 1 and 14 days after weaning, a significant increase of glucose in the blood plasma of the experimental animals compared to the control by 11% (P<0.01) and 10% (P<0.01), respectively, was found. Moreover, the decrease in the content of this metabolite was found in 36-day-old control and experimental piglets by 21% (P<0.05) and 12 % (P<0.05), respectively, compared to the beginning of the study, as shown in *Fig. 5*.





BUCHKO, HAVRYLIAK, YAREMKEVYCH



In the study, it was found that the activity of ALP and CK increased significantly in the blood of piglets subjected to nettle treatment at 36 and 42 days of age compared to animals on a standard diet. The activity of ALP increased by 25% (P<0.001) on the first day after weaning and by 10% (P<0.01) on the seventh day in comparison with control group, while decreasing in both groups of piglets by three times compared to 14-day-old animals (P<0.001) (Fig. 6-A). The activity of CK was also found to be significantly increased in 36-day-old experimental animals by 1.4 times (P<0.001) and in 42-day-old animals by 1.8 times (P<0.001) compared to the control group. Furthermore, the activity of CK increased significantly in the blood of both control and experimental piglets by 1.4 times (P<0.001) and 2 times (P<0.001) respectively on day 1 after weaning. However, on day 14 in control piglets, the activity of CK decreased by 1.4 times (P<0.001), whereas in experimental animals, it remained 1.3 times higher (P<0.001) (*Fig. 6-B*).

The performance of piglets of both groups was determined for the experiment. At 14 days after birth, both groups had a live weight between 5.18-5.48 kg. On day 7 after





weaning (42 days of age), piglets in the control group had an average weight of 9.3 kg (with an average daily gain of 221 g), while piglets treated with nettle extract had an average weight of 10.25 kg (with an average daily gain of 244 g). Therefore, the addition of nettle extract to the piglets' diet led to a 10% increase in live weight and average daily weight gain compared to the standard diet. Moreover, the experimental group of piglets had a 12% higher survival rate than the control group.

DISCUSSION

As already mentioned, weaning piglets from sows causes the simultaneous appearance of many stressors, which leads to low feed intake, intestinal disorders, inflammation, increased incidence of disease, and mortality, which causes significant economic losses for producers ^[1,17]. Researchers have pointed to a specific link between mitochondrial function, oxidative stress, and weaning stress, which causes a decrease in the activity of mitochondrial respiratory complexes in intestinal and hepatic tissues during the first week after weaning ^[3,18]. In our study, a decrease in the concentration of total protein was found in the blood plasma of piglets of the control group on the first day after weaning. One of the reasons for this decrease in protein may be damage to protein molecules as a result of oxidative stress. Hao Y et al.^[19] found that protein hydroxyl, a marker of protein oxidative damage, significantly increased in the body of piglets on the 1 day after weaning.

In another part of the same study ^[20], we observed that weaning piglets from sows causes oxidative stress, resulting in an increase in the concentration of metabolites associated with free radical damage. Specifically, we revealed an increase in carbonyl groups of proteins on the first day and primary metabolites of lipid peroxides on the seventh day after weaning. Our findings indicate that the activation of free radical processes in piglets occurs due to an immature antioxidant system, leading to reduced activity of the enzymatic components - superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase, and catalase - in their blood, as well as a decrease in the concentration of the non-enzymatic antioxidant - reduced glutathione.

Therefore, to stimulate the body's defenses and metabolic processes in one of the most critical moments of piglets' life, we used the nettle extract. It was found that the studied extract has a positive effect on the metabolic systems of animals. The increase in morphological parameters on days 1 and 7 after weaning compared to the control indicates the hematopoietic effect of nettle, rich in trace elements, especially Iron, Zinc, and Copper, on erythropoiesis (increase in the number of red blood cells within the physiological norm), antianemia effect (increase in hemoglobin concentration) and stimulation of respiratory function in experimental animals compared to control ones. Some authors explain the positive impact of nettle on hematopoiesis by stimulating the absorption of minerals from the feed ^[21-24].

The positive effect of 40% nettle extract on the hematological parameters of piglets can be explained by the action of its components. These components include ascorbic acid, vitamin E (as a part of red blood cell membranes), B vitamins, organic acids (citric, malic, succinic, etc.), and Se. These components directly or indirectly affect the oxygen transport function of hemoglobin ^[13,25,26]. The protein-iron complex, which is formed with a sufficient amount of Fe, helps improve absorption through the small intestinal mucosa. This is extremely important for piglets during the weaning period. It's worth noting that the increase in the number of leukocytes in the blood of piglets after weaning within the normal range under the influence of nettle may indicate its immunomodulatory properties. This is due to the presence of compounds such as quercetin, kaempferol, and isorhamnetin in the nettle extract. Some authors noted ^[19,27,17] that these compounds promote the rapid proliferation of bone marrow cells and the release of young blood cells into the bloodstream.

The increase in the concentration of total protein in blood of experimental piglets especially on the 1 day after weaning, confirms the activation of its synthesis under the nettle action. The high content of organic acids, such as formic, citric, and ascorbic acids, provides a positive effect of the extract on redox and anabolic processes in the body of young animals. These data are consistent with the work of A. Szewczyk in 2006, where it was found that nettle extract used as a dietary supplement for finishing pigs affects protein synthesis and fat metabolism. It also changes the profile of fatty acids and lipids in the blood, reducing total cholesterol and triglyceride concentration ^[28].

The positive effect of nettle extract on protein synthesis is closely related to the processes of transamination. The increase in AST and ALT activity in our study indicates the stimulation of thermogenesis and gluconeogenesis in the experimental piglets' bodies. The intensification of these processes is confirmed by an increase in the glucose concentration in the blood of piglets. This is evidence of the hydrocarbon metabolism activation under the influence of nettle extract that is necessary for the organism of young animals during weaning^[2,7].

The activation of energy and redox processes under the influence of nettle can be explained by the presence of citric acid (improving the absorption of Phosphorus by the body) and silicic acid and its salts (stimulating the absorption of Calcium). A large amount of antioxidant compounds (ascorbic acid, carotenoids and flavonoids) in nettle also contributes to the activation of these processes ^{[12,29].}

In a previous study, we analyzed the composition of 40% of the nettle extract that was added to the diet of the experimental piglets. The concentrations of biologically active substances found were as follows: polyphenols - 11924.38 mg/100 g, carotenoids - 0.127 mg/g, chlorophyll a - 0.513 mg/g, and chlorophyll b - 0.174 mg/g.

The high activity of ALP in the blood of young animals is explained by the intensive functioning of osteoblasts in bone tissue, which is due to the processes of active growth of the organism, especially in piglets of the experimental group. During this period, the activity of the enzyme in the blood increases due to bone isoenzyme. The higher activity of ALP in the blood of experimental animals is also explained by the increased phosphorylation processes due to better intake and absorption of phosphorus and calcium (increase in the free phosphate fund by increasing ALP activity). To stimulate redox and energy processes, a high level of ATP is also required. The ATP level is provided by an increase in the activity of the CK under the nettle extract action ^{[4,30].}

The activation of anabolic processes in the organism of piglets fed with 40% nettle extract explains the increase in their live weight and average daily gain. This is also a confirmation of the positive effect of nettle extract on the general physiological state of experimental animals, compared to piglets kept on a standard diet.

The data on the elevation of piglets' weight and safety under the influence of nettle extract are consistent with the results of other authors who have observed the improvement of productivity indicators. These results indicate the increased viability, activation of metabolic and immune processes in the body, better absorption of feed and its components due to a positive effect on the gastrointestinal tract and intestinal microflora, as well as suppression of the expression of proinflammatory cytokines ^{[1,9].}

The literature analysis revealed that most studies focused on adding herbal preparations, green nettle, or a combination of other herbs, to piglet diets. Less commonly, studies used aqueous nettle extracts. The effects of nettle extracts on the body can be explained by their impact on intestinal microflora. Therefore, we focused on the anti-stress and adaptogenic effects of nettle extract on various metabolic processes. To extract the optimal amount of antioxidants to enhance the resistance of young animals under stress, we utilized a water-ethanol mixture. Our research on nettle extracts, including aqueous and ethanolic (20%, 40%, 60%, 70%, and 90%), demonstrated that the 40% extract revealed the highest radical scavenging activity. Notably, there

Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg

is limited literature data on the effect of such an extract on farm animals during weaning stress. Considering the promising outcomes, further investigation of the impact of this specific nettle extract on animals under various stressful conditions is recommended.

In conclusion, it should be noted that the addition of herbal preparations, as well as any other biologically active compounds into the diet of farm animals of different productivity and age, should be considered comprehensively and follow one rule. According to this rule the positive effect of these additives on metabolism, general resistance and safety of the organism can occur only under optimal conditions of keeping, complete and balanced feeding and ensuring a high level of their welfare.

Thus, our study has shown that a powerful complex of natural biologically active substances contained in 40% ethanolic nettle extract causes activation of metabolic processes, improved digestibility of dietary nutrients and safety of piglets during weaning. Therefore, it is suggested to add nettle extract to the standard diet of young animals to stimulate metabolic and adaptation processes, as well as improve performance indicators of their body during critical periods of ontogenesis.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The data sets analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author (V. Havryliak) on reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: None

Funding Support: There was no funding support.

Ethical Statement: The permission to perform the experiments was obtained from the Bioethics Committee of the Institute of Animal Biology NAAS of Lviv, Ukraine, approval No 77 of 20 December, 2021.

Competing Interests: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): Authors declared that the article and figures were not created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Authors' Contributions: O.B. designed the research and collect the samples. V.H., O.Y. performed the experimental duties of this study and analyzed the data. O.B. and V.H. wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the critical revision of the manuscript and have read and approved the final version.

REFERENCES

1. Liu HY, Zhu C, Zhu M, Yuan L, Li S, Gu F, Hu P, Chen S, Cai D: Alternatives to antibiotics in pig production: Looking through the lens of immunophysiology. *Stress Biol*, 4:1, 2024. DOI: 10.1007/s44154-023-00134-w

2. Xiong X, Tan B, Song M, Ji P, Kim K, Yin Y, Liu Y: Nutritional intervention for the intestinal development and health of weaned pigs. *Front Vet Sci*, 6:46, 2019. DOI: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00046

3. Novais AK, Deschêne K, Martel-Kennes Y, Roy C, Laforest J-P, Lessard M, Matte JJ, Lapointe J: Weaning differentially affects mitochondrial function, oxidative stress, inflammation and apoptosis in normal and low birth weight piglets. *PLoS One*, 16(2):e0247188, 2021. DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0247188

4. Parraguez VH, Sales F, Peralta OA, De los Reyes M, Campos A, González J, Peralta W, Cabezón C, González-Bulnes A: Maternal supplementation with herbal antioxidants during pregnancy in swine. *Antioxid*, 10 (5):658, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/antiox10050658

5. Bacou E, Walk C, Rider S, Litta G, Perez-Calvo E: Dietary oxidative distress: A review of nutritional challenges as models for poultry, swine and fish. *Antioxidants*, 10 (4):525, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/antiox10040525

6. Barducci RS, Santos AAD, Pacheco LG, Putarov TC, Koch JFA, Callegari MA, Dias CP, de Carvalho RH, da Silva CA: Enhancing weaned piglet health and performance: The role of autolyzed yeast (*saccharomyces cerevisiae*) and β -glucans as a blood plasma alternative in diets. *Animals*, 14 (4):631, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/ani14040631

7. Mahfuz S, Shang Q, Piao X: Phenolic compounds as natural feed additives in poultry and swine diets: A review: *J Anim Sci Biotech*, 12 (48): 1-18, 2021. DOI: 10.1186/s40104-021-00565-3

8. Gāliņa D, Ansonska L, Valdovska A: Effect of probiotics and herbal products on intestinal histomorphological and immunological development in piglets. *Vet Med Int*, 2020:3461768, 2020. DOI: 10.1155/2020/3461768

9. Radzikowski D, Milczarek A: Selected feed additives used in pig nutrition. *J Cent Eur Agr*, 22 (1):54-65, 2021. DOI: 10.5513/JCEA01/22.1.2927

10. Grauso L, Bruna de Falco, Lanzotti V, Motti R: Stinging nettle, *Urtica dioica* L.: botanical, phytochemical and pharmacological overview. *Phytochem Rev*, 19, 1341-1377 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s11101-020-09680-x

11. Keleş R, Şen A, Ertaş B, Kayalı D, Eker P, Şener TE, Doğan A, Çetinel Ş, Şener G: The effects of *Urtica dioica* L. ethanolic extract against urinary calculi in rats. *J Res Pharm*, 24 (2): 205-217, 2020. DOI: 10.35333/ jrp.2020.137

12. Marotti I, Frassineti E, Trebbi G, Alpi M, D'Amen E, Dinelli G: Healthpromoting phytochemicals of stinging nettle (*Urtica dioica* L.) grown under organic farming in Italian environments. *Ind Crop Prod*, 182 (26):114903, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2022.114903

13. Bhusal KK, Magar SK, Thapa R, Lamsal A, Bhandari S, Maharjan R, Shrestha S, Shrestha J: Nutritional and pharmacological importance of stinging nettle (*Urtica dioica* L.): A review. *Heliyon*, 8 (6):e09717, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e09717

14. Morozyuk S, Protopopova V: Herbaceous Plants of Ukraine: Textbook. Ternopil: Educational Book - Bohdan, 2007.

15. Vlizlo VV (Ed): Laboratory Methods of Investigation in Biology, Stock-Breeding and Veterinary. Spolom, Lviv, 2012.

16. Walker JM (Ed): The Protein Protocols Handbook. Humana Press, Hatfield, Hertsfordshire, 2009.

17. Papatsiros VG, Papakonstantinou GI, Katsogiannou E, Gougoulis DA, Voulgarakis N, Petrotos K, Braimaki S, Galamatis DA, El-Sayed A, Athanasiou LV: Effects of a phytogenic feed additive on redox status, blood haematology, and piglet mortality in primiparous sows. *Stresses*, 4, 293-307, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/stresses4020018

18. Cao ST, Wang CC, Wu H, Zhang QH, Jiao LF, Hu CH: Weaning disrupts intestinal antioxidant status, impairs intestinal barrier and mitochondrial function, and triggers mitophagy in piglets. *J Anim Sci*, 96 (3): 1073-1083, 2018. DOI: 10.1093/jas/skx062

19. Hao Y, Xing M, Gu X: Research progress on oxidative stress and its nutritional regulation strategies in pigs. *Animals*, 11 (5): 1384, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ani11051384

20. Buchko O, Havryliak V, Yaremkevych O, Pryimych V, Tkachuk V: The effect of nettle extract on antioxidant defense system in piglets after weaning. *Stud Biol*, 18 (1): 31-42, 2024. DOI: 10.30970/sbi.1801.756

21. Lopez-Galvez G, Lopez-Alonso M, Pechova A, Mayo B, Dierick N, Gropp J: Alternatives to antibiotics and trace elements (copper and zinc) to improve gut health and zootechnical parameters in piglets: A review. *Anim Feed Sci Tech*, 271:114727, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114727

22. Basak G, Malakar R, Sharma A, Bharti SK, Sharma B: Medicinal herbs - Boon for modern veterinary therapeutics. *IJBSM*, 11 (1): 188-194, 2020. DOI: 10.23910/IJBSM/2020.11.2.2081b

23. De Vico G, Guida V, Carella F: *Urtica dioica* (stinging nettle): A neglected plant with emerging growth promoter/immunostimulant properties for farmed fish. *Front Physiol*, 9:285, 2018. DOI: 10.3389/fphys. 2018.00285

24. Herrera SB, Rodriguez L, García MC, Flores JL, Velasco R: Effects of extract of *Urtica dioica* L. (stinging nettle) on the immune response of rats with severe malnutrition. *J Complement Med Res*, 9 (2): 63-73, 2018. DOI: 10.5455/jcmr.20180508052039

25. Liu Y, Espinosa CD, Abelilla JJ, Casas GA, Lagos LV, Lee SA, Kwon WB, Mathai JK, Navarro DMDL, Jaworski NW, Stein HH: Non-antibiotic feed additives in diets for pigs: A review. *Anim Nutr*, 4 (2): 113-125, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.aninu.2018.01.007

26. Gaykwad CK, De UK, Jadhav SE, Chethan GE, Sahoo A, Ranjan N, Mondal DB, Gaur GK, Verma MR, Chaudhuri P: Adding α-tocopherolselenium and ascorbic acid to periparturient sow diets influences hemogram, lipid profile, leptin, oxidant/antioxidant imbalance, performance and neonatal piglet mortality. *Res Vet Sci*, 125, 360-369, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j. rvsc.2019.07.014

27. Lillehoj H, Liu Y, Calsamiglia S, Fernandez-Miyakawa ME, Chi F, Cravens RL, Oh S, Gay CG: Phytochemicals as antibiotic alternatives to promote growth and enhance host health. *Vet Res*, 49:76, 2018. DOI: 10.1186/s13567-018-0562-6

28. Szewczyk A, Hanczakowska E, Świątkiewicz M: The effect of nettle (Urtica dioica) extract on fattening performance and fatty acid profile in the meat and serum lipids of pigs. *J Anim Feed Sci*, 15 (1): 81-84, 2006. DOI: 10.22358/jafs/70148/2006

29. Castillo-Velarde ER: Vitamin C in health and disease. *Rev Fac Med Hum*, 19 (4): 95-100, 2019. DOI: 10.25176/RFMH.v19i4.2351

30. Paskudska A, Kołodziejczyk D, Socha S: The use of herbs in animal nutrition. *Acta Sci Pol Zootec*, 17 (2): 3-14, 2018. DOI: 10.21005/ asp.2018.17.2.01

Research Article

Genomic Diversity and Autozygosity-Based Signatures of Selection in Kangal Akkaraman Sheep via Genotyping-by-Sequencing

Eymen DEMİR^{1(*)}

¹ Akdeniz University, Faculty of Agriculture Department of Animal Science, TR-07070 Antalya - TÜRKİYE



(*) **Corresponding author:** Eymen DEMİR Phone: +90 242 3102480 Cellular phone: +90 541 7499113 E-mail: eymendemir@akdeniz.edu.tr

How to cite this article?

Demir E: Genomic diversity and autozygositybased signatures of selection in Kangal Akkaraman sheep via genotyping-by-sequencing. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 669-675, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32339

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32339 Received: 21.05.2024

Received: 21.05.2024 Accepted: 28.08.2024 Published Online: 10.09.2024

Abstract

In this study, genome-wide variability and selection signatures in Kangal Akkaraman sheep were assessed by 238.103 bi-allelic single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) recovered from genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) libraries processed in Illumina HiSeq X Ten instrument. Summary statistics of genetic diversity such as minor allele frequency (MAF), observed (H_0) and expected (H_E) heterozygosity were estimated at 0.32, 0.29, and 0.30, respectively. A declining trend in effective population size was observed through generations in which the current population was estimated at 978 individuals 150 generations ago. 608 of 647 runs of homozygosity (ROH) islands were classified into ≤2 Mb. Strong selection signals were identified in thirteen genomic intervals overlapped with 17 protein-coding genes. The sheep quantitative trait locus (QTL) database confirmed that these genomic regions were associated with economically important traits such as milk content (KCNH5, KCNH7, LRP1B, SNAPC1, and SYT16) and fleece yield (CCDC85A, EFEMP1, and PPP4R3B), parasite resistance (MMS22L and KLHL32), fat deposition in the tail (JAZF1, TAXIBP1, EVX1, and HOXA13), and water-holding capacity (KLHL1 and DACH1). This study implies that the Kangal Akkaraman sheep will play a vital role in developing some genotypes tolerant to environmental challenges, parasite infections, fat deposition, and water-holding capacity in the future. Still, the other native sheep should be screened to identify genomic regions under selection practices using high-density genetic data obtained from next-generation sequencing (NGS) platforms.

Keywords: Genetic variation, Genotyping-by-sequencing, Kangal Akkaraman, Molecular genotyping, Selection signals, Selective breeding

INTRODUCTION

Mainly distributed in Central Anatolia and nearby places, Akkaraman is the most raised breed with an approximately 40-45% proportion among the native Turkish small ruminant population ^[1]. Both systematic and non-systematic selection applications have been done in the Akkaraman breed by breeders in which Kangal Akkaraman has been derived from systematic selection management ^[2]. Kangal Akkaraman breed has been developed to increase body weight phenotype ^[3], whilst it is raised for meat and milk production in Sivas and nearby provinces [4]. There are ongoing debates about whether Akkaraman-derived sheep are distinct enough from their ancestral population in terms of morphology and genetic structure to categorize them as "variety" or "breed". For example, a documentary published by the General Directorate of Agricultural Research and Politics (GDARP) has categorized Kangal Akkaraman as

a distinct breed ^[4], whereas several studies have stated that this population remains a variety of Akkaraman ^[2,3]. It seems that further studies using both detailed phenotypic records and whole genome-based phylogenetic analyses are required to enlighten this obscurity.

Variations in the genome are the main reason causing differences among individuals in terms of morphological, psychological, behavioral, and adaptive traits. These variations have been utilized by human beings for diverse purposes throughout history. As highlighted by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) ^[5], thanks to the manipulation of genetic variations for environmental requirements and economic interests, approximately 8.774 breeds belonging to 38 major animal species have been developed since domestication. Variations in a population including all breeds and varieties are called genetic diversity. Farmers exert great efforts to keep genetic diversity at an optimal level to maintain

 \odot \odot

their production for current and future demands. In fact, genetic variations in related genes not only improve survival traits in livestock species but also play a pivotal role in selection studies to enhance economically important traits such as meat and milk. On the contrary, intensive selection practices conducted for a specific purpose across several generations may lead to pressure over the genome. This kind of selection is of potential to significantly decrease genetic variations, known as selection signatures, not only in the corresponding genes but also in nearby neutral genomic regions ^[6].

Periodically monitoring genetic diversity is a beneficial way to shape conservation studies as well as selection practices against environmental factors negatively affecting sustainable animal production in the future. Depending on the type of genetic data, genetic diversity could be estimated via numerous statistics such as the number of alleles, number of effective alleles, nucleotide diversity, minor allele frequency (MAF), observed heterozygosity (H_0), expected heterozygosity (H_E), and inbreeding level ^[7]. On the other hand, selection signatures studies are promising to obtain a deeper knowledge of the past breeding history of farm animals and detect regions subjected to recent and long-term selection pressure. Several alternative approaches are available to scan selection signatures at the genome-wide level within and between populations in which runs of homozygosity (ROH) is one of the popular approaches. ROH is defined as the DNA segments holding consecutive homozygous genotypes in an individual due to parents transmitting identical haplotypes to their offspring [8]. Longer ROH segments indicate recent inbreeding, whereas shorter consecutive homozygous segments are considered a sign of long-term selection pressure [9]. However, both analyses (genetic variability and selection signatures) require highdensity genomic data to effectively carry out selection and conservation studies.

Fortunately, thanks to rapid advances in molecular genetics, single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) arrays and next-generation sequencing (NGS) platforms have been developed to recover genetic data across the whole genome. SNP arrays are commonly used for genotyping farm animals due to their simplicity, whereas they possess some disadvantages. Indeed, as highlighted by Bilginer et al.^[7], SNP arrays have been developed based on some reference breeds and numerous variations related to environmental adaptation in local breeds could be neglected. Unlike, NGS platforms may overcome this bias since genetic data are recovered randomly across the whole genome. Of these platforms, genotyping-bysequencing (GBS), one of the reduced representations of genomic libraries, relies on a single restriction enzyme following the barcode ligation and pooling processes ^[10].

Short reads including barcode information could be processed via different sequencing platforms with a single-end or paired-end mode. Restriction enzymebased techniques including GBS not only allow for facilitating the complexity of the whole genome but also create an opportunity for higher sample multiplexing which significantly decreases sequencing costs ^[11].

Although NGS platforms are becoming cost-efficient and more applicable, there is a lack of studies in the literature to focus on screening genetic diversity and selection signatures in Kangal Akkaraman sheep. In this context, this study aims to reveal genetic diversity, ROH characterization, and selection signatures in Kangal sheep via high-density SNP data obtained from GBS library preparation combined with the Illumina HiSeq X Ten sequencing platform.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

This study was approved by the Akdeniz University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee (Approval no: 1691/2024.04.004).

Sampling and DNA Extraction

Twenty-five animals (5 male and 20 female) belonging to the Kangal Akkaraman breed were sampled from four different herds reared in Sivas province. Oral interview with breeders was utilized to select unrelated animals. Blood samples taken from the jugular vein were subjected to the GeneJET Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Thermo K0721) following the manufacturer's recommendations in order to isolate DNA. DNA quality and quantity were checked by NanoDrop 2000 (Thermo Scientific) and Qubit 4TM (ThermoFischer Scientific), respectively, in which DNA quality ranged from 1.79 to 1.83 at 260/280 OD, while DNA concentrations varied between 34.7 ng/ μ L and 38.2 ng/ μ L across the samples. Isolated DNA was optimized for all samples at 30 ng/ μ L before genomic library preparation was performed.

GBS Library Preparation and Illumina Sequencing

GBS libraries were prepared by using the Eco*RI* (New England Biolabs) restriction enzyme and 25 universal indexed adapters recommended by the Illumina. Briefly, DNA was digested overnight with restriction enzyme at 37°C. Adapters were ligated to DNA fragments using T4 DNA ligase (Invitrogen) at 22°C for an hour and cleaned with AmPureXP (Beckman Coulter) beads. DNA libraries were enriched with the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) technique and pooled libraries were sequenced via single-end mode in the Illumina HiSeq X Ten platform (1x150 base pair).

Variant Calling and Filtering

The Stacks 2 program ^[12] was employed to assign short reads to individuals according to their barcode information. Assigned reads were processed by the fastp software ^[13] with default parameters for quality trimming and adapter removal. Burrows-Wheeler Aligner [14] was run with default settings to align clean reads to the reference genome of Ovis aries (ARS-UI_Ramb_v3.0). BCFtools pipeline ^[15] was chosen to call the variants in which only bi-allelic SNPs passing the criteria of read depth ($20 \le D \le 500$) and base quality score ($Q \ge 20$) were kept. On the contrary, all the InDels and SNPs not located on autosomal chromosomes were excluded from the data set. The remaining SNPs were processed via PLINK 1.9 software ^[16] in order to recover SNPs with high genotyping rates (--geno 0.1) and MAF values (--maf 0.05). In the last step, animals with a low genotyping rate (--mind 0.1) were excluded to obtain the final data set.

Statistical Analysis

Genetic diversity parameters such as MAF, H_0 , and H_F , in the Kangal Akkaraman breed were calculated in PLINK 1.9 software ^[16]. The historical effective population size was estimated via SNeP v.1.1 tools with default parameters described by Barbato et al.^[17]. The results of effective population till 150 generations ago were visualized by the *plot* function implemented in the R environment ^[18]. The detectRUNS package ^[19] implemented in the R environment [16] was run with a consecutive runs approach to analyze genomic inbreeding value derived from ROH $(F_{\rm ROH})$, ROH characterization, and selection signatures. ROH islands were defined according to the following criteria: i) the minimum number of consecutive SNPs was optimized at 15, ii) the minimum length of a ROH was set to 1 Mb, iii) the maximum gap between consecutive homozygous SNPs was 1 Mb, iv) the maximum two SNPs with missing genotypes and up to one heterozygous were allowed in a ROH. Based on their physical length, each ROH island was categorized into 0 to <2 Mb, 2 to <4 Mb, 4 to <8 Mb, 8 to <16 Mb, and \geq 16 Mb clusters. The number of ROH island per each aforementioned ROH length class and chromosomes were calculated. SNPs passing ROH characterization were visualized for all autosomes in the Manhattan plot command of the "qqman" package [20] implemented in the R environment [18]. 0.1% of SNPs based on empirical distribution were considered to be under selection pressure Genomic windows of 200 kb (100 kb upstream and 100 kb downstream of the significant SNPs) were screened to detect overlapping protein-coding gene segments. The genes overlapping these segments were confirmed via the Genome data viewer module of the National Institutes of Health (NCBI) platform ^[21] by choosing the options of ARS-UI_Ramb_ v3.0 assembly. To validate the effects of genes under

DEMİR

RESULTS

In this study, nearly 185 million cleaned reads ranging from 5.7 to 12 million per individual were recovered by the GBS technique. A large part of clean reads (94%) were mapped to the reference genome successfully. A total of 1.337.343 SNPs and 86.656 InDels were obtained in the variant calling process, whereas only 238.103 bi-allelic SNPs and 22 individuals passed the filtering criteria. Genotyping rate was 100% indicating that 22 animals possessed alleles regarding 238.103 SNPs without missing genotypes.

Genome-wide analysis revealed that observed heterozygosity (0.29) was slightly lower than expected heterozygosity (0.30) in Kangal Akkaraman sheep. MAF value was estimated at 0.32, while the ROH-based inbreeding coefficient (F_{HOM}) was close to zero (0.01).

The historical changes in population size were assessed via linkage disequilibrium (LD) in which a declining trend was detected across generations. For example, the current 22 individuals turned out to be descended from 100 individuals 13 generations ago (*Fig. 1*). Moreover, 54 generations ago, the ancestral population was estimated at 378 individuals, whereas the current population was represented by 978 animals 150 years ago (*Fig. 1*).

Via consecutive runs algorithm, a total of 647 ROH islands were detected. According to their physical length, 608 and 39 were clustered into 0-2 and 2-4 Mb classes, respectively. No ROH islands were detected to be higher than 4 Mb in the Kangal Akkaraman breed. At the chromosome level, the lowest (2) and highest (97) numbers of ROH islands were detected in autosome 19 and 12, respectively. Strong selection signals were detected at thirteen different genomic intervals distributed to ten chromosomes (*Fig. 2*).



Fig 1. The estimated effective population size in the Kangal Akkaraman sheep for the past 150 generations



Fig 2. Manhattan plot of the distribution of ROH segments across the autosomal chromosome in Kar Akkaraman sheep (red line indicates the threshold of top 0.1% SNPs in each breed)

Table 1. ROH-based genes under selection pressure in Kangal Akkaraman sheep and their effects on phenotype							
Chr	SP	EP	NS	Corresponding Gene(s)	QTL-Related SNPs	Effect(s) on Phenotype	
1	151258693	152646935	18	-	-	-	
2	146570469	146940231	16	KCNH7	2	Milk content	
	167861018	169409445	25	LRP1B	6	Milk content, fat density, and total protein level in blood	
3	67843043	68475055	35	CCDC85A, EFEMP1, and PPP4R3B	5	Fleece yield and bone density	
	109115550	110132697	37	-	-	-	
4	69828415	71081065	28	JAZF1, TAX1BP1, EVX1, and HOXA13	6	Tail fat deposition	
6	53545871	53772381	15	-	-	-	
	38305455	39658987	25	MDGA2	-	-	
7	71989011	73094768	23	SNAPC1, SYT16, and KCNH5	6	Milk content, bone density, and body circumference	
8	38930308	39921843	15	MMS22L and KLHL32	2	Fecal egg count	
9	10156994	11032974	34	-	-	-	
10	41451793	47763646	63	KLHL1 and DACH1	3	Water holding capacity	
16	43064491	44451481	29	-	-	-	
Total	-	-	363	17	30	-	
Cherry Changes and S. Change Devision RD. End Devision N.C. Number of detected CNDs							

Chr: Chromosome, SP: Start Position, EP: End Position, NS; Number of detected SNPs

Based on the empirical distribution of the proportion of SNPs in ROH islands, a total of 363 SNPs passed the top 0.1% criterion (*Table 1*). The lowest number of SNPs (15) under selection pressure was observed in chromosomes 6 and 8, while 63 SNPs were identified in chromosome 10. Although strong selection signals were detected in chromosomes 1, 6, and 9, no protein-coding genes were identified in the related genomic intervals (*Table 1*). On the other hand, a total of seventeen protein-coding genes (*CCDC85A, DACH1, EFEMP1, EVX1, HOXA13, JAZF1, KCNH5, KCNH7, KLHL1, KLHL32, LRP1B, MDGA2, MMS22L, PPP4R3B, SNAPC1, SYT16, and TAX1BP1*) were present in the remaining genomic intervals (*Table 1*).

It has been confirmed via the sheep QTL database that a total of 30 QTL-associated SNPs overlapped with genomic regions under selection pressure which turned out to be associated with several phenotypes such as survival traits (water holding capacity and fat deposition in tail), resistance to parasites, morphology (bone density and body circumference), and economically important traits (milk content and fleece yield).

DISCUSSION

The genetic diversity parameters in native Turkish sheep breeds have been mainly monitored via microsatellite markers ^[2,3], while two studies utilizing the bi-allelic SNP
data have been recently published to assess genomewide genetic variability in several Anatolian sheep populations ^[23,24]. An Illumina OvineSNP50 array-based genotyping revealed that heterozygosity ranged from 0.34 to 0.35 with negative inbreeding values among three native sheep populations known as Sakız, Karakaş, and Norduz^[23]. Another recent study conducted by Karsli^[24] confirmed that the average MAF value was 0.31, whereas heterozygosity ranged from 0.29 to 0.31 in four Anatolian sheep populations (Akkaraman, Güney Karaman, Karakaş, and Morkaraman) which were genotyped via ddRADseq libraries sequenced with Illumina HiSeq X Ten instrument. Besides, negative inbreeding coefficient values were reported for all sheep populations ^[24]. The current study showed consistent results in terms of inbreeding value (0.01) with previous studies. It is not surprising to detect a low inbreeding in this study because unrelated animals were chosen based on oral interviews with farmers. A lower heterozygosity (0.29) was detected in the Kangal Akkaraman breed compared to findings reported by Bayraktar^[23], while similar values of MAF and heterozygosity were observed with findings declared by Karsli ^[24]. This finding could be attributed to differences between genotyping tools in which SNP arrays scan the previously known variations while the methods of the reduced representation of the whole genome such as GBS and ddRADseq randomly detect genetic variations which could be less polymorphic across the studied populations. As highlighted by Bilginer et al.^[7], who comprehensively reviewed several molecular genotyping methods for revealing genetic diversity, NGS platforms such as ddRADseq and GBS are advantageous over microsatellites and array technologies due to covering a larger part of the genome and allowing for variations specific to local populations. Indeed, Bayraktar^[23] estimated genomic diversity via 46.314 SNPs in Sakız, Karakaş, and Norduz, while the current study (238.103 SNPs) and Karsli [24] (296.097 SNPs) benefit from higher-resolution genetic data to calculate genome-wide genetic variability in Anatolian sheep.

It was concluded from LD-based analysis that the effective population size of the Kangal Akkaraman breed has decreased from one generation to another. The current 22 individuals were validated to be represented by approximately 1000 animals 150 generations ago. Unfortunately, the historical effective population size of native Turkish sheep breeds has not been calculated via genetic data till now. However, several studies mentioned that the effective population size of native Anatolian sheep breeds has decreased due to uncontrolled breeding systems ^[2,25], while some breeds such as Güney Karaman and Çine Çaparı have been reported to be on the brink of extinction ^[26,27].

Compared to genetic diversity studies, revealing genomic regions under selection pressure is a new field of study in Türkiye. Indeed, Demir et al.^[6] have recently identified several genes related to visual modality (LGSN), olfaction (MOXD2, OR4C1F, and OR4C1E), and immune response (TRBV3-1 and CLDN10) were under selection pressure in six native Turkish cattle breeds which were genotyped with 211.119 SNPs recovered from ddRADseq technique. On the contrary, NGS-based studies aiming to assess selection signals in numerous livestock species such as sheep, goats, chickens, and geese reared in Türkiye are required to obtain deeper knowledge about their past breeding practices. Therefore, the current study is of significant potential to enlighten genomic regions under selection practices. Indeed, strong selection signals were detected in seventeen protein-coding genes in the Kangal Akkaraman breed which were further confirmed to possess a total of 30 QTL-associated SNPs. A survey of the sheep QTL database validated that some of these genes (KCNH5, KCNH7, LRP1B, SNAPC1, and SYT16) were associated with economically important traits such as milk content and fleece yield. On the other hand, it is known that native Turkish sheep breeds including Kangal Akkaraman are well-adapted to environmental challenges ^[28]. Indeed, this study revealed that several genes under selection pressure cover some fixed SNPs related to parasite resistance (MMS22L and KLHL32), fat deposition in the tail (JAZF1, TAXIBP1, EVX1, and HOXA13), and water-holding capacity (KLHL1 and DACH1). Moreover, a large part of ROH islands (93.97%) were shorter than 4 Mb indicating that the corresponding genes have been subjected to selection practices for the long term which allowed animals to develop adaptation against environmental challenges. Of these environmental challenges, parasite infections negatively affect health, welfare, and productivity in susceptible animals ^[29], whereas tolerant animals are of the ability to maintain their production level regarding economically important yields. Fat deposition and water storage capacity play a vital role in surviving in animals reared in grassland. Indeed, as highlighted by Xu et al.^[30], fat deposition is an indispensable element for animals thereby harsh environmental stressors such as drought seasons, extreme cold winters, and food shortages could be tolerated by conserving a valuable energy reserve. Due to ongoing global warming, on the other hand, water scarcity will be one of the most threatening environmental challenges in arid and semi-arid regions by causing negative effects on health and reproduction in sheep [31].

In conclusion, the Kangal Akkaraman breed was screened at a genome-wide level to investigate genomic diversity, effective population size, and selection signatures. It was observed that the Kangal Akkaraman breed conserves sufficient genetic variability across the genome, while effective population size is declining through generations. The authorities should take solid action to prevent this trend in the future. Moreover, the Kangal Akkaraman breed should be subjected to comprehensive conservation programs due to their adaptability to harsh environmental conditions. Indeed, several studies have mentioned that native Turkish sheep populations are well-adapted to their environment. This study conducted at the genomewide level confirms that several genes associated with environmental adaptation such as parasite resistance, fat deposition, and water storage capacity have become fixed in the Kangal Akkaraman breed. Since the negative impacts of global warming will become more threatening in the future, fat deposition and water storage capacity will be an indispensable part of selection studies. In this context, the Kangal Akkaraman breed will play a vital role in developing selection strategies against environmental challenges. It is noteworthy that the other native Turkish sheep breeds may hold some advantageous genotypes related to survival traits. Therefore, it is recommended that further studies should focus on unraveling fixed genomic regions in other native Anatolian sheep via highdensity SNP data obtained from NGS platforms.

Declarations

Availability of Data and Materials: Genomic data used in this study are available from the corresponding author (E. Demir) upon a scientific request.

Acknowledgements: I would like to thank Assoc. Prof. Taki KARSLI and his team for permitting to utilize the molecular genetic laboratory of the Department of Animal Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Eskişehir-TÜRKİYE.

The numerical calculations reported in this paper were fully/ partially performed at TUBITAK ULAKBIM, High Performance and Grid Computing Center (TRUBA resources).

Funding Support: The author received no financial support for the research.

Competing Interest: The author declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The author declares that article and/or tables and figures were not written/ created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Author Contribution: ED: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal Analysis, Writing - Original Draft, Writing -Review & Editing.

References

1. Sakar ÇM, Koncagül S, Artut B, Aydın AA, Ünal İ, Özdemir A, Ünay E: Animal welfare investigation of Akkaraman sheep farms in different provinces of Türkiye. *J Appl Anim Welf Sci*, 1-12, 2024. DOI: 10.1080/ 10888705.2024.2381472

2. Karsli BA, Demir E, Fidan HG, Karsli T: Assessment of genetic diversity and differentiation among four indigenous Turkish sheep breeds using microsatellites. *Arch Anim Breed*, 63 (1): 165-172, 2020. DOI: 10.5194/aab-63-165-2020

3. Ozmen O, Kul S, Gok T: Determination of genetic diversity of the Akkaraman sheep breed from Turkey. *Small Ruminant Res*, 182, 37-45, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2019.10.009

4. Kocyigit UM, Taslimi P, Gulçin İ: Characterization and inhibition effects of some metal ions on carbonic anhydrase enzyme from Kangal Akkaraman sheep. *J Biochem Mol Toxicol*, 32 (8):e22172, 2018. DOI: 10.1002/jbt.22172

4. GDARP: Introduction catalog of Turkish domestic animal genetic resources. https://www.tarimorman.gov.tr/TAGEM/Belgeler/yayin/Katalog%20 Türkçe.pdf; *Accessed*: 20.05.2024.

5. FAO: The Second Report on the State of the World's Animal Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture. https://www.fao.org/4/i4787e/ i4787e002.pdf; *Accessed*: 20.05.2024.

6. Demir E, Moravčíková N, Kaya S, Kasarda R, Bilginer Ü, Doğru H, Balcioglu MS, Karslı T: Genome-wide screening for selection signatures in native and cosmopolitan cattle breeds reared in Türkiye. *Anim Genet*, 54 (6): 721-730, 2023. DOI: 10.1111/age.13361

7. Bilginer U, Ergin M, Demir E, Yolcu Hİ, Argun Karsli B: Detection of genetic diversity in cattle by microsatellite and SNP markers - A review. *Anim Sci Pap Rep,* 40 (4): 375-392, 2022.

8. Purfield DC, Berry DP, McParland S, Bradley DG: Runs of homozygosity and population history in cattle. *BMC Genet*, 13, 1-11, 2012. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2156-13-70

9. Doublet AC, Croiseau P, Fritz S, Michenet A, Hozé C, Danchin-Burge C, Laloë D, Restoux G: The impact of genomic selection on genetic diversity and genetic gain in three French dairy cattle breeds. *Genet Sel Evol*, 51:52, 2019. DOI: 10.1186/s12711-019-0495-1

10. Ulaszewski B, Meger J, Burczyk J: Comparative analysis of SNP discovery and genotyping in *Fagus sylvatica* L. and *Quercus robur* L. using RADseq, GBS, and ddRAD methods. *Forests*, 12 (2):222, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/f12020222

11. Gurgul A, Miksza-Cybulska A, Szmatoła T, Jasielczuk I, Piestrzyńska-Kajtoch A, Fornal A, Semik-Gurgul E, Bugno-Poniewierska M: Genotyping-by-sequencing performance in selected livestock species. *Genomics*, 111 (2): 186-195, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2018.02.002

12. Rochette NC, Rivera-Colón AG, Catchen JM: Stacks 2: Analytical methods for paired-end sequencing improve RADseq-based population genomics. *Mol Ecol*, 28 (21): 4737-4754, 2019. DOI: 10.1111/mec.15253

13. Chen S, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Gu J: Fastp: An ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. *Bioinform*, 34 (17): 884-890, 2018. DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ bty560

14. Li H, Durbin R: Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. *Bioinform*, 25 (14): 1754-1760, 2009. DOI: 10.1093/ bioinformatics/btp324

15. Danecek P, Bonfield JK, Liddle J, Marshall J, Ohan V, Pollard MO, Whitwham A, Keane T, McCarthy SA, Davies RM, Li H: Twelve years of SAMtools and BCFtools. *Gigasci*, 10 (2):giab008, 2021. DOI: 10.1093/gigascience/giab008

16. Chang CC, Chow CC, Tellier LC, Vattikuti S, Purcell SM, Lee JJ: Second-generation PLINK: Rising to the challenge of larger and richer datasets. *Gigasci*, 4:7 (1): 1-16, 2015. DOI: 10.1186/s13742-015-0047-8

17. Barbato M, Orozco-terWengel P, Tapio M, Bruford MW: SNeP: A tool to estimate trends in recent effective population size trajectories using genome-wide SNP data. *Front Genet*, 6:109, 2015. DOI: 10.3389/ fgene.2015.00109

18. R Core Team: A language and environment for statistical computing. https://www.r-project.org; *Accessed:* 20.05.2024.

19. Biscarini F, Cozzi P, Gaspa G, Marras G: detectRUNS: Detect runs of homozygosity and runs of heterozygosity in diploid genomes. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/detectRUNS/vignettes/detectRUNS.vignette. html; *Accessed:* 20.05.2024.

20. Turner SD: Qqman: An R package for visualizing GWAS results using Q-Q and Manhattan plots. https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/005165v1.abstract; *Accessed*: 20.05.2024.

21. National Institutes of Health: Genome data viewer. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gdv/browser/genome/?id=GCF_016772045.2; *Accessed:* 20.05.2024.

22. Animal QTL Database: SheepQTLdb. https://www.animalgenome.org/cgi-bin/QTLdb/OA/index; *Accessed*: 20.05.2024.

23. Bayraktar M: Analysing the genetic diversity of three sheep breeds in Turkey and nearby countries using 50 K SNPs data. *Anim Biotechnol*, 35 (1):2329106, 2024. DOI: 10.1080/10495398.2024.2329106

24. Karsli BA: Genetic diversity and population structure of four anatolian sheep revealed by genome-wide ddRADseq data. *Small Ruminant Res*, 235:107285, 2024. DOI: 10.1016/j.smallrumres.2024.107285

25. Oner Y, Calvo JH, Elmaci C: Investigation of the genetic diversity among native Turkish sheep breeds using mtDNA polymorphisms. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 45, 947-951, 2013. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-012-0313-z

26. Akay N, Canatan T, Yilmaz O, Ata N, Karaca O, Cemal İ: Genetic diversity and bottleneck analysis of endangered Güney Karaman sheep. *J Anim Sci Prod*, 3 (2): 143-154, 2020.

27. Yildirir M, Koncagül S, Öner Y, Akin AO: Analysis for prioritizing risk status and sustainable utilization of cattle, sheep, and goat breeds in

Türkiye. Turk J Vet Anim Sci, 47 (1): 1-9, 2023. DOI: 10.55730/1300-0128.4262

28. Yilmaz O, Cengiz F, Ertugrul M, Wilson RT: The domestic livestock resources of Turkey: Sheep breeds and cross-breeds and their conservation status. *Anim Genet Resour*, 52, 147-163, 2013. DOI: 10.1017/S2078633613000015

29. McRae KM, Stear MJ, Good B, Keane OM: The host immune response to gastrointestinal nematode infection in sheep. *Parasite Immunol*, 37 (12): 605-613, 2015. DOI: 10.1111/pim.12290

30. Xu SS, Ren X, Yang GL, Xie XL, Zhao YX, Zhang M, Shen ZQ, Ren YL, Gao L, Shen M, Kantanen J, Li MH: Genome-wide association analysis identifies the genetic basis of fat deposition in the tails of sheep (*Ovis aries*). *Anim Genet*, 48 (5): 560-569, 2017. DOI: 10.1111/age.12572

31. Chedid M, Jaber LS, Giger-Reverdin S, Duvaux-Ponter C, Hamadeh SK: Water stress in sheep raised under arid conditions. *Can J Anim Sci*, 94 (2): 243-257, 2014. DOI: 10.4141/cjas2013-188

Research Article

Phylotypes, Antibiotic Resistance and Biofilm Formation Determined in Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* Isolates in Diarrheic Cats

Hafize Tuğba YÜKSEL DOLGUN^{1 (*)} ^(*) ^(*) Viğit SEFEROĞLU¹ ^(*) Süheyla TÜRKYILMAZ¹ ^(*)

¹ Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Microbiology, Aydın, Türkiye



^(*) **Corresponding authors:** Hafize Tuğba YÜKSEL DOLGUN Phone: +90 256 220 6000/6168 Cellular Phone: +90 554 908 6858 E-mail: tugba.yuksel@adu.edu.tr

How to cite this article?

Yüksel Dolgun HT, Seferoğlu Y, Türkyılmaz S: Phylotypes, antibiotic resistance and biofilm formation determined in enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* isolates in diarrheic cats. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 677-685, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32343

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32343 Received: 21.05.2024 Accepted: 25.07.2024 Published Online: 16.08.2024

Abstract

This study investigated the phylotypes, biofilm formation abilities, antibiotic resistance of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) isolates from cats with diarrhea. From 37 diarrheal cats, 28 E. coli isolates were obtained using conventional methods. Pathotypes and phylotypes were determined via PCR, biofilm formation potential via Congo Red Agar, and resistance profiles against eight antibiotics were examined using the disk diffusion method, evaluated according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Chi-square tests assessed relationships between phylogenetic groups, biofilm formation, and MDR statuses. The results were considered statically significant at a 95% confidence interval and significance level of P<0.05. Pathotyping studies showed that 46% (13 isolates) of the isolates were EPEC. 93% of isolates were phylotyped. Seven phylotypes were detected: B2 (22%), C (18%), B1 (18%), D (14%), A (11%), E (7%) and F (3%). Of the isolates 39% formed biofilms and 86% were MDR. No significant association was found between pathotype and biofilm formation or MDR. However, a significant relationship was noted between pathotype EPEC and phylogenetic group B2. The correlation between EPEC pathotype and phylotype B2 in diarrheic cats suggests high pathogenic potential. Multidrug resistance, even in non-biofilm forming isolates, complicates treatment and poses public health risks, underscoring the need for detailed evaluation of E. coli diversity and zoonotic pathogens.

Keywords: Antibiotic resistance, Biofilm, Cats, Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli

INTRODUCTION

Escherichia coli, a prominent cause of diarrhea, is classified into various groups based on virulence factors, including enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC), enterohemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC/STEC), enteroaggregative E. coli (EAEC), enterotoxigenic E. coli (ETEC), diffusely adherent E. coli (DAEC), and enteroinvasive E. coli (EIEC) [1,2]. EPEC, initially associated with childhood diarrhea epidemics, remains a significant cause of morbidity and mortality among infants and young children ^[3,4]. The distinction between typical (tEPEC) and atypical (aEPEC) strains is based on the presence of the E. coli adherence factor (EAF) plasmid ^[1,5], encoding bundle-forming pilus (BFP) and plasmid-encoded regulator (PER). tEPEC strains exhibit eae+ bfpA+ stx- genotype and attaching and effacing (A/E) phenotype, whereas aEPEC strains lack *bfpA*, with a genetic basis of eae+ bfpA- stx-^[5,6]. Despite the positive impact of cats on human well-being, the potential for zoonotic disease transmission underscores the need for

vigilance ^[7]. Türkiye, with an estimated 4 million cats and 2 million dogs as pets, witnesses significant pet ownership^[8]. Cats, constituting 60% of identified pets, are associated with high levels of antimicrobial resistance in E. coli isolates, reflecting the challenges posed by indiscriminate antibiotic usage ^[9]. Environmental factors, including the presence of small children in cat-owning households, further contribute to E. coli colonization [7,9,10]. Cats represent potential reservoirs of antimicrobial resistance, increasing the risk of E. coli transmission to humans through close contact. Recent classification of E. coli into eight phylotypes based on genetic markers provides insights into their genetic diversity and pathogenic potential [11]. Phylotypes B2 and D are associated with severe extraintestinal infections, while A, B1, C, and E are mostly commensal or apathogenic [11-13]. Biofilm formation, facilitated by bacterial adhesion, contributes to virulence and recurrent infections [14-16]. Congo Red Agar (CRA) and other methods quantify biofilm formation capacities ^[17,18]. The shedding of *E. coli* in cat feces poses a significant zoonotic risk, underscoring the importance of understanding EPEC prevalence and characteristics ^[19]. Given geographic variability, investigating cat-derived EPEC isolates' phylotypes, antibiotic resistance, and biofilm formation capacities is crucial for veterinary and public health.

This study aims to evaluate the phylotypes, antibiotic resistance, and biofilm formation potentials of EPEC isolates from diarrheic cats.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Statement

This study was conducted with the approval of the Local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments of Aydın Adnan Menderes University (ADÜ-HADYEK), dated 24.08.2023, numbered: 68583101/2023/130.

Material

This study utilized rectal swab samples from 37 diarrheic cats, received from a private clinic at Aydın Adnan Menderes University University Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Department of Microbiology Laboratories between September and December 2023. The feces of these cats, brought with complaints of diarrhea, were evaluated by the veterinarian during clinical examinations. The color of the stool generally varied from light brown to yellow, and its consistency was watery to semi-solid. Mucus and/or blood has been detected in some stool samples. The general condition of cats is characterized by loss of appetite, weakness and, in some, signs of dehydration. These cats, mostly mixed-breed, ranged in age from 2 months to 6 years. Cats that had not received antibiotic treatment were included in the study. Owners provided informed consent for their pets to participate. Fecal samples were collected using rectal swabs by a veterinarian, inserted approximately one cm into the anal sphincter and rotated to obtain visible fecal material. Samples were immediately placed in Stuart transport medium

(Remel, USA) and stored at 4-8°C until inoculation ^[20].

Bacterial Isolation and Identification

Rectal swab samples were inoculated onto EMB agar (Merck, Germany) and aerobic conditions incubated at 37°C for 18-24 h. Metallic greenish shiny colonies were selected and subcultured onto MacConkey agar (Merck, Germany). After incubation, pink lactose-fermenting colonies were subcultured onto blood agar. Gramnegative rod morphology, lactose fermentation, negative oxidase, positive catalase and indole tests, and motility were considered presumptive for *E. coli* ^[21]. The isolates were preserved in Brain Heart Infusion Broth (Merck, Germany) with 20% glycerol at -20°C. Suspected *E. coli* isolates were molecularly identified by examining the *trpA* genes ^[11].

Biofilm Formation

Biofilm formation was assessed using the CRA method ^[18]. *E. coli* isolates were streaked onto CRA and incubated at 37°C for 24 h. Black, dry consistency colonies indicated positive biofilm production ^[18]. *E. coli* ATCC 25922 and *S. aureus* ATCC 25932 served as positive and negative controls for CRA method, respectively.

Antibiotic Susceptibility Tests

Antibiotic susceptibility tests were performed using the disk diffusion method according to CLSI (2020) ^[22]. Eight antibiotics from eight different families were tested: ampicillin (AMP, 10 μ g), amoxicillin-clavulanic acid (AMC, 20 μ g/10 μ g), ciprofloxacin (CIP, 5 μ g), tetracycline (TET, 30 μ g), gentamicin (GEN, 10 μ g), trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (SXT, 1.25 μ g/23.75 μ g), cefotaxime (CTX, 30 μ g), meropenem (MEM, 10 μ g) (Oxoid, United Kingdom) (*Table 1*). *E. coli* ATCC 25922 served as the quality control strain. Isolates resistant to three or more antibiotic classes were classified as MDR ^[23].

Polymerase Chain Reaction

DNA was extracted using the InstaGene[™] Matrix kit

Table 1. Antibiotics used in the study, disk contents, evaluation criteria, and resistance statuses								
Antimicrobial Family	Antibiotic	Disc Content (µg)	≥S	≤R	Number of Resistant Isolates (%)			
Penicillin	Ampicillin	10	17	13	24 (86)			
Beta Lactam	Amoxicillin Clavulanic acid	20/10	18	13	21 (75)			
Quinolones	Ciprofloxacin	5	26	21	20 (71)			
Tetracycline	Tetracycline	30	15	11	18 (64)			
Aminoglycoside	Gentamicin	10	15	12	17 (61)			
Sulfonamide	Trimethoprim sulfamethoxazole	1.25/23.75	16	10	15 (54)			
Cephem	Cefotaxime	30	26	22	14 (50)			
Carbapenem	Meropenem	10	23	19	0 (0)			
S: Susceptible, R: Resistant	S: Susceptible, R: Resistant							

Table 2. Primers used in the study						
Primer	Target Gene	Sequence (5'-3')	Amplicon Size (bp)			
EHEC	stx1	CTGGATTTAATGTCGCATAGTG AGAACGCCCACTGAGATCATC	150			
EHEC	stx2	GGCACTGTCTGAAACTGCTCC TCGCCAGTTATCTGACATTCTG	255			
EHEC/ EPEC	eaeA	GACCCGGCACAAGCATAAGC CCACCTGCAGCAACAAGAGG	384			
EPEC	bfpA	GGAAGTCAAATTCATGGGGGTAT GGAATCAGACGCAGACTGGTA GT	300			
chuA.1b chuA.2	chuA	ATGGTACCGGACGAACCAAC TGCCGCCAGTACCAAAGACA	288			
yjaA.1b yjaA.2b	yjaA	CAAACGTGAAGTGTCAGGAG AATGCGTTCCTCAACCTGTG	211			
TspE4C2.1b TspE4C2.2b	TspE4.C2	CACTATTCGTAAGGTCATCC AGTTTATCGCTGCGGGTCGC	152			
AceK F ArpA1 R	arpA	AACGCTATTCGCCAGCTTGC TCTCCCCATACCGTACGCTA	400			
ArpAgpE F ArpAgpE R	arpA	GATTCCATCTTGTCAAAATATGCC GAAAAGAAAAAGAATTCCCAAGAG	301			
<i>trp</i> AgpC.1 <i>trp</i> AgpC.2	trpA	AGTTTTATGCCCAGTGCGAG TCTGCGCCGGTCACGCCCC	219			
<i>trp</i> BA.F <i>trp</i> BA.R	trpA	CGGCGATAAAGACATCTTCAC GCAACGCGGCCTGGCGGAAG	489			

(Biorad, Dubai) per the manufacturer's instructions. Purity and quantity were assessed via a nanodrop spectrophotometer (Maestrogen, Taiwan), with an OD260/ OD280 ratio of 1.6-2.0 ^[24]. Primers targeting *stx1*, *stx2*, *eaeA* genes identified EHEC ^[25], while *eaeA* and *bfpA* genes identified EPEC ^[26] (*Table 2*). Phylogenetic distribution was determined using the PCR method ^[11,27-29] (*Table 2*).

PCRs were performed in 25 μ L volumes with final concentrations: 1x Taq enzyme buffer, 2 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM dNTP, 0.4 ρ mol primers, and 1.5 U Taq DNA polymerase (Fermentas, USA). PCR tubes were prepared with 22 μ L of master mix and 3 μ L of DNA for each sample. Amplification involved initial denaturation at 95°C for 5 min, 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec, annealing at 55°C (*stx1, stx2, eaeA, bfpA*) and 56°C (*chuA, yjaA, tspE4. C2, arpA, trpA*) for 30 sec, 72°C for 60 sec, and a final extension at 72°C for 10 min. *E. coli* ATCC 35150 (EHEC; *stx1, stx2, eaeA*) served as the positive control, and *S.* Typhimurium ATCC 14028 as the negative control. Target genes producing a single band of the expected size upon amplification were considered positive.

Statistical Analysis

For statistical analysis, Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23.0 (SPSS Inc., USA) was used. Pearson's chi-square (χ 2) test (Fisher's Exact χ 2 Test) compared frequency data. The relationship between isolate pathotypes and biofilm formation, phylotype, and MDR status was evaluated using the χ 2 test. Results were evaluated at a 95% confidence interval and with P<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Isolation and Identification

E. coli was isolated in 75% (28 isolates) of rectal swab samples taken from 37 cats with diarrhea. Molecular confirmation via PCR targeting the *trpA* gene verified all isolates as *E. coli*. Subsequent analysis included evaluation of pathotypes, phylotypes, biofilm formation potentials, and antibiotic resistance profiles of the isolates.

Pathotyping

Among the 28 *E. coli* isolates, 46% (13 isolates) were classified as EPEC isolates. The prevalence of tEPEC was found to be 18% (5 isolates) (both *eaeA* and *bfpA* positive), and the prevalence aEPEC was 28% (8 isolates) (*eaeA* gene positive). There was no EHEC pathotype among the isolates (*Fig. 1*).

Phylotyping

Using available primers, 93% (26 isolates) of *E. coli* isolates were phylotyped. Among these, 22% were phylogroup B2, 18% B1, 18% C, 14% D, 11% A, 7% E, and 3% F. The phylotype of two isolates (7%) could not be determined (*Fig. 2*).

Table 3. Phylotypes of E. coli isolates						
Phylogroups Isolate number (n=28) (%)						
А	3 (11)					
B1	5 (18)					
С	5 (18)					
Е	2 (7)					
B2	6 (22)					
D	4 (14)					
F	1 (3)					
?	2 (7)					



Fig 1. Agarose gel electrophoresis of virulence gene PCR products associated with pathotype. A.1. *eaeA* gene (384 bp) 2. Positive Control EHEC (*E. coli* ATCC 35150, *stx1*:150 bp, *stx2*: 255 bp, *eaeA*: 384 bp) 3. Negative Control (S. Typhimurium ATCC 14028) M: 100 bp DNA Ladder (Fermentas, USA). B.1. *bfpA* gene (300 bp) 2. Negative Control (S. Typhimurium ATCC 14028) M: 100 bp DNA Ladder (Fermentas, USA)



Phylogroup B2 (-++-+), 5. Phylogroup D/E (+-+++), 6. Phylogroup B1 (+--++), 7. Phylogroup A/C (-+-++), 8. Phylogroup D/E (--+++), Group F (--+-+) 10. Unknown phylogroup (+++++) (152 bp, 211 bp, 288 bp, 400 bp, 489 bp), 11. Negative Control (NC): DNA-free master mix 12. Phylogroup E (301 bp) 13. Phylogroup C (219 bp) 14. NC: S. Typhimurium ATCC 14028 M: Marker (50 bp) (Fermentas, USA), ?: Isolates whose phylotype could not be determined

In cat diarrhea cases, the most common phylogroup was B2 (22%), and the least observed was F (3%). Commensal phylogroups (A, B1, C, E) comprised 54% (15 isolates), while pathogenic phylogroups (B2, D, F) comprised 39% (11 isolates) (*Table 3, Fig. 3*).

Biofilm Formation

Of the 28 clinical *E. coli* isolates, 39% (11 isolates) were determined to form biofilm (*Fig. 4*).



Antimicrobial Resistance

The antimicrobial resistance profiles of *E. coli* isolates varied: most were resistant to ampicillin (86%), followed by amoxicillin-clavulanate (75%), ciprofloxacin (71%), tetracycline (64%), gentamicin (61%), trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (54%), and cefotaxime (50%). No isolates were resistant to meropenem (*Table 1, Fig. 5*).

Multiple Antibiotic Resistance

Eighty-six percent of *E. coli* isolates exhibited MDR, while 15% were non-multidrug resistant (NMDR). Multiple antibiotic resistance status and antibiotic resistance phenotypes of isolates are shown in *Table 4, Fig. 6*.

Statistical Results

Our study found no significant relationship between the pathotype of *E. coli* isolates and their biofilm formation or MDR status. However, a significant relationship was identified between the pathotype and phylotype B2. No significant relationships were found between the other phylotypes (A, B1, C, D, E, F) and the pathotype (*Table 5*).



Fig 4. Biofilm-forming and non-biofilm-forming isolates on Congo Red Agar. A: Negative Control (*S. aureus* ATCC 25932), B: Positive Control (*E. coli* ATCC 25922), C, D: Biofilm-forming *E. coli* isolates





Table 4. Multiple antibiotic resistance status of isolates						
Antibiotic Resistance Phenotype (Number of Isolates)	Number of Isolates (n=28) (%)	MDR/NMDR status				
Beta Lactam, Sulfonamid (1) Tetracycline, Aminoglycoside (1) Aminoglycoside, Cephem (1)	3 (11)	NMDR 4 (15)				
Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Quinolones (1)	1 (4)					
Penicillin, Quinolones, Aminoglycoside, Sulfonamide (1) Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Tetracycline, Aminoglycoside (1) Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Tetracycline, Sulfonamide (1) Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Aminoglycoside, Sulfonamide (1)	4 (15)					
Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Quinolones, Tetracycline, Sulfonamide (4) Penicillin, Quinolones, Aminoglycoside, Sulfonamide, Cephem (1) Penicillin, Quinolones, Tetracycline, Aminoglycoside, Cephem (1) Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Quinolones, Sulfonamide, Cephem (2) Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Quinolones, Tetracycline, Cephem (1) Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Quinolones, Aminoglycoside, Cephem (1)	10 (34)	MDR 24 (85)				
Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Quinolones, Tetracycline, Aminoglycoside, Cephem (5) Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Quinolones, Tetracycline, Aminoglycoside, Sulfonamide (2) Penicillin, Quinolones, Tetracycline, Aminoglycoside, Sulfonamide, Cephem (1)	8 (28)					
Penicillin, Beta Lactam, Quinolones, Tetracycline, Aminoglycoside, Sulfonamide, Cephem (1)	1 (4)					
MDR: Multi-Drug Resistance, NMDR: Non Multi Drug Resistance						

	Pat		D V 1		
Biofilm formation, MDR, Pylotypes Characteristics of Isolates	EPEC (n=13) NEPEC (n=15)		χ2	P Value	
Biofilm (+)	7	4	216	0.246	
Biofilm (-)	6	11	2.10	0.246	
MDR (+)	12	12	0.92	0.600	
MDR (-)	1	3	0.85	0.000	
Phlotype A (+)	1	2	0.22	1	
Phlotype A (-)	12	13	0.22		
Phlotype B1 (+)	2	3	0.00	1	
Phlotype B1 (-)	11	12	0.09		
Phlotype B2 (+)	6	0	0.50	0.005**	
Phlotype B2 (-)	7	15	8.50		
Phlotype C (+)	2	3	0.00	1	
Phlotype C (-)	11	12	0.09		
Phlotype D (+)	2	2	0.02		
Phlotype D (-)	11	13	0.02	1	
Phlotype E (+)	0	2	1.00	0.484	
Phlotype E (-)	13	13	1.80	0.484	
Phlotype F (+)	0	1			
Phlotype F (-)	13	14	0.86	1	

DISCUSSION

Pet ownership is increasing, yet pets can harbor zoonotic diseases, posing public health risks ^[7,20,30]. Previous research suggests that *E. coli* is a cause of diarrhea in cats ^[19,30,31]. Characterizing EPEC isolates from diarrheic cats and assessing their antibiotic resistance are crucial for veterinary and public health. This study aims to determine the diversity and pathogenic properties of *E. coli* in cats, enhancing understanding of potential zoonotic risks from pets to humans.

EPEC has been documented in cats with diarrhea, with prevalence rates of 18% in the United States ^[32], 2.5% in Brazil ^[19]. In this study, a higher prevalence of EPEC (46%) was observed. The variability in EPEC prevalence cannot be ascribed to a singular factor. Environmental influences, climate, and living conditions of pets significantly impact the spread and prevalence of microorganisms. Regional prevalence differences may stem from these geographical disparities. Furthermore, variations in sample sizes and selection criteria across studies can influence prevalence rates. The diagnostic methods employed to detect EPEC also contribute to differing results. Additionally, the general health, feeding habits, and care conditions of cats

are crucial factors, with infections being more prevalent in immunocompromised cats.

Our study found EPEC prevalence in diarrheic cats to be 46%, with 28% attributed to aEPEC and 18% to tEPEC. Previous research has reported EPEC cases in cats ^[19,20,33], some indicating the presence of the *bfpA* gene, associated with tEPEC ^[34,35]. Similarly, our study detected tEPEC, but aEPEC prevalence was higher, consistent with other studies ^[19]. However, EHEC pathotype detection was negative in our study, aligning with certain researchers' findings ^[19] but conflicting with others ^[30]. We speculate that other pathotypes like EHEC may exist in diarrheic cats, but our limited sample size may have precluded a definitive conclusion.

In this study, only the EHEC pathotype, aside from EPEC, was examined. The EHEC pathotype is crucial for assessing zoonotic risks that can be transmitted from cats to humans and poses a significant threat to human health. While other pathotypes are also important, the focus on EHEC was due to limited resources and time, prioritizing this pathotype for its high risk to human health. We used the CRA method to assess biofilm formation, which is cost-effective and rapid ^[17,18]. *E. coli* utilizes extracellular curli for adhesion and biofilm formation ^[36]. Biofilm

formation is a fundamental bacterial survival mechanism and their default lifestyle [14]. In a previous study, E. coli isolates obtained from calves with diarrhea were reported to be strong biofilm producers (62.5%) by the CRA method [37]. In this study, it was observed that EPEC isolates had a significant biofilm formation potential in the CRA method. Although the CRA method is widely used and provides useful information; may not capture the full complexity of biofilm formation compared to other methods (microplate, electron microscopy, etc.). Therefore, we acknowledge the limitations of using CRA alone and recommend using complementary methods to provide a more comprehensive assessment of biofilm formation. We found 39% of all isolates and 54% of EPEC isolates formed biofilms, suggesting a heightened biofilm production potential in EPEC isolates. Additionally, all seven biofilm-forming EPEC isolates were MDR, consistent with other studies [38], highlighting the importance of understanding the link between antimicrobial resistance and biofilm formation in EPEC isolates. However, when the data were analyzed in detail, we could not detect a significant relationship between the pathotype of the E. coli isolates in our study and their ability to form MDR or biofilm. This result may be due to the small sample size, which limits the statistical power to detect associations. Additionally, genetic variation and environmental factors such as prior antibiotic exposure and changing conditions that influence biofilm formation may also contribute to this lack of correlation.

The genomic structure of E. coli suggests that different phylogroups may correlate with disease status and isolation source [11]. It has been reported in previous studies that the B2 phylogroup can be found in both intestinal and extraintestinal pathogenic E. coli species [39]. In this study, phylogroup B2 was detected as the most common phylogroup in intestinal EPECs. These phylogroups are crucial in determining E. coli's pathogenic characteristics and infection risks. Limited research exists on E. coli pathotypes in cats globally ^[19]. Prior studies on EPEC pathotypes in companion animals did not assess E. coli's phylogenetic grouping ^[19,40]. A study in Brazil reported higher EPEC prevalence in pets with diarrhea, classified into phylogroups B1 and E [33]. Our study identified diverse phylotypes (B2, B1, C, D, A, E, F), highlighting genetic diversity in E. coli isolates from cats. It is important to consider that differences in phylogroup distribution may occur as a result of a combination of multiple factors (geographical factors, sampling methods, environmental conditions, diagnostic techniques used, etc.).

In this study, the phylogenetic group of two *E. coli* isolates that did not form biofilms could not be determined. Notably, one of these isolates exhibited MDR, while the other was susceptible to all tested antibiotics. This

suggests significant genetic diversity among *E. coli* isolates associated with diarrheal cases, indicating potentially distinct virulence properties.

The rise of MDR *E. coli* is a global public health concern due to its opportunistic pathogenic nature ^[7]. Daily interactions between pets and their owners facilitate the sharing of *E. coli* strains, highlighting the need to monitor antimicrobial resistance in *E. coli* from domestic animals ^[7,20,30]. Our study found antibiotic-resistant EPEC strains in the intestines of cats, with resistance levels between 50% and 86% for all tested antibiotics except meropenem. Additionally, 86% of isolates exhibited multiple antibiotic resistance. However, the small sample size limits the generalizability of these findings.

In this study, we evaluated E. coli resistance profiles to eight antibiotics using the disc diffusion method. Ampicillin resistance was most prevalent at 86%, followed by 75% for amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, consistent with findings from Bangladesh ^[30]. These results are clinically significant as broad-spectrum antibiotics like penicillin and β-lactams are frequently used for gastrointestinal issues in pets ^[41]. Notably, antibiotic-resistant E. coli can persist in dogs' intestines for up to 21 days post-treatment, highlighting the gut as a reservoir for resistant bacteria ^[42]. Resistance genes can persist for years after antibiotic exposure ^[43]. While resistance was detected to seven antibiotics tested in this study, no resistance was detected to meropenem. Meropenem is an antibiotic generally used in human medicine as a last resort effective against Gram-negative bacteria. The lack of meropenem resistance can be explained by both clinical usage habits and the genetic and biological characteristics of the isolates. In a study from Bangladesh, cefotaxime resistance was 100%, compared to 50% in our study, likely due to less frequent use of third-generation cephalosporins in our sampled cats ^[30]. Resistance rates for trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, gentamicin, and ciprofloxacin were also lower than those reported in Egypt ^[44]. Our findings showed that 86% of E. coli isolates were MDR, compared to 49% in a recent Chinese study ^[45]. These differences underscore how antibiotic usage and veterinary policies influence resistance rates in different regions.

Our study identified a significant correlation between *E. coli* pathotype and the B2 phylotype, which is commonly associated with ExPEC strains that cause various infections in animals and humans. The significant relationship between EPEC pathotype and B2 phylotype may indicate that these EPEC isolates may have high pathogenic potential. The B2 phylotype is generally associated with more virulent *E. coli* isolates ^[39]. This is important to highlight the seriousness of EPEC infections in cats and possible zoonotic risks. In contrast, no significant relationship was found between other phylotypes (A, B1,

C, D, E, F) and the EPEC pathotype, indicating that these phylotypes may not independently determine pathogenic properties.

Two isolates carrying all the genes examined in this study were identified. However, these two isolates could not be phylotyped with the primers available in the method used ^[11]. This indicates that these two isolates may be a new phylotype that cannot be detected with existing primers. To more precisely determine the genetic diversity and phylogenetic relationships of *E. coli* isolates, more comprehensive and detailed analysis methods such as Multi-Locus Sequence Typing (MLST) need to be applied.

In conclusion, our findings offer valuable insights into the prevalence, phylogroup distribution, biofilm formation potential, and antibiotic resistance of EPECs isolated from cats with diarrhea. The noteworthy association between the EPEC pathotype and the B2 phylotype suggests a potential risk posed by these isolates.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The corresponding author (H. T. Yüksel Dolgun) can provide the datasets of this research upon reasonable request.

Acknowledgements: The authors thank to MSc Veterinary Abdullah Serbest (Istanbul, Türkiye) for helping to obtain the materials used in the study.

Financial Support: This study was supported by Aydin Adnan Menderes University Scientific Research Projects Unit (ADU-BAP Project Number: VTF-23033).

Conflict of Interests: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artifical Intelligence: The authors declare that the article and/or tables and figures were not written/ created by AI and AI-assisted technologies

Author Contributions: HTYD, YS, ST: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Analysis, Investigation, Writing-Original Draft, Editing. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Kaper JB, Nataro JP, Mobley HLT: Pathogenic *E. coli. Nat Rev Microbiol*, 2 (2): 123-140, 2004. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro818

2. Croxen MA, Law RJ, Scholz R, Keeney KM, Wlodarska M, Finlay BB: Recent advances in understanding enteric pathogenic *E. coli. Clin Microbiol Rev*, 26 (4): 822-880, 2013. DOI: 10.1128/cmr.00022-13

3. Kaur P, Dudeja PK: Pathophysiology of enteropathogenic *E. coli* induced diarrhea. *Newborn*, 2 (1): 102-113, 2023. DOI: 10.5005/jp-journals- 11002-0056

4. Robins Browne RM: Traditional enteropathogenic *E. coli* of infantile diarrhea. *Rev Infect Dis*, 9 (1): 28-53, 1987. DOI: 10.1093/clinids/9.1.28

5. Trabulsi LR, Keller R, Gomes TAT: Typical and atypical enteropathogenic *E. coli. Emerg Infect Dis*, 8 (5): 508-513, 2002. DOI: 10.3201/eid0805.010385

6. Tennant SM, Tauschek M, Azzopardi K, Bigham A, Bennet-Wood V, Hartland EL, Qi W, Whittam TS, Robins Browne RM: Characterisation of atypical enteropathogenic *E. coli* strains of clinical origin. *BMC Microbiol*, 9:117, 2009. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-117 7. Zanen LA, Kusters JG, Overgaauw PAM: Zoonotic risks of sleeping with pets. *Pathogens*, 11:1149, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/pathogens11101149

8. Dierks Z: Cat and dog owning households in Turkey 2012-2022. https:// www.statista.com/statistics/517048/households-owning-cats-dogs-europeturkey/. *Accessed*: 23.05.2024

9. Fayez M, Elmoslemany A, Al Romaihi AA, Azzawi AY, Almubarak A, Elsohaby I: Prevalence and risk factors associated with multidrug resistance and extended spectrum β lactamase producing *E. coli* isolated from healthy and diseased cats. *Antibiotics*, 12 (2):229, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ antibiotics12020229

10. Tong YC, Li PC, Yang Y, Lin QY, Liu JT, Gao YN, Zhang YN, Jin S, Qing SZ, Xing FS, Fan YP, Liu YQ, Wang WL, Zhang WM, Ma WR: Detection of antibiotic resistance in feline-origin ESBL E. coli from different areas of China and the resistance elimination of garlic oil to cefquinome on ESBL *E. coli. Int J Mol Sci*, 24 (11):9627, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ijms24119627

11. Clermont O, Christenson JK, Denamur E, Gordon DM: The Clermont E. coli phylo-typing method revisited: Improvement of specificity and detection of new phylo-groups. *Environ Microbiol Rep*, 5 (1): 58-65, 2013. DOI: 10.1111/1758-2229.12019

12. Walk ST, Alm EW, Calhoun LM, Mladonicky JM, Whittam TS: Genetic diversity and population structure of *E. coli* isolated from freshwater beaches. *Environ Microbiol*, 9 (9): 2274-2288, 2007. DOI: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01341.x

13. Carlos C, Pires MM, Stoppe NC, Hachich EM, Sato MIZ, Gomes TAT, Amaral LA, Ottoboni LMM: *E. coli* phylogenetic group determination and its application in the identification of the major animal source of fecal contamination. *BMC Microbiol*, 10 (161): 1-10, 2010. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2180-10-161

14. Sharma S, Mohler J, Mahajan SD, Schwartz SA, Bruggemann L, Aalinkeel R: Microbial biofilm: A review on formation, infection, antibiotic resistance, control measures, and innovative treatment. *Microorganisms*, 11 (6):1614, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms11061614

15. Costerton W, Veeh R, Shirtliff M, Pasmore M, Post C, Ehrlich G: The application of biofilm science to the study and control of chronic bacterial infections. *J Clin Invest*, 112 (10): 1466-1477, 2003. DOI: 10.1172/JCI20365

16. Parsek MR, Singh PK: Bacterial biofilms: An emerging link to disease pathogenesis. *Annu Rev. Microbiol*, 57 (1): 677-701, 2003. DOI: 10.1146/ annurev.micro.57.030502.090720

17. Tremblay YD, Vogeleer P, Jacques M, Harel J: High-throughput microfluidic method to study biofilm formation and host-pathogen interactions in pathogenic *Escherichia coli. Appl Environ Microbiol*, 81 (8): 2827-2840, 2015. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.04208-14

18. Ramírez Castillo FY, Guerrero Barrera AL, Harel J, Avelar González FJ, Vogeleer P, Arreola Guerra JM, González Gámez M: Biofilm formation by *Escherichia coli* isolated from urinary tract infections from Aguascalientes, Mexico. *Microorganisms*, 11 (12):2858, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms11122858

19. Puno Sarmiento J, Medeiros L, Chiconi C, Martins F, Pelayo J, Rocha S, Blanco J, Blanco M, Zanutto M, Kobayashi R, Nakazato G: Detection of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from dogs and cats in Brazil. *Vet Microbiol*, 166 (3-4): 676-680, 2013. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.07.007

20. Morato EP, Leomil L, Beutin L, Krause G, Moura RA, Pestana de Castro AF: Domestic cats constitute a natural reservoir of human enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* types. *Zoonoses Public Health*, 56 (5): 229-237, 2009. DOI: 10.1111/j.1863-2378.2008.01190.x

21. Quinn PJ, Markey BK, Leonard FC, FitzPatrick ES, Fanning S, Hartigan PJ: Introductory Bacteriology, Veterinary Microbiology and Microbial Disease. ^{2th} ed., 143-149, Blackwell Science Ltd., Oxford, UK., 2011.

22. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; Thirtieth CLSI Supplement M100-S30, CLSI, Wayne, PA, USA, 2020.

23. Magiorakos AP, Srinivasan A, Carey RB, Carmeli Y, Falagas ME, Giske CG, Harbart S, Hindler JF, Kahlmeter G, Olsson-Liljequist B, Paterson DL, Rice LB, Stelling J, Struelens MJ, Vatopoulos A, Weber JT, Monnet DL: Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug resistant and pandrug resistant bacteria: An international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, 18 (3): 268-281, 2012. DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03570.x

24. Aggarwal S: Nucleicid Acid Extraction, Techniques in Molecular Biology. 21-22, Lucknow, International Book Distributing CO., India, 2008.

25. Paton AW, Paton JC: Detection and characterization of shiga toxigenic *Escherichia coli* by using multiplex PCR assays for *stx*1, *stx*2, *eae*A, enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* hlyA, rfb0111, and rfb0157. *J Clin Microbiol*, 36 (2): 598-602, 1998. DOI: 10.1128/jcm.36.2.598-602.1998

26. Stacy-Phipps S, Mecca JJ, Weiss JB: Multiplex PCR assay and simple preparation method for stool specimens detect enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* DNA during the course of infection. *J Clin Microbiol*, 33 (5): 1054-1059, 1995. DOI: 10.1128/jcm.33.5.1054-1059.1995

27. Clermont O, Bonacorsi S, Bingen E: Characterization of an anonymous molecular marker strongly linked to *Escherichia coli* strains causing neonatal meningitis. *J Clin Microbiol*, 42 (4): 1770-1772, 2004. DOI: 10.1128/ jcm.42.4.1770-1772.2004

28. Clermont O, Lescat M, O'Brien CL, Gordon DM, Tenaillon O, Denamur E: Evidence for a human specific *Escherichia coli* clone. *Environ Microbiol*, 10 (4): 1000-1006, 2008. DOI: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01520.x

29. Lescat M, Clermont O, Woerther PL, Glodt J, Dion S, Skurnik D, Djossou F, Dupont C, Perroz G, Picard B, Catzeflis F, Andremont A, Denamur E: Commensal *Escherichia coli* strains in Guiana reveal a high genetic diversity with host dependant population structure. *Environ Microbiol Rep*, 5 (1): 49-57, 2013. DOI: 10.1111/j.1758-2229.2012.00374.x

30. Das S, Kabir A, Chouhan CS, Shahid MAH, Habib T, Rahman M, Nazir KNH: Domestic cats are potential reservoirs of multidrug-resistant human enteropathogenic *E. coli* strains in Bangladesh. *Saudi J Biol Sci*, 30 (10):103786, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.sjbs.2023.103786

31. Buranasinsup S, Wiratsudakul A, Chantong B, Maklon K, Suwanpakdee S, Jiemtaweeboon S, Sakcamduang W: Prevalence and characterization of antimicrobial resistant *Escherichia coli* isolated from veterinary staff, pets, and pet owners in Thailand. *J Infect Public Health*, 16 (1): 194-202, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.jiph.2023.11.006

32. Watson VE, Jacob ME, Flowers JR, Strong SJ, DebRoy C, Gookin JL: Association of atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* with diarrhea and related mortality in kittens. *J Clin Microbiol*, 55 (9): 2719-2735, 2017. DOI: 10.1128/jcm.00403-17

33. Coura FM, Diniz AN, Oliveira Junior CA, Lage AP, Lobato FCF, Heinemann MB, Silva ROS, Coura FM, Diniz AN, Oliveira Junior CA: Detection of virulence genes and the phylogenetic groups of *Escherichia coli* isolated from dogs in Brazil. *Cienc Rural*, 48 (2):e20170478, 2018. DOI: 10.1590/0103-8478cr20170478

34. Goffaux F, China B, Janssen L, Mainil J: Genotypic characterization of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) isolated in Belgium from dogs and cats. *Res J Microbiol*, 151 (10): 865-871, 2000. DOI: 10.1016/S0923-2508(00)01153-0

35. Krause G, Zimmermann S, Beutin L: Investigation of domestic animals and pets as a reservoir for intimin-(eae) gene positive *Escherichia col*i types. *Vet Microbiol*, 106 (1-2): 87-95, 2005. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2004.11.012

36. Reichhardt C, Jacobson AN, Maher MC, Uang J, McCrate OA, Eckart M, Cegelski L: Congo red interactions with curli-producing *E. coli* and native curli amyloid fibers. *PLoS One*, 10 (10):e0140388, 2015. DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0140388

37. Hasson SO, Judi HK, Salih HH, Al-Khaykan A, Akrami S, Sabahi S, Saki M, Al-Rubaie ZA: Intimin (eae) and virulence membrane protein pagC genes are associated with biofilm formation and multidrug resistance in *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica* isolates from calves with diarrhea. BMC Research Notes, 15 (1):321, 2022. DOI: 10.1186/s13104-022-06218-6

38. Milton AAP, Srinivas K, Lyngdoh V, Momin AG, Lapang N, Priya GB, Ghatak S, Sanjukta RK, Sen A, Das S: Biofilm forming antimicrobial resistant pathogenic *Escherichia coli*: A one health challenge in northeast India. *Heliyon*, 9 (9):e20059, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e20059

39. Nowrouzian FL, Clermont O, Edin M, Östblom A, Denamur E, Wold AE, Adlerberth I: *Escherichia coli* B2 phylogenetic subgroups in the infant gut microbiota: Predominance of uropathogenic lineages in Swedish Infants and Enteropathogenic lineages in Pakistani infants. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 85 (24): e01681-19, 2019. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.01681-19

40. de Almeida PM, Arais LR, Andrade JRC, Prado EHRB, Irino K, Cerqueira AD: Characterization of atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (aEPEC) isolated from dogs. *Vet Microbiol*, 158 (3-4): 420-424, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.02.021

41. German AJ, Halladay LJ, Noble PJM: First choice therapy for dogs presenting with diarrhea in clinical practice. *Vet. Rec*, 167 (21): 810-814, 2010. DOI: 10.1136/vr.c4090

42. Werner M, Suchodolski JS, Straubinger RK, Wolf G, Steiner JM, Lidbury JA, Neuerer F, Hartmann K, Unterer S: Effect of amoxicillinclavulanic acid on clinical scores, intestinal microbiome, and amoxicillin resistant *Escherichia coli* in dogs with uncomplicated acute diarrhea. *J Vet Intern Med*, 34 (3): 1166-1176, 2020. DOI: 10.1111/jvim.15775

43. Karahutová L, Mandelík R, Bujnáková D: Antibiotic resistant and biofilm associated *Escherichia coli* isolates from diarrheic and healthy dogs. *Microorganisms*, 9 (6):1334, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms9061334

44. Younis K, Baddour M, Ibrahim MS: Detection of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* in pet animals and its antibiotic resistance in Alexandria Governorate. *AJVS*, 45, 113-118, 2015. DOI: 10.5455/ajvs.181517

45. Cui L, Zhao X, Li R, Han Y, Hao G, Wang G, Sun S: Companion animals as potential reservoirs of antibiotic resistant diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* in Shandong, China. *Antibiotics*, 11 (6):828, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/ antibiotics11060828

Research Article

Mitochondrial Fusion Protein 2 Affects Intracellular Survival of *Brucella abortus* A19 by Regulating Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Apoptosis

Zhenyu XU¹ Qin YANG¹ Xiaoyu DENG^{1,2} Yimei XU³ Zhongchen MA^{1(*)}

¹School of Animal Science and Technology, Shihezi University, 832000 Shihezi, Xinjiang, CHINA

²School of Basic Medicine, Hunan University of Medicine, 418000 huaihua, Hunan, CHINA

³Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 830002 Urumq, Xinjiang, CHINA



(*) Corresponding authors: Chuangfu CHEN & Zhongchen MA
Phone: +86-13999328996 (C.C.), +86-18899596400 (ZM)
E-mail: ccf-xb@163.com (C.C.), zhongchen_ma@163.com (Z.M.)

How to cite this article?

Xu Z, Yang Q, Deng X, Xu Y, Ma Z, Chen C: Mitochondrial fusion protein 2 affects intracellular survival of Brucella abortus A19 by regulating endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 687-697, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32344

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32344 Received: 21.05.2024 Accepted: 22.07.2024 Published Online: 16.08.2024

Abstract

Mitochondrial fusion protein 2 (MFN2) deficiency has been shown to hinder the survival of bacteria in macrophages. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis are vital defense mechanisms against Brucella infection, but the specific role of MFN2 in Brucella-infected macrophages remains unclear. In this study, we aimed to investigate the role of MFN2 in the infection of macrophages by Brucella abortus strain A19. The levels of CHOP and GRP78, which are molecules associated with endoplasmic reticulum stress, as well as Caspase-3 and BAX, which are pro-apoptotic molecules, were measured using confocal microscopy, qRT-PCR and Western blot in cell models infected with B. abortus A19. Additionally, the apoptosis rate of these cell models was assessed using flow cytometry. Our findings revealed a significant decrease in MFN2 levels 24 h post B. abortus A19 infection of macrophages. Interfering with MFN2 in macrophages led to an increase in Brucella-induced up-regulation of CHOP, GRP78, Caspase-3, and BAX, consequently hindering the survival of B. abortus A19 in macrophages. Conversely, infecting macrophages that overexpress MFN2 with B. abortus A19 resulted in the down-regulation of CHOP, GRP78, Caspase-3, and BAX. MFN2 mediated the downregulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress and programmed cell death in B. abortus A19-infected macrophages, thereby supported the intracellular survival of Brucella. This is the first report to highlight the key role of MFN2 in the intracellular survival of Brucella, providing a new perspective for understanding the mechanisms involved and offering a potential research direction for the development of targeted therapeutic agents against brucellosis.

Keywords: Brucella abortus A19, Mitochondrial fusion protein 2, Endoplasmic reticulum stress, Apoptosis, Intracellular survival

INTRODUCTION

Brucellosis is a zoonotic disease caused by *Brucella* species. It is a significant animal-borne disease that is widespread in over 170 countries and regions worldwide. In livestock, it commonly presents as a reproductive disorder, while in humans, it manifests as a chronic febrile illness. Due to its persistent nature and widespread prevalence, the disease is challenging to eliminate and poses a significant threat to both animal husbandry and human health ^[1-3].

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is a crucial organelle that plays a role in maintaining cellular homeostasis ^[4]. It synthesizes intracellular proteins and lipids and has

close interactions with mitochondria, allowing for signaling and substance exchange. Mitochondrial fusion protein 2 (MFN2) is a GTPase protein found in the outer mitochondrial membrane and the mitochondriaassociated membrane. It acts as a bridge between mitochondria and the endoplasmic reticulum, and its absence leads to endoplasmic reticulum stress. MFN2 also regulates mitochondrial fusion and the transfer of calcium from the endoplasmic reticulum to mitochondria ^[5]. Numerous studies have demonstrated the crucial role of MFN2 in the innate immune response during pathogenic infections ^[6-8]. Previous studies have shown that MFN2 inhibits the antiviral immune response in hepatitis B virus-associated hepatocellular carcinoma ^[6].

 \odot \odot

In HIV-1 Vpr-infected HEK293 cells, overexpression of MFN2 reduces cell death by facilitating interactions between the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria ^[7]. Additionally, in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected THP-1 macrophages, MFN2 is involved in the assembly and activation of NLRP3 inflammatory vesicles during infection ^[8].

Brucella, an intracellular parasitic bacterium, employs various strategies to invade host cells. It primarily targets specialized phagocytes like macrophages, dendritic cells, as well as non-specialized phagocytes such as fibroblasts and trophoblasts. Once inside the host cells, Brucella releases effector molecules into the host cytoplasm. This facilitates Brucella's transport to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), resulting in significant reorganization of the ER and disruption of its homeostasis. These events induce ER stress, triggering the unfolded protein response (UPR), which aids in the survival and establishment of proliferative compartments ^[9,10]. In the context of ER stress, the transcription factor CHOP plays a crucial role. If the ER stress persists and overwhelms the capacity of the cellular response, it leads to increased expression of CHOP. In turn, CHOP acts as a major pro-apoptotic transcription factor, ultimately driving the cells towards apoptosis [11,12]. Glucose-regulated protein (GRP78) is a key chaperone protein located in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). It is synthesized in response to various stress conditions that disrupt ER function and homeostasis ^[13]. Brucella has been shown to regulate apoptosis [14,15]. Inhibition of apoptosis in infected cells supports the intracellular replication of Brucella [15], with mitochondrial division being a crucial step in the apoptotic process. The proapoptotic protein BAX, a member of the Bcl-2 family, is recruited to the outer mitochondrial membrane during apoptosis, leading to mitochondrial fragmentation and blocking of mitochondrial fusion [16]. BAX, which is normally distributed in cytoplasmic lysates, plays a role in regulating mitochondrial morphology [17]. Brucella has been found to interact with mitochondria in host cells, a process that is essential for intracellular recycling and infection of neighboring cells by Brucella [10]. Caspase-3 is also an important marker of apoptosis. Brucella infection of RAW264.7 cells for 48 h can induce apoptosis by upregulating the expression of caspase-3 via the effector protein BtpB^[15].

The role of MFN2 in *Brucella* infected host cells has not been investigated. To investigate the role of MFN2 during Brucella infection of cells, MFN2 was found to mediate the down-regulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress and programmed death in *B. abortus* A19-infected macrophages and to support the intracellular survival of *B. abortus* A19. Our study provides a theoretical basis for further investigation of the MFN2 gene and the pathogenesis of *Brucella*. In addition, the MFN2 gene may be a potential target for the future development of brucellosis prevention and therapeutic approaches.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strain and Cell Line

B. abortus A19 was purchased from the Xinjiang Tiankang Animal Biotechnology Co. Ltd., China. B. abortus was cultured on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) or Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB) (Oxoid, UK). The culture conditions in TSB were aerobic conditions at 37°C, 170 r/min for 3-4 d. Escherichia coli strains DH5a and BL21 were used to transform the PCDNA3.1-EGFP-MFN2 overexpression recombinant plasmid and were cultured on Luria-Bertani (LB) medium (Oxoid, UK) under aerobic conditions at 37°C and 170 r/min for 12 h. The mouse macrophage RAW264.7 line (RAW264.7, TIB-71) cell line (obtained from Cell Resource Center, IBMS, CAMS/PUMC, Beijing, China) was cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, Gibco, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco, USA) at 37°C with 5% CO2. All research work on B. abortus A19 was conducted in a biosafety level 3 laboratory.

Construction of MFN2 Interference and Overexpression Cell Models

The mRNA sequences of CHOP, GRP78, Caspase-3, BAX, MFN2 and GAPDH genes of mice published on the NCBI website GenBank were retrieved and primers were designed using Primer 5.0 (*Table1*). The siRNA interference fragments (siMFN2-2275, siMFN2-450, siMFN2-1661) were synthesized by Anhui General Biological Company (Anhui, China) (*Table 2*). The PCDNA3.1-EGFP plasmid (Anhui General Bio, China) was digested by Hind III and BamH I and ligated with MFN2 gene to construct the PCDNA3.1-EGFP-MFN2 recombinant plasmid.

Table 1. Primer sequence of qRT-PCR				
Gene	Primer Sequence (5'→3')			
CHOP-F	5'-CTGGAAGCCTGGTATGAGGAT-3'			
CHOP-R	5'-CAGGGTCAAGAGTAGTGAAGGT-3'			
GRP78-F	5'-ACTTGGGGACCACCTATTCCT-3'			
GRP78-R	5'-ATCGCCAATCAGACGCTCC-3'			
Caspase-3-F	5'-GAGCTTGGAACGCGAAGAAA-3'			
Caspase-3-R	5'-TTGCGAGCTGACATTCCAGT-3'			
BAX-F	5'-TGAAGACAGGGGCCTTTTTG-3'			
BAX-R	5'-AATTCGCCGGAGACACTCG-3'			
MFN2-F	5'-CCAACTCCAAGTGTCCGCTC-3'			
MFN2-R	5'-GTCCAGCTCCGTGGTAACATC-3'			

Table.2. Interference sequence of MFN2 siRNA					
Name	Sequence (5'→3')				
siMFN2-450-F	5'-ACACAUGGCUGAAGUGAAUTT-3'				
siMFN2-450-R	5'-AUUCACUUCAGCCAUGUGUTT-3'				
siMFN2-1661-F	5'-CGGAGGAAGUGGAAAGGCATT-3'				
siMFN2-1661-R	5'-UGCCUUUCCACUUCCUCCGTT-3'				
siMFN2-2275-F	5'-GCAGUGGGCUGGAGACUCATT-3'				
siMFN2-2275-R	5'-UGAGUCUCCAGCCCACUGCTT-3'				
siMFN2-Negative-F	5'-UUCUCCGAACGUGUCACGUTT-3'				
siMFN2-Negative-R	5'-ACGUGACACGUUCGGAGAATT-3'				

Interference and overexpression systems were constructed by transfecting murine macrophage RAW264.7 cells with interference fragments and recombinant plasmids using Advanced DNA RNA Transfection Reagent (Zeta Life, USA).

Detection of Interference Efficiency of siRNA on MFN2

RAW264.7 cells were transiently transfected with siMFN2-2275, siMFN2-450, siMFN2-1661, and siMFN2-Negative interfering sequences at concentrations of 10 nM/ μ L as described previously ^[18], and cellular RNA and total protein were collected 48 h after transfection. Subsequently, the RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA followed by the use of qRT-PCR to detect the mRNA expression level of MFN2. Cellular proteins were collected and the MFN2 protein expression level was assessed using Western blot analysis.

Interference efficiency = (siRNA-negative control group - siRNA experimental group)/siRNA - negative control group × 100%

Detection of Overexpression Efficiency of PCDNA3.1-EGFP-MFN2 Recombinant Plasmid

The PCDNA3.1-EGFP-MFN2 recombinant plasmid at a concentration of 6 μ g was transiently transfected into RAW264.7 cells as described previously ^[19], and RNA and total protein were collected from the cells at 48 h of transfection. Then, the RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA, and the mRNA expression level of MFN2 gene was detected by qRT-PCR, and the protein expression level of MFN2 was detected by Western blot ^[19].

Detection of *B. abortus* A19-Induced CHOP, GRP78, Caspase-3, BAX Expression Levels After MFN2 Interference and Overexpression

Interfering cells and overexpressing cell models were infected with *B. abortus* A19 respectively, and cellular RNA and total protein were collected at 24 h postinfection. Expression levels of endoplasmic reticulum stress signature molecules CHOP and GRP78 were detected by confocal microscopy. qRT-PCR and Western blot were used to detect the mRNA transcript and protein expression levels of endoplasmic reticulum stress signature molecules CHOP, GRP78 and pro-apoptotic genes Caspase-3 and BAX.

Detection of Apoptosis Induced by *B. abortus* A19 After MFN2 Interference and Overexpression

B. abortus A19 was used to infect the MFN2-interfering cell model and overexpressing cell model, respectively. Cells were collected at 24 h post-infection, digested with EDTA-free trypsin, adjusted to a cell concentration of 1-5x10⁵/mL, and centrifuged at 800 rpm for 5 min before discarding the supernatant, and the cells were washed twice using PBS, and then processed in accordance with the apoptosis assay kit (Absin, China), and then immediately detected by flow cytometry.

Intracellular Survival of *B. abortus* A19 After MFN2 Interference and Overexpression

The best interfering and overexpressing cell models were infected with *B. abortus* A19 respectively, and the cells were lysed with 0.02% Triton X-100 at 0, 6, 12, and 24 h post-infection, and the lysates were coated in *B. abortus* solid medium and assayed for intracellular survival of *Brucella* by CFU counting with reference to the experimental method of Zhang et al.^[20].

Confocal Microscopy Inspection

After 24 h of infection with B. abortus A19 in interfering and overexpressing cell models, cells were fixed on coverslips using 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min. Subsequently, coverslips were rinsed thrice with PBS, and cells were treated with 0.2% Triton X-100 for 5 min. After another round of rinsing with PBS, cells underwent blocking in a blocking solution for 1 h. The primary antibody was then diluted with PBST and incubated in a dark, humid environment for 1 h at 4°C. Samples were incubated overnight, followed by washing thrice with PBST. The secondary antibody was diluted with PBST and samples were incubated for 1 h at room temperature in a dark, humid environment. After another round of washing with PBST, samples were sealed on slides using a DAPI-containing sealing agent, and finally examined under a fluorescence microscope.

qRT-PCR Detection

After infection of the interfering and overexpressing cell models by *B. abortus* A19, total RNA from the cells was collected and reverse transcribed to cDNA, and GAPDH was used as an internal reference, using the SYBR Green Master Mix kit (Roche, Switzerland) on QuantStudio 3 (ThermoFisher, USA). Real-time

fluorescent quantitative PCR was performed, and the 2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method was used to calculate the relative expression of CHOP, GRP78, Caspase-3, BAX and MFN2 mRNAs.

Western Blot Detection

B. abortus A19 infected cells were washed 3 times with PBS, lysed on ice for 10 min by adding lysis solution (1mLRIPA+10 µLPMSF), the lysate was collected and total protein was collected by centrifugation at 4°C, 12000 rpm for 5 min, and the protein was adjusted by BCA protein quantitative assay kit (ThermoFisher, USA). The concentration of protein was adjusted by BCA protein quantification kit (ThermoFisher, USA), separated by 12% SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose (NC) membrane, closed with closure solution (5% skimmed milk powder in TBST) for 2 h at 37°C, washed 3 times with PBS and incubated with primary antibody diluted with TBST overnight at 4°C, washed 3 times with TBST and incubated with secondary antibody diluted with TBST at room temperature for 2 h. The membrane was washed with TBST 3 times and then stained with an ECL kit (ThermoFisher, USA).

Statistical Analysis

Data on intracellular CFU of *Brucella* were transformed into logarithms. The experimental data were analysed by One-Way ANOVA and 2 way ANOVA using SPSS 25.0 software (International Business Machines Corporation, USA), and the results were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation, with P<0.05 considered statistically significant. GraphPad Prism 7.0 software (GraphPad Software, USA) was used to plot the data. All experiments were independently performed at least three times.

RESULTS

B. abortus A19 Infection Induces a Decrease in Macrophage MFN2 Expression

Cells were collected at 6 h, 12 h and 24 h after *B. abortus* infection and the expression level of MFN2 was analysed by qRT-PCR and Western blotting. The results showed that the mRNA transcript level (P=0.0047) and protein expression level (P=0.028) of MFN2 were significantly reduced 24 h after *B. abortus* A19 infection of RAW264.7 cells, indicating that *B. abortus* A19 induced a decrease in macrophage MFN2 expression over time (*Fig. 1*).







screening for the best interfering fragments of MFN2, (C) The ratio of cleaved MFN2 relative to β -actin levels was calculated using ImageJ. The experiment was repeated three times and data represent mean ± SD, (D) Transfection efficiency of PCDNA3.1-EGFP-MFN2 overexpression recombinant plasmid by fluorescence microscopy. (a, b: PCDNA3.1-EGFP transfection of RAW264.7 in bright and dark field view, b, c: PCDNA3.1-EGFP-MFN2transfection of RAW264.7 in bright and dark field view), (E) Efficiency of MFN2 gene overexpression detected by qRT-PCR, (F) Efficiency of MFN2 gene overexpression detected by Western blot, (G) The ratio of cleaved MFN2 relative to β -actin levels was calculated using ImageJ. The experiment was repeated three times and data represent mean ± SD. **P<0.01; ***P<0.001

Infection and Overexpression Cell Model Construction

The optimal interfering sequence was screened using qRT-PCR and Western blotting. The results showed that siMFN2-1661 had the highest inhibition rate (P<0.001) of MFN2 mRNA compared with the control group (siMFN2-Negative group) (*Fig. 2-A,B,C*). This suggests that siMFN2-1661 is the best interfering fragment for constructing the MFN2 gene interference cell model.

After transfection of the recombinant plasmid PCDNA3.1-EGFP-MFN2 into RAW264.7 cells for 48h, a large amount of green fluorescent protein expression was observed by inverted fluorescence microscopy (Fig. 2-D), indicating that the overexpression recombinant plasmid was successfully transfected. qRT-PCR results showed that compared with the control group (PCDNA3.1-EGFP group), the overexpression group (PCDNA3.1-EGFP-MFN2 group) had a significantly higher expression level of MFN2 mRNA than the control group, and the expression amount was about 8 times higher than that of the non-overexpressed group (PCDNA3.1-EGFP group) (P<0.001) (Fig. 2-E). The Western blotting results showed that the expression level of MFN2 protein in the overexpression group was significantly higher than that in the control group (P<0.001) (Fig. 2-F,G), indicating that the MFN2 gene overexpression cell model was successfully constructed.

B. abortus A19 Infection of MFN2 Deficient Macrophages Causes Up-Regulation of CHOP, GRP78, Caspase-3 and BAX

The interfering cell model was infiltrated with *B. abortus* A19, and the RNA and total protein of the infected cells were collected 24 h later. Results showed that the levels of mRNA transcript and protein expression of CHOP and GRP78, which are characteristic molecules of endoplasmic reticulum stress, in the interference group were significantly higher than those in the control group (*Fig. 3-A,B,C,D,G,H*). The apoptotic molecules Cleaved caspase-3 and BAX mRNA transcript and protein expression levels were significantly higher in the interference group than in the control group (*Fig. 3-E,F,I,J*). The results suggest that interference with the MFN2 gene enhances the ability of *B. abortus* A19 to induce endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis.

B. abortus A19 Infection of Macrophages Overexpressing MFN2 Results in Down-Regulation of CHOP, GRP78, Caspase-3 and BAX

B. abortus A19 infection overexpression cell model, results showed that the endoplasmic reticulum stress signature molecules CHOP, GRP78 mRNA transcript level and protein expression level were significantly reduced in



Fig 3. Expression levels of CHOP, GRP78, caspaes-3 and BAX were detected in the interfering cell model. (A) Confocal microscopy to detect CHOP spots 24 h after infection with the interfering cell model. CHOP spots are presented in green (FITC), while blue (DAPI) denotes nucleus, (B) Confocal microscopy to detect GRP78 spots 24 h after infection with the interfering cell model. GRP78 spots are presented in green (FITC), while blue (DAPI) denotes nucleus, (B) Confocal microscopy to detect GRP78 spots 24 h after infection with the interfering cell model. GRP78 spots are presented in green (FITC), while blue (DAPI) denotes nucleus, (C) The expression level of GRP78 mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the interference cells model, (D) The expression level of CHOP mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the interference cells model, (E) The expression level of BAX mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the interference cells model, (E) The expression level of BAX mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the interference cells model, (G) Expression level of CHOP and GRP78 protein after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the interference cells model, (G) Expression levels of CHOP and GRP78 protein after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the interference cells model, (H) The ratio of CHOP (a) and GRP78 (b) relative to β -actin levels was calculated using ImageJ. The experiment was repeated three times and data represent mean \pm SD, (I) Expression levels of Cleaved caspase-3 and BAX protein after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the interference cells model, (J) The ratio of cleaved caspase-3 (a) and BAX (b) relative to β -actin levels was calculated using ImageJ. The experiment was repeated three times and data represent mean \pm SD. **P*<0.05; ***P*<0.01; ****P*<0.001



Fig 4. Expression levels of CHOP, GRP78, caspase-3 and BAX were detected in the overexpressing cell model. (A) Confocal microscopy to detect CHOP spots 24 h after infection with the overexpressing cell model. CHOP spots are presented in green (FITC), while blue (DAPI) denotes nucleus, (B) Confocal microscopy to detect GRP78 spots 24 h after infection with the overexpressing cell model, (C) The expression level of CHOP mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpressing cell model, (D)The expression level of GRP78 mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpressing cell model, (E) The expression level of BAX mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpressing cell model, (E) The expression level of BAX mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpressing cell model, (E) The expression level of BAX mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpressing cell model, (E) The expression level of Cleaved caspase-3 mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpression level of cleaved caspase-3 mRNA was detected by qRT-PCR after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpression levels of CHOP and GRP78 protein after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpressing cell model, (G) Expression levels of CHOP and GRP78 protein after infection with *B. abortus* A19 in the overexpressing cell model, (H) The ratio of CHOP (a) and GRP78 (b) relative to β -actin levels was calculated using ImageJ. The expressing cell model, (J) The ratio of cleaved caspase-3 (a) and BAX (b) relative to β -actin levels was calculated using ImageJ. The *experiment was repeated three times and data represent mean* \pm SD. *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001



Fig 5. Apoptosis and *B. abortus* A19 intracellular survival in the *B. abortus* A19-induced interfering cell model. (A) Detection of apoptosis in *B. abortus* A19-induced interfering cell model cells by flow cytometry, (B) Bar graph of apoptosis rates in *B. abortus* A19-induced interfering cell models, (C) B. abortus A19 bacterial load in a model of interfering cells. ***P<0.001



the overexpression group compared with the control group (*Fig. 4-A,B,C,D,G,H*), and the apoptosis signature molecules Cleaved caspase-3, BAX mRNA transcript and protein expression levels were also significantly reduced (*Fig. 4-E,F,H,J*). This indicates that overexpression of MFN2 gene decreases the ability of *B. abortus* A19 to induce endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis.

B. abortus A19 infection with Macrophages Lacking MFN2 Results in Decreased *B. abortus* A19 Intracellular Survival

B. abortus A19 infection was observed to have an impact on the MFN2 model cells. The cells were lysed at different time intervals and the number of viable bacteria inside the cells was measured. The results showed a significant decrease in the number of intracellular *B. abortus* A19 in the MFN2-interfered group at 12 h and 24 h, as compared to the control group (siMFN2-Negative group) (P<0.001) (*Fig. 5-C*). Additionally, at 24 h post-infection, cells were collected and apoptosis was evaluated using flow cytometry. The findings indicated a significantly higher rate of apoptosis in the MFN2-interfered group, as compared to the control group (siMFN2-Negative group) (P<0.001) (*Fig. 5-A,B*).

Infection of *B. abortus* A19 with Macrophages Overexpressing MFN2 Leads to an Increase in *B. abortus* A19 Intracellular Survival

B. abortus A19 was infected with cells that overexpressed the MFN2 model. The cells were then lysed, and the number of surviving bacteria within the cells was counted. The results showed a significant increase in the number of *B. abortus* A19 within the cells in the MFN2 overexpression group at 24 h, compared to the control group (PCDNA3.1-EGFP) (P=0.020) (*Fig. 6-C*). Furthermore, at 24 h postinfection, cells were collected and assessed for apoptosis using flow cytometry. The results indicated a significantly lower apoptosis rate in the MFN2 overexpression group, compared to the control group (PCDNA3.1-EGFP) (P<0.001) (*Fig. 6-A,B*). These results suggest that MFN2 plays a role in down-regulating programmed death in *B. abortus* A19-infected macrophages and supports the intracellular survival of *Brucella*.

DISCUSSION

Brucella is a very "cunning" pathogen that evades the host immune system by translocating to the endoplasmic reticulum in the form of *Brucella* vesicles, leading to chronic infections ^[21,22]. Macrophages express high levels of MFN2, which not only regulates endoplasmic reticulum stress but also plays a crucial role in immune response regulation ^[23,24]. MFN2 is also involved in maintaining cellular autophagy. In the absence of MFN2 protein, autophagosomes accumulate, leading to reduced

autophagic flux and increased apoptosis. However, this also results in attenuated apoptotic bodies and bacterial phagocytosis ^[25]. Pathogens have developed various mechanisms to manipulate MFN2 and influence their survival within host cells. In this study, we discovered that MFN2 is responsible for down-regulating endoplasmic reticulum stress and programmed cell death in *B. abortus* A19-infected macrophages, thereby supporting the intracellular survival of *B. abortus* A19.

Macrophages are the main target cells of Brucella infections, and in general, Brucella undergo immune escape by inhibiting apoptosis to ensure their intracellular survival ^[26], whereas macrophages themselves enhance the body's killing of pathogenic bacteria and control their intracellular multiplication by regulating apoptosis ^[27]. Among several apoptotic pathways, the endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis pathway is favoured by scholars. The endoplasmic reticulum is involved in the maintenance of cellular homeostasis and can save calcium ions in large quantities, and it is also the main site of Brucella proliferation, when pathogenic bacteria infection, calcium ion homeostasis imbalance and redox environment disorders, it will lead to endoplasmic reticulum stress ^[28], if the endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis can not be restored for a long time, apoptosis will occur, and the ability of Brucella to induce cellular endoplasmic reticulum stress has been proved by a large number of scholars ^[29], the present study found that MFN2 disruption promotes B. abortus A19-induced expression of the endoplasmic reticulum stress signature molecule CHOP and GRP78, whereas MFN2 overexpression does the opposite, indicating that deletion of MFN2 enhances the ability of B. abortus to induce endoplasmic reticulum stress, which is similar to that found in the mouse fibroblast cell model of MFN2 gene deletion ^[23], which may be attributed to the fact that MFN2 deletion affected the coupling between the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria, disrupting the normal morphology of the endoplasmic reticulum, and possibly because MFN2 deletion interfered with the calcium transfer between the two, resulting in an imbalance of calcium ion homeostasis in the endoplasmic reticulum and aggravating the endoplasmic reticulum stress; in addition, we found that MFN2 interference enhanced the expression of Caspase-3 and BAX, a proapoptotic protein induced by B. abortus A19, and the flow results also further demonstrated that apoptosis rate increased after MFN2 interference, while the opposite was true for MFN2 overexpression, suggesting that MFN2 deficiency enhances B. abortus-induced apoptosis, which is similar to the findings of Lee et al. in M. tuberculosisinfected macrophages [30], which may be attributed to the fact that MFN2 deficiency interferes with the normal transmission of calcium ions between the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria, resulting in mitochondrial calcium ions overload and apoptosis, or it may be because MFN2 deficiency exacerbates mitochondrial fragmentation and impairs mitochondrial function and apoptosis occurs, but these are only speculations, and the specific mechanisms remain to be investigated. The results of the intracellular survival assay showed that MFN2 interference decreased the viable bacterial count of B. abortus A19 in macrophages, while the opposite was true for MFN2 overexpression, suggesting that the ability of B. abortus A19 to survive intracellularly was suppressed to a certain extent after MFN2 deletion, which, combined with the results of the apoptosis assay, suggests that it may be due to the fact that MFN2 deletion exacerbated the cellular apoptosis, so that Brucella was deprived of a place to shelter its survival, and thus was recognised and removed by the host, this result is similar to the findings of Lee et al.^[30] in *M. tuberculosis*-infected macrophages, and in contrast to the findings of Lobet et al.^[31] who found that MFN2 deletion did not affect the survival of Brucella in Hela cells, and that the discrepancy the reason may be because RAW264.7 cells are professional phagocytes, which are more sensitive to Brucella invasion and have a stronger ability to bind to Brucella as well as phagocytose and clear Brucella compared to non-professional phagocytes, Hela, or it may be because the B. abortus A19 belongs to a weakly virulent strain, which is inherently weaker in terms of surviving in macrophages ^[32].

In conclusion, as a key regulator of the innate immune response during pathogenic infection, Mfn2 can mediate the down-regulation of endoplasmic reticulum stress and programmed death in *B. abortus* A19-infected macrophages and support the intracellular survival of *Brucella*. The present study provides experimental This study provides an experimental basis for a better understanding of the function of MFN2 gene during *Brucella* infection and the elucidation of the pathogenic mechanism of *Brucella*, as well as a basis for the development of potential targets for preventive and therapeutic programmes against brucellosis.

Declarations

Availability of Data and Materials: Not applicable.

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Funding Support: This research was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (32060789, U1803236), and Major Scientific and Technological Projects of Corps (2017AA003).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): This article and charts are not written by AI and AI-assisted technology.

Author Contributions: ZY, QY and XD: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing the original draft.

ZM, CC and YX: Supervision, Resources, Writing, review and editing. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

1. Wang Y, Ma Z, Zhang H, Yi J, Wang Y, LiT, Chen C: The deletion of Omp19 gene of *Brucella abortus* 2308 reduces its survival in mouse macrophageand in mice. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 26 (6): 749-755, 2020. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2020.24280

2. Nandini P, Jakka P, Murugan S, Mazumdar V, Kumar D, Prakash R, Barbuddhe SB, Radhakrishnan G: Immuno-profiling of *Brucella* proteins for developing improved vaccines and DIVA capable serodiagnostic assays for brucellosis. *Front Microbiol*, 14:1253349, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2023.1253349

3. Gomes MTR, Guimarães ES, Marinho FV, Macedo I, Aguiar ERGR, Barber GN, Moraes-Vieira PMM, Alves-Filho JC, Oliveira SC: STING regulates metabolic reprogramming in macrophages via HIF-1aduring *Brucella* infection. *PLoS Pathog*, 17 (5):e1009597, 2021. DOI: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1009597

4. Luizet JB, Raymond J, Lacerda TLS, Barbieux E, Kambarev S, Bonici M, Lembo F, Willemart K, Borg JP, Celli J, Gérard FCA, Muraille E, Gorvel JP, Salcedo SP: The *Brucella* effector BspL targets the ER-associated degradation (ERAD) pathway and delays bacterial egress from infected cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 118(32):e2105324118, 2021. DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.2105324118

5. Muñoz JP, Ivanova S, Sánchez-Wandelmer J, Martínez-Cristóbal P, Noguera E, Sancho A, Díaz-Ramos A, Hernández-Alvarez MI, Sebastián D, Mauvezin C, Palacín M, Zorzano A: Mfn2 modulates the UPR and mitochondrial function via repression of PERK. *EMBO J*, 32 (17): 2348-2361, 2013. DOI: 10.1002/embj.201470050

6. Wang X, Liu Y, Sun J, Gong W, Sun P, Kong X, Yang M, Zhang W: Mitofusin-2 acts as biomarker for predicting poor prognosis in hepatitis B virus related hepatocellular carcinoma. *Infect Agent Cancer*, 13:36, 2018. DOI: 10.1186/s13027-018-0212-7

7. Huang CY, Chiang SF, Lin TY, Chiou SH, Chow KC: HIV-1 Vpr triggers mitochondrial destruction by impairing Mfn2-mediated ER-mitochondria interaction. *PLoS One*, 7 (3):e33657, 2012. DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0033657

8. Xu F, Qi H, Li J, Sun L, Gong J, Chen Y, Shen A, Li W: *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection up-regulates MFN2 expression to promote NLRP3 inflammasome formation. *J Biol Chem*, 295 (51): 17684-17697, 2020. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.ra120.014077

9. Głowacka P, Żakowska D, Naylor K, Niemcewicz M, Bielawska-Drózd A: *Brucella* - Virulence factors, pathogenesis and treatment. *Pol J Microbiol*, 67 (2): 151-161, 2018. DOI: 10.21307/pjm-2018-029

10. Verbeke, J, Fayt, Y, Martin, L, Yilmaz, O, Sedzicki, J, Reboul, A, Jadot M, Renard P, Dehio C, Renard HF, Letesson JJ, De Bolle X, Arnould T: Host cell egress of *Brucella* abortus requires BNIP3L-mediated mitophagy. *EMBO J*, 42 (14):e112817, 2023. DOI: 10.15252/embj.2022112817

11. Verfaillie T, Garg AD, Agostinis P: Targeting ER stress induced apoptosis and inflammation in cancer. *Cancer Lett*, 332 (2): 249-264, 2013. DOI: 10.1016/j.canlet.2010.07.016

12. Liao, Y, Fung, TS, Huang, M, Fang, SG, Zhong, Y, Liu, DX: Upregulation of CHOP/GADD153 during coronavirus infectious bronchitis virus infection modulates apoptosis by restricting activation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway. *J Virol*, 87 (14): 8124-8134, 2013. DOI: 10.1128/jvi.00626-13

13. Smith JA, Khan M, Magnani DD, Harms JS, Durward M, Radhakrishnan GK, Liu YP, Splitter GA: Brucella induces an unfolded protein response via TcpB that supports intracellular replication in macrophages. *PLoS Pathog*, 9 (12):e1003785, 2013. DOI: 10.1371/journal. ppat.1003785

14. Bronner DN, O'riordan MXD, He Y: Caspase-2 mediates a *Brucella abortus* RB51-induced hybrid cell death having features of apoptosis and pyroptosis. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*, 3:83, 2013. DOI: 10.3389/ fcimb.2013.00083

15. Fernandez-Prada, C, Zelazowska, E, Nikolich, M, Hadfield, TL, Roop, RM, Robertson, GL, Hoover DL: Interactions between *Brucella melitensis* and human phagocytes: bacterial surface O-Polysaccharide inhibits phagocytosis, bacterial killing, and subsequent host cell apoptosis. *Infect Immun*, 71 (4): 2110-2119, 2003. DOI: 10.1128/iai.71.4.2110-2119.2003

16. Brooks C, Dong Z: Regulation of mitochondrial morphological dynamics during apoptosis by Bcl-2 family proteins: A key in Bak? *Cell Cycle*, 6 (24): 3043-3047, 2007. DOI: 10.4161/cc.6.24.5115

17. Brooks C, Wei Q, Feng L, Dong G, Tao Y, Mei L, Xie ZJ, Dong Z: Bak regulates mitochondrial morphology and pathology during apoptosis by interacting with mitofusins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 104 (28): 11649-11654, 2007. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0703976104

18. Deng X, Guo J, Sun Z, Liu L, Zhao T, Li J, Tang G, Zhang H, Wang W, Cao S, Zhu D, Tao T, Cao G, Baryshnikov PI, Chen C, Zhao Z, Chen L, Zhang H: *Brucella*-induced downregulation of lncRNA Gm28309 triggers macrophages inflammatory response through the miR-3068-5p/NF- κ B pathway. *Front Immunol*, 11:581517, 2020. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.805275

19. Wang Y, Xi J, Wu P, Zhang H, Deng X, Wang Y, Ma Z, Yi J, Chen C: Small ubiquitin-related modifier 2 affects the intracellular survival of *Brucella abortus* 2308 by regulating activation of the NF-kB pathway. *Innate Immun*, 27 (1): 81-88, 2021. DOI: 10.1177/1753425920972171

20. Zhang H, Wang B, Wu W, Deng X, Shao Z,Yi J, et al: Insights into irr and rirA gene regulation on the virulence of *Brucella melitensis* M5-90. *Can J Microbiol*, 66 (5): 351-358, 2020. DOI: 10.1139/cjm-2019-0393

21. Wang X, Lin P, Li Y, Xiang C, Yin Y, Chen Z, Wang Z, Yang N, Wang Y, Wang Y, Chen C: *Brucella suis* vaccine strain 2 induces endoplasmic reticulum stress that affects intracellular replication in goat trophoblast cells *in vitro*. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*, 6:19, 2016. DOI: 10.3389/ fcimb.2016.00019

22. Sedzicki J, Tschon T, Low SH, Willemart K, Goldie KN, Letesson JJ, Stahlberg H, Dehio C: 3D correlative electron microscopy reveals continuity of *Brucella*-containing vacuoles with the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Cell Sci*, 131 (4):jcs210799, 2018. DOI: 10.1242/jcs.210799

23. Ngoh GA, Papanicolaou KN, Walsh K: Loss of mitofusin 2 promotes endoplasmic reticulum stress. *J Biol Chem*, 287 (24): 20321-20332, 2012. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.m112.359174

24. Tur J, Pereira-Lopes S, Vico T, Marín EA, Muñoz JP, Hernández-

Alvarez M, Cardona PJ, Zorzano A, Lloberas J, Celada A: Mitofusin 2 in macrophages links mitochondrial ROS production, cytokine release, phagocytosis, autophagy, and bactericidal activity. *Cell Rep*, 32 (8):108079, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.108079

25. Sebastián D, Sorianello E, Segalés J, Irazoki, A, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Sala D, Planet E, Berenguer-Llergo A, Muñoz JP, Sánchez-Feutrie M, Plana N, Hernández-Álvarez MI, Serrano AL, Palacín M, Zorzano A: Mfn2 deficiency links age-related sarcopenia and impaired autophagy to activation of an adaptive mitophagy pathway. *EMBO J*, 35 (15): 1677-1693, 2016. DOI: 10.15252/embj.201593084

26. Cui G, Wei P, Zhao Y, Guan Z, Yang L, Sun W, Wang S, Peng Q: *Brucella* infection inhibits macrophages apoptosis via Nedd4-dependent degradation of calpain2. *Vet Microbiol*, 174 (1-2): 195-205, 2014. DOI: 10.1016/j. vetmic.2014.08.033

27. Dong W, Liu D, Li W, Yun L, Qing T, Fang W, Zhang L, Zhang W: The influence of theapoptosis rate and the expression of caspase-3 in the macrophages infected by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Chin J Immun*, 29 (4): 407-411, 2013. DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-484X.2013.04.017

28. Shin S, Argon Y: Stressed-out endoplasmic reticulum inflames the mitochondria. *Immunity*, 43 (3): 409-411, 2015. DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2015.08.027

29. Roop RM 2nd, Barton IS, Hopersberger D, Martin DW: Uncovering the hidden credentials of *Brucella* virulence. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*, 85 (1):e00021-19 2021. DOI: 10.1128/mmbr.00021-19

30. Lee J, Choi J, Cho SN, Son SH, Song CH: *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* mitofusin 2-deficiency suppresses survival in macrophages. *Cells*, 8 (11):1355, 2019. DOI: 10.3390/cells8111355

31. Lobet E, Willemart K, Ninane N, Demazy C, Sedzicki J, Lelubre, C, De Bolle X, Renard P, Raes M, Dehio C, Letesson JJ, Arnould T: Mitochondrial fragmentation affects neither the sensitivity to TNFα-induced apoptosis of *Brucella*-infected cells nor the intracellular replication of the bacteria. *Sci Rep*, 8 (1):5173, 2018. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-23483-3

32. Cheng Z, Li Z, Yin Y, Lian Z, Abdelgawad HA, Hu H, Guan X, Zuo D, Cai Y, Ding C, Wang S, Li T, Qi J, Tian M, Yu S: Characteristics of *Brucella abortus* vaccine strain A19 reveals its potential mechanism of attenuated virulence. *Vet Microbiol*, 254:109007, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. vetmic.2021.109007

Research Article

Evaluation of Hematological, Proinflammatory and Tumor Markers in Bovine Cutaneous Papillomatosis

Ömer AYDIN^{1 (*)}

¹ Atatürk University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, TR-25240 Erzurum, Türkiye



(*) **Corresponding authors:** Ömer AYDIN Phone: +90 442 231 7167

Cellular phone: +90 534 510 7184 E-mail: aydinomer@atauni.edu.tr

How to cite this article?

Aydın Ö: Evaluation of hematological, proinflammatory and tumor markers in bovine cutaneous papillomatosis. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 699-706, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32369

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32369 Received: 23.05.2024 Accepted: 01.08.2024 Published Online: 19.08.2024

Abstract

Cutaneous papillomatosis occurs as benign tumoral skin lesions in cattle. Although this condition is most commonly observed in young animals, it can occur in cattle of any age. Although tumor necrosis factor alpha, high mobility group box-1 protein, myxovirus resistance protein-1 have been investigated in various tumoral conditions in human medicine, the relationship between these markers and other hematological indices have not been investigated in bovine papillomatosis with benign tumoral lesions. The purpose of the study is to determine the levels of these markers and their relationship with each other and with hematological indices. The study comprised two groups: the bovine papillomatosis (BP) group, consisting of animals with papillomatosis, and the control group, consisting of healthy animals. Each group consisted of 10 animals of different breeds and genders with an age of 1-2 years. In the BP group, there were significant differences in total leukocyte count, neutrophil count, monocyte count, and neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio values, which were higher, and lymphocyte-monocyte ratio values, which were lower. The levels of high mobility group box-1 protein, myxovirus resistance protein-1, and tumor necrosis factor alpha were significantly higher in the BP group compared to the control group. In conclusion, this study showed that there were significant differences in hematological, inflammation and tumor markers in cutaneous papillomatosis.

Keywords: Bovine haematological values, Cutaneous papillomatosis, High mobility group box-1, Myxovirus resistance protein-1, Tumor necrosis factor alpha

INTRODUCTION

Papillomatosis in cattle typically manifests as benign tumoral structures in the cutaneous and mucosal epithelium. Lesions can occur at any age, although the onset of papillomatosis in cattle is usually around 2 years of age ^[1,2]. The literature now lists 14 BPV pathotypes, however there might be as many as 20^[3]. The disease spreads through direct contact, contaminated equipment and food, and the use of contaminated syringes. Additionally, inheritance, sunlight, nutritional and hormonal disorders, and immunosuppression are factors that play a role in the pathogenesis of the disease ^[4]. Arthropods have also been reported to play an important role in transmission. Skin papillomas can spread throughout the body and to the alimentary tract, mammary glands, genital mucosa, and lungs, causing respiratory difficulties, decreased milk yield, and weight loss in animals ^[5,6]. Inflammation in the tumor area is generally initiated locally by inflammatory proteins, cytokines and immune mediators.

These tumor-associated mediators and cytokines are subsequently released into the bloodstream, activating other inflammatory mediators in circulation ^[7]. In human medicine, the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio (LMR) are commonly used as prognostic and survival markers in various types of malignant cancers ^[8,9].

High mobility group box-1 protein (HMGB1) is released from necrotic and inflammatory cells ^[10]. Elevated levels of HMGB1 have been identified as a marker of cancer. HMGB1 diffuses from tumor cells along with other intracellular molecules ^[11]. Overaccumulation of HMGB1 has been reported in cervical carcinomas ^[12]. In addition, HMGB1 increases the stimulation of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin 1 beta and other inflammatory cells, and has many functions such as activation of the innate immune system and dentritic cell activation in cancer ^[10].

TNF- α is a cytokine that is released as an indicator

of the activation of macrophages and other proinflammatory cytokines and is detected in the early stages of inflammation. Additionally, TNF- α plays a crucial role in regulating the immune system ^[13]. In viral infections, TNF- α exhibits antiviral properties by inhibiting virus replication ^[14]. TNF- α has been shown to effectively initiate inflammation and plays an active role in repair and regeneration processes following epidermal injury and infection ^[15].

Myxovirus resistance 1 (Mx1) gene appears to increase in vertebrate viral infections when stimulated by type I and III interferons (IFNs). Myxovirus resistance protein-1 (Mx1) serves as a valuable biomarker for IFN activity and the effectiveness of IFN treatment in specific cancer types ^[16]. It has been reported that Mx1 is associated with various human cancers. Although Mx1 has been implicated in antitumor activity, it is unclear how it affects immune cells in tumoral conditions ^[17]. Mx1 proteins are released upon stimulation of IFNs. Additionally, Mx1 proteins exhibit antiviral properties against many viruses, including influenza viruses ^[18].

The aim of this study is to determine whether markers such as NLR, LMR, TNF- α , HMGB1 and Mx1, which are used as tumor markers in human medicine, can also be used as tumor markers in bovine papillomatosis, a benign tumoral disease, and to investigate the levels of these tumor markers and their correlations with each other and with hematological index values such as NLR and LMR.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

The study was approved by Atatürk University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee (Decision no: 2023/13, Approval date: 20.11.2023). Before taking blood samples from the animals, an "Informed Consent Form" was obtained from the animal owners.

Animals

The animals used in the BP group consisted of animals brought to the Veterinary Hospital of Atatürk University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine with complaints of skin lesions. The healthy group was comprised of animals of different breeds and genders, and animals with no pathological conditions in both clinical and hematological examinations were selected. Each group consisted of 10 animals of different breeds and genders.

Clinical and Hematological Examination

Routine clinical examination (examination of lymph nodes, heart and respiratory rate, body temperature, dehydration status, etc.), skin examination and hemogram analysis (Abacus junior Vet 5, Hungary) were performed on both healthy animals and animals with papillomatosis. The diagnosis of papillomatosis was made based on clinical observations. Animals with any other disease in their clinical and hematological examinations were excluded from the study. In order to create uniformity in the clinical examination of animals and to avoid different interpretations, an examination protocol was carried out by a researcher.

Blood Collection and Handling

Blood samples were taken from the jugular veins of the animals using a 20 mL needle (18 G, 1.20 x 38 mm, Berika, Türkiye). Hematological examinations of these blood samples were immediately performed by placing 2 mL into tubes containing ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) and their analyses were performed. For biochemical analyses, 8 mL blood samples were taken into serum tubes (BD Vacutainer[®] SSTTM II Advance, UK) and kept at room temperature for 30 min. The serum tubes were then centrifuged in a refrigerated centrifuge (Beckman Coulter Allegra X-30R, USA) at 3000 rpm for 10 min. The sera obtained were transferred to Eppendorf tubes and stored

Table 1. Comparison of mean \pm SD and median values of hematologicalindex in bovine papillomatosis and control group							
Parameters	Control Mean±SD	BP Mean±SD	Р				
WBC (×10 ³ /µL)	7.72±1.19	18.76±3.78	< 0.001				
LYM (×10 ³ /µL)	4.13±0.84	4.60±0.96	>0.05				
NEU (×10 ³ /µL)	3.34±0.95	13.22±3.06	< 0.001				
NLR	0.84±0.29	2.91±0.59	< 0.001				
LMR	23.51±4.07	6.12±2.01	< 0.001				
Parameter	Median (Q1-Q3)	Median (Q1-Q3)	P/Mann Whitney U				
MON (×10 ³ /µL) 0.15 (0.14-0.24) 0.74 (0.57-0.99) <0.001/<0.0001							
WBC: Total leukocyte count; LYM: Lymphocyte; MON: Monocyte; NEU: Neutrophil;							

WBC: Total leukocyte count; **LYM:** Lymphocyte; **MON:** Monocyte; **NEU:** Neutrophil; **NLR:** Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; **LMR:** Lymphocyte to monocyte ratio. P<0.05 is statistically significant

Table 2. Comparison of mean \pm SD and median values of inflammationand tumor marker in bovine papillomatosis and control group						
Parameter	Control Mean±SD	BP Mean±SD	Р			
Mx1 (ng/mL)	8.66±2.59	12.83±3.00	< 0.01			
Parameters	Median (Q1-Q3)	Median (Q1-Q3)	P/Mann Whitney U			
HMGB1(ng/mL)	26.82 (22.55-29.26)	46.42 (35.31-60.41)	<0.01/8.00			
	110 50	016 55				

BP: Bovine papillamotosis; **Mx1:** Myxovirus resistance protein-1; **HMGB1:** Highmobility group box-1 protein; **TNF-α:** Tumor necrosis factor alpha. P<0.05 is statistically significant

Table 3. Spearman correlation relations between values									
Parameters	WBC	LYM	MON	NEU	NLR	LMR	HMGB1	Mx1	TNF-α
WBC	1.000	0.519*	0.916**	0.944**	0.864**	-0.842**	0.484*	0.634**	0.622**
LYM		1.000	0.542*	0.328	0.073	-0.292	-0.115	0.149	-0.011
MON			1.000	0.836**	0.728**	-0.928**	0.505*	0.576**	0.671**
NEU				1.000	0.946**	-0.816**	0.582**	0.652**	0.658**
NLR					1.000	-0.764**	0.652**	0.649**	0.711**
LMR						1.000	-0.610**	-0.597**	-0.762**
HMGB1							1.000	0.295	0.713**
Mx1								1.000	0.701**
TNF-α									1.000
						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

WBC: Total leukocyte count; LYM: Lymphocyte; MON: Monocyte; NEU: Neutrophil; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; LMR: Lymphocyte to monocyte ratio; HMGB1: Highmobility group box 1 protein; Mx1: Myxovirus resistance protein-1; TNF-α: Tumor necrosis factor alpha. * Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level; ** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level

in a deep-freeze refrigerator (Esco Lexicon[®] ULT Freezer, USA) at -80[°]C until analysis.

Assays for Serum High Mobility Group Box-1 Protein, Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha, and Myxovirus Resistance Protein-1

Serum levels of HMGB1, TNF- α , and Mx1 were measured using a commercial ELISA test kit (Bovine BT Lab., Zhejiang, China) following the manufacturer's instructions. The ELISA procedures were also processed and shaped in the ELISA reader device (BioTek μ Quant MQX200 ELISA Reader, USA).

Statistical Analysis

A study was conducted on cattle with papillomatosis to evaluate their peripheral blood hematologically and immunophenotypically. Each group consisted of 5 cattle. The study also included a power analysis of hematologic index values (\geq 95% power ratio (effect size=2.84; α =0.05; distribution ratio=1:1), which revealed that the study could be conducted on at least 4 animals^[19]. Power analysis was performed using G*Power[®] version (3.1.9.4, Franz Faul, Universität Kiel, Germany). Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 27.0.1 software.



Fig 1. A-B: Umbilical and abdominal papillomatosis lesions. The arrow indicates the papillomatosis lesion

The Shapiro-Wilk normality test was used to assess the normal distribution of the data, and Levene's test was conducted to determine the homogeneity of the data. Descriptive statistics were presented as number of units (n) and mean \pm standard deviation ($\overline{x}\pm sd$) for normally distributed data and as quartiles (Q1-Q3) for nonnormally distributed data. To determine the difference between groups, the independent samples *t*-test was used for normally distributed data, and the Mann-Whitney U test was used for non-normally distributed data. Spearman correlation analysis was used to determine the correlation between the data. As stated by Chan^[20], a correlation coefficient (*rho*) <0.3 is considered as a very weak correlation, 0.3-0.5 is considered as a moderate correlation, 0.6-0.8 is considered as a strong correlation, and a correlation coefficient value of ≥ 0.8 is considered as a very strong correlation in Spearman's correlation coefficient analysis.

RESULTS

Clinical and Hematological Findings

In clinical examinations of cattle with papillomatosis, it was determined that cauliflower-like skin lesions were formed in the abdominal region and linea alba region (*Fig. 1*). Although other clinical examinations (such as respiration rate, pulsation, rectal temperature) of these animals were within the reference range, hematological examinations revealed that the values of total leukocyte count (WBC), neutrophil count (NEU), monocyte count (MON) and NLR were significantly higher in the BP group than in the control group (P<0.001). Additionally, LMR value in the BP group was statistically lower than that in the control group (P<0.001). However, there was no significant difference between the groups in terms of lymphocyte count (LYM) (P>0.05) (*Table 1*) (*Fig. 2*). Animals in both groups consist of 1-2 years old animals.



Inflammation and Tumor Marker Findings

Table 2 shows the serum values of HMGB1, TNF- α , and Mx1. Cattle with BP had significantly higher serum Mx1, HMGB1 and TNF- α levels compared to the control group (P<0.01; P<0.01; P<0.001, respectively) (*Fig. 3*).

Correlation Findings of Hematological, Inflammatory and Tumor Markers

The correlation table for these markers is shown in *Table 3*. WBC was moderately correlated with LYM and HMGB1 (*rho*=0.519; P<0.05, *rho*=0.484; P<0.05, respectively).

WBC was found to be very strongly correlated with MON, NEU, NLR and LMR (*rho*=0.916, 0.944, 0.864, and -0.842; all P values<0.01, respectively). WBC showed a strong correlation with both Mx1 and TNF- α (*rho*=0.634; P<0.01; *rho*=0.622; P<0.01, respectively). There was a moderate correlation between the values of LYM and MON (*rho*=0.542; P<0.05). The MON value showed a very strong correlation with both NEU and LMR (*rho*=0.836, -0.928, respectively; both P values <0.01). The MON value showed a strong correlation with both NLR and TNF- α (*rho*=0.728; 0.671, respectively; both P values

AYDIN



Fig 3. Boxplot diagram of inflammatory and tumor markers values between groups. Star and circles indicate outliers

P<0.01). The MON value showed moderate correlation with HMGB1 (rho=0.505; P<0.05) and Mx1 (rho=0.576; P<0.01). NEU was very strongly correlated with both NLR (rho=0.946, P<0.01) and LMR (rho=-0.816, P<0.01). A moderate correlation was found between NEU and HMGB1 (rho=0.582; P<0.01), while a strong correlation was found between NEU and Mx1 and TNF-α (rho=0.652, 0.658, respectively; both P values <0.01). NLR was found to be strongly correlated with LMR, HMGB1, Mx1, and TNF-a (*rho*=-0.764, 0.652, 0.649, 0.711, respectively; all P values <0.01). LMR was found to have a strong correlation with HMGB1 and TNF-a (rho=-0.610, -0.762; P<0.01, respectively). Additionally, LMR was moderately correlated with Mx1 (rho=-0.597; P<0.01). Strong correlations were obtained between HMGB1 and TNF-α (*rho*=0.713; P<0.01) and between Mx1 and TNF-α (rho=0.701; P<0.01). The correlation of the values is also presented in Fig. 4.

DISCUSSION

Bovine papillomatosis is a viral disease caused by bovine papillomaviruses that result in benign tumor-like skin lesions ^[21]. Skin papillomas in cattle mostly occur on the head and neck, and in some animals, on other parts of the

WBC		¥.	£	\$	* *	Ť.,	•••	, T	. ę.
TYM	žz		Ë.	ř.	35	ç.;	¥7.	×.	.i::
NON	فنه	નાં			. 4	1. 		نند	. هم.
NEU	~	<u>پار</u>	.		, K	?	25	Ľ.	.*
NLR	:\$ 4	:4	\$ 1	ب ه		₹.,	i 4 ² A-	Ï	• ^{\$:}
LMR	4. 	 	١.	•	*,,,		ţ.	ş:ř	? . ,
HMCBI		4	£.,	5. ⁷⁴	<u>پ</u> ې	7.,			·j
Mxd	} ,2	¥	¥ .'	肉	ţ,	24	ķ		<u>,</u> (*
TNF-0.	, [:] *	÷	s.	•*•	ملاج	٤	5.	, di	
	WBC	LYM	MON	NEU	NLR	LMR	HMGB1	Mx1	TNF-a



body ^[22]. In this study, cutaneous papillomatosis lesions were found on the linea alba and around the abdomen in all animals in the BP group. It was also observed that the age of the animals affected by cutaneous papillomatosis in the current study was between 1-2 years of age.

Imbalances in WBC have been shown to indicate a poor prognosis in hepatocellular carcinoma ^[23]. However, since there is a balance between neutrophil and lymphocyte counts in maintaining the immune system, polymorphonuclear leukocytes and WBC alone are not reliable prognostic markers ^[24]. On the other hand, NLR has been shown to be a prognostic marker in certain types of cancer ^[25]. Lymphocytes actively regulate the immune system in tumoral conditions. Therefore, low lymphocyte levels can trigger both tumor development and increased susceptibility to metastasis [26]. Circulating monocytes have been reported to trigger tumor cell growth and aid in their evasion of the immune system's control [27]. It has been reported that papillomavirus-like particle structures interact with immune system cells such as monocytes, dendritic cells, B lymphocytes, and this is shaped by the effect of the immune response to papillomavirus [28]. Additionally, there is a strong correlation between systemic inflammation and the development of cancer. While the antitumor effects of neutrophils are wellestablished, it has been reported that an increase in the relative number of neutrophils can also lead to an increase in inflammatory markers, such as anti-apoptotic substances and pro-angiogenic growth factors [29]. IL-6 and TNF- α are the major cytokines that increase the spreading of polymorphonuclear neutrophils [30]. A study on cattle with mastitis reported an increase in NLR levels parallel to the increase in TNF- α , caused by an increase in the inflammatory response [31]. Although the hematological examinations of healthy animals were within normal physiological limits, the study found a higher NLR rate in cattle with cutaneous papillomatosis and a lower LMR rate. It is seen that the reason for the change in NLR ratio here is due to the increase in inflammatory mediators ^[29,31], and the change in LMR status is due to monocytosis. The significant increase in monocyte levels in the BP group may be due to an immune system response to papillomavirus ^[28].

During the early phase of inflammation, TNF- α induces other chemokines that direct neutrophils and macrophages towards the skin epidermis. Furthermore, TNF- α contributes to the repair of damaged skin, in addition to initiating the innate immune system and inflammatory phase ^[32]. A study conducted in cattle with lumpy skin disease (LSD) reported that the increase in proinflammatory cytokine levels (IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α) may be caused by the systemic inflammatory response in LSD ^[33]. Another study conducted in cattle

with trichophytosis found a significant increase in TNF- α levels in the patient group compared to the control group, possibly due to the increase in the inflammatory state ^[34]. In this study, like the previous studies, cattle in the BP group showed a significant increase in TNF- α levels compared to the control group. This may be due to the systemic inflammatory response, as noted by Kamr et al.^[33]. The study found strong correlations between HMGB1 and TNF- α (*rho*=0.713; P<0.01), Mx1 and TNF- α (*rho*=0.701; P<0.01), and NLR and TNF- α (*rho*=0.711; P<0.01), suggesting the formation of an inflammatory response in cattle with cutaneous papillomatosis.

Mx1 is an indicator of the antiviral status induced by IFNs in many species. Studies have shown that Mx proteins inhibit the activity of Orthomyxoviridae, Rhabdoviridae, and Bunyaviridae viruses [35,36]. Additionally, it regulates the activity of IFNs in controlling normal and tumor cell metastasis. Mx1 has therefore been shown to be a tumor suppressor and a prognostic marker in tumoral conditions [37]. Evidence of a strong link between Mx1 protein and cutaneous squamous cell carcinomas has been reported due to marked hemostasis impairment caused by mutations (L95P, P96S, and P218S) [38]. A study conducted on patients with prostate cancer found high levels of Mx1. It was concluded that Mx1 plays an important role in suppressing tumor progression in this type of cancer ^[39]. Mx1 may be an indicator of disease resistance in livestock [40]. In this study, Mx1 levels were significantly higher in cattle in the BP group compared to the control group. It is thought that this may be related to both the ability of Mx1 to inhibit virus replication ^[36] and its suppressive property in tumoral tissues [39]. In cattle administered lipopolysaccharide (LPS) during early pregnancy, an increase in Mx1 gene expression was observed alongside an increase in TNF-a levels in response to an inflammatory stimulus. It has been suggested by the authors that this may be a regulatory response to the uterine proinflammatory response [41]. In the present study, a strong correlation was found between TNF-α and Mx1 (rho=0.701; P<0.01), suggesting that an increase in Mx1 status may serve as a regulatory response against the inflammatory state in cutaneous papillomatosis.

HMGB1 is a proinflammatory cytokine that is released by activated monocytes and dendritic cells or damaged and dead cells ^[42]. Extracellular HMGB1 has many important functions, such as inducing TNF- α , IL-1 β , and other inflammatory cytokines, as well as promoting dendritic cell maturation. These processes play an active role in the chronic inflammatory process in cancer diseases ^[10]. In viral infections, such as respiratory syncytial virus ^[43], herpes simplex virus type-1 ^[44], and herpes simplex virus type-2 ^[45], HMGB1 levels have been reported to increase in direct proportion to the severity of the inflammatory condition. Similarly, in a study conducted in cattle with bovine herpes virus-1, HMGB1 levels were shown to increase ^[46]. In this study, HMGB1 levels were found to be higher in cattle in the BP group compared to the control group, which may be related to the severity of the inflammatory condition, as stated by Workenhe et al.^[45]. HMGB1 can activate nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B), which in turn increases the stimulation of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β ^[47]. The strong correlation between HMGB1 and TNF- α in this study (*rho*=0.713; P<0.01) indicates the severity of the inflammatory state in cutaneous papillomatosis.

There are several limitations in this study. Although clinical findings can be used to diagnose cutaneous papillomatosis, other methods such as histopathology, electron microscopic examination, polymerase chain reaction, and viral genetic analysis can be used to determine the type of virus [48-50]. In the animals included in the study, diagnosis was made only on the basis of clinical findings of cutaneous lesions. Additionally, while the number of animals used in the study was supported by power analysis, it is possible that different results may be obtained in a study with a larger patient group. Finally, only a single blood sample was collected from both patient and control animals in this study. In addition to the markers investigated in the current study for this disease, studies conducted with different inflammatory markers, such as acute phase proteins, and simultaneous investigation of repeatedly taken blood samples may provide additional information about the disease.

In conclusion, this study found significant changes in hematological parameters, HMGB1, and Mx1, which are used as inflammatory and tumor markers, as well as TNF- α , a proinflammatory marker, in bovine cutaneous papillomatosis. These markers may provide useful information in determining the inflammatory status of the disease.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets used and/ or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author (Ö. Aydın) on reasonable request.

Acknowledgements: The author would like to thank Prof. Dr. Betül Apaydın Yıldırım for her help in biochemical analyses.

Funding Support: The study was not supported by any institution, private organization or company.

Competing Interests: The author declares that there is no competing interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The author declare that the article and/or tables and figures were not written/ created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

REFERENCES

1. Jelínek F, Tachezy R: Cutaneous papillomatosis in cattle. *J Comp Pathol*, 132 (1): 70-81, 2005. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcpa.2004.07.001

2. Cihan M, Özaydın İ, Özba B, Baran V: Clinical effects of levamisole in bovine papillomatosis. *Indian Vet J*, 81 (3): 321-323, 2004.

3. Ugochukwu ICI, Aneke CI, Idoko IS, Sani NA, Amoche AJ, Mshiela WP, Ede RE, Ibrahim NDG, Njoku CIO, Sackey AKB: Bovine papilloma: Aetiology, pathology, immunology, disease status, diagnosis, control, prevention and treatment: A review. *Comp Clin Pathol*, 28, 737-745, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/s00580-018-2785-3

4. Ranjan R, Ghumman SPS, Bhatt GR, Singh RS: Efficacy of autogenous vaccine and auto-hemotherapy in bovine cutaneous papillomatosis. *Intas Polivet*, 14 (2): 411-414, 2013.

5. Campo MS: Animal models of papillomavirus pathogenesis. *Virus Res*, 89 (2): 249-261, 2002. DOI: 10.1016/s0168-1702(02)00193-4

6. Munday JS: Bovine and human papillomaviruses: A comparative review. *Vet Pathol*, 51 (6): 1063-1075, 2014. DOI: 10.1177/0300985814537837

7. Diakos CI, Charles KA, McMillan DC, Clarke SJ: Cancer-related inflammation and treatment effectiveness. *Lancet Oncol*, 15(11):e493-503, 2014. DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70263-3

8. Cannon NA, Meyer J, Iyengar P, Ahn C, Westover KD, Choy H, Timmerman R: Neutrophil-lymphocyte and platelet-lymphocyte ratios as prognostic factors after stereotactic radiation therapy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol*, 10 (2): 280-285, 2015. DOI: 10.1097/JTO.00000000000399

9. Wang HK, Wei Q, Yang YL, Lu TY, Yan Y, Wang F: Clinical usefulness of the lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio and aggregate index of systemic inflammation in patients with esophageal cancer: A retrospective cohort study. *Cancer Cell Int*, 23 (1):13, 2023. DOI: 10.1186/s12935-023-02856-3

10. Dong Xda E, Ito N, Lotze MT, Demarco RA, Popovic P, Shand SH, Watkins S, Winikoff S, Brown CK, Bartlett DL, Zeh HJ 3rd: High mobility group box I (HMGB1) release from tumor cells after treatment: Implications for development of targeted chemoimmunotherapy. *J Immunother*, 30 (6): 596-606, 2007. DOI: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e31804efc76

11. Tang D, Kang R, Zeh HJ 3rd, Lotze MT: High-mobility group box 1 and cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1799 (1-2): 131-40, 2010. DOI: 10.1016/j. bbagrm.2009.11.014

12. Kumar V, Bauer C, Stewart JH 4th: Time is ticking for cervical cancer. *Biology (Basel)*, 12 (7):941, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/biology12070941

13. Francisco NM, Hsu NJ, Keeton R, Randall P, Sebesho B, Allie N, Govender D, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B, Kellaway L, Jacobs M: TNF-dependent regulation and activation of innate immune cells are essential for host protection against cerebral tuberculosis. *J Neuroinflammation*, 12:125, 2015. DOI: 10.1186/s12974-015-0345-1

14. Sordillo LM, Peel JE: Effect of interferon-gamma on the production of tumor necrosis factor during acute *Escherichia coli* mastitis. *J Dairy Sci*, 75 (8): 2119-2125, 1992. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)77971-5

15. Banno T, Gazel A, Blumenberg M: Effects of tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF alpha) in epidermal keratinocytes revealed using global transcriptional profiling. *J Biol Chem*, 279 (31): 32633-3242, 2004. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M400642200

16. Santhakumar D, Rubbenstroth D, Martinez-Sobrido L, Munir M: Avian interferons and their antiviral effectors. *Front Immunol*, 8:49, 2017. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00049

17. Samaka RM, Basha MA, Fayed WW: Immunohistochemical expression of myxovirus resistant protein 1 in squamous cell carcinoma. *Menoufia Med J*, 34 (3):941, 2021.

18. Haller O, Kochs G: Human MxA protein: An interferon-induced dynamin-like GTPase with broad antiviral activity. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 31 (1): 79-87, 2011. DOI: 10.1089/jir.2010.0076

19. Bassi PB, Araujo FF, Garcia GC, Costa E Silva MF, Bittar ER, Bertonha CM, Martins-Filho OA, Araujo MSS, Bittar JF: Haematological and immunophenotypic evaluation of peripheral blood cells of cattle naturally infected with bovine papillomavirus. *Vet J*, 244, 112-115, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2018.12.004

20. Chan YH: Biostatistics 104: Correlational analysis. *Singapore Med J*, 44 (12): 614-619, 2003.

706

21. Olson C: Papillomatosis in cattle. **In**, Howard JL (Ed): Current Veterinary Therapy 3 & Food Animal Practice. 430- 431, Saunders WB, Philadelphia, 1993.

22. Börkü MK, Atalay O, Kibar M, Cam Y, Atasever A: Ivermectin is an effective treatment for bovine cutaneous papillomatosis. *Res Vet Sci*, 83 (3): 360-363, 2007. DOI: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2007.01.016

23. Luo Q, Wang C, Peng B, Pu X, Cai L, Liao H, Chen K, Zhang C, Cheng Y, Pan M: Circulating tumor-cell-associated white blood cell clusters in peripheral blood indicate poor prognosis in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Front Oncol*, 10:1758, 2020. DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01758

24. Sun H, Hu P, Shen H, Dong W, Zhang T, Liu Q, Du J: Albumin and neutrophil combined prognostic grade as a new prognostic factor in non-small cell lung cancer: Results from a large consecutive cohort. *PLoS One*, 10 (12):e0144663, 2015. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144663

25. Misiewicz A, Dymicka-Piekarska V: Fashionable, but what is their real clinical usefulness? NLR, LMR, and PLR as a promising indicator in colorectal cancer prognosis: A systematic review. *J Inflamm Res*, 16, 69-81, 2023. DOI: 10.2147/JIR.S391932

26. De Giorgi U, Mego M, Scarpi E, Giuliano M, Giordano A, Reuben JM, Valero V, Ueno NT, Hortobagyi GN, Cristofanilli M: Relationship between lymphocytopenia and circulating tumor cells as prognostic factors for overall survival in metastatic breast cancer. *Clin Breast Cancer*, 12 (4): 264-269, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j.clbc.2012.04.004

27. Ugel S, Canè S, De Sanctis F, Bronte V: Monocytes in the tumor microenvironment. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 16, 93-122, 2021. DOI: 10.1146/ annurev-pathmechdis-012418-013058

28. Da Silva DM, Velders MP, Nieland JD, Schiller JT, Nickoloff BJ, Kast WM: Physical interaction of human papillomavirus virus-like particles with immune cells. *Int Immunol*, 13 (5): 633-641, 2001. DOI: 10.1093/ intimm/13.5.633

29. Grecian R, Whyte MKB, Walmsley SR: The role of neutrophils in cancer. *Br Med Bull*, 128 (1): 5-14, 2018. DOI: 10.1093/bmb/ldy029

30. Zhao Y, Cooper DKC, Wang H, Chen P, He C, Cai Z, Mou L, Luan S, Gao H: Potential pathological role of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- α , and IL-17) in xenotransplantation. *Xenotransplantation*, 26 (3):e12502, 2019. DOI: 10.1111/xen.12502

31. Guan RW, Wang DM, Wang BB, Jiang LY, Liu JX: Prognostic potential of pre-partum blood biochemical and immune variables for postpartum mastitis risk in dairy cows. *BMC Vet Res*, 16 (1):136, 2020. DOI: 10.1186/ s12917-020-02314-6

32. Wakefield PE, James WD, Samlaska CP, Meltzer MS: Tumor necrosis factor. *J Am Acad Dermatol*, 24 (5 Pt 1): 675-685. 1991, DOI: 10.1016/0190-9622(91)70102-8

33. Kamr A, Hassan H, Toribio R, Anis A, Nayel M, Arbaga A: Oxidative stress, biochemical, and histopathological changes associated with acute lumpy skin disease in cattle. *Vet World*, 15 (8): 1916-1923, 2022. DOI: 10.14202/vetworld.2022.1916-1923

34. Zoroğlan CÇ, Merhan O: Determination of levels of some acute phase proteins, tumor necrosis factor- α , interleukin-1 and interleukin-6 in cattle with trichophythosis. *Animal Health Prod Hyg*, 12 (1): 15-19, 2023. DOI: 10.53913/aduveterinary.1219029

35. Arnheiter H, Skuntz S, Noteborn M, Chang S, Meier E: Transgenic mice with intracellular immunity to influenza virus. *Cell*, 62 (1): 51-61, 1990. DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90239-b

36. Haller O, Staeheli P, Kochs G: Interferon-induced Mx proteins in antiviral host defense. *Biochimie*, 89 (6-7): 812-818, 2007. DOI: 10.1016/j. biochi.2007.04.015

37. Glymph S, Mandal S, Knowell AE, Abebe F, Chaudhary J: The myxovirus resistance A (MxA) gene -88G>T single nucleotide polymorphism is associated with prostate cancer. *Infect Genet Evol*, 16, 186-190, 2013. DOI: 10.1016/j.meegid.2013.02.010

38. Hu JL, Hua YJ, Chen Y, Yu B, Gao S: Structural analysis of tumorrelated single amino acid mutations in human MxA protein. *Chin J Cancer*, 34 (12): 583-593, 2015. DOI: 10.1186/s40880-015-0055-1

39. Brown SG, Knowell AE, Hunt A, Patel D, Bhosle S, Chaudhary J: Interferon inducible antiviral MxA is inversely associated with prostate cancer and regulates cell cycle, invasion and Docetaxel induced apoptosis. *Prostate*, 75 (3): 266-279, 2015. DOI: 10.1002/pros.22912

40. Morozumi T, Sumantri C, Nakajima E, Kobayashi E, Asano A, Oishi T, Mitsuhashi T, Watanabe T, Hamasima N: Three types of polymorphisms in exon 14 in porcine Mx1 gene. *Biochem Genet*, 39 (7-8): 251-260, 2001. DOI: 10.1023/a:1010230715605

41. Fernandes ACC, Davoodi S, Kaur M, Veira D, Melo LEH, Cerri RLA: Effect of repeated intravenous lipopolysaccharide infusions on systemic inflammatory response and endometrium gene expression in Holstein heifers. *J Dairy Sci*, 102 (4): 3531-3543, 2019. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2018-14616

42. Xue J, Suarez JS, Minaai M, Li S, Gaudino G, Pass HI, Carbone M, Yang H: HMGB1 as a therapeutic target in disease. *J Cell Physiol*, 236 (5): 3406-3419, 2021. DOI: 10.1002/jcp.30125

43. Niu M, Jiang Z, Xin X, Zhu J, Yang J, Diao M, Qi G, Qi B: Effect of HMGB1 on monocyte immune function in respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. *Exp Ther Med*, 21 (1): 75, 2021. DOI: 10.3892/etm.2020.9507

44. Takasu A, Masui A, Hamada M, Imai T, Iwai S, Yura Y: Immunogenic cell death by oncolytic herpes simplex virus type 1 in squamous cell carcinoma cells. *Cancer Gene Ther*, 23 (4): 107-113, 2016. DOI: 10.1038/cgt.2016.8

45. Workenhe ST, Simmons G, Pol JG, Lichty BD, Halford WP, Mossman KL: Immunogenic HSV-mediated oncolysis shapes the antitumor immune response and contributes to therapeutic efficacy. *Mol Ther*, 22 (1): 123-131, 2014. DOI: 10.1038/mt.2013.238

46. Fan W, Yuan W, Ding X, Zhu L: β -catenin has potential effects on the expression, subcellular localization, and release of high mobility group box 1 during bovine herpesvirus 1 productive infection in MDBK cell culture. *Virulence*, 12 (1): 1345-1361, 2021. DOI: 10.1080/21505594.2021.1926409

47. Rauvala H, Rouhiainen A: RAGE as a receptor of HMGB1 (Amphoterin): Roles in health and disease. *Curr Mol Med*, 7 (8): 725-734, 2007. DOI: 10.2174/156652407783220750

48. Turk N, Župančić Ž, Starešina V, Kovač S, Babić T, Kreszinger M, Ćurić S, Barbić L, Milas Z: Severe bovine papillomatosis: detection of bovine papillomavirus in tumour tissue and efficacy of treatment using autogenous vaccine and parammunity inducer. *Vet Arhiv*, 75 (5): 391-397, 2005.

49. Yhee JY, Kwon BJ, Kim JH, Yu CH, Im KS, Lee SS, Lyoo YS, Chang BJ, Sur JH: Characterization of canine oral papillomavirus by histopathological and genetic analysis in Korea. *J Vet Sci*, 11 (1): 21-25, 2010. DOI: 10.4142/ jvs.2010.11.1.21

50. van Dyk E, Bosman AM, van Wilpe E, Williams JH, Bengis RG, van Heerden J, Venter EH: Detection and characterisation of papillomavirus in skin lesions of giraffe and sable antelope in South Africa. *J S Afr Vet Assoc*, 82 (2): 80-85, 2011. DOI: 10.4102/jsava.v82i2.39

Research Article

Molecular Investigation of Viral Agents in Cattle with Respiratory System Problems[#]

Ekin Emre ERKILIÇ^{1 (*)} DNüvit COŞKUN² Ali Haydar KIRMIZIGÜL¹ Volkan YILMAZ² Enes AKYÜZ¹ Mert SEZER¹

Presented as a poster at the 14th National - 3rd International Veterinary Internal Medicine Congress, 30 November-03 December 2023, Marmaris, TÜRKİYE

¹Kafkas University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Kars, TÜRKİYE

²Kafkas University Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Virology, Kars, TÜRKİYE



(*) Corresponding authors:
 Ekin Emre ERKILIÇ
 Phone: +90 474 242 6836/5235
 E-mail: ekin_emre_24@hotmail.com

How to cite this article?

Erkılıç EE, Coşkun N, Kırmızıgül AH, Yılmaz V, Akyüz E, Sezer M: Molecular investigation of viral agents in cattle with respiratory system problems. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 707-712, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32389

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32389 Received: 29.05.2024 Accepted: 31.07.2024 Published Online: 19.08.2024

Abstract

This study was carried out to investigate viral etiology using molecular methods in cattle with respiratory system problems. The animal material of the study consisted of 200 cattle of different breeds, age and sex, which were not vaccinated against bovine parainfluenza virus 3 (BPIV-3), bovine viral diarrhoea virus (BVDV), bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV) and Bovine adenovirus-3 (BAV-3), brought to the clinics of Kafkas University Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, with respiratory system complaints and found to have abnormal respiratory system findings after clinical examination. Blood and swab (if animals had nasal discharge) samples were collected. PCR was performed, positive samples were sent for sequence analysis and the data were subjected to phylogenetic analysis. BVD was detected in 3 of the blood samples collected. From the swab samples; BVD was detected in 8 animals, BPIV-3 in 3 animals, and BRSV in 4 animals. BAV-3 was not detected in any of the collected samples. As a result of the phylogenetic analysis, it was determined that BVD viruses were classified as BVDV-1a, BPIV-3 viruses as genotype C and BRSV viruses as subgroup III (subgroup A). It is thought that these data will be help in guiding in the struggle against viral agents that frequently cause respiratory system diseases.

Keywords: Cattle, Respiratory system, BPIV-3, BVDV, BRSV, BAV-3

INTRODUCTION

The etiology of respiratory system diseases in cattle has a complex structure. This disease can be caused by bacteria and viruses and is called Bovine respiratory disease complex ^[1-3]. The diagnosis of this disease complex is usually made by multiplex ELISA kits ^[4,5]. Viral agents frequently involved in this disease complex generally include bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV), bovine parainfluenza virus 3 (BPIV-3), bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) and bovine adenovirus (BAV) ^{[4,6].}

Bovine adenovirus (BAV) is a non-enveloped DNA virus and belongs to the *Adenoviridae* family. BAV type-3 is found within *Mastedenovirus* genus ^[7,8]. The agent, which has ten serotypes (BAV 1-10), plays a role in respiratory and enteric infections causing clinical findings such as conjunctivitis, pneumonia, polyarthritis, and diarrhea in calves ^[9]. BRSV is also known as Bovine orthopneumovirus. Virus is classified in genus *Pneumovirus* which belongs to the *Pneumoviridae* family. Its genetic material is a single-stranded enveloped RNA. The most severe clinical signs of Bovine respiratory syncytial virus (BRSV) are observed in calves aged 2 weeks to 6 months ^[10-12]. BRSV can be asymptomatic or cause respiratory infections in varying severities. Although cattle under six months of age are more susceptible to the disease, it can be seen frequently in cattle aged 3-12 months ^[13].

Bovine Parainfluenza type 3 (BPIV-3) is located in the *Respirovirus* genus in the *Paramyxoviridae* family ^[14-16]. The causative agent is an enveloped RNA virus. It causes clinical outcomes ranging from asymptomatic infections to serious respiratory problems. Cough, fever and nasal discharge are the main clinical findings ^[17].

Bovine Viral Diarrhea (BVD) virus which is classified

in the genus *Pestivirus* and *Flaviviridae* family ^[18,19], has an RNA genome ^[20]. It can cause abortion, diarrhea, respiratory system symptoms or severe pneumonia by involving in mix infections with other agents ^[18].

The aim of this study was to determine the presence of viral agents in cattle with respiratory system problems and make molecular characterization of these strains.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

This study is approved by Kafkas University Local Ethics Committee of Animal Experiments with permission number (KAÜ-HADYEK/2020-031).

Sampled Animals

The study included 200 cattle of different age, sex and breed with clinical respiratory system symptoms that were brought to the clinics of the Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University. These animals were not vaccinated against the viruses that were investigated in the study (BPIV-3, BVDV, RSV and BAV-3). From these cattle, 200 blood and 63 nasal swab samples were collected. Swab samples were collected from animals with nasal discharge.

Blood Samples

Blood was collected from the *vena jugularis* into tubes with EDTA (BD Vacutainer[®], BD, UK). Blood samples in EDTA tubes were centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 minutes. The leukocyte layer was removed with a Pasteur pipette and transferred to stock tubes containing 2 mL Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS). The samples were stored in a -20°C deep freezer until testing.

Nasal Swab Samples

The swabs were taken by pressing and rubbing to the nasal cavity. Samples were delivered to the laboratory in cold chain. The sticks of the swabs were discarded, tips were put in stock tubes with 2 mL PBS and vortexed vigorously. Afterwards, they were centrifuged in a refrigerated centrifuge at 3000 rpm for 10 min at $+4^{\circ}$ C. The supernatant was transferred to clean stock tubes and stored in -20° C deep freezer for PCR applications.

DNA/RNA Extraction

The method described by Sambrook et al.^[21] was used to extract both DNA and RNA. Extracts of the samples were stored at -20°C until molecular analyses.

Molecular Procedures

After extraction of viral nucleic acids from the samples, complementary DNA synthesis and PCR for BPIV-3, BRSV, BVDV viruses was achieved with 2x One-step RT-

PCR master mix (Hibrigen) enzyme kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. For BAV-3, Taq polymerase kit (Hibrigen, Türkiye) was used for PCR after extraction. Primer pairs and optimizations for PCR were applied according to references ^[9,17,22,23].

Sequencing and Phylogenetical Analyses

Positive samples obtained after PCR/RT-PCR procedures were selected and sent for sequence analysis to a commercial company (BM Lab, Ankara, Türkiye). Raw data from sequence analysis were processed and phylogenetic trees were constructed for each virus. Sequence alignment was performed with Bioedit (Version 7.0.5.3)^[24]. Sequence similarities were compared by using the GenBank database and BLAST software (NCBI)^[25]. Phylogenetic analysis of gene sequences was performed using MEGA7 software ^[26]. Neighbor-joining method was chosen for comparison and sequence divergence was calculated by Kimura two-parameter model; confidence level was assessed by bootstrapping using 1000 replicates.

RESULTS

A total of 200 animals were included in the study. The ages of the animals were ranged from 1 day to 7 years old. The age distribution of the animals included in the study is shown in *Table 1*. Of these animals, 84 were female and 116 were male. The breed distribution was 178 Simmental, 3 Holstein hybrids, 5 local breed, 1 Zavot, 12 Brown Swiss and 1 hybrid breed. It was noteworthy that the majority of the animals included in the study were of Simmental breed. All animals had clinical respiratory symptoms (nasal discharge, cough, dyspnea etc.)

It was observed that respiratory system infections were more common in animals up to 1 year of age than in older animals.

A total of 200 blood and 63 swab samples were collected from 200 animals. While three of the blood samples were positive for BVDV, no positivity for other viral agents was detected in the blood. In comparison, BVDV was detected in eight samples, BPIV-3 in three samples and BRSV was detected in four samples from the collected swabs. While three blood samples were positive for BVDV, swab samples of the same animals were also positive. Consequently, eight animals were found to be positive for BVDV.

Table 1. Age distribution of the animals included in the study							
Age	Number	Ratio (%)					
1 day-1 month	54	27%					
>1month-≤3 months	49	24.5%					
>3months-≤1 year	55	27.5%					
>1 year-≤3 years	19	9.5%					
>3 years	23	11.5%					
Given the unavailability of a positive control, BAV-3 was analyzed without the benefit of such a control. The results demonstrated that BAV-3 was not detected in any of the collected samples.

Of the animals positive for viral agents, 13 were Simmental (7 BVDV, 3 BPIV-3, 3 BRSV), 1 was Brown Swiss (BRSV) and 1 was local breed (BVDV).

It was noted that 6 of the BVD positive animals were 4-7 months old, 1 was 18 months old and 1 was 2 years old; BPIV-3 positive animals were 15 days, 3 months and 4 months old; and 4 BRSV positive animals were 2-7 months old.

It was observed that 13 of the 15 animals positive for viral agents were male and 2 were female.

No mixed infection with respect to viral agents was found in any of the positive animals. Respiratory distress, nasal discharge, coughing, and anorexia were observed in all positive animals.

Table 2. Vital signs of the virus positive animals						
Viral Agent	Mean Rectal Temperature (°C)	Mean Pulse Rate (Frequency/min)	Mean Respiratory Rate (Frequency/min)			
BVDV (swab) (n=8)	39.45	98	42.5			
BPIV-3 (n=3)	39.8	82.67	50.67			
BRSV (n=4)	39.35	111.5	44			







The mean rectal temperature, pulse rate and respiratory frequency of all animals included in the study (n=200) were 39.02°C, 101.38/min and 43.07/min, respectively. The mean rectal temperature, pulse rate and respiratory frequency of the animals (n=185), which were included in the study but had no virus infection, were 38.98° C, 101.61/min and 42.95/min, respectively. The vital signs of the positive animals are shown in *Table 2*.

It was found significant that 6 of the animal included in the study belonged to the same owner and 3 swab samples belonging to these animals were tested positive for BVDV.

Positive amplicons were subjected to sequence analysis and obtained sequences were submitted to GenBank for archiving. The accession numbers of three isolates of BPIV-3 were PP697627, PP697628, PP697629; four isolates of BRSV were PP719911, PP718912, PP718913, PP718914; eight isolates of BVDV were PP746296, PP746297, PP746298, PP746299, PP746300, PP746301, PP746302, PP746303. Given that the sequence data obtained from the blood and swab samples of the same animals were identical, no accession number was assigned to the sequence derived from the blood samples.

As a result of the phylogenetic analyses, the BVDV isolates found in the study were classified as BVDV-1a (*Fig. 1*), BPIV-3 isolates were classified as genotype C (*Fig. 2*) and BRSV isolates were classified as subgroup III (subgroup A) (*Fig. 3*). It was determined that the viruses found were similar to the strains previously encountered in Türkiye.

DISCUSSION

Respiratory diseases can cause severe economic losses in sheep ^[27] and cattle ^[28]. Among these, viral agents have an important place in cattle and are widely observed in Türkiye ^[28]. In addition to the disease symptoms they





The success of vaccination against diseases is affected by environmental factors such as proper vaccination procedures and herd management ^[32]. In addition, the protection of vaccines may change due to the emerging of new strains with ongoing mutations in viruses ^[33,34]. Phylogenetic reports obtained from regional studies are important for the evaluation of vaccine efficacy. For this reason, it is an important strategy in the fight against diseases to continuously identify and reveal field strains by competent laboratories and to revise vaccine preparations according to this data if different strains are found ^[32]. The phylogenetic analysis results obtained from this study contributed to the literature in this regard.

One of the problems that occur in multiple infections, since it can be caused by many microbial agents (such as bacteria and viruses) ^[4], the role of some agents in the clinical picture may be overlooked. Even if one of the agents in infection has a minor role, prognosis may be worsened if that agent is not diagnosed and treated accordingly. Mixed viral infection was not found in this study, this situation has been reported in seroprevalence studies ^[4,35-38]. Although seroprevalence values vary in studies ^[36,37], it is seen that viruses infecting the respiratory system frequently coexist. As vaccines against respiratory viruses are usually in combined form, they offer protection against more than one disease. In this regard this situation seems to be advantageous for current picture of the field.

Serologic presence of BVDV has been known for a long time, and its contribution to respiratory system problems has been reported by previous studies, according to these data, the virus is widespread in Türkiye ^[30,39,40]. Molecularly, BVDV is classified as BVDV-1 (Pestivirus A), BVDV-2 (Pestivirus B) and BVDV-3 (Pestivirus H- also known as HoBi-like), and there are subtypes of these genotypes too ^[41]. In Türkiye, BVDV-1 is found predominantly, BVDV-2 and BVDV-3 types have also been reported ^[41-46]. The isolates found in our study were found to be the common BVDV-1 genotype and all isolates were clustered in BVDV-1a subtype. According to literature review this is the first time that molecular characterization has been performed in the study location and this report has made an important contribution to the literature in this respect.

There are serological and molecular reports of infection with BRSV and BPIV-3. The seroprevalence of these two viruses and their effect on respiratory problems have been demonstrated [3-5,11,14,33,39,40,47]. Molecularly, BPIV-3 has three genotypes named as genotype A, genotype B and genotype C, while BRSV is divided into eight subgroups. These are I (former subgroup B), III (former subgroup A), II, IV, V and VI (former subgroup AB), subgroup VII, VIII and a ninth subgroup has been proposed ^[11,14]. Molecular data from previous studies indicate that field isolates are molecularly similar and that different types have not yet been encountered in circulation. In the reported previous studies, genotypes were identified as genotype C for BPIV-3, while BRSV isolates were reported as subgroup III ^[3,5,11,14, 33]. The results of our study were similar to those of previous studies and BPIV-3 isolates were characterized as genotype C while BRSV isolates were found as subgroup III. Our study made a contribution by characterizing these two viruses for the first time in the study area.

When the vaccines available in our country and possible antibody responses are examined, it is thought that there will be no problem in protecting against BVDV and BRSV strains that are currently circulating in the field in terms of BVD and BRS viruses [32]. However, with BPIV-3, it has been reported that there may be problems in providing adequate protection against genotype C strains since the vaccines in use are genotype A-based [33,47]. The results of the study are similar to this finding and suggest that genotype C-based vaccines should be imported/produced for more effective immunity. Further studies investigating the immune response are needed in this regard. It would be most effective to repeat the studies for all three viruses at regular intervals to determine the new strain situation in the field and to update the control strategies according to the results obtained.

In conclusion, the viral agents BPIV-3 (n=3), BVDV (n=8) and BRSV (n=4) were molecularly detected in cattle with respiratory problems in the Kars region and were found to play a role in the etiology of respiratory diseases. The fact that the majority of cattle with respiratory problems were less than 1 year old indicates that these animals need more attention in terms of protection and control measures. Phylogenetic analysis indicated that BRSV subgroup III, BPIV-3 genotype C and BVDV-1a are the pathogens circulating in the region. It is considered that these data will help to guide the fight against viral agents that frequently cause respiratory diseases.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets used and/ or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author (EEE) on reasonable request.

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Virology for providing BPIV-3 and BRSV positive controls and Ankara University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Virology for providing BVDV positive control.

Funding Support: This study was supported by Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit of Kafkas University. Project number is 2021-TS-15.

Ethical Statement: The study has been approved by the ethics committee of Kafkas University (Approval No. KAÜ-HADYEK/2020-031).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence: The article and/ or tables and figures were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Author Contributions: EEE, NC: Idea and study design. EEE, MS, AHK, EA: Sample collection; NC, VY: Laboratory analyses; EEE, NC: Manuscript preparation. EEE, NC, AHK, VY, EA, MS have read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. Hashemi M, Bakhshesh M, Khezri M, Gharagouzlouian MM, Tavakoli G: A two-year serological study of bovine viral diarrhea virus, bovine alphaherpesvirus 1 and bovine parainfluenza virus type 3 in Qazvin dairy cattle farms, Northwestern of Iran. *Vet Arhiv*, 92 (1): 1-10, 2022. DOI: 10.24099/vet.arhiv.1123

2. Kamdi B, Singh R, Singh V, Singh S, Kumar P, Singh KP, George N, Dhama K: Immunofluorescence and molecular diagnosis of bovine respiratory syncytial virus and bovine parainfluenza virus in the naturally infected young cattle and buffaloes from India. *Microb Pathog*, 145:104165, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104165

3. Karayel Hacıoğlu İ, Coşkun N, Duran Yelken S, Sevinç S, Alkan F: Phylogenetic analysis of bovine respiratory syncytial virus from calves with respiratory disorders. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 25 (2): 251-256, 2019. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2018.20819

4. Avci O, Yavru S, Sevik M: Antibody prevalence against respiratory viruses in naturally infected cattle in Central Anatolia. *Eurasian J Vet Sci*, 30 (2): 80-84, 2014.

5. Înce ÖB, Şevik M, Özgür EG, Sait A: Risk factors and genetic characterization of bovine respiratory syncytial virus in the inner Aegean Region, Turkey. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 54:4, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-021-03022-5

6. Yeşilbağ K, Güngör B: Seroprevalence of bovine respiratory viruses in North-Western Turkey. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 40, 55-60, 2008. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-007-9053-x

7. Shen Y, Liu J, Zhang Yi, Ma X, Yue H, Tang C: Prevalence and characteristics of a novel bovine adenovirus type 3 with a natural deletion fiber gene. *Infect Genet Evol*, 83:104348, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j. meegid.2020.104348

8. Zhao X, Tikoo SK: Nuclear and nucleolar localization of Bovine Adenovirus-3 Protein V. *Front Microbiol*, 11:579593, 2021. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.579593

9. Zhu YM, Yu Z, Cai H, Gao YR, Dong XM, Li ZL, Shi HF, Meng QF, Lu C, Xue F: Isolation, identification, and complete genome sequence of a bovine adenovirus type 3 from cattle in China. *Virol J*, 8:557, 2011. DOI: 10.1186/1743-422X-8-557

10. Özyıldız Z, Özmen Ö, Dolu H: Buzağılarda respiratuar sinsityal virus (BRSV) enfeksiyonlarında patolojik ve immunohistokimyasal incelemeler. *MAE Vet Fak Derg*, 2 (2): 131-138, 2017. DOI: 10.24880/maeuvfd.363907

11. Yazici Z, Ozan E, Tamer C, Muftuoglu B, Barry G, Kurucay HN, Elhag AE, Cagirgan AA, Gumusova S, Albayrak H: Circulation of indigenous bovine respiratory syncytial virus strains in Turkish cattle: the first isolation and molecular characterization. *Animals*, 10 (9):1700, 2020. DOI: 10.3390/ani10091700

12. Santos-Rivera M, Woolums AR, Thoresen M, Meyer F, and Vance CK: Bovine Respiratory Syncytial Virus (BRSV) infection detected in exhaled breath condensate of dairy calves by nearinfrared aquaphotomics. *Molecules*, 27:549, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/molecules27020549

13. Keleş İ, Varol K, Güneş V, Onmaz AC, Karaca Bedik İ, Ekinci G: Sığırların respiratuvar sinsitial virus enfeksiyonu. *Turkiye Klinikleri J Vet Sci Intern Med-Special Topics*, 3 (2): 167-172, 2017.

14. Timurkan MO, Aydin H, Sait A: Identification and molecular characterisation of bovine parainfluenza virus-3 and bovine respiratory syncytial virus-first report from Turkey. *J Vet Res*, 63 (2): 167-173, 2019. DOI: 10.2478/jvetres-2019-0022

15. Chen J, Qiu Y, Xiong P, Wang Z, Li N, Ye C, Peng Y: Isolation and genomic characterization of a chinese genotype c Bovine Parainfluenza Virus Type 3 from cattle and its pathogenicity in c57bl/6 mice. *Animals*, 14:463, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/ani14030463

16. Hashemi M, Bakhshesh M, Manavian M: Seroprevalence and risk factors for infection with bovine respiratory syncytial virus, bovine parainfluenza virus-3, and bovine adenovirus-3 in dairy cattle farms of Fars province, Southern Iran. *Iran J Vet Sci Technol*, 15 (4): 9-15, 2023. DOI: 10.22067/ijvst.2023.80606.1222

17. Maidana SS, Lomonaco PM, Combessies G, Craig MI, Diodati J, Rodriguez D, Parreño V, Zabal O, Konrad JL, Crudelli G, Mauroy A, Thiry E, Romera SA: Isolation and characterization of bovine parainfluenza virus type 3 from water buffaloes (*Bubalus bubalis*) in Argentina. *BMC Vet Res*, 8:83, 2012. DOI: 10.1186/1746-6148-8-83

18. Özkaraca M, Timurkan MÖ: Erzurum yöresinde pnömonili sığırlarda BVDV'nin teşhisinde immunohistokimya ve PCR yöntemleri. *Van Vet J*, 27 (2): 85-89, 2016.

19. Erol N, Gür S, Acar A: A serological investigation for Bovine Viral Diarrhea Virus infection in and around Afyonkarahisar province, West Anatolia. *Kocatepe Vet J*, 7 (1): 17-21, 2014. DOI: 10.5578/kvj.8309

20. Yeşilbağ K, Alpay G, Tuncer P: Bir süt sığırcılığı işletmesinde bovine viral diarrhoea (BVD) virus enfeksiyonunun kontrol ve eliminasyonu. *Uludag Univ J Fac Vet Med*, 31, 11-17, 2012.

21. Sambrook J, Fritsch EF, Maniatis T: Molecular cloning: A laboratory manual. 2nd ed., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 1989.

22. Vilcek S, Herring AJ, Herring JA, Nettleton PF, Lowings JP, Paton DJ: Pestiviruses isolated from pigs, cattle and sheep can be allocated into at least three genogroups using polymerase chain reaction and restriction endonuclease analysis. *Arch Virol*, 136, 309-323, 1994. DOI: 10.1007/ BF01321060

23. Vilček S, Elvander M, Ballagi-Pordany A, Belak S: Development of nested PCR assays for detection of bovine respiratory syncytial virus in clinical samples. *J Clin Microbiol*, 32 (9): 2225-2231, 1994. DOI: 10.1128/ jcm.32.9.2225-2231.1994

24. Hall TA: BioEdit: A user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. *Nucleic Acids Symp Ser*, 41, 95-98, 1999.

25. Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ: Gapped BLAST and PSi-BLAST: A new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acid Res*, 25, 3389-3402, 1997. DOI: 10.1093/nar/25.17.3389

26. Tamura K, Peterson D, Peterson N, Stecher G, Nei M, Kumar S: MEGA5: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis using maximum likelihood,

evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods. *Mol Biol Evol*, 28 (10): 2731-2739, 2011. DOI: 10.1093/molbev/msr121

27. Al-Shammari ASK, Sadoon AS: Prevalence of respiratory syncytial virus infection in sheep at Babylon Governorate, Iraq. *Int J Vet Sci*, 11 (3): 302-307, 2022. DOI: 10.47278/journal.ijvs/2021.115

28. Öner EB, Yeşilbağ K: Besi sığırlarında solunum sistemi virüslerinin seroprevalansı ve persiste BVD virüs enfeksiyonu tespiti. *Ankara Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 65, 1-7, 2018. DOI: Vetfak_0000002820

29. Trip RA: Pathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Viral Immunol*, 17, 165-181, 2004. DOI: 10.1089/0882824041310513

30. Burgu I, Alkan F, Ozkul A, Yesilbag K, Karaoglu T, Gungor B: Türkiye'de süt siğırcılığı işletmelerinde bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) enfeksiyonunun epidemiyolojisi ve kontrolü. *Ankara Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 50, 127-133, 2003. DOI: 10.1501/Vetfak_0000002241

31. Gülersoy E, Şen İ: Sığırların solunum sistemi hastalığı kompleksi. *Turkiye Klinikleri J Vet Sci Intern Med-Special Topics*, 3, 114-121, 2017.

32. Yilmaz A, Umar S, Turan N, Kayar A, Richt JA, Yılmaz H: Current scenario of viral diseases and vaccination strategies of cattle in Turkey. *J Infect Dev Ctries*, 16 (8): 1230-1242, 2022. DOI: 10.3855/jidc.14767

33. Albayrak H, Yazici Z, Ozan E, Tamer C, Abd El Wahed A, Wehner S, Ulrich K, Weidmann M: Characterisation of the first bovine parainfluenza virus 3 isolate detected in cattle in Turkey. *Vet Sci*, 6:56, 2019. DOI: 10.3390/ vetsci6020056

34. Bertolotti L, Giammarioli M, Rosati S: Genetic characterization of bovine respiratory syncytial virus strains isolated in Italy: Evidence for the circulation of new divergent clades. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 30, 300-304, 2018. DOI: 10.1177/1040638717746202

35. Kale M, Ozturk D, Hasircioglu S, Pehlivanoglu F, Turutoglu H: Some viral and bacterial respiratory tract infections of dairy cattle during the summer season. *Acta Vet*, 63 (2-3): 227-236, 2013. DOI: 10.2298/AVB1303227K

36. Yıldırım Y, Burgu İ: Kuzeydoğu Anadolu bölgesindeki sığırlarda mavidil (BT), IBR, PI-3, EBL ve BVD enfeksiyonlarının seroprevalansı. *Ankara Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 52, 113-117, 2005. DOI: 10.1501/ Vetfak_0000000036

37. Yıldırım Y, Yılmaz V, Faraji Majarashin AR: Kuzeydoğu Anadolu Bölgesi sınır illerinde bulunan sığırlarda viral solunum sistemi enfeksiyonlarının seroprevalansı. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 15 (4): 601-606, 2009. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2009.078-A

38. Okur Gumusova S, Yazici Z, Albayrak H, Cakiroglu D: Seroprevalence

of bovine viral respiratory diseases. *Acta Vet*, 57, 11-16, 2007. DOI: 10.2298/ AVB07010110

39. Alkan F, Ozkul A, Karaoglu MT, Bilge S, Akca Y, Burgu İ, Yeşilbağ K, Oguzoglu TC: Sığırlarda viral nedenli solunum sistemi enfeksiyonlarının seroepidemiyolojisi. *Ankara Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 44, 1-8, 1997. DOI: 10.1501/ Vetfak_0000000658

40. Alkan F, Ozkul A, Bilge-Dagalp S, Yesilbag K, Oguzoglu TC, Akca Y, Burgu I: Virological and serological studies on the role of PI-3 virus, BRSV, BVDV and BHV-1 on respiratory infections of cattle. I. The detection of etiological agents by direct immunofluorescence technique. *Dtsch Tierarztl Wochenschr*, 107 (5): 193-195, 2000.

41. Timurkan MÖ, Aydın H: Increased genetic diversity of BVDV strains circulating in Eastern Anatolia, Turkey: First detection of BVDV-3 in Turkey. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 51, 1953-1961, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/s11250-019-01901-6

42. Yilmaz H, Altan E, Ridpath J, Turan N: Genetic diversity and frequency of bovine viral diarrhea virus BVDV detected in cattle in Turkey. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis*, 35, 411-416, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j. cimid.2012.03.006

43. Oguzoglu TC, Muz D, Yılmaz V, Alkan F, Akça Y, Burgu I: Molecular characterization of Bovine virus diarrhea viruses species 2 (BVDV-2) from cattle in Turkey. *Trop Anim Health Prod*, 42, 1175-1180, 2010. DOI: 10.1007/ s11250-010-9544-z

44. Yeşilbağ K, Alpay G, Becher P: Variability and global distribution of subgenotypes of bovine viral diarrhea virus. *Viruses*, 9 (6):128, 2017. DOI: 10.3390/v9060128

45. Yazıcı Z, Gumusova S, Tamer C, Cagırgan AA, Akman A, Ozan E, Kadı H, Palancı HS, Albayrak H: Molecular identification and phylogenetic analysis of non-cytopathic bovine viral diarrhea virus isolate obtained from a local respiratory outbreak in Northern Turkey. *Med Weter*, 73, 284-288, 2017.

46. Oğuzoğlu TC, Muz D, Yılmaz V, Timurkan MÖ, Alkan F, Akça Y, Burgu İ: Molecular characteristics of bovine virus diarrhoea virus 1 isolates from Turkey: Approaches for an eradication programme. *Transbound Emerg Dis*, 59 (4): 303-310, 2012. DOI: 10.1111/j.1865-1682.2011.01272.x

47. Muftuoglu B, Kurucay HN, Elhag AE, Yildirim S, Cicek-Yildiz Y, Tamer C, Ozan E, Can Sahna K, Yıldırım Y, Albayrak H, Okur-Gümüsova S, Yazici Z: A serosurvey for bovine respirovirus 3 in Turkish domestic ruminants: The first comparison study of A and C genotypes. *Vet Med Sci*, 7 (5): 1625-1632, 2021. DOI: 10.1002/vms3.534

Research Article

Effect of Osthole on Inflammatory Responses of Mice with Primary Sjögren's Syndrome

Danna ZHANG¹^(b) Jusen YAO²^(b) Lanying JIANG¹^(b) Bailing YU¹^(b) Chenjie ZHOU¹^(b) Dongyang ZHANG¹^(b) Juan LI¹^(*) ^(b)

- ¹Department of Geriatrics, Zhejiang Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese and Western Medicine, Hangzhou 310003, Zhejiang Province, CHINA
- ² Orthopedics and Traumatology Department of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Hangzhou Tianshui Wulin Street Community Health Care Centre, Hangzhou 310005, Zhejiang Province, CHINA



^(*) **Corresponding authors:** Juan LI Phone: +86 13067795096 E-mail: lijuan20100810@163.com

How to cite this article?

Zhang D, Yao J, Jiang L, Yu B, Zhou C, Zhang D, Li J: Effect of osthole on inflammatory responses of mice with primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 713-718, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32400

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32400 Received: 29.05.2024 Accepted: 29.07.2024 Published Online: 12.08.2024

Abstract

We aimed to assess the effect of osthole on the inflammatory responses of mice suffering from primary Sjögren's syndrome (PSS). Fifty naive non-obese diabetic (NOD/Ltj) mice were included to establish a spontaneous model of PSS and assigned into a control group, a 20 mg/kg osthole group, a 30 mg/kg osthole group, a 40 mg/kg osthole group and a 50 mg/kg osthole group in a random manner. Osthole (20, 30, 40, and 50 mg/kg, once a day) together with normal saline (every day) in an equal volume were injected into osthole treatment groups and control group, respectively. Compared with the control group, the inflammatory cells in salivary gland tissues of NOD/Ltj mice manifested gradually ameliorated infiltration, the destruction of acinar cells was relieved gradually (P<0.05). In comparison to those obtained from the control group, the inflammatory factors IFN- α , IFN- β , IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α as well as the GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) and stimulator of interferon genes (STING) in salivary gland tissues of NOD/Ltj mice declined gradually at the expression level as the osthole concentration augmented, showing statistically significant differences (P<0.05). Osthole is capable of mitigating inflammatory responses of PSS mice by impeding the cGAS-STING signaling pathway.

Keywords: Osthole, rimary Sjögren's syndrome, inflammatory responses

INTRODUCTION

As an autoimmune disease, primary Sjögren's syndrome (PSS) is mainly characterized by symptoms of dryness affecting many organs of the whole body, such as dry mouth, dry eyes, and dry sensation in other parts (such as skin, nose, throat and vagina) ^[1]. Besides, PSS may also contribute to a series of other symptoms such as joint pain, muscle pain, fatigue, and digestive problems ^[2]. PSS is mainly ascribed to the decrease in the volume or quality of secretion of glands due to the attack from the immune system, with salivary glands and lacrimal glands as the most common tissues involved ^[3]. Symptoms of dryness are the major manifestations of PSS, but PSS may also serve as a contributing factor to autoimmune diseases of other systems, such as rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus ^[4]. In the clinical treatment of PSS,

specific drugs are unavailable currently, and the focus is to relieve symptoms to keep patients comfortable and prevent complications ^[5]. The regulation of inflammatory response may become one of the important therapeutic strategies for PSS. Inflammation may involve joint tissues, leading to arthritis, and it may also involve muscle tissues, resulting in symptoms such as myalgia and myasthenia ^[6]. Hence, discovering and developing effective therapeutic drugs in this regard is crucial for PSS patients.

Osthole, a coumarin derivative, exists in several common medicinal plants, such as common Cnidium fruit and Angelica sinensis ^[7], which can be acquired by extraction and separation from plants or total synthesis. Osthole contains various biological activities such as antineoplastic, cardiovascular protective, neuroprotective, antibacterial, antiparasitic and anti-inflammatory activities ^[7-10]. Particularly, osthole has been reported to bind multiple

 \odot \odot

proteins that regulate inflammatory response ^[11]. Nonetheless, how osthole affects PSS through corresponding molecular regulatory mechanism remains unclear.

Hence, we herein assessed the effect of osthole on inflammatory responses on PSS mice, aiming to provide an experimental foundation for treating PSS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

This study was conducted after approval by our hospital's animal ethics committee (Approval No. ZHITCWM2022045), and great efforts have been made to minimize the animals' suffering.

Experimental Materials and Apparatus

Male naive non-obese diabetic (NOD/Ltj) mice (6 weeks old, n=50) were bought from the Model Animal Research Center of Nanjing University. Osthole (specification: 1 g/vial, purity: HPLC ≥98%, batch No.: 220508) was acquired from Sichuan Vicky Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (China). The normal saline, bicinchoninic acid (BCA) kits, formaldehyde, skimmed milk powder (5%), paraffin, ethanol, neutral gum, radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer, Tris-buffered saline-Tween 20 (TBST) and enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) kits were bought from Solarbio (Beijing, China). A hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining kit sourced from Beyotime (Shanghai, China). The TRIzol reagent, a PrimeScript reverse transcription (RT) Master Mix kit was offered by TaKaRa (Japan) together with a SYBR[°] Premix Ex Taq[™] quantitative assay kit. A polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane was provided by Invitrogen (USA). All antibodies were offered by Abcam. An optical microscope was purchased from Leica (Germany).

Feeding and Grouping of Animals

All male NOD/Ltj mice were adaptively fed for one week in cages (5 mice/cage, humidity: 50-70%, temperature: 22-24°C) with a 12/12 h light/dark cycle. Moreover, enough food and water were offered to ensure that mice could take food and water freely. The Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals was set as the standard for all assays on mice [12]. All treatments started when mice were 8 weeks old: Five groups were determined for equal and random allocation of the 50 NOD/Ltj mice: a control group, a 20 mg/kg osthole group, a 30 mg/kg osthole group, a 40 mg/kg osthole group and a 50 mg/kg osthole group. Mice in the osthole treatment groups were injected with osthole (20, 30, 40, and 50 mg/kg) once a day, while normal saline was injected in an equal volume to those in the control group every day. The salivary volume of mice in each group was measured at Weeks 2, 3 and 4 after treatment. Following 4 weeks of treatment, mice were

euthanized to collect the salivary gland tissues for further detection.

Observation of Salivary Gland Tissues by HE Staining

Histological examination was conducted on salivary gland tissue samples of the submandibular gland of mice using the HE staining kit. Briefly, salivary gland tissues were successively subjected to fixation in formaldehyde, dehydration, and embedding in paraffin. Thereafter, paraffin-embedded tissues were sliced into tissue sections (4 μ m in thickness) and then stained with HE. Following dehydration with gradient ethanol, the sections were fixed with neutral gum. Finally, the optical microscope was employed to observe the staining results.

Observation of Variations of the Liver

At Week 4 following treatment, the liver was taken out from the euthanized mice, weighed and photographed. Furthermore, HE staining was carried out to observe the morphology of stem cells in liver tissues.

Real-Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR) Analysis of Inflammatory Factor Expressions

Salivary gland tissues collected from each group of mice were ground, followed by qRT-PCR analysis on inflammatory factors to obtain their expression levels by reference to the methods adopted by Zeng et al.^[13]. According to the steps in the instructions, total RNA extraction from mouse salivary gland tissues was conducted using TRIzol reagent. Subsequently, the PrimeScript RT Master Mix kit was employed to obtain cDNA from the extracted total RNA through reverse transcription. Afterwards, using following the instructions of the SYBR[®] Premix Ex Taq[™] quantitative assay kit, qRT-PCR was carried out to measure the gene expression levels of IFN- α , IFN- β , IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α in salivary gland tissues. The internal reference determined as GAPDH, the 2^{-Ct} method was adopted for the calculation of gene relative expressions. Table 1 presents the sequences of primers utilized.

Measurement of Levels of Cyclic GMP-AMP Synthase (cGAS)-Stimulator of interferon Genes (STING) Signaling Pathway-Associated Proteins by Western Blotting

Salivary gland tissues collected from mice in each group were ground and then detected for the content of cGAS-STING signaling pathway-associated proteins through Western blotting by reference to the methods utilized by Lyu et al.^[14]. The isolation of total protein was completed through lysis of the homogenate of salivary glands using the RIPA lysis buffer. Then the content of the isolated total protein was quantified by BCA kit. Next, 10% sodium

715

Table 1. Sequences of primers used in qRT-PCR					
Name	Primers for	Primers for PCR (5'-3')			
IEN. «	Forward	GCCTCGCCCTTTGCTTTACT			
irin-a	Reverse	CTGTGGGTCTCAGGGAGATCA			
IENL Ø	Forward	ATGACCAACAAGTGTCTCCTCC			
ігм-р	Reverse	GGAATCCAAGCAAGTTGTAGCTC			
IL-6	Forward	ACTCACCTCTTCAGAACGAATTG			
	Reverse	CCATCTTTGGAAGGTTCAGGTTG			
11 0	Forward	TGTTCACAGGTGACTGCTCC			
1L-8	Reverse	AGCCCATAGTGGAGTGGGAT			
TNE .	Forward	AGGCACTCCCCCAAAAGATG			
TNF-α	Reverse	CCACTTGGTGGTTTGTGAGTG			
CADDU	Forward	ACAGCAACAGGGTGGTGGAC			
GAPDH	Reverse	TTTGAGGGTGCAGCGAACTT			

dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel for protein lysate separation was performed, followed by PVDF membrane transfer. Subsequently, the TBST buffer mixed with 5% skimmed milk powder was added for room-temperature blocking of the PVDF membrane for 1 h. Afterwards, the membrane was added with primary antibodies (anti-cGAS, anti-STING and anti- β -actin) for incubation at 4°C overnight. Following membrane washing, 2 h of incubation with secondary antibodies labeled with horseradish peroxidase was completed. Finally, the ECL kit was used to detect protein signals, with the results analyzed by ImageJ software.

Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism 8.0 software was utilized for statistical analysis. For each experiment, three replicates were set. Mean \pm standard deviation ($\bar{x}\pm s$) was selected as the format to express all data, and the comparison among groups and pairwise comparison between groups were completed through analysis of variance and LSD-*t* test, respectively. The differences with statistical significance were indicated by P<0.05.

RESULTS

Effect of Osthole on Disease Progression of Salivary Gland Tissues in NOD/Ltj Mice

Compared with the control group, both the penetration of inflammatory cells and the destruction of acinar cells in salivary gland tissues of NOD/Ltj mice were gradually ameliorated with the increase in osthole concentration, implying that for NOD/Ltj mice, osthole impedes the disease progression of salivary gland tissues (*Fig. 1*).

Effect of Osthole on Salivary Volume in NOD/Ltj Mice

In comparison to the control group, the saliva volume secreted by salivary gland tissues rose bit by bit in NOD/ Ltj mice with the increase of osthole concentration, with a difference of statistical significance (P<0.05) (*Table 2*).

Effect of Osthole on the Liver of NOD/Ltj Mice

No obvious variations were observed in the texture and weight of the liver of NOD/Ltj mice treated with osthole in comparison to those obtained from the control group (P>0.05). Besides, the observation results of liver stem cells of mice in the 50 mg/kg osthole group uncovered that these cells displayed normal morphology. These results demonstrated that osthole has no significant effect on NOD/Ltj mice's liver (*Fig. 2*).

Role of Osthole in Influencing Inflammatory Factors in NOD/Ltj Mice from the Aspect of Expression Level

The inflammatory factors IFN- α , IFN- β , IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α gradually dropped at the expression level with the augmentation of osthole concentration, with statistically significant differences by contrast to those in the control group (P<0.05). This suggested that osthole represses inflammatory factors in salivary gland tissues of NOD/Ltj mice in terms of their expressions (*Fig. 3*).

Effect of Osthole on cGAS-STING Signaling Pathway-Associated Protein Levels in NOD/Ltj Mice

When the osthole concentration augmented, the NOD/ Ltj mice, contrasted with the control group, exhibited reduced expression levels of cGAS and STING in salivary



Fig 1. Effect of osthole on disease progression of salivary glands in NOD/Ltj mice. Salivary gland tissues from the submandibular gland in mice observed by HE staining



Fig 2. Impact of osthole on NOD/Ltj mice's liver. A-B: Comparison of liver texture and weight of NOD/Ltj mice among groups. C: Histological morphology of liver stem cells in the 50 mg/kg osthole group observed by HE staining

gland tissues in a gradual manner, with differences of statistical significance (P<0.05). This implied that regarding NOD/Ltj mice, osthole inhibits cGAS-STING signaling pathway-associated protein expressions in salivary gland tissues (*Fig. 4*).

Table 2. Salivary volume of mice ($x \pm s$, mg/min)							
Group	n	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4			
Control	10	6.21±1.86	6.32±1.52	6.42±1.73			
20 mg/kg osthole	10	9.03±1.79ª	10.87±1.57ª	12.36±1.96ª			
30 mg/kg osthole	10	11.37 ± 1.64^{ab}	13.56±2.32 ^{ab}	14.72±1.35 ^{ab}			
40 mg/kg osthole	10	14.13±2.87 ^{abc}	15.05±2.48 ^{abc}	17.56±1.78 ^{abc}			
50 mg/kg osthole 10 17.23±2.52 ^{abcd} 18.86±2.27 ^{abcd} 19.93±2.07 ^{abcd}							
<i>a</i> P<0.05 vs. control group, <i>b</i> P<0.05 vs. 20 mg/kg osthole group, <i>c</i> P<0.05 vs. 30 mg/kg osthole group, <i>d</i> P<0.05 vs. 40 mg/kg osthole group							

DISCUSSION

PSS is an autoimmune disease mediated by the immune system, with its pathogenesis involving the abnormal attack on the own tissues from the immune system ^[15]. In the case of PSS, the attack and destruction from the immune system negatively affect the salivary glands, lacrimal glands and other secretory gland tissues to weaken or eliminate the secretory function of these glands, thus inducing such symptoms of dryness as dry mouth and dry eyes ^[16]. Inflammatory responses are crucial participants in PSS pathogenesis. After abnormal activation of the immune system, chemokines, cytokines and other inflammatory mediators are delivered, resulting in inflammatory responses. These inflammatory mediators attract and



activate inflammatory cells, such as monocytes and lymphocytes, thereby leading to inflammatory responses in local tissues ^[17]. In the case of PSS, inflammatory responses are mainly observed in the tissues around the affected glands, giving rise to gland damage and hypofunction ^[18]. In addition to the direct effect on the secretory glands, inflammatory responses may also be responsible for inflammation and injury of other systems and organs, resulting in a series of other symptoms and complications. Accordingly, it is crucial to know the relationship between PSS and inflammatory responses for the purpose of understanding the pathogenesis of PSS, as well as for its diagnosis and treatment.

Liu et al.^[19] reported that melatonin repressed the hypofunction and inflammation progression of salivary glands in NOD/Ltj mice by modulating immune response, finally mitigating Sjögren's syndrome-like symptoms. In the present study, 50 NOD/Ltj mice used as spontaneous animal models of PSS were assigned into a control group as well as osthole 20, 30, 40 and 50 mg/kg groups at random. It was uncovered that the destruction of acinar cells relieved in a gradual manner, the infiltration of inflammatory cells in salivary gland tissues of NOD/Ltj mice gradually meliorated, and the volume of saliva secreted by salivary gland tissues rose bit by bit with the increase in osthole concentration, and they were statistically significantly different from those in the control group (P<0.05). This suggested the inhibitory effect of osthole on disease progression of salivary gland tissues in NOD/Ltj mice, comparable to the results of Liu et al.^[19]. Besides, the osthole treatment groups compared to the control group exhibited no obvious variations in the texture and weight of the liver (P>0.05). Furthermore, it was observed that liver stem cells of mice in the 50 mg/ kg osthole group displayed normal morphology. These results signified that osthole has no significant effect on the liver of NOD/Ltj mice, with good drug safety.

Osthole has been reported to exert a good antiinflammatory effect ^[20]. For instance, a study conducted by Kordulewska et al.^[21] manifested that osthole could alleviate gastrointestinal inflammation by impeding proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8 and TNF-α) from secretion. Moreover, Wang et al.^[22] discovered that osthole could modulate the polarization to M1 macrophages induced by lipopolysaccharides, reducing inflammatory responses. In this study, as the osthole concentration augmented, NOD/Ltj mice displayed progressively lowered the expression levels of such inflammatory factors as IFN-a, IFN-B, IL-6, IL-8 and TNF-a in salivary gland tissues compared with the control group, presenting statistically significant differences (P<0.05). This verified the ability of osthole to suppress the expression of inflammatory factors in salivary gland

tissues of NOD/Ltj mice, echoing research findings by Kordulewska et al.^[21] and Wang et al.^[22].

As a crucial immune signaling pathway, the cGAS-STING signaling pathway serves as a vital player in resisting pathogenic microorganisms and infections and regulating autoimmune balance [23]. The cGAS-STING signaling pathway under activation can promote immune cells to respond to virus infection and DNA damage, thus regulating inflammatory responses and antiviral immunity ^[24]. Nevertheless, excessive activation or abnormal regulation of such a pathway may also give rise to such diseases as autoimmune diseases and inflammatory diseases. For this reason, the regulation of balance in this pathway is crucial for the maintenance of immune balance and prevention of diseases ^[25]. As reported by Zhou et al.^[26], the activated cGAS-STING signaling pathway had a close correlation with the pathogenesis of PSS. Rapamycin is found to be able to alleviate submandibular gland lesions in mice with Sjögren's syndrome by repressing the cGAS-STING signaling pathway from activation. It was uncovered through this research that compared to the control group, the elevation of osthole concentration gradually lowered cGAS plus STING expression levels in salivary gland tissues of NOD/Ltj mice, and there were differences with statistical significance (P<0.05). This demonstrated that osthole impedes the protein expression associated with the cGAS-STING signaling pathway in salivary gland tissues of NOD/Ltj mice, thereby exerting its anti-inflammatory effect. To sum up, it was discovered in this study for the first time that osthole can mitigate the inflammatory responses of PSS mice by suppressing the cGAS-STING signaling pathway, which renders a novel idea for curing PSS. However, some shortcomings also exist in this research. For example, the effect of osthole was only studied using NOD/Ltj mouse models. Therefore, subsequent clinical studies are required to validate conclusion of this work.

In conclusion, osthole can relieve inflammatory responses in PSS mice by inhibiting the cGAS-STING signaling pathway, suggesting that osthole probably acts as a potential drug effective for PSS.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets used and/ or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Acknowledgements: None.

Funding Support: This work was supported by the Zhejiang Provincial Science and Technology program of traditional Chinese medicine (No. 2022ZB259), the Zhejiang Provincial Health Commission Science and Technology Program (No. 2021KY909) and the Hangzhou Biomedical and Health Industry Development Support Program (No. 2023WJC170).

Ethical Approval: This study has been approved by the animal ethics committee of our hospital (approval No. ZHITCWM2022045), and great efforts have been made to minimize the animals' suffering.

Competing Interests: There is no conflict of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The article, tables and figures were not written/created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

Authors' Contributions: D. Zhang and J. Yao designed and performed the study, and drafted the paper; J. Li conceived and supervised the study, and significantly revised the paper; L. Jiang, B. Yu, C. Zhou and D. Zhang performed and analyzed the experiments. All authors have approved the submission and publication of this paper.

REFERENCES

1. Bjordal O, Norheim KB, Rødahl E, Jonsson R, Omdal R: Primary Sjögren's syndrome and the eye. *Surv Ophthalmol*, 65, 119-132, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.survophthal.2019.10.004

2. Liampas A, Parperis K, Erotocritou MF, Nteveros A, Papadopoulou M, Moschovos C, Akil M, Coaccioli S, Hadjigeorgiou GM, Hadjivassiliou M, Zis P: Primary Sjögren syndrome-related peripheral neuropathy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Neurol*, 30, 255-265, 2023. DOI: 10.1111/ene.15555

3. Balint G, Watson Buchanan W, Kean CA, Kean W, Rainsford KD: Sjögren's syndrome. *Inflammopharmacology*, 32, 37-43, 2024. DOI: 10.1007/ s10787-023-01222-z

4. Manfrè V, Chatzis LG, Cafaro G, Fonzetti S, Calvacchi S, Fulvio G, Navarro Garcia IC, La Rocca G, Ferro F, Perricone C, Bartoloni E, Baldini C: Sjögren's syndrome: One year in review 2022. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, 40, 2211-2224, 2022. DOI: 10.55563/clinexprheumatol/43z8gu

5. Manfrè V, Cafaro G, Riccucci I, Zabotti A, Perricone C, Bootsma H, De Vita S, Bartoloni E: One year in review 2020: Comorbidities, diagnosis and treatment of primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, 38 (4): S10-S22, 2020.

6. Felten R, Giannini M, Nespola B, Lannes B, Levy D, Seror R, Vittecoq O, Hachulla E, Perdriger A, Dieude P, Dubost JJ, Fauchais AL, Le Guern V, Larroche C, Dernis E, Guellec D, Cornec D, Sibilia J, Mariette X, Gottenberg JE, Meyer A: Refining myositis associated with primary Sjogren's syndrome: Data from the prospective cohort ASSESS. *Rheumatology*, 60, 675-681, 2021. DOI: 10.1093/rheumatology/keaa257

7. Sun M, Sun M, Zhang J. Osthole: an overview of its sources, biological activities, and modification development. *Med Chem Res*, 30, 1767-1794, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s00044-021-02775-w

8. Ren Z, Lv M, Xu H. Osthole: Synthesis, structural modifications, and biological properties. *Mini Rev Med Chem*, 22, 2124-2137, 2022. DOI: 10.21 74/1389557522666220214101231

9. Yang S, Dai W, Wang J, Zhang X, Zheng Y, Bi S, Pang L, Ren T, Yang Y, Sun Y, Zheng Z, Wu S, Kong J: Osthole: An up-to-date review of its anticancer potential and mechanisms of action. *Front Pharmacol*, 13:945627, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2022.945627

10. Zafar S, Sarfraz I, Rasul A, Shah MA, Hussain G, Zahoor MK, Shafiq N, Riaz A, Selamoglu Z, Sarker SD: Osthole: A multifunctional natural compound with potential anticancer, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities. *Mini Rev Med Chem*, 21, 2747-2763, 2021. DOI: 10.2174/1389557 520666200709175948

11. Mosebarger A, Reddi RN, Menon R, Kammala AK: Computational screening of the natural product osthole and its derivates for antiinflammatory activity. *Life*, 12:505, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/life12040505 **12.** Prepared by the Animal Facilities Standards Committee of the Animal Care Panel: Guide for laboratory animal facilities and care. *ILAR J*, 62, 345-358, 2021. DOI: 10.1093/ilar/ilac012

13. Zeng Q, Wen J, Zheng L, Zeng W, Chen S, Zhao C: Identification of immune-related diagnostic markers in primary Sjögren's syndrome based on bioinformatics analysis. *Ann Transl Med*, 10:487, 2022. DOI: 10.21037/ atm-22-1494

14. Lyu T, Jiang H, Zeng L, Liu S, He C, Luo C, Qiao L, Zhao Y, Chen H: Iguratimod suppresses Tfh cell differentiation in primary Sjögren's syndrome patients through inhibiting Akt/mTOR/STAT3 signaling. *Arthritis Res Ther*, 25,:152, 2023. DOI: 10.1186/s13075-023-03109-4

15. Ren Y, Cui G, Gao Y: Research progress on inflammatory mechanism of primary Sjögren syndrome. *Zhejiang Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban*, 50, 783-794, 2021. DOI: 10.3724/zdxbyxb-2021-0072

16. Carvajal P, Bahamondes V, Jara D, Castro I, Matus S, Aguilera S, Molina C, González S, Hermoso M, Barrera MJ, González MJ: The integrated stress response is activated in the salivary glands of Sjögren's syndrome patients. *Front Med*, 10:1118703, 2023. DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1118703

17. Piao Y, Qi Y, Zhang H, Han L, Zhong X, Liu Q: PSMC6 induces immune cell infiltration and inflammatory response to aggravate primary Sjögren's syndrome. *J Hum Genet*, 68, 263-271, 2023. DOI: 10.1038/s10038-022-01107-z

18. Moreno-Quispe LA, Serrano J, Virto L, Sanz M, Ramírez L, Fernández-Castro M, Hernández G, López-Pintor RM: Association of salivary inflammatory biomarkers with primary Sjögren's syndrome. *J Oral Pathol Med*, 49, 940-947, 2020. DOI: 10.1111/jop.13070

19. Liu Y, Weng X, Wei M, Yu S, Ding Y, Cheng B: Melatonin regulates the immune response and improves Sjögren's syndrome-like symptoms in NOD/Ltj Mice. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 201, 115073, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j. bcp.2022.115073

20. Li SH, Li MY, Yuan TT, Wang GW, Zeng JB, Shi Z, Liu JH, Su JC: Osthole activates the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway via α7nAChR upregulation to alleviate inflammatory responses. *Chem Biodivers*, 2024:e202400290, 2024. DOI: 10.1002/cbdv.202400290

21. Kordulewska NK, Topa J, Rozmus D, Jarmołowska B: Effects of osthole on inflammatory gene expression and cytokine secretion in histamine-induced inflammation in the Caco-2 cell line. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22, 13634, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ijms222413634

22. Wang FF, Rao DC, Jin SY, Yang PM, Zhou YM, Wan GY: The effect of osthole on lipopolysaccharide-induced macrophages polarization and inflammatory reaction. *Shanghai Kou Qiang Yi Xue*, 31, 255-259, 2022.

23. Decout A, Katz JD, Venkatraman S, Ablasser A: The cGAS-STING pathway as a therapeutic target in inflammatory diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol,* 21, 548-569, 2021. DOI: 10.1038/s41577-021-00524-z

24. Chen C, Xu P: Cellular functions of cGAS-STING signaling. *Trends Cell Biol*, 33, 630-648, 2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.tcb.2022.11.001

25. Hopfner KP, Hornung V: Molecular mechanisms and cellular functions of cGAS-STING signalling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 21, 501-521, 2020. DOI: 10.1038/s41580-020-0244-x

26. Zhou J, Zhuang Z, Li J, Feng Z: Significance of the cGAS-STING pathway in health and disease. *Int J Mol Sci*, 24, 13316, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ ijms241713316

Research Article

Adulticidal, Larvicidal, and Repellent Potential of Ethyl Acetate Extract of *Moringa oleifera* against *Rhipicephalus microplus* Cattle Ticks

Rao Zahid ABBAS ¹ ^(*) Arslan Muhammad Ali KHAN ¹ Mohammed M. MARES ² Muhammad MOHSIN ³

- ¹ University of Agriculture Faisalabad, Faculty of Veterinary Science, Department of Parasitology, Chemotherapy Lab, 38040 Faisalabad, PAKISTAN
- ² King Saud University, College of Science, Department of Zoology, P.O. Box 2455, Riyadh 11451, KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA
- ³ Shantou University Medical College, Department of Pharmacology, Shantou, Guangdong, CHINA



^(*) **Corresponding author:** Rao Zahid ABBAS Phone: +92 300 6682811 Cellular phone: +92 300 6682811 E-mail: raouaf@hotmail.com

How to cite this article?

Abbas RZ, Khan AMA, Mares MM, Mohsin M: Adulticidal, larvicidal, and repellent potential of ethyl acetate extract of *Moringa oleifera* against *Rhipicephalus microplus* cattle ticks. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 719-727, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32438

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32438 Received: 04.06.2024 Accepted: 09.08.2024 Published Online: 29.08.2024

Abstract

The emergence of tick resistance against synthetic and eco-toxic chemical acaricides has stressed the need to find target-specific, non-toxic, and more potent alternatives such as botanicals. The current study was designed to investigate the acaricidal and repellent potential of ethyl acetate extract of Moringa oleifera seeds against Rhipicephalus microplus cattle ticks. Adult immersion test, larval immersion test, and tick climbing repellent assay were carried out to evaluate the acaricidal and repellent potential of *M. oleifera* extract. Five different concentrations (20, 10, 5, 2.5, and 1.25 %) of the ethyl acetate extract of M. oleifera were prepared to evaluate the acaricidal and repellent potential. Different parameters like adult tick mortality, larval mortality, egg hatchability, inhibition of egg hatchability, oviposition reduction, reproductive index, reproductive efficiency index, tick repellency, and product effectiveness were determined. Ethyl acetate extract of M. oleifera showed 70% adult mortality after 24 h treatment when 20% concentration was used. Similarly, 73% larval tick mortality was observed at 20% concentration. The results also showed the dose-dependent response of ethyl acetate extract of M. oleifera seeds against egg hatchability, inhibition of egg hatchability, oviposition reduction, reproductive index, reproductive efficiency index, and tick repellency, confirming that 20% concentration is effective as an acaricide and repellent against R. microplus. Therefore, the tested extract can be considered a possible candidate for controlling *R*. microplus in cattle.

Keywords: Acaricides, Moringa oleifera, Seed extract, Repellents, Rhipicephalus microplus, Ticks, Cattle

INTRODUCTION

Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus ticks are hematophagous ectoparasites of cattle (*Bos taurus*) and are mostly found in tropical and subtropical regions ^[1]. *R. microplus* ticks also infest other bovids including water buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*), gaur (*B. frontalis*), and banteng (*Bos javanicus*) ^[2]. *R. microplus* cattle ticks are causing huge economic losses in terms of decreased milk and weight gain, morbidity, mortality, hide damage, and cost of disease control. The economic loss due to *R. microplus* is estimated at 22-30 billion dollars/annum ^[3]. They also transmit several pathogens including *Babesia bovis, Babesia bigemina, Anaplasma marginale*, and thrombocytopenia syndrome

virus ^[4]. No doubt, *R microplus* (Acari: Ixodidae) infest livestock animals, but they also have zoonotic potential because they can transmit certain pathogens to humans ^[5,6]. For example, in the United States of America, 4151 cases of human granulocytic anaplasmosis (HGA) were recorded in 2016, and 2358 cases of babesiosis in 2017 ^[7,8].

Various chemical drugs including pyrethroids (permethrin, flumethrine), arsenical preparations, chlorinated hydrocarbons (DDT, lindane), organophosphates (coumaphos), carbamates (carbaryl) macrocyclic lactones (ivermectin), formamidines (amitraz), phenyl pyrazoles (fipronil) and insect growth regulators (fluazuron) were used to

 \odot \odot

control *R. microplus* population ^[9,10]. Unfortunately, the continuous and irrational use of these chemical acaricides has led to the development of resistance in the tick population [11]. The resistance is developed because of the mediation of para-sodium channels and mutation in the acetylcholinesterase enzyme system^[12]. These chemical acaricides are also not readily accessible to the farmers because of their high costs. However, they may have hazardous effects on human and animal health through the contamination of cattle milk and meat ^[13]. Due to the increasing emphasis on sustainable agriculture and the growing interest in organic farming practices, synthetic acaricides such as pyrethroids, organochlorines, and organophosphates have faced restrictions in the global market [14]. Consequently, scientists and researchers have changed their interest in the development of new agents and are focusing on alternative control strategies [15,16]. Therefore, many effective control strategies have been used, including pheromone-assisted control, vaccination, entomopathogenic fungi, nanoparticles, and botanicals [17,18].

Plant-derived products seek special attention among the alternate control strategies and can be promising as an acaricidal source ^[19]. The insecticidal and acaricidal potentials of these plant extracts are due to the presence of chemical components and their interaction among themselves ^[20,21]. Furthermore, plant extracts are biodegradable, eco-friendly, and target-specific to the species.

Moringa oleifera is a globally distributed plant and most people use it in their diet because of its therapeutic properties. It has been used to cure various chronic diseases for centuries because of its ethnomedicinal properties ^[22]. Because of its pharmacological properties, it has been used as an antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, antiviral, antifungal, anthelmintic, and anti-parasitic ^[23]. These properties are due to the presence of several chemical compounds such as tannins, flavonoids, saponins, terpenoids, glycosides, steroids, coumarins, proteins, carbohydrates, and starches. Other phytochemical analysis revealed the presence of isoquercetine, astragalin, isorhamnetin, daidzein, apigenin, luteolin, genistein, epicatechin, ferulic acid, gallic acid, ellagic acid, sinapic acid, caffeic acid, chlorogenic acid, salicylic acid, vicenin-2, niazimicin, and niazirin^[24].

In this study, we investigated the potential of ethyl acetate extract of *M. oleifera* on adult tick mortality, larval tick mortality, percentage egg hatchability, inhibition of oviposition, reproductive index, and reproductive efficiency index of *R. microplus*. In addition, we also investigated the repellent effect of *M. oleifera* against adult ticks of *R. microplus*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

This study was conducted with approval from the Departmental Ethical Review Board, Department of Parasitology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad (Approval No. PAR/315-24, dated 03-06-2024).

Plant Material Preparation

The seeds of *M. oleifera* were purchased from the local herbal market in Karkhana Bazar Faisalabad, Pakistan. The seeds were then identified by an expert botanist at the Department of Botany, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan. The seeds were then air-dried for 48 h and ground into fine powder. The powder was kept in a clean and dry glass container (Imperial-G^{*}). The plant extract was prepared by mixing 300g of *M. oleifera* powder into 2700mL of liquid ethyl acetate (UNI-CHEM^{*}) in a 1:10 w/v ratio. The material was stirred continuously after regular intervals and filtered. The desired extract was obtained by reducing the vacuum under Xinchen^{*}XZ-10L at 27°C. The extract was then stored at -4°C until the analysis. The percentage yield was then calculated by the formula given below:

Percentage yield = $\frac{weight of the dry extract}{weight of the dry seeds before extraction} \times 100$

Collection and Preparation of Ticks

A total of 300 R. microplus ticks were collected from different areas of Tehsil Chuk Chumbra, District Faisalabad, Pakistan. The ticks were collected in 100 mL plastic bottles (Merum^{*}) from different body parts including the neck, groin, and udder of cattle with the help of blunt end forceps (Premium^{*}). The plastic bottles were provided with tiny holes for proper aeration. The ticks were then transported to the Chemotherapy Lab, Department of Parasitology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan. The ticks were washed and identified under a stereomicroscope (Nikon^{*}) according to the identification guide ^[25,26]. Two groups of 300 ticks were made. One group contained 210 ticks for the adult immersion test and the remaining 90 ticks were placed in a separate group and incubated in biological oxygen demand (BOD at 27°C and 85% relative humidity. The latter was used to evaluate, inhibition of oviposition (IO), egg hatchability (EH), reproductive index (RI), and reproductive efficiency index [27]. The effectiveness of the product was also investigated. For these purposes, the following formulas were used.

IO (%) =
$$\frac{\text{IE control-IE treated}}{\text{IE control}} \times 100$$

EH (%) = $\frac{\text{Number of eggs hatched}}{\text{total number of eggs}} \times 100$

721

DI (%)	Weight of eggs laid	× 100
KI(70) =	Weight of adult females before treatment	~ 100
REI =	$\frac{1}{2}$ egg mass weight×% egg hatching $\times 20000$	
IXL/I	engorged female tick weight	

$$PE(\%) = \frac{RE \text{ control} - RE \text{ treatment}}{RE \text{ control}} \times 100$$

Bioassays

Adult immersion test, larval immersion test, and tick repellent assay were used to evaluate the acaricidal and repellent potential of ethyl acetate extract of *M. oleifera* seeds.

Adult Immersion Test (AIT)

The adult immersion test was carried out to determine the adult engorged R. microplus tick mortality. A total of 210 engorged female cattle ticks were divided into seven subgroups which include five subgroups for five different concentrations along with positive (cypermethrin 0.1% of K-CYPER^{*}) and negative (distilled water) control groups. Each subgroup was further subdivided into three replications and each replication contained 10 ticks. Five concentrations (20, 10, 5, 2.5, and 1.25) of M. oleifera were prepared. 5 mL of each concentration was taken out in separate Petri dishes (SMART LAB^{*}). The collected ticks were then immersed, removed, washed with distilled water, and placed on filter paper to dry. All dried ticks were then transferred into a desiccator and placed in a BOD incubator where temperature and relative humidity were maintained at 27°C and 85% respectively. The adult tick mortality of all groups was calculated after 6, 12, and 24 h treatment. The mortality of R. microplus ticks was confirmed by the loss of motility or sensitivity and the absence of motion of malpighian tubules and pedal reflex.

Percentage mortality was calculated by the following formula:

Percentage mortality = $\frac{Number of dead ticks}{Total number of ticks} \times 100^{[28]}$

Larval Immersion Test

The LIT was used to evaluate the larval mortality ^[29]. Similar to the adult immersion test five concentrations (20, 10, 5, 2.5, 1.25%) concentrations were taken in 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tubes. 100 *R. microplus* larvae were placed in each 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube. The positive control group was treated with 1 mL of 0.1% cypermethrin while the negative control was treated with distilled water. After adding the larvae, the tubes were sealed and shaken vigorously for 30 sec and then gently for 5 min. Each treated larva was then transferred to filter paper to dry. After that, the larvae were placed on Whatman filter paper No. 1 (8.5×7.5 cm), folded, and sealed with hairpins to form a packet. These packets were then incubated at

27°C and 85% relative humidity. Live and dead larvae were counted after 48 h treatment. The experiment was repeated three times and larval mortality was counted by the following formula:

Percentage mortality= $\frac{Number of dead larvae}{Total number of larvae} \times 100^{[30]}$

Tick Climbing Repellent Assay (TCRA)

The TCRA was used to investigate the repellent activity of ethyl acetate extract of M. oleifera. The same protocol was followed as adapted by ^[31]. For this procedure, two vertical aluminium rods were taken which were spaced 7cm from each other and attached to an aluminium base. Each aluminium rod was encased in a glass tube with a piece of filter paper wrapped around it. The top of each tube was sealed with wet cotton wool. M. oleifera concentrations (20, 10, 5, 2.5, 1.25 %) were applied to aluminum rods and 30 ticks were placed for each concentration. A similar procedure was done for positive (0.1% cypermethrin) and negative control (distilled water). Some ticks were unable to climb up due to the repellent effect of ethyl acetate of *M. oleifera* and data were recorded for all groups. The percentage repellency was calculated by using the following formula:

Percentage Repellency = $\frac{100 - (\text{mean number of ticks not repelled})}{\text{mean number of ticks not repelled by control}} \times 100$

Statistical Analysis

Results of *R. microplus* adult cattle ticks (adult tick mortality, larval mortality, reproductive index, reproductive efficiency, inhibition of oviposition, percentage larval hatching, and product effectiveness) were analyzed using Tuckey's test (P>0.05). Lethal concentrations (LC_{50} and LC_{90}) and repellent concentrations (RC_{50} and RC_{90}) were calculated by using Statistical Product and Service Solutions (SPSS) software.

RESULTS

Yield of the Ethyl Acetate Extract of M. oleifera

Using the hydrodistillation process, a yield of 12.8% was determined for the ethyl acetate extract of *M. oleifera*.

Adult Tick Mortality

Effect of Ethyl Acetate Extract of M. Oleifera Seeds on Adult Tick Mortality: The results of the adult immersion test for various concentrations (20, 10, 5, 2.5, 1.25%) of ethyl acetate of M. oleifera seeds are shown in Table 1 and Fig. 1. Value for adult tick mortality was lowest at AX=1% concentration whereas 70% mortality was seen at EX=20% treatment. The results demonstrated that a 20% concentration of M. oleifera showed a significant (P<0.05) acaricidal effect against R. microplus adult ticks when compared with negative control. LC_{50} and LC_{90} values were calculated as shown in Table 2. *Table 1.* Percentage mortality of adult Rhipicephalus microplus ticks treated with various concentrations of ethyl acetate extract of M. oleifera seeds under laboratory conditions (27°C and RH = 85%)

Concentrations of M. oleifera	Mortality After 6 h	Mortality After 12 h	Mortality After 24 h
AX	10 ± 0^{d}	16.6±5.77°	23.33±5.77 ^d
BX	23.33±5.77 ^{cd}	33.33±5.77°	43.33±5.77 ^d
СХ	36.66±5.77 ^{cd}	46.66±5.77°	56.66±5.77 ^{cd}
DX	46.66±5.77 ^{bc}	56.66±5.77 ^{bc}	66.66± 5.77 ^{bc}
EX	53.33±5.77 ^b	63.33±5.77 ^b	70±10 ^b
PC	100 ± 0^{a}	100±0ª	100±0ª
NC	0 ± 0^{e}	0 ± 0^{d}	0±0 ^e

AX: M. oleifera 1.25%; BX: M. oleifera 2.5%; CX: M. oleifera 5%; DX: M. oleifera 10%; EX: M. oleifera 20%; PC: Positive Control; NC: Negative Control. Mean±SD along with the same superscripts have a non-significant difference (P>0.05) from each other



Negative Control. Mean±SD along with the same superscripts have a nonsignificant difference (P>0.05) from each other

Table 2. LC_{s_0} and LC_{g_0} values with 95% Confidence interval (C.I) of ethyl acetate extract of M. oleifera seeds against adult tick mortality at different time intervals							
	Time Interval	LC50 (95% C.I)	LC90 (95% C.I)	Slope ± SE	\mathbf{X}^2	R ²	
<i>M. oleifera</i> Seed	6 h	0.057 (0.019-1.070)	6.246 (3.019-8.302)	0.91±0.62	0.176	0.947	
Extract	12 h	0.047 (0.017-1.009)	3.721 (1.171-5.223)	1.12±0.69	0.471	0.909	
	24 h	0.019 (0.007-0.461)	0.702 (0.039-3.121)	1.68±0.91	0.588	0.886	
LC: lethal concentration	1s; X²: Chi-square;	R ² : coefficient of de	termination; SE: st	andard Error			

Larval Mortality

Effect of Ethyl Acetate Extract of M. oleifera Seeds on Larval Mortality: The larvicidal effect of ethyl acetate extract of *M. oleifera* seeds at various concentrations (20, 10, 5, 2.5, 1.25%) was evaluated against the larvae of *R. microplus* ticks. The results demonstrated that a 20% concentration of *M. oleifera* showed a significant (P<0.05) effect when compared with negative control. LC_{50} and LC_{90} values were also calculated which showed toxicity at 12.41 and 2.41% doses respectively. *Fig. 2* indicates that as extract concentration increased, larval mortality also increased.

Effectiveness of the M. oleifera Extract

The efficacy of ethyl acetate extract of *M. oleifera* seeds against *R. microplus* ticks was determined through the product effectiveness parameter. Different concentrations of ethyl acetate of *M. oleifera* seeds were used and proved to have different results concerning effectiveness against



microplus ticks. AX: *M. oleifera* 1.25%; BX: *M. oleifera* 2.5%; CX: *M. oleifera* 5%; DX: *M. oleifera* 10%; EX: *M. oleifera* 20%; PC: Positive Control; NC: Negative Control. Mean±SD along with the same superscripts have a non-significant difference (P>0.05) from each other

Table 3. Mean values of egg hatchability, % inhibition of hatchability, oviposition reduction, reproductive index, andreproductive efficiency index engorged females of R. microplus treated with various concentrations of ethyl acetateextract of M. oleifera seeds under laboratory conditions (27° C and RH = 85%)

Concentrations of M. oleifera	Egg Hatchability	%Inhibition of Hatchability	Oviposition Reduction	Reproductive Index	Reproductive Efficiency Index
AX	80.55±1.50ª	19.44±1.50ª	54.73 ± 0.90^{d}	33.59±0.71 ^b	54.12±2.05 ^b
BX	75.11±3.20ª	24.88±3.20ª	62.87±1.70 ^{cd}	27.54±1.26 ^{bc}	41.4 ±3.64 ^{bc}
CX	63.11±5.27 ^b	36.88±5.27 ^b	69.05±1.64 ^{cd}	22.96±1.21 ^{bc}	29.07±3.92 ^{cd}
DX	42.44±1.67°	57.55±1.67°	79.94±4.92 ^{bc}	14.88±3.65 ^{cd}	12.71±3.55 ^{de}
EX	27.22±2.54 ^c	72.77±2.54°	89.15 ± 1.74^{b}	8.04 ± 1.29^{d}	$4.4{\pm}1.04^{ m ef}$
РС	13.11±2.77 ^d	86.88±2.0177d	93.06±10ª	5.14±0.74 ^e	1.34±0.32 ^f
NC	88.22±2.52ª	11.77±2.52ª	40.66±0.95°	44.03±0.7ª	77.7±3.36ª

AX: M. oleifera 1.25%; BX: M. oleifera 2.5%; CX: M. oleifera 5%; DX: M. oleifera 10%; EX: M. oleifera 20%; PC: Positive Control; NC: Negative Control. Mean±SD along with the same superscripts have a non-significant difference (P>0.05) from each other



microplus ticks. AX: M. oleifera 1.25%; BX: M. oleifera 2.5%; CX: M. oleifera 5%; DX: M. oleifera 10%; EX: M. oleifera 20%; PC: Positive Control; NC: Negative Control. Mean±SD along with the same superscripts have a non-significant difference (P>0.05) from each other

Percentage Repellency

R. microplus cattle ticks. The 20% concentration showed significant (P<0.05) results when compared with the negative control and had non-significant (P>0.05) results from the positive control (0.1% cypermethrin) as shown in *Table 3* and *Fig. 3*.

The results of tick repellency of ethyl acetate extract of *M. oleifera* seeds at different concentrations (20, 10, 5, 2.5, 1.25%) were shown in *Table 4* and *Fig. 4*. Tick repellency was calculated at 4 h and 8 h post-treatment. The results

Table 4. Percentage Repellency of adult Rhipicephalus microplus ticks treated with various concentrations of ethyl acetate extractof M . oleifera seeds under laboratory conditions (27°C and $RH = 85\%$)						
Concentrations of M. oleifera	Repellency After 4 h	Repellency After 8 h				
AX	19.62±1.69 ^{de}	14.94±2.13 ^d				
BX	34.81±5.59 ^d	29.89±6.4°				
CX	50.74±4.62°	43.05±2.22°				
DX	64.81±3.39 ^{bc}	49.1±4.89 ^b				
EX	77.4±4.2 ^b	60.49±4.04 ^b				
PC	97.77±2.22ª	91.45±4.31ª				
NC	7.4±2.79°	4.27±2.82 ^e				

AX: M. oleifera 1.25%; BX: M. oleifera 2.5%; CX: M. oleifera 5%; DX: M. oleifera 10%; EX: M. oleifera 20%; PC: Positive Control; NC: Negative Control. Mean±SD along with the same superscripts have a non-significant difference (P>0.05) from each other



revealed that the highest repellencies 77.4 and 60.49% were observed after the 4^{th} and 8^{th} h of treatment respectively when a 20% concentration of the extract was used.

DISCUSSION

Livestock have significant economic importance worldwide. Various synthetic chemical drugs have been used to control *R. microplus* but the continuous, frequent, misuse of these drugs has led to the development of *R. microplus* resistance ^[11]. Scientists are moving towards alternate sources such as vaccination, entomopathogenic fungi, nanoparticles, and botanicals ^[32]. Due to their pharmacological properties, botanicals have been extensively used as antioxidants, antibacterials, antivirals, antifungals, and antiparasitic ^[33-35]. Research on plant extracts revealed their insecticidal and acaricidal potential and they could be used to control ticks as an alternative replacement for synthetic compounds ^[36-38].

M. oleifera plant is widely distributed and mostly present in South Asian countries like Pakistan, India, and Bangladesh. In different countries, it is often used for medicinal purposes, mainly as a laxative and analgesic. These properties are due to the presence of tannins, phenolics, flavonoids, starch, carbohydrates, fats, vitamins, alkaloids, and minerals [39]. The present study was conducted to evaluate the in vitro acaricidal and repellent potential of ethyl acetate extract of M. oleifera seeds on R. microplus engorged females and larvae. Adult and larval immersion tests were carried out against R. microplus ticks and results showed maximum adult (70%) and larval mortality (73%) at 20% concentration. The LC₉₀ values were also calculated which showed that 6.246, 3.721, and 0.702% values are toxic at 6, 12, and 24 h for adult tick mortality. The present study was in line with the same study investigated by Radwan et al.^[40] that demonstrated the acaricidal potential of Aloe vera and Rheum rhabarbarum against R. microplus. A similar study was conducted by Alborzi et al.^[41], in which the acaricidal potential of M. oleifera against Hyalomma dromedarii ticks was evaluated. The results also showed that the hydroethanolic extract of M. oleifera caused the mortality of adults and larvae and reduced the ability of ticks to lay eggs.

Our study also revealed the detrimental effects of ethyl acetate extract of *M. oleifera* seeds against reproductive parameters. It is evident by decreased egg-laying ability, egg weight, and reproductive index. Egg hatchability and

725

reproductive efficiency index have also been reduced. This decrease in reproductive parameters is associated with the presence of phytochemicals in *M. oleifera*. These phytochemicals act synergistically on the salivary and reproductive glands of ticks and act as antitick agents ^[42]. Different studies confirmed the presence of a variety of phenolics and flavonoids in M. oleifera which include syringic acid, caffeic acid, p-coumaric acid, benzoic acid, vallic acid, gallic acid, luteolin, galanin, quercetin, and kamferol. Bustos-Baena et al.^[43] confirmed that caffeic acid and vallic acid obtained by Randia aculeata had been found effective against R. microplus and they are involved in inhibiting the synthesis and functioning of different hormones critical for the reproduction process, leading to decreased egg production and decreased egg hatchability. Zhang et al.^[44] investigated the potential of gallic acid against Ectropis obliqua and found its application as an anti-insect agent. In a similar study, Baz et al.^[45] determined the fumigant and adulticidal effect of garlic, mustard, radish, and rosemary against insects and found them to be an anti-insect agent. The previous study also demonstrated that quercetin present in plant extracts can target specific proteins in insects and hinder their feeding activity [46]. The phenolics particularly quercetin in plant extracts can bind with different amino acids at specific sites and denature the protein structure, hence leading to the disintegration of cuticular membrane [47]. The previous studies also revealed that the phenolics such as vallic acid and ferulic acid caused oxidative stress by the production of superoxide free radicals which have deleterious effects on the growth and development of the insect [48]. In another study, it was confirmed that the application of the phenolics to the insects particularly in ticks produced oxidative stress markers (lipid peroxide, hydrogen peroxide, and superoxides) that are involved in producing oxidative stress and hence act as anti-tick agents. Guneidy et al.^[49] confirmed the effects of phenolics, flavonoids, and tannins on tick cuticles and their penetration into the cell membranes to create vacuum and dissociation.

 RC_{50} and RC_{90} values were also calculated which showed a repellent effect after 4 and 8 h treatment. The repellent activities of *M. oleifera* may be due to the chemicals that produce a vapor barrier around the insects and prevent the insects from touching or settling on the skin. The repellent effect of plant extracts decreases with time, as results show that it is higher 4 h after treatment and lower 8h after treatment. Based on the evidence provided it is justified that phytochemicals are responsible for anti-tick activities.

The results of the current study confirmed that the ethyl acetate extract of *M. oleifera* seeds has acaricidal and repelling effects against the *R. microplus* ticks. However, animal trials are advised before endorsing the use of this

M. oleifera extract in practical application. Further study and better techniques are also required to determine the exact chemical composition of *M. oleifera*. In addition, better and improved techniques may increase the yield and residual life of plant extracts.

DECLARATIONS

Availability of Data and Material: Data may be available on demand if the reader requires it.

Acknowledgment: We thank the Researcher Support Program (RSPD2024R/1084), at King Saud University. We also thank the Panjab Agricultural Research Board (PARB, 21-199) for its valuable support and participation in this research work.

Ethical Approval: This study was conducted with approval from the Departmental Ethical Review Board, Department of Parasitology, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad (Approval No. PAR/315-24, dated 03-06-2024).

Financial Support: No financial support

Competing Interests: The authors have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI):

It is declared that all data and content in this article are original. No AI tool has been used for any diagram, table, or figure in the article.

Author Contribution: RZA, MMM: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - Review & Editing. RZA, AMAK, MM: Investigation, Writing - Review & Editing.

REFERENCES

1. Sultan S, Zeb J, Ayaz S, Rehman SU, Khan S, Hussain M, Senbill H, Husain S, Sparagano OA: Epidemiologic profile of hard ticks and molecular characterization of *Rhipicephalus microplus* infesting cattle in central part of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan. *Parasitol Res*, 121 (9): 2481-2493, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/s00436-022-07596-3

2. Zerek A, Erdem I, Yaman M, Altuğ ME, Orkun Ö: Ixodid ticks (Ixodoidea: Ixodidae) infesting wild animals in Hatay, Türkiye. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 29 (6): 641-647, 2023. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2023.30132

3. Zeb J, Shams S, Ayaz S, Din IU, Khan A, Adil N, Ullah H, Raza A: Epidemiology of ticks and molecular characterization of *Rhipicephalus microplus* in cattle population in North-Western Pakistan. *Int J Acarol*, 46 (5): 335-343, 2020. DOI: 10.1080/01647954.2020.1775294

4. Diarra AZ, Kelly P, Davoust B, Parola P: Tick-borne diseases of humans and animals in West Africa. *Pathogens*, 12 (11): 1276, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ pathogens12111276

5. Ali A, Khan MA, Zahid H, Yaseen PM, Qayash Khan M, Nawab J, Ur Rehman Z, Ateeq M, Khan S, Ibrahim M: Seasonal dynamics, record of ticks infesting humans, wild and domestic animals and molecular phylogeny of *Rhipicephalus microplus* in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Pakistan. *Front Physiol*, 10:793, 2019. DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00793

6. Khan AMA, Wei CR, Asghar S, Saeed Z, Akram MS, Idrees H, Azhar R, Sohail M: Seroprevalence, distribution pattern and control of Crimean Congo Hemorrhagic fever (CCHF) with its risk factors in Pakistan and neighboring countries. In, Aguilar-Marcelino L, Zafar MA, Abbas RZ, Khan A (Eds): Zoonosis. Vol, 3, Unique Scientific Publishers, Faisalabad, Pakistan. 230-239, 2023.

7. Martins KR, Garcia MV, Bonatte-Junior P, Duarte PO, de Higa LOS, Csordas BG, Barros JC, Andreotti R: Correlation between *Rhipicephalus* *microplus* ticks and *Anaplasma marginale* infection in various cattle breeds in Brazil. *Exp Appl Acarol*, 81 (4): 585-598, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s10493-020-00514-1

8. De León AAP, Mitchell Iii RD, Watson DW: Ectoparasites of cattle. *Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract*, 36 (1): 173-185, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j. cvfa.2019.12.004

9. Selles SMA, Kouidri M, González MG, González J, Sánchez M, González-Coloma A, Sanchis J, Elhachimi L, Olmeda AS, Tercero JM: Acaricidal and repellent effects of essential oils against ticks: A review. *Pathogens*, 10 (11): 1379, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/pathogens10111379

10. Rahman A, Kashif M, Nasir A, Idrees A, Jamil M, Ehsan M, Sana MA: A review of tick and tick control strategies in Pakistan. *Pakistan J Med Health Sci*, 16, 652-655, 2022. DOI: 10.53350/pjmhs22161652

11. Abbas RZ, Zaman MA, Colwell DD, Gilleard J, Iqbal Z: Acaricide resistance in cattle ticks and approaches to its management: The state of play. *Vet Parasitol*, 203 (1-2): 6-20, 2014. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2014.03.006

12. Cossio-Bayugar R, Martinez-Ibañez F, Aguilar-Diaz H, Miranda-Miranda E: Relationship between acaricide resistance and acetylcholinesterase gene polymorphisms in the cattle tick *Rhipicephalus microplus*. *Parasite*, 31:3 2024. DOI: 10.1051/parasite/2024003

13. Rani L, Thapa K, Kanojia N, Sharma N, Singh S, Grewal AS, Srivastav AL, Kaushal J: An extensive review on the consequences of chemical pesticides on human health and environment. *J Clean Prod*, 283:124657, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124657

14. Nath S, Mandal S, Pal S, Jadhao S, Ottalwar N, Sanyal P: Impact and management of acaricide resistance-pertaining to sustainable control of ticks. *Int J Livest Res*, 8:46, 2018.

15. Mehnaz S, Abbas RZ, Kanchev K, Rafique MN, Aslam MA, Bilal M, Ather AS, Zahid A, Batool T: Natural control perspectives of *Dermanyssus gallinae* in poultry. *Int J Agri Biosci*, 12 (3): 136-142, 2023. DOI: 10.47278/ journal.ijab/2023.056

16. Akbar M, Aleem K, Sandhu K, Shamoon F, Fatima T, Ehsan M, Shaukat F: A mini-review on insect pests of wheat and their management strategies. *Int J Agri Biosci*, 12 (2): 110-115, 2023. DOI: 10.47278/journal. ijab/2023.052

17. Al-Hoshani N, Zaman MA, Syaad KMA, Salman M, Rehman TU, Olmeda AS: Assessment of repellency and acaricidal potential of *Nigella sativa* essential oil using *Rhipicephalus microplus* ticks. *Pak Vet J*, 43 (3): 606-610, 2023. DOI: 10.29261/pakvetj/2023.054

18. Khan MK, Imran M: Parasite control practices used by horse owners in Punjab, Pakistan. *Int J Agri Biosci*, 12 (4): 257-261, 2023. DOI: 10.47278/ journal.ijab/2023.073

19. Salman M, Abbas RZ, Israr M, Abbas A, Mehmood K, Khan MK, Hussain R, Saleemi MK, Shah S: Repellent and acaricidal activity of essential oils and their components against *Rhipicephalus* ticks in cattle. *Vet Parasitol*, 283:109178, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2020.109178

20. Demir S, Karaalp C, Tabanca N, Bernier UR, Linthicum KJ: Evaluation of the repellent activity of 13 *Achillea* L. species from türkiye against the virus vector *Aedes aegypti* (L.) mosquitoes. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 29 (1): 33-40, 2023. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2022.28409

21. Ahmad S, Humak F, Ahmad M, Altaf H, Qamar W, Hussain A, Ashraf U, Abbas RZ, Siddique A, Ashraf T: Phytochemicals as alternative anthelmintics against poultry parasites: A review. *Agrobiol Rec*, 12, 34-45, 2023. DOI: 10.47278/journal.abr/2023

22. Akter T, Rahman MA, Moni A, Apu MAI, Fariha A, Hannan MA, Uddin MJ: Prospects for the protective potential of *Moringa oleifera* against kidney diseases. *Plants*, 10 (12):2818, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/plants10122818

23. Padayachee B, Baijnath H: An updated comprehensive review of the medicinal, phytochemical, and pharmacological properties of *Moringa oleifera*. *S Afr J Botany*, 129, 304-316, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.sajb.2019.08.021

24. Singh S, Dubey S, Rana N: Phytochemistry and pharmacological profile of drumstick tree *"Moringa oleifera* Lam": An overview. *Curr Res Nutr Food Sci*, 19 (5): 529-548, 2023. DOI: 10.2174/1573401319666221226144613

25. Walker JB, Keirans JE, Horak IG: The Genus Rhipicephalus (Acari, Ixodidae): A Guide to the Brown Ticks of the World. Cambridge

University Press, 2000.

26. Estrada-Peña A, Bouattour A, Camicas JL, Walker AR: Ticks of Domestic Animals in the Mediterranean Region. University of Zaragoza, Spain, 131, 2004.

27. Stendel W: The relevance of different test methods for the evaluation of tick-controlling substances. *J S Afr Vet Assoc*, 51 (3): 147-152, 1980. DOI: 10520/AJA00382809_3176

28. Islam S, Talukder S, Ferdous J, Hasan MM, Sarker YA, Sachi S, Alim MA, Sikder MH: *In-vitro* efficacy of verenda (*Ricinus communis*) leaves extract against ticks in cattle. *Bangl J Vet Med*, 16 (1): 81-86, 2018. DOI: 10.3329/bjvm.v16i1.37380

29. Sabatini GA, Kemp DH, Hughes S, Nari A, Hansen J: Tests to determine LC50 and discriminating doses for macrocyclic lactones against the cattle tick, *Boophilus microplus. Vet Parasitol*, 95 (1): 53-62, 2001. DOI: 10.1016/S0304-4017(00)00406-4

30. Fao R: Management and integrated parasite control in ruminants guidelines, module 1. Ticks: Acaricide resistance: Diagnosis, management and prevention, food and agriculture organization. Animal Production and Health Division, Rome, Italy, 2004.

31. Carroll JF, Solberg VB, Klun JA, Kramer M, Debboun M: Comparative activity of deet and AI3-37220 repellents against the ticks *Ixodes scapularis* and *Amblyomma americanum* (Acari: Ixodidae) in laboratory bioassays. *J Med Entomol*, 41 (2): 249-254, 2004. DOI: 10.1603/0022-2585-41.2.249

32. Khan AMA, Asrar R, Shrafat H, Qamar MH, Ahmad S, Kauser M, Aleem MT: Rationale to develop mRNA-based vaccines for *Trypanosoma brucei* (a review). *Continental Vet J*, 3(1):26-35, 2023.

33. Saleh M, Ramadan M, Elmadawy R, Morsi M, El-Akabawy L: The efficacy of alcoholic extracts of *Morus macroura* (mulberries), *Lepidium sativum* (garden cress seeds) and diclazuril against *E. stiedae* in experimentally infected rabbits. *Int J Vet Sci*, 12 (6): 869-878, 2023. DOI: 10.47278/journal.ijvs/2023.049

34. Ghazy TA, Sayed GM, Farghaly DS, Arafa MI, Abou-El-Nour BM, Sadek AM: *In vitro* antiprotozoal effect of alcoholic extract of hemolymph of *Galleria mellonella* larva against *Trichomonas gallinae. Int J Vety Sci*, 12 (3): 302-308, 2023. DOI: 10.47278/journal.ijvs/2022.192

35. Rashid MHU, Mehwish WH, Ahmad S, Ali L, Ahmad N, Ali M, Fazal H: Unraveling the combinational approach for the antibacterial efficacy against infectious pathogens using the herbal extracts of the leaves of *Dodonaea viscosa* and fruits of *Rubus fruticosus. Agrobiol Rec*, 16, 57-66. 2024. DOI: 10.47278/journal.abr/2024.012

36. Naseer MU, Sindhu ZuD, Iqbal Z, Aslam B 2: *In vitro* efficacy of *Areca catechu* against cypermethrin resistant *Rhipicephalus microplus* and its phytochemical analysis. *Pak Vet J*, 42 (3): 414-418. DOI: 10.29261/ pakvetj/2022.053

37. Eltaly RI, Baz MM, Radwan IT, Yousif M, Abosalem HS, Selim A, Taie HAA, Farag AAG, Khater HF: Novel acaricidal activity of *Vitex castus* and *Zingiber officinale* extracts against the camel tick, *Hyalomma dromedarii. Int J Vet Sci*, 12 (2): 255-259, 2023. DOI: 10.47278/journal.ijvs/2022.184

38. Baz MM, Alfagham AT, Al-Shuraym LA, Moharam AF: Efficacy and comparative toxicity of phytochemical compounds extracted from aromatic perennial trees and herbs against vector-borne *Culex pipiens* (Diptera: Culicidae) and *Hyalomma dromedarii* (acari: Ixodidae) as green insecticides. *Pak Vet J*, 44 (1): 55-62, 2024. DOI: 10.29261/pakvetj/2024.144

39. Zaman MA, Iqbal Z, Abbas RZ, Khan MN, Muhammad G, Younus M, Ahmed S: *In vitro* and *in vivo* acaricidal activity of a herbal extract. *Vet Parasitol*, 186 (3-4): 431-436, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j.vetpar.2011.11.018

40. Radwan IT, Eltaly RI, Baz MM, Yousif M, Selim A, Taie HAA, Manaa EA, Khater HF: Novel acaricidal and growth-regulating activity of *Aloe vera* and *Rheum rhabarbarum* extracts and their oil/water nanoemulsions against the camel tick, *Hyalomma dromedarii. Sci Rep*, 13 (1): 16802, 2023. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-43776-6

41. Alborzi A, Larki S, Jamshidian Ghale Sefidi J, Khodadad H: Anti-tick effect of aqueous, aqueous-alcoholic and alcoholic extracts of *Moringa olifera* on hatching eggs process and the growth of *Hyalomma anatolicum anatolicum* larvae by immersion test method. *Vet Res Biol Prod*, 36 (2): 22-31, 2023. DOI: 10.22092/vj.2022.358543.1969

42. Khater HF, Bazh EKA, Gawad SA, Selim A, Taie HAA, Radwan IT, Moustafa SA, Megahed AA, Baz MM, Kandeel SA: Acaricidal efficacy of thirty-five Egyptian plants against the camel tick, *Hyalomma dromedarii. Acta Parasitol*, 69, 1231-1243, 2024. DOI: 10.1007/s11686-024-00801-6

43. Bustos-Baena AS, Bravo-Ramos JL, Romero-Salas D, Sánchez-Montes S, Ortiz-Carbajal LA, Sánchez-Otero MG: *In vitro* and *In silico* studies of the acaricidal and anticholinesterase activities of *Randia aculeata* seeds against the southern cattle tick *Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) microplus. Rev Bras Parasitol Vet*, 33 (2):e001524, 2024.

44. Zhang X, Ran W, Li X, Zhang J, Ye M, Lin S, Liu M, Sun X: Exogenous application of gallic acid induces the direct defense of tea plant against *Ectropis obliqua* Caterpillars. *Front Plant Sci*, 13:833489, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2022.833489

45. Baz MM, Eltaly RI, Debboun M, Selim A, Radwan IT, Ahmed N, Khater HF: The contact/fumigant adulticidal effect of Egyptian oils against the house fly, *Musca domestica* (Diptera: Muscidae). *Int J Vety Sci*, 12 (2): 192-198, 2023. DOI: 10.47278/journal.ijvs/2022.180

46. Ratajac R, Pavlićević A, Petrović J, Stojanov I, Orčić D, Štrbac F, Simin N: *In vitro* evaluation of acaricidal efficacy of selected essential oils against *Dermanyssus gallinae. Pak Vet J*, 2023. DOI: 10.29261/pakvetj/2023.123

47. Ravindran R, Chithra ND, Deepa PE, Ajithkumar KG, Chandrasekhar L, Sreelekha K, Nair SN, Juliet S, Ghosh S: *In vitro* effects of caffeic acid, nortriptyline, precocene I and quercetin against *Rhipicephalus annulatus* (Acari: Ixodidae). *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, 71 (2): 183-193, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/s10493-017-0105-2

48. Kruk J, Aboul-Enein BH, Duchnik E, Marchlewicz M: Antioxidative properties of phenolic compounds and their effect on oxidative stress induced by severe physical exercise. *J Physiol Sci*, 72 (1): 19, 2022. DOI: 10.1186/s12576-022-00845-1

49. Guneidy RA, Amer MA, Hakim AEE, Abdel-Shafy S, Allam SA: Effect of polyphenols extracted from *Punica granatum* and *Acacia saligna* plants on glutathione S-transferase of the cattle tick *Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) annulatus* (Acari: Ixodidae). *J Parasit Dis*, 45, 524-538, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/ s12639-020-01323-4

Research Article

In Vitro and *In Vivo* Anticancer, Anti-inflammatory, and Antioxidant Activity of Dhimran (*Ocimum forsskaolii* benth) Extract and Essential Oil on Carbon Tetrachloride-Induced Hepatotoxicity in Mice

Asmaa Ali ALHARBI ^{1 (*)} 🕩

¹ Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, King Abdulaziz University, P.O. Box: 80200, Jeddah 21589, SAUDI ARABIA



(*) **Corresponding authors:** Asmaa Ali ALHARBI Phone: +966 50 604 1126 E-mail: aanalharbi@kau.edu.sa

How to cite this article?

Alharbi AA: In vitro and in vivo anticancer, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant activity of Dhimran (*Ocimum forsskaolii* benth) extract and essential oil on carbon tetrachlorideinduced hepatotoxicity in mice. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 30 (5): 729-740, 2024. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2024.32444

Article ID: KVFD-2024-32444 Received: 05.06.2024 Accepted: 09.08.2024 Published Online: 10.09.2024

Abstract

Medicinal plants are rich in bioactive components, which exert various biological activities that are beneficial for living. This study evaluated the antioxidant, antitumor, and anti-inflammatory activities of Dhimran (Ocimum forsskaolii benth) in mice. The main volatile compounds in Dhimran essential oil (DEO) were endo-fenchol, tau-cadinol, and β-atlantol, while Dhimran extract (DE) was rich in caffeic acid and quercetin. These active compounds in DE and DEO possess antioxidant activity, scavenging 93% of DPPH radicals, antibacterial activity against MDR bacteria, and anticancer activity against HepG2 cancer cell line. These activities influenced the mice's health. A total of 180 mice were divided into six treatment groups for 30 days as follows: T1 was fed a basal diet; T2 received CCl4 (187 mg/kg BW); T3 received DEO (4 mL/kg); T4 received DE (4 mL/kg); T5 received DEO+CCl₄; and T6 received DE+CCl₄. The oral administration of CCl₄ to mice resulted in an increase in absolute liver weight (ALW) and relative organ weight (ROW) and a significant decrease in body weight gain and feed conversion ratio (FCR). Additionally, there was a notable reduction in levels of red blood cells (RBCs), hematocrit (Ht), hemoglobin (Hb), and platelets; however, there was an increase in white blood cells (WBCs). The administration of CCL4 in mice lowered total protein content; however, it raised the activity of AST, ALT, ALP, and LDH in mice liver homogenate compared to the control (P<0.05). CCl₄ increased inflammation cytokines (TNF-a and IL-6). The coadministration of DEO or DE with CCl₄ significantly corrected all biomarkers to control levels, with a preference for DE. Liver sections from the control, DE, and DEO groups revealed a normal structure. It is concluded that Dhimran extract or essential oil has antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties that can be used as hepatoprotective agents against CCl₄ toxicity.

Keywords: Anticancer, Antioxidant, Anti-inflammatory, CCl₄ Toxicity, Essential oil, Hepatoprotective, *Ocimum forsskaolii* benth

INTRODUCTION

The nutritional, pharmacological, and antioxidant properties of numerous *Ocimum* species plants provide them with substantial commercial and therapeutic benefits ^[1]. The sweet basil "*Ocimum basilicum*" is the most nutritious. It is widely dispersed and employed in the perfumery and dietary supplement industries ^[2]. Sharmin et al.^[3] conducted numerous studies on extracts of essential oils (EOs) and *Ocimum* species, demonstrating powerful antitumor and antimicrobial properties. The apoptosis of HeLa cells was significantly increased by caffeic acid, isolated from *Ocimum gratissimum* L. It had apoptotic properties on human cervical cancer cells (HeLa) through activating numerous caspases ^[4]. Ursolic acid also affected microtubules and F-actin ^[5]. *Ocimum* species are rich in volatile organic components, i.e., phenylpropanoids, monoterpenes, and sesquiterpenes, which exhibit substantial antimicrobial activity against microbes ^[6].

Ocimum forsskaolii benth, which is named locally in Saudi Arabia as Dhimran is an aromatic medicinal plant belonging to the family *Lamiaceae* that grows in Saudi Arabia and is represented by 26 genera and about 70 species in Saudi Arabia^[7]. Native Saudi Arabians have long used it to enhance the flavor of butter and tea and its therapeutic benefits^[8]. Traditionally, it is employed as an insect repellent in Eretria, as a feverreducing agent in Yemen, and for treating eye infections in Rwanda^[8]. This plant has exhibited several biological

 \odot \odot

actions, including local anesthetic ^[9], antiepileptic, antiulcer, and anti-inflammatory properties ^[10]. Furthermore, it has antibacterial, antioxidant, and cytotoxic properties ^[8].

The chemical composition of *Ocimum forsskaolii* essential oil varies depending on its geographical origin. The main constituents are estragole (59.4-65.2%) and linalool (25.0-28.1%)^[11]. The Ethiopian sample was found to have high levels of (E)-methyl cinnamate or myrcene and methyl chavicol ^[12]. Sharmin et al.^[3] found that the aqueous extract of *Ocimum forsskaolii* leaves contained silver nanoparticles that exhibited antibacterial properties. The primary categories of chemicals in the *Ocimum* include phenylpropanoids, monoterpenes, and sesquiterpenes^[13].

A recent *in vitro* study revealed that *Ocimum forskolin* essential oils exhibited *in vitro* anticancer and antibacterial properties. This plant inhibits the growth of cancer cells by conducting tests to measure cytotoxicity. Furthermore, the study validated the oil's impact on specific molecular targets using advanced techniques. Furthermore, the antimicrobial activity of the *Ocimum forsskaolii* essential oil was evaluated against both Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria, i.e., *Escherichia coli, Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa,* and *Klebsiella pneumonia* ^[14].

Additionally, the previous studies stated that essential oil derived from *O. basilicum* seeds exhibited significant anticancer effects against Hep3B and MCF-7 with IC_{50} ranging between 56.23 and 80.35 µg/mL) cells, surpassing the efficacy of the positive control, Doxorubicin. Furthermore, the essential oil had strong antibacterial effects against *Klebsiella pneumoniae, Escherichia coli, Staphylococcus aureus, Proteus mirabilis,* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. It also shows potent antifungal activity against *Candida albicans*. The oil had an intense antioxidant action ^[15].

Carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) is an artificial chemical compound that has found primary application in the synthesis of chlorofluorocarbons, albeit also being utilized as a pesticide and cleansing agent. As a result of its toxic effects, its production is currently restricted. Carbon tetrachloride's high volatility and environmental persistence lead to its build-up in the atmosphere and groundwater. The general population might be exposed to harmful substances mainly by drinking polluted water and inhaling contaminated air. Elevated substance levels can harm the respiratory, hepatic, central nervous, and renal systems. Tetrachloride carbon is considered potentially carcinogenic to humans ^[16].

Furthermore, research has shown that basil possesses a diverse range of pharmacological properties that can be applied to several conditions, such as brain injury ^[17],

liver fibrosis, Type 2 diabetes allergies, and anemia [18]. Furthermore, the simultaneous administration of deltamethrin and Ocimum basilicum protects against oxidative stress caused by Hg and Cd in an in vivo model of acetaminophen-induced liver injury in Wistar rats ^[19]. Teofilović et al.^[20] demonstrated the effect of basil extract on the markers of oxidative stress, biochemical biomarkers, and morphology of liver injury. The extract improved the efficacy of antioxidant enzymes and decreased the oxidation of macromolecules. The animals treated with basil extract had significantly reduced levels of AST, ALP, and ALT in their blood compared to the control group. There are no studies on the in vivo effect of Dhimran extract or essential oils on the CCl4 toxicity on rats; Hence, this study evaluated the in vitro and in vivo antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and anticancer activities of Dhimran (Ocimum forsskaolii benth) essential oils and extracts in CCl₄-induced hepatotoxicity in mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

The Ethical Committee of King Abdulaziz University, Faculty of Medicine, accepted the study with ethical approval reference No. 516-23.

Plant Materials and Preparation of Dhimran Extract (DE)

Ocimum forsskaolii benth plant was collected at Al-Shafa area in Taif City, Saudi Arabia, in June 2023. The plant was identified and authenticated by Dr. Faraj Al-Ghamdi (taxonomist at King Abdulaziz University Herbarium). A plant was deposited at King Abdulaziz University Herbarium, Faculty of Sciences, King Abdulaziz University, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia; the reference specimen is (A. Harbi, 708). The Dhimran essential oil (DEO) was purchased from Aldousiah Farm, Al Bahah, Saudia Arabia.

The Dhimran leaves were dried in the shade and ground into a fine powder. A 10 g of the flour was dispersed in ethanol (70%) and stirred overnight (200 rpm, 25°C). The ethanol was separated by rotary evaporation, and the residues were freeze-dried, and 1 gm was obtained to prepare the different concentrations ^[21].

GC-MS Analysis

The GC-MS analysis was performed using a Trace GC Ultra/ISQ Single Quadrupole MS and TGSMS Fused Silica Capillary Column (30 m, 0.25 mm, 0.1 mm Film thickness) manufactured by Thermo Scientific, USA. An electron ionization apparatus with a constant flow rate of 1 mL/min and an ionization energy of 70 eV served as the carrier gas for GC-MS detection. The MS injector and transfer line were maintained at a constant temperature of 280°C.

The oven was set to increase its temperature from an initial value of 40°C and gradually raised to 280°C. A percentage relative peak area was utilized to investigate the identified components. The volatile compounds were tentatively identified by comparing their respective retention periods and mass spectra with those of different Library data of the GC/MS system ^[22].

Phenolic Compounds Content

The total phenolic compounds in DEO and DE were estimated using Folin-Ciocalteu method as Abd Elkader et al.^[23]. The phenolic compounds and flavonoids were detected using an HPLC Shimadzu series (Shimadzu, Japan) and a UV-Vis DAD for HPLC analysis. Polyphenols were separated using a separation Gemini column (C18, 150x4.6 mm 3 µm), (Phenomenex, USA) at 0.5 mL/min flow rate and 5°C temperature. The DE was dissolved in a methanol-water mixture (50:50) and injected into the autosampler. All chemicals used in this investigation were of HPLC grade; phosphoric acid (mobile phase B) and acetonitrile (mobile phase A) were combined with Water (Carlo Erba, Germany) to obtain a pH of 2. In addition to a sixty-min total runtime, the gradient elution percentage was altered as follows: a) Initial 5% A and 95% B; b) 35% A and 65% B for 15 min; c) 35% A and 65% B for 20 min; d) 40% A and 60% B for 30 min; e) 40% A and 60% B for 35 min; f) 50% A and 50% B for 40 min; g) 70% A and 30% B for 52 min; and h) 60 min. Examining the UV-Vis spectra of various phenolic standards, 210, 280, and 360 nm were chosen for subsequent HPLC-DAD analysis in the present investigation [24].

The Biological Activities

The Scavenging Activity: The scavenging power of DEO and DE was measured according to Jia et al.^[25]. The essential oils and extract at concentrations of (50, 100, and 200 μ g/mL) were mixed with DPPH (Sigma, USA) solution and incubated for 30 min at room temperature in the dark. The resultant mixture's absorbance was subsequently quantified at 517 nm. % AA was calculated using the following equation:

% Scavenging activity =
$$\frac{OD \text{ control} - OD \text{ sample}}{OD \text{ control}} \times 100 (1)$$

Antibacterial Activity: The antimicrobial activity of DEO and DE was assessed using the disc diffusion assay, following the methodology of Singh et al.^[26], with specific modifications for basil EOs. The McFarland standard solution (0.05) was made by mixing (0.5 mL) BaCl₂ and (99.5 mL) H₂SO₄ to obtain a solution with equivalent turbidity to 1.5×10^8 (CFU mL⁻¹) cell density. 200 µL of each bacterial and fungal culture (*L. monocytogenes, S. aureus, C. jejuni*, and *S. typhi*) was spread on nutrient agar plates. Six mm discs impregnated with varying DEO and DE concentrations were added to plates. The antibacterial

activity was quantified by measuring the width of the inhibitory area during a 24-h incubation at 37°C.

Cytotoxic Impact on HepG2 Cells: Cell viability was assessed by measuring their ability to convert the yellow dye MTT to a purple formazan, a process dependent on healthy mitochondria. HepG2 cells were suspended in RPMI 1640 media with 1% antibiotic antimycotic combination (10.000 U/mL potassium penicillin, 10.000 μ g/mL streptomycin sulfate, and 25 μ g/mL amphotericin B), as well as 1% L-glutamine at 37°C under 5% CO₂ using a water-jacketed carbondioxide incubator (Sheldon, TC2323, Cornelius, OR, USA).

Around 10.000 liver cancer cells were seeded per well in fresh media (2 mL) on 96-well plates. The microtiter plate was incubated for a day at 37°C and CO₂. The medium was replaced with a fresh one supplemented with FBS and varying concentrations of DE or DEO (50, 100, and 200 μ g/mL), then incubated for two days ^[27]. The medium was aspirated after 48 h of incubation. Then, 40 μ L of MTT salt (2.5 μ g/mL) was added to each well, and the cells were further incubated for 4 hat 37°C with 5% CO_2 . To end the reaction and dissolve crystals, 200 µL of 10% SDS in deionized water was added to each well and incubated overnight at 37°C. A known cytotoxic natural substance (100 µg/mL) was a positive control, causing complete cell death under the same conditions. The cells were collected using a trypsin-EDTA buffer and treated with trypan blue to distinguish viable cells. The live cell count was determined, and the findings were presented as the percentage of inhibition of liver cancer cell lines ^[28]. A microplate reader (Bio-Rad, USA) was used to measure the absorbance at 595 nm to evaluate the effects of DEO in DMSO on cell viability.

%viability =
$$\frac{Reading \ of extract}{Reading \ of \ negative \ control} \times 100 \ (2)$$

Animal and Experimental Design

A total of 180 mice weighted (30-42 g) were obtained from the breeding animal house, adapted, and kept under full hygienic conditions. The plastic boxes were subjected to a 12-h dark-light cycle, 40-60% relative humidity, and a temperature of 23.2°C. They delivered water and rats' diet at their discretion throughout the experiment^[29]. The mice were given two weeks to acclimate to the experimental animal laboratory setting. The accommodation and administration of the animals and the experimental protocols were conducted per the principles delineated in the Guide for the Care and Use of Lab Animals following the National Committee of Bioethics (NCBE 2023). After the accommodation period, the animals were weighed. Randomly, ten mice were allocated to six groups: The first group was fed a basal diet, the second group was delivered carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄, 187 mg/kg BW, 1/10 LD50), the third group delivered Dhimran essential oil (DEO, 4 mL/kg), the fourth group received Dhimran extract (DE, 4 mL/kg), the fifth group received DEO+CCl₄, and the sixth group delivered DE+CCl₄. The mice received their daily oral dosing for one month.

Determination of Weight Gain and Organ Weight

The growth performance parameters of mice groups were calculated following Zhou et al.^[30]. At the end of the experiment, the animals were decapitated from the cervical region. Following the dissection of the heart, brain, liver, kidney, lung, and spleen, excess fat was eliminated, and the percentages of the relative weight of organs were calculated.

Blood Biochemistry

Sample Collection and Preparation: At the end of 28 days, the mice were fasted overnight, then were slaughtered via jugular vein severance, and two blood samples were obtained. The first 0.5 mL sample was gathered in an EDTA tube for hematological examination. The other part (2 mL) was collected in EDTA-free tubes and centrifugated at $3000 \times g$ for 10 min to collect the serum.

Hematology: The blood sample was applied for the evaluation of the total count of red blood cells (RBCs), white blood cells (WBCs), and hemoglobin (Hb). The WBCs, RBCs lymphocytes, and platelets were determined using an automated cell counter (HOSPITEX analyzer, Italy)^[31].

Serum Biochemical Parameters: A colorimetric approach was utilized to evaluate the levels of aspartate transaminase (AST, 260 001, Spectrum, Cairo, Egypt) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT, 265 001 Spectrum, Cairo, Egypt), while alkaline phosphatase (ALP) was determined in the serum following Zhou et al.^[30]. The serum total protein concentrations were determined ^[32], whereas the quantities of albumin were tested using the technique developed by Zhou et al.^[30]. The difference between total protein and albumin calculated the globulin content. The concentration of glucose was measured using the ^[33] method. The creatinine and urea in serum were determined following ^[30]. The microplate reader (Infinite M Nano, manufactured by TECAN, Austria) was used in colorimetric measurements.

Antioxidant Enzymes: Malondialdehyde (MDA, cat no. 230001, Spectrum, Cairo, Egypt), the lipid peroxidation marker, was determined following the instructions given using Spectrum kits. The total non-enzymatic antioxidant capacity (TAC) was assessed using the BioDignostic kits following ^[34]. The measurements were conducted *via* a microplate reader at the respected wavelength (Infinite M Nano, TECAN, Austria).

Histopathological Examination

The liver tissues were picked, preserved in formalin, and processed by an automated processor. An initial phase was fixed and then dehydrated. The fixation was conducted by immersing the tissue for 48 h in 10% formalin, after which the fixation solution was removed using distilled water for 30 min. The tissues were subsequently dehydrated by immersing in elevating levels of alcohol (70, 90, and 100%) for 120, 90, and 90 min, respectively. The dehydration was subsequently cleared using multiple cycles of xylene. The procedure involved submerging the tissue for one h in a solution of 50% xylene & 50% alcohol and then for an additional 1.5 h in pure xylene. The specimens were then saturated with melted paraffin wax, encased, and sealed. Hematoxylin & eosin were used for 4-5 µm paraffin cut sections. Blood circulation disruptions, irritation, degenerations, apoptosis, necrosis & additional histopathological alterations in the tissues were monitored.

Analysis of Inflammatory Cytokines via Real-time PCR

The liver's inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-6) were evaluated using qPCR. The RNA was isolated using a commercial kit (Thermo Scientific, USA), and then its concentration was estimated by the Quawell Nanodrop instrument (USA). Reverse transcription was utilized to produce cDNA using a RevertAid commercial kit (Thermo Scientific, USA). The qPCR analysis was conducted utilizing an Applied Biosystem StepOnePlus real-time PCR system (USA) in combination with a mix of cDNA and 2X Maxima SYBR Green Master Mix (USA) and primers specific to each gene. As an internal control, the β -actin gene was employed to compute the change in the target genes using reference genes.

Statistical Analysis

The experiments were conducted using an entirely random design (CRD) with triplicates. The triplicate data means were analyzed using one-way ANOVA via Microsoft Excel (v 2108, 2021). The means were compared with the LSD at P<0.05.

RESULTS

Essential Oil Content

The results of the GC-MS analysis of the oils are shown for Dhimran (*Ocimum forsskaolii* benth) in *Table 1*, where the eluents are provided in the order of the HP5MS column elution. The primary components identified in the EO of *Ocimum forsskaolii* benth included were endo-Fenchol, tau-cadinol, α -eudesmol, α -terpineol, α -Bulnesene, and β -atlantol. The contents of these volatile compounds were 18.89, 11.6, 8.3, 7.2, 5.2, 10.9%, respectively. Endofenchol, tau-cadinol, and β -atlantol volatile compounds

Table 1.GC/MS profile of essential oils detected in Dhimran (Ocimum forsskaolii benth)						
Detected Compounds	% Area					
endo-Fenchol	18.89±0.9a					
tau-cadinol	11.6±1.1b					
germacrene B	3.6±0.2e					
endo-borneol	2.6±0.3f					
isoshyobunone	2.5±0.2f					
Bornylene	0.33±0.01j					
Germacrene D	0.25±0.03j					
Borneol L	0.61±0.01h					
delta-Guaiene	0.68±0.02h					
α-Pinene	0.5±0.01i					
α-eudesmol	8.3±0.6c					
a-terpineol	7.2±0.3cd					
α-Bulnesene	5.2±0.5d					
β-atlantol	10.9±0.8b					
β-Pinene	1.5±0.2g					
β-Myrcene	0.62±0.02h					
β-Thujone	2.2±0.1f					
γ-eudesmol	2.4±0.2f					
P value	<0.0001					
Different Lowercase letters in the same column indicate significant differences at P<0.05						

represented 52% of total VOCs. Medium contents of VOCs represented in germacrene B, endo-borneol, isoshyobunone, β -Thujone, and γ -eudesmol, while other compounds are in low contents

Phenolic Content and Antioxidant Activity

The scavenging power of DEO and DE is shown in *Table 2*. Dhimran extract had the highest total phenolic and flavonoid content, i.e., 53 and 32 mg/g DW, with a relative increase of 28 and 24% of DEO. Accordingly, the antioxidant activity of DE recorded the highest values,

Table 2. The antioxidant content of dhimran essential oil and ethanolic extract						
Demonsterne	Dhimran (Ocimun	P Value				
Parameters	DEO DE					
TPC (mg/g)	42±1.2b	53±3.2a	<0.0001			
TFC (mg/g)	27±2.3b	32±1.2a	<0.0001			
AA (%)	89±2.2b	93±3.6a	<0.0001			
IC50 (µg/mL)	100±1.2a	50±0.9b	< 0.0001			

Different Lowercase letters in the same raw indicate significant differences at P<0.05. Dhimran essential oil (DEO), Dhimran extract (DE). Total phenolic compounds (TPC); Total flavonoids compound (TFC); Antioxidant activity (AA); Inhibitory concentration (IC)

Table 3. Phenolic compounds profile of dhimran extract (DE) detected by HPLC			
Phenolic Compounds	Value in DE (mg/g)		
Gallic	6.5±0.2b		
Caffeic	8.6±0.8a		
Ferulic	5.9±0.3bc		
Sinapic	3.6±0.1c		
Synergic	2.5±0.6d		
Quercetin	3.8±0.7c		
Luteolin	1.8±0.2e		
Rutin	2.1±0.3d		
Apigenin	2.9±0.3d		
Kaempferol	2.2±0.1d		
P value	<0.0001		
Different Lowercase letters in th	e same column indicate significant differences at P<0.05		

93%, followed by DEO, 89%. DE showed the lowest IC_{50} of 50 µg/mL, followed by DEO.

The polyphenolic profile detected by HPLC is shown in *Table 3*. Phenolic acids and flavonoids were the main constituents of DE. Caffeic acid was the primary phenolic acid (8.6 mg/g), followed by gallic and ferulic acids. The main flavonoid was quercetin (3.8 mg/g), followed by Rutin, Apigenin, and Kaempferol.

Table 4. Antibacterial activity of dhimran essential oil (DEO) and dhimran extract (DE)							
Test Bacteria	Dhimran Concentration (µg/mL)						
	DE			DEO			P Value
	50	100	200	50	100 Cardamom	200	
S. typhi	11±0.2c	14±0.2b	18±0.1a	9±0.2d	11±0.6c	15±0.3b	< 0.0001
C. jejuni	9±0.1d	11±0.5c	15±0.3a	0±0.0	9±0.2d	12±0.2b	< 0.0001
L. monocytogenes	11±0.3c	16±0.3b	22±0.4a	9±0.1d	12±0.5c	17±0.3b	< 0.0001
S. aureus	15±0.8d	18±0.5c	25±0.7a	12±0.3e	16±0.1d	21±0.5b	< 0.0001
Different Lowercase let	ters in the san	ne raw indicat	e significant	differences a	at P<0.05. Salmonella	typhi, Campylo	bacter jejuni,

Different Lowercase letters in the same raw indicate significant differences at P<0.05. Salmonella typhi, Campylobacter jejuni, Listeria monocytogenes, Staphylococcus aureus. Dhimran essential oil (DEO), Dhimran extract (DE)



Antibacterial Activity of DEO and DE

The summary of the antibacterial activity of DEO and DE against a variety of four bacterial species is presented in *Table 4*. The DEOs and DE were tested for their ability to inhibit gram-positive growth, i.e., *L. monocytogenes* and *S. aureus* and gram-negative bacteria, including *S. typhi* and *C. jejuni*. The ethanolic extract of dhimarn (200 μ g/mL) recorded the highest antibacterial activity against *S. aureus* (25 mm) and *S.typhi* (18 mm), with relative increases of 20 and 26% compared to DEO. DE exhibited an inhibition area ranging from 9 to 25 mm against all the pathogens tested. The DEO recorded

inhibition zone diameters against the tested bacteria in the 9-21 mm range. DEO (50 μ g/mL) has not antibacterial activity against *Campylobacter jejuni*. *C. jejuni* was the most resistant bacteria to DE and DEOs; however, *S. aureus* was the most sensitive to EOs and extract of dhimarn.

Cytotoxic Activity of Dhimarn EOs Against Hepatic Cancer Cell Lines

Fig. 1 shows that each essential oil and ethanolic extract of *Ocimum forsskaolii* benth (dhimarn) has cytotoxicity on human liver cancer cells (HepG2). *Ocimum forsskaolii* benth extract reduces the viability of HepG2 cancer cells

Parameters	Treatments						D V-las
	Control	DE	DEO	CCl ₄	DE+CCl ₄	DEO+CCl ₄	P value
IBW	30.5±0.2	31.2±0.1	31.6±0.2	30.8±0.5	31±0.2	31±0.6	0.9
FBW	98.5±1.2b	106±2.2a	101.6±3.1ab	73.8±2.1d	90±1.6bc	86±2.2c	< 0.0001
BWG	68±1.3c	75±0.9a	70±0.8b	43±1.2e	59±0.9d	55±0.9de	< 0.0001
FCR	1.45±0.2b	1.6±0.2a	1.55±0.1ab	1.2±0.2c	1.39±0.1b	1.35±0.2bc	0.0041
SR	100±0.0	100±0.0	100±0.0	100±0.0	100±0.0	100±0.0	0.98
ALW	5.1±0.2c	5.3±0.3c	5.2±0.4c	7.9±0.5a	6.1±0.2b	6.0±0.1b	0.0033
ROW	2.5±0.1c	2.56±0.1c	2.7±0.3c	3.8±0.7a	2.9±0.1b	3.1±0.2b	0.00235

Lowercase letters in the same raw indicate significant differences at p<0.05. Absolute liver weight (ALW), Relative organ weight (ROW), survival rate (SR), initial body weight (IBW), final body weight (FBW), and feed conversion ratio (FCR). Dhimran essential oil (DEO), Dhimran extract (DE)

<i>Table 6.</i> The effect of DEO and DE administration on the hematology of CCl ₄ rats-induced liver cancer								
Hematology	Treatments							
	Control	DE	DEO	CCl ₄	DE+CCl ₄	DEO+CCl ₄	P value	
$RBCs \times 10^6/l$	7.5±0.2ab	7.9±0.2a	7.7±0.5ab	4.8±0.2c	6.5±0.2b	6.0±0.2b	0.00021	
WBCs \times 10 ⁶ /l	5.2±0.6c	5.5±0.1c	5.1±0.2c	17.2±1.2a	7.2±1.1b	6.9±0.4b	0.0023	
Ht %	43.68±2.2a	42.9±3.1ab	42.0±1.1ab	22.5±2.1c	39.7±0.9b	38.2±1.3b	0.00154	
Hb g/dl	14.3±0.3a	14±0.2a	14.2±0.3a	8.2±0.5c	13.1±0.7ab	12.8±0.9b	0.031	
Platelets × 10 ⁶ /l	820±6.3b	835±3.3a	822±4.1b	350±3.2d	790±2.3c	750±3.6c	0.0042	

Different lowercase letters in the same raw indicate significant differences at P<0.05. Dhimran essential oil (DEO), Dhimran extract (DE). Red blood cells (RBCs); White blood cells (WBCs); Hematocrit (Ht); Hemoglobin (Hb)

Table 7. The effect of DEO and DE administration on the liver markers of CCl_4 rats-induced liver cancer								
Liver Markers	Treatments							
	Control	DE	DEO	CCl_4	DE+CCl ₄	DEO+CCl_4	P value	
AST	123±2.1a	115±1.1b	113±2.1b	85±1.1d	105±0.9c	100±0.0c	0.0014	
ALP	355±3.6a	320±2.1c	318±3.1c	260±2.1d	340±3.3b	338±3.2b	0.0051	
ALT	165±1.2a	152±2.3b	150±1.2b	120±1.3d	144±2.1c	140±1.1c	0.0085	
LDH	789±2.2d	820±6.1c	817±6.2c	989±7.0a	856±8.3b	850±8.8b	0.0041	
ТР	175±1.1b	189±3.2a	180±1.2ab	122±1.1d	160±1.1c	156±2.1c	0.0011	
Lowerse a latter in the same raw indicate similicant differences at 0.00 Divinery associated ail (DEO) Divinery astrost (DE)								

Lowercase letters in the same raw indicate significant differences at p<0.05. Dhimran essential oil (DEO), Dhimran extract (DE)

by 86%. Ocimum forsskaolii benth EO inhibited 82% of cancerous cell viability; all results compared with Doxorubicin reduced cancerous cell proliferation by 85%. The results correlated with microscopic images. On the other hand, the IC_{50} of treatments inversely correlated with the inhibition percentage, where the IC_{50} of DE was lowest after DOX (20 µg/mL), followed by DEO (31 µg/mL).

In vivo Experiment of Hepatoprotective Impact of DEO and DE on CCl₄ Toxicity

Growth Parameters: Clinical poisoning manifestations were observed in the CCl_4 mice, such as salivation, digging, trembling, squirming, and convulsions; however, there were no mortalities. Compared with the control

group, an increase in relative liver weights (ALW and ROW) and considerable reduction in weight gain and FCR were observed in CCl_4 mice. These parameters were significantly reduced when treating the mice with DEO or DE with a preference for DE. No significant differences were observed in the single application of DEO, DE, and control (*Table 5*).

Hematology: The oral administration of CCl_4 to mice resulted in notable reductions in levels of red blood cells (RBCs), hematocrit (Ht), hemoglobin (Hb), and platelets; however, a raise in white blood cells (WBCs). The single application of DEO or DE did not affect the hematological parameters (P>0.05). However, when the combined application DEO+CCl₄ or DE+CCl₄ significantly P<0.05 restored all levels to the control levels compared to the CCl₄ group (*Table 6*).

Liver Enzymes: The liver (ALP, AST, ALT, and LDH) enzymes are of interest as potential hepatotoxicity biomarkers. The administration of CCL_4 in mice lowered total protein content; however, it raised the activity of AST, ALT, ALP, and LDH in mice liver homogenate compared to the control (P<0.05). The combined oral application of DEO+CCl₄ or DE+CCl₄ significantly P<0.05 reduced the activity of liver enzymes and increased the total protein content. The single application of DEO substantially altered the studied parameters (*Table 7*).

Lipid and Protein Oxidation Markers: A notable increase was observed in the concentrations of lipid hydroperoxides (LOOH) after the administration of CCl₄ compared to the control group. However, mice that were administered DEO+CCl₄ or DE+ CCl₄ exhibited a substantial reduction in the concentrations of LOOH in comparison to the CCl₄-treated group (*Fig. 2-A*). Furthermore, the hepatic levels of protein oxidation indicator, advanced oxidized protein products (AOPP), were significantly elevated in the CCl₄-intoxicated group. The oral application of DEO or DE reduced the high concentration of AOPP. The levels of lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation in the DEOmice or DE-mice differed significantly compared to the control group (*Fig. 2-B*).



Fig 2. The effect of DEO and DE on mitigating oxidative stress induced by hepatocytes CCl_4 administration, (A) Lipid hydroperoxide (LOOH), (B) Advanced oxidized protein product (AOPP). The significant differences between treatments are indicated by letters above columns (P<0.05)



Fig 3. The effect of DEO or DE on enhancing the antioxidant system defense in hepatocytes rats, (A) SOD activity; (B) Catalase activity; (C) GPx activity; (D) GSH activity. The significant differences between treatments are indicated by letters above columns (P<0.05). Dhimran essential oil (DEO), Dhimran extract (DE)



Antioxidant Status: The liver homogenates of CCl_4 mice show a significant decrease in the non-enzymatic defense, glutathione (GSH), as well as lower activity of the antioxidant system (SOD, CAT, and GPx) when compared to the control group. However, there was a notable increase in these parameters in the mice treated with combined application of DE+CCL₄ or DEO and CCl₄, compared to CCL₄. The indices are substantially enhanced (P<0.05) by the sole application of DEO or DE (*Fig. 3*).

Inflammatory Cytokines: The liver tissue of mice administered CCl_4 exhibited notable elevations in the



Fig 5. Photographs liver sections stained by H&E (X40) showing a) normal hepatic central vein and hepatic cords in control group; b) DE group, typical histological structure of hepatic lobule; c) DEO group showed standard histological structure; d) The CCl₄ group showed perivascular collagen fiber deposits adjacent to severe acute cell swelling; e) DE+ CCl₄ group mild peribiliary lymphocytic infiltrations adjacent and recovery of normal tissues; f) DEO+ CCl₄ group mild peribiliary lymphocytic infiltrations adjacent and recovery of normal tissues

mRNA levels of TNF- α and IL-6-related inflammation, as determined by qPCR, compared to the control group. When mice were orally pretreated with DEO or DE and subsequently intoxicated with CCL₄, the examined inflammation cytokines exhibited significant (P<0.05) downregulation (*Fig. 4*).

Histological Studies

Liver section tissue in control, DE, and DEO groups showed maintained liver cords, portal triad's structures, biliary system, vascular tributaries, sinusoids, Von Kuepfer's cells, and supporting stroma (*Fig. 5-A,B,C*). The liver section of 1/10 CCl₄ LD₅₀ treated groups showed portal biliary proliferative reactions. The portal blood vessels appear moderately to markedly dilate with occasional portal edema and infiltration of round cells (lymphplasmacytes). The hepatic sinusoids are mild to moderately dilated, sometimes with atrophy of the surrounding hepatocytes (*Fig. 5-D*). Hepatic Sections from 1/10 CCl₄ LD₅₀co-treated with DEO or DE revealed mild to moderate vascular dilatations, round cell aggregations, and recovery to the normal liver tissues (*Fig. 5-E,F*).

DISCUSSION

Plant compounds are commonly used as alternative medicinal agents due to their reduced adverse side effects. The global market has witnessed a surge in the demand for research about natural products owing to their challenging therapeutic attributes ^[35]. Furthermore, research has indicated that the escalating demand is significantly influenced by the therapeutic chemical composition and biological activity of natural products, such as essential oils (EOs), extracts, and other plant-based products, that possess surplus medicinal values ^[36].

In this study, the essential oils of *Ocimum forsskaolii* benth was analysed. Similiarly, in a study by Bader et al.^[14], the essential oil of Ocimum forsskaolii benth was found to contain methyl eugenol, eugenol, linalool, germacrene D, and β -caryophyllene as its primary constituents. These compounds comprised between 2.57% and 55.65% of the oil.

Also, Elansary and Mahmoud ^[37] found the main compounds in the *O. basilicum* oil were methyl cinnamate (43.8%) and chavicol methyl ether (39.1%).

The considerable content of EOs in basil cultivars possess various biological activities where the obtained results were consistent with other findings Nguyen et al.^[38] stated that the volatile oil extracted from *Ocimum basilicum* by distillation steam and a Clevenger-type device, that have antioxidant activity determined by DPPH and linoleic acid peroxidation. The findings demonstrated that essential oils have antioxidant characteristics and revealed that the basil leaf extract exhibited a substantial antioxidant capacity, as evidenced by its IC50 of 285.36 µg/mL.

Furthermore, Tshilanda et al.^[39] determined the antioxidant potential of the basil plant using the DPPH free radical scavenging activity method. The essential oil had antioxidant properties, with an IC₅₀ of 1180 μ g/mL. The methanolic and ethyl acetate extracts showed higher antioxidant activity than essential oil, with IC₅₀ values of 25 and 85 µg/mL, respectively. The essential oil was less active than methanol and ethyl acetate extracts regarding IC₅₀ values. The most active extract was methanol crude extract. The ability of non-polar extracts to scavenge radicals was minimal; hence, IC₅₀ values could not be determined. Also, Qasem et al.^[6] estimated the antioxidant properties of basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) extracts that inhibit DPPH radicals with IC_{50} 20 µg/mL; this activity because of the considerable content of the total flavonoids from 40 mg/g and total phenolic of 65 mg/g.

The antimicrobial activity of Dhimran essential oil affects the development of three different kinds of bacteria. According to the survey findings, essential oils have a strong antibacterial effect on all Gram (+) and Gram (-) bacteria strains and the fungus C. albicans. The capacity of an essential oil constituent to permeate the cell walls of a bacteria or fungus is directly correlated with how soluble they are in water. Therefore, the solubility of essential oils in the phospholipid bilayer of cell membranes accounts for their antibacterial activity ^[40]. Consistent with the current study, the essential oil showed superior antibacterial activity against gram-positive bacteria (S. aureus) and moderate activity against gram-negative bacteria (E. coli), as evaluated by the agar diffusion method. The growth of bacteria was only faintly suppressed by essential oil at low concentrations (5 μ L). Numerous literature studies

have shown that several *Ocimum basilicum* essential oil components have antibacterial properties ^[41].

The essential oils and extract of Dhimran possess anticancer activity against liver cancer cell lines, as the obtained results stated; in this regard, Eid et al.^[15] indicated basil essential oil demonstrated potent anticancer activity against Hep3B (IC₅₀ 56.23 µg/mL) and MCF-7 (80.35 µg/ mL) compared to Doxorubicin. The research indicates that the extract of *Ocimum basilicum* has an antiproliferative effect on liver cancer cells due to the presence of phytochemicals, specifically phenolic compounds ^[42].

This research investigates the impact of CCl₄ exposure on protein oxidation products and lipid peroxidation, including AOPP and LOOH ^[43]. The observed elevation in free radical concentrations and compromised antioxidant defenses indicate that CCl₄ may induce cellular harm by inhibiting membrane mobility.

Liver fibrosis, distinguished by the accumulation of collagen in the liver, is affected by the detected elevation in hydroxyproline (HYP), the principal constituent of collagen ^[44].

Glutathione is a vital constituent of the antioxidant defense system, aiding in maintaining cellular redox equilibrium and protecting against free radicals ^[45]. Increased lipid and protein oxidation (LPO) levels, which indicate heightened ROS production, may account for the observed decrease in GSH levels and the activities of GPx and GR in rats treated with CCl₄ ^[5]. It is believed that enzymatic antioxidants (SOD and CAT) serve as the initial line of defense against the detrimental impacts of reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced by CCl₄ on biological macromolecules ^[46].

The liver enzymes (ALT, AST, ALP, and LDH) significantly changed in CCl₄ mice because of the disruption of cellular membrane integrity caused by LPO ^[5]. This disruption permits the release of cytoplasmic enzymes into the bloodstream after hepatocellular injury.

The present investigation examines the hepatic impacts of CCl₄, explicitly focusing on inflammation and the expression of TNF- α and IL-6 genes. Additionally, the function of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in producing pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12, INF- α , and TNF- α is investigated. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) have a solid ability to stimulate the NFkB transcription factor, an elemental component of inflammation and innate immunity ^[47]. Elevated levels of IL-6 and TNF- α correlate with increased expression of pro-apoptotic genes IL-1 β , IL-10, NF- $k\beta$, Bax, and P53 ^[48].

Depletion of hepatic proteins signifies a breach in the integrity of the cell membrane, which permits the entry of toxicants into the cells ^[48]. Reducing hepatic protein levels can impact genetics by stimulating hepatic cell growth through alterations in the cell cycle.

CCl₄ accumulates in mice's liver tissues, which induces a surge in the production of free radicals, oxidative stress, and apoptosis ^[49]. It was demonstrated that *Ocimum gratissimum* (OG), *O. basilicum* (OB), and *O. tenuiflorum* (OT) extracts possess more anti-inflammatory characteristics in their ability to scavenge nitric oxide and inhibit lipoxygenase ^[50].

In this finding, the oral administration of DEO and DE decreased LPO and increased antioxidant status due to the oil's diverse phenolic components and natural products ^[51]. DEO's decreased radical scavenging activity was almost certainly attributable to its principal component, estragole ^[20]. DEO and DE supplementation alleviated the fluctuation of the antioxidant defense system and liver biomarkers induced by CCl₄^[52]. Due to its high concentration of phenolic compounds, including flavonoids and phenolic acids, basil possesses redox properties and can scavenge free radicals [53]. With a substantial reduction in hydroxyproline deposition in hepatocytes, basil is an effective treatment for hepatic fibrosis [54]. The study observed fibrotic changes in the liver and found that it stimulates liver regeneration in mice with fibrosis, which was alleviated by basil ^[55]. Because of its strong ability to remove ROS and reduce inflammation, the essential oil of basil leaves might mitigate the cytotoxic impact of CCl₄ when utilized as a phytochemical drug.

CCl₄-induced oxidative stress disrupted liver function and antioxidant status biomarkers in mice liver tissue. A pre-treatment with DEO or DE restored the efficiency of enzymes and biomarkers. DEO and DE demonstrated substantial antioxidant, antibacterial, and anticancer effects attributed to their volatile molecules and phenolic constituents, which are scavengers for free radicals. Furthermore, the hepatotoxicity generated by CCl₄ in mice, including cell cycle arrest, inflammation, oxidative stress, and DNA damage, can be alleviated by DEO and DE's anti-inflammatory and antioxidant capabilities. Therefore, Dhimran essential oil or ethanolic extract is a commonly accessible and affordable botanical treatment with significant antioxidant activity.

Declarations

Availability of Data and Materials: The datasets used and/ or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author (A. A. Alharbi) on reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: This project was funded by the Deanship of Scientific Research (DSR) at King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, under grant no. (GPIP-533-247-2024). The authors, therefore,acknowledge with thanks DSR for technical and financial support.

Funding: This project was funded by the Deanship of Scientific Research (DSR) at King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia,

under grant no. (GPIP-533-247-2024). The authors, therefore, acknowledge with thanks DSR for technical and financial support.

Competing Interests: The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Declaration of Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI): The author declare that the article tables and figures were not written or created by AI and AI-assisted technologies.

REFERENCES

1. Martiz RM, Patil SM, Abdulaziz M, Babalghith A, Al-Areefi M, Al-Ghorbani M, Mallappa Kumar J, Prasad A, Mysore Nagalingaswamy NP, Ramu R: Defining the role of isoeugenol from *Ocimum tenuiflorum* against diabetes mellitus-linked Alzheimer's disease through network pharmacology and computational methods. *Molecules*, 27:2398, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/molecules27082398

2. Nadeem HR, Akhtar S, Ismail T, Qamar M, Sestili P, Saeed W, Azeem M, Esatbeyoglu T: Antioxidant effect of *Ocimum basilicum* essential oil and its effect on cooking qualities of supplemented chicken nuggets. *Antioxidants*, 11:1882, 2022. DOI: 10.3390/antiox11101882

3. Sharmin E, Kafyah MT, Alzaydi AA, Fatani AA, Hazazzi FA, Babgi SK, Alqarhi NM, Sindi AAH, Akram D, Alam M, Alam J, Al-Madboly LA, Shoeib NA, Alqahtani AM, Mojally M: Synthesis and characterization of polyvinyl alcohol/corn starch/linseed polyol-based hydrogel loaded with biosynthesized silver nanoparticles. *Int J Biol Macromol*, 163, 2236-2247, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.09.044

4. Arshad Qamar K, Dar AS, Siddiqui B, Kabir N, Aslam H, Ahmed S, Erum S, Habib S, Begum S: Anticancer activity of *Ocimum basilicum* and the effect of ursolic acid on the cytoskeleton of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. *J Lett Drug Design*, 7, 726-736, 2010. DOI: 10.2174/1570180811007010726

5. Kumar A, Siddiqi NJ, Alrashood ST, Khan HA, Dubey A, Sharma B: Protective effect of eugenol on hepatic inflammation and oxidative stress induced by cadmium in male rats. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 139:111588, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111588

6. Qasem A, Assaggaf H, Mrabti HN, Minshawi F, Rajab BS, Attar AA, Alyamani RA, Hamed M, Mrabti NN, Baaboua AE, Omari NE, Alshahrani MM, Awadh AAA, Sheikh RA, Ming LC, Goh KW, Bouyahya A: Determination of chemical composition and investigation of biological activities of *Ocimum basilicum* L. *Molecules*, 28 (2):614, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/ molecules28020614

7. Ali NAA, Chhetri BK, Dosoky NS, Shari K, Al-Fahad AJA, Wessjohann L, Setzer WN: Pollen morphology of certain species of the family Lamiaceae in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi J Biol Sci*, 25, 354-360, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j. sjbs.2017.03.001

8. Ali NAA, Chhetri BK, Dosoky NS, Shari K, Al-Fahad AJ, Wessjohann L, Setzer WN: Antimicrobial, antioxidant, and cytotoxic activities of *Ocimum forskolei* and *Teucrium yemense* (Lamiaceae) essential oils. *J Medicines*, 4 (2):17, 2017. DOI: 10.3390/medicines4020017

9. Elsayed A, Elkomy A, Alkafafy M, Elkammar R, Fadl SE, Abdelhiee EY, Abdeen A, Youssef G, Shaheen H, Soliman A, Aboubakr M: Ameliorating effect of lycopene and N-acetylcysteine against cisplatin-induced cardiac injury in rats. *Pak Vet J*, 42, 107-111, 2022. DOI: 10.29261/pakvetj/2021.035

10. Aboubakr M, Elmahdy AM, Taima S, Emam MA, Farag A, Alkafafy M, Said AM, Soliman A: Protective effects of N acetylcysteine and vitamin E against acrylamide-induced neurotoxicity in rats. *Pak Vet J*, 43, 262-268, 2023. DOI: 10.29261/pakvetj/2023.027

11. Fatope MO, Marwah RG, Al Hadhrami NM, Onifade AK, Williams JR: Identification of the chemotypes of *Ocimum forskolei* and *Ocimum basilicum* by NMR spectroscopy. *Chemistry*, 5, 2457-2463, 2008. DOI: 10.1002/cbdv.200890211

12. Odalo JO, Omolo MO, Malebo H, Angira J, Njeru PM, Ndiege IO, Hassanali A: Repellency of essential oils of some plants from the Kenyan coast against *Anopheles gambiae*. *Acta Tropica*, 95, 210-218, 2005. DOI: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2005.06.007

13. Stanojevic LP, Marjanovic-Balaban ZR, Kalaba VD, Stanojevic JS,

Cvetkovic DJ, Cakic MD: Chemical composition, antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) essential oil. *J Essent Oil-Bear Plants*, 20, 1557-1569, 2017. DOI: 10.1080/0972060X.2017.1401963

14. Bader A, Abdalla AN, Obaid NA, Youssef L, Naffadi HM, Elzubier ME, Almaimani RA, Flamini G, Pieracci Y, El-Readi MZ: *In vitro* anticancer and antibacterial activities of the essential oil of forsskal's basil growing in extreme environmental conditions. *Life*, 13 (3):651, 2023. DOI: 10.3390/life13030651

15. Eid AM, Jaradat N, Shraim N, Hawash M, Issa L, Shakhsher M, Nawahda N, Hanbali A, Barahmeh N, Taha B, Mousa A: Assessment of anticancer, antimicrobial, antidiabetic, anti-obesity and antioxidant activity of *Ocimum basilicum* seeds essential oil from Palestine. *BMC Complement Med Ther*, 23:221, 2023. DOI: 10.1186/s12906-023-04058-w

16. Fareed MM, Khalid H, Khalid S, Shityakov S: Deciphering molecular mechanisms of carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity (fibrosis): A brief systematic review. *Curr Mol Med*, 24 (9): 1124-1134, 2024. DOI: 10.217 4/0115665240257603230919103539

17. Seyed MA, Ayesha S, Azmi N, Al-Rabae FM, Al-Alawy AI, Al-Zahrani OR, Hawsawi Y: The neuroprotective attribution of *Ocimum basilicum*: A review on the prevention and management of neurodegenerative disorders. *Futur J Pharm Sci*, 7:139, 2021. DOI: 10.1186/s43094-021-00295-3

18. Dhama K, Sharun K, Gugjoo MB, Tiwari R, Alagawany M, Iqbal Yatoo M, Thakur P, Iqbal HM, Chaicumpa W, Michalak I: A comprehensive review on chemical profile and pharmacological activities of *Ocimum basilicum*. *Food Rev Int*, 39, 119-147, 2023. DOI: 10.1080/87559129.2021.1900230

19. Sun Y, Liu Y, Ma X, Hu H: The influence of cell cycle regulation on chemotherapy. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22:6923, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/ijms22136923

20. Teofilović B, Grujić-Letić N, Gligorić E, Rašković A, Igić R, Vastag G, Gadžurić S: Experimental and computational evaluation of extraction procedure and scavenging capacity of sweet basil extracts (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Plant Foods Hum Nutr*, 76, 240-247, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s11130-021-00902-x

21. Saad AM, Sitohy MZ, Ahmed AI, Rabie NA, Amin SA, Aboelenin SM, Soliman MM, El-Saadony MT: Biochemical and functional characterization of kidney bean protein alcalase-hydrolysates and their preservative action on stored chicken meat. *Molecules*, 26:4690, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/molecules26154690

22. Zukowska G, Durczynska Z: Properties and applications of essential oils: A review. *J Ecol Eng*, 25 (2): 333-340, 2024. DOI: 10.12911/22998993/177404

23. Abd Elkader AM, Labib S, Taha TF, Althobaiti F, Aldhahrani A, Salem HM, Saad A, Ibrahim FM: Phytogenic compounds from avocado (*Persea americana* L.) extracts; antioxidant activity, amylase inhibitory activity, therapeutic potential of type 2 diabetes. *Saudi J Biol Sci*, 29, 1428-1433, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.11.031

24. El-Saadony MT, Khalil OS, Osman A, Alshilawi MS, Taha AE, Aboelenin SM, Shukry M, Saad AM: Bioactive peptides supplemented raw buffalo milk: Biological activity, shelf life and quality properties during cold preservation. *Saudi J Biol Sci*, 28, 4581-4591, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j. sjbs.2021.04.065

25. Jia N, Kong B, Liu Q, Diao X, Xia X: Antioxidant activity of black currant (*Ribes nigrum* L.) extract and its inhibitory effect on lipid and protein oxidation of pork patties during chilled storage. *Meat Sci*, 91, 533-539, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.03.010

26. Singh G, Passsari AK, Leo VV, Mishra VK, Subbarayan S, Singh BP, Kumar B, Kumar S, Gupta VK, Lalhlenmawia H, Nachimuthu SK: Evaluation of phenolic content variability along with antioxidant, antimicrobial, and cytotoxic potential of selected traditional medicinal plants from India. *Front Plant Sci*, 7:407, 2016. DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00407

27. Mosmann T: Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: Application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *J Immunol Methods*, 65, 55-63, 1983. DOI: 10.1016/0022-1759(83)90303-4

28. Chunarkar-Patil P, Kaleem M, Mishra R, Ray S, Ahmad A, Verma D, Bhayye S, Dubey R, Singh HN, Kumar S: Anticancer drug discovery based on natural products: From computational approaches to clinical studies. *Biomedicines*, 12 (1):201, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/biomedicines12010201

29. National Research Council: Nutrient Requirements of Poultry: Ninth Revised Edition, 1994. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 1994. DOI: 10.17226/2114

30. Zhou L, Abouelezz K, Momenah MA, Bajaber MA, Baazaoui N, Taha TF, Awad AE, Alamoudi SA, Beyari EA, Alanazi YF, Allohibi A, Saad AM: Dietary *Paenibacillus polymyxa* AM20 as a new probiotic: Improving effects on IR broiler growth performance, hepatosomatic index, thyroid hormones, lipid profile, immune response, antioxidant parameters, and caecal microorganisms. *Poult Sci*, 103 (2):103239, 2024. DOI: 10.1016/j. psj.2023.103239

31. Alghamdi MA, Reda FM, Mahmoud HK, Bahshwan SM, Salem HM, Alhazmi WA, Soror AFS, Mostafa NG, Attia S, Mohamed MDA, Saad AM, El-Tarabity KA, Abdelgeliel SA: The potential of *Spirulina platensis* to substitute antibiotics in Japanese quail diets: Impacts on growth, carcass traits, antioxidant status, blood biochemical parameters, and cecal microorganisms. *Poult Sci,* 103:103350, 2024. DOI: 10.1016/j. psj.2023.103350

32. Saad AM, Elmassry RA, Wahdan KM, Ramadan FM: Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*) steep liquor as a leavening agent: Effect on dough rheology and sensory properties of bread. *Acta Period Technol*, 46 (46): 91-102. DOI: 10.2298/APT1546091S

33. Trinder PJ: Determination of glucose in blood using glucose oxidase with an alternative oxygen acceptor. *Ann Clin Biochem*, 6, 24-27, 1969. DOI: 10.1177/00045632690060010

34. El-Saadony MT, Saad AM, Elakkad HA, El-Tahan AM, Alshahrani OA, Alshilawi MS, El-Sayed H, Amin SA, Ahmed AI: Flavoring and extending the shelf life of cucumber juice with aroma compounds-rich herbal extracts at 4°C through controlling chemical and microbial fluctuations. *Saudi J Biol Sci*, 29, 346-354, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.08.092

35. Piras A, Gonçalves MJ, Alves J, Falconieri D, Porcedda S, Maxia A, Salgueiro L: *Ocimum tenuiflorum* L. and *Ocimum basilicum* L., two spices of Lamiaceae family with bioactive essential oils. *Ind Crops Prod*, 113, 89-97, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2018.01.024

36. Sakkas H, Papadopoulou C: Antimicrobial activity of basil, oregano, and thyme essential oils. *J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 27, 429-438, 2017. DOI: 10.4014/jmb.1608.08024

37. Elansary HO, Mahmoud EA: Basil cultivar identification using chemotyping still favored over genotyping using core barcodes and possible resources of antioxidants. *J Essent Oil Res*, 27, 82-87, 2015. DOI: 10.1080/10412905.2014.982874

38. Nguyen V, Nguyen N, Thi N, Thi C, Truc T, Nghi P: Studies on chemical, polyphenol content, flavonoid content, and antioxidant activity of sweet basil leaves (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *IOP Conference Series: Mater Sci Eng*, 1092 (1):012083, 2021. DOI: 10.1088/1757-899X/1092/1/012083

39. Tshilanda DD, Mutwale PK, DOnyamboko DVN, Babady PB, Tsalu PV, Tshibangu DST, Ngombe NK, Frederich M, Ngbolua KN, Mpiana PT: Chemical fingerprint and anti-sickling activity of rosmarinic acid and methanolic extracts from three species of ocimum from DR Congo. *J Biosci Med*, 4, 2016. DOI: 10.4236/jbm.2016.41008

40. Knobloch K, Pauli A, Iberl B, Weigand H, Weis N: Antibacterial and antifungal properties of essential oil components. *J Essent Oil Res*, 1, 119-128, 1989. DOI: 10.1080/10412905.1989.9697767

41. Zhakipbekov K, Turgumbayeva A, Akhelova S, Bekmuratova K, Blinova O, Utegenova G, Shertaeva K, Sadykov N, Tastambek K, Saginbazarova A, Urazgaliyev K, Tulegenova G, Zhalimova Z, Karasova Z: Antimicrobial and other pharmacological properties of *Ocimum basilicum*, Lamiaceae. Molecules, 29 (2):388, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/molecules29020388

42. Hazrati S, Ebadi MT, Mollaei S, Khurizadeh S: Evaluation of volatile and phenolic compounds, and antioxidant activity of different parts of *Ferulago angulata* (schlecht.) Boiss. *Ind Crops Prod*, 140:111589, 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2019.111589

43. Iqbal Z, Aftab A, Swar SO, Hussain R, Mohiuddin M: Determination of lipid lowering effect of corn flour in hyperlipidemic albino mice. *Pak Vet J,* 42 (1): 112-116, 2022. DOI: 10.29261/pakvetj/2021.075

44. Huss M, Elger T, Loibl J, Kandulski A, Binder B, Stoeckert P, Patricia Mester P, Müller M, Buechler C, Tews HC: Urinary hydroxyproline as an inflammation-independent biomarker of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterol Insights*, 15 (2): 486-497, 2024. DOI: 10.3390/gastroent15020035

45. Vairetti M, Di Pasqua LG, Cagna M, Richelmi P, Ferrigno A, Berardo C: Changes in glutathione content in liver diseases: An update. *Antioxidants,* 10:364, 2021. DOI: 10.3390/antiox10030364

46. Hashem AS: Defensive impact of propolis against CCl₄ actuated rats' testicular damage. *J Adv Vet Anim Res*, 8 (1): 70-77, 2021. DOI: 10.5455/ javar.2021.h487

47. Maaruf NA, Najjar SM, Ali SA: Anatomical and histopathological comparative studies between right and left mammary tumors in a rat model induced by DMBA. *Pak Vet J*, 43 (2): 232-240, 2023. DOI: 10.29261/ pakvetj/2023.037

48. Tang SP, Mao XL, Chen YH, Yan LL, Ye LP, Li SW: Reactive oxygen species induce fatty liver and ischemia-reperfusion injury by promoting inflammation and cell death. *Front Immunol*, 13:870239, 2022. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.870239

49. Fatima M, Khan MR, Al-Keridis LA, Alshammari N, Patel M, Adnan M, Sahreen S: *Pleurospermum candollei* methanolic extract ameliorates CCl₄-Induced liver injury by modulating oxidative stress, inflammatory, and apoptotic markers in rats. *ACS Omega*, 8, 25999-26011, 2023. DOI: 10.1021/ acsomega.3c02031

50. Hamid S, Oukil NF, Moussa H, Djihad N, Mróz M, Kusznierewicz B, Attia A, Djenadi K, Mahdjoub MM, Bouhenna MM, Chebrouk F: Chemical and biological characterization of *Ocimum basilicum* L. phenolic extract and essential oil derived through ultrasound and microwave-assisted extraction techniques. *Food Biosci*, 60:104359, 2024. DOI: 10.1016/j. fbio.2024.104359

51. Sindi RA, Alam S, Rizwan M, Ullah MI, Ijaz N, Iqbal Z, Muzafar R, Akram R, Nazar MW, Hussain R: Investigations of hemato-biochemical, histopathological, oxidative stress and reproductive effects of thiram in albino rats. *Pak Vet J*, 43 (2): 255-261, 2023. DOI: 10.29261/pakvetj/2023.031

52. Renovaldi D, Adam AK: Potential of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) as a hepatoprotector agent for liver injury related to drugs. *Muhammadiyah Med J*, 1, 63-68, 2020. DOI: 10.24853/mmj.1.2.21-26

53. Rezzoug M, Bakchiche B, Gherib A, Roberta A, Guido F, Kilinçarslan Ö, Mammadov R, Bardaweel SK: Chemical composition and bioactivity of essential oils and ethanolic extracts of *Ocimum basilicum* L. and *Thymus algeriensis* Boiss. & Reut. from the Algerian Saharan Atlas. *BMC Complement Med Ther*, 19, 1-10, 2019. DOI: 10.1186/s12906-019-2556-y

54. Téllez-Morales JA, Rodríguez-Miranda J, Aguilar-Garay R: Review of the influence of hot air frying on food quality. *Measurement: Food*, 14:100153, 2024. DOI: 10.1016/j.meafoo.2024.100153

55. El-Wakeil NHM, Salem ZAW: Possible protective effect of basil seeds and their oil against zinc oxide nanoparticle-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. *Egypt J Nutr*, 39 (1): 163-184. 2024.

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

ETHICAL PRINCIPLES AND PUBLICATION POLICY

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi follows and implements internationally accepted ethical standards to provide the necessary support to original scientific ideas and to publish high quality, reliable scientific articles in this direction. The journal's publication policy and ethical principles include the ethical standards of conduct that should be followed by author(s), journal editor(s), associate editors, subject editors, reviewers, and publishers who are the participants of this action.

The ethical statement of Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is based on the principles indicated in the "COPE Code of Conduct and Best Practice Guidelines for Journal Editors" (<u>http://publicationethics.org/files/Code_of_conduct_for_journal_editors_Mar11.pdf</u>) and "COPE Best Practice Guidelines for Journal Editors" (<u>http://publicationethics.org/files/u2/Best_Practice.pdf</u>).

GENERAL ETHICAL PRINCIPLES

Objectivity and Independence

Editor-in-chief, editors, associate editors, and referees conduct the evaluation process of the manuscript sent to the journal objectively and in coordination within the framework of ethical principles. Editorial decisions are independent, and internal or external factors cannot influence these decisions. In accordance with the principle of impartiality, academics working in our institution are not deemed eligible to work as a section editor in Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi, in order not to be effective in the evaluation of articles due to conflict of interest.

• Privacy

The content of the articles and the personal information of the authors such as name, e-mail address, and telephone numbers that are sent to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi are used only for the scientific purposes of the journal and not for other purposes, and cannot be shared with third parties. Article evaluation processes are also carried out confidentially.

• Authorship and Authors Rights

The authors of the manuscripts sent to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi must have contributed significantly to the design, execution or interpretation of the study. For example, in view of the research and publication ethics as well as authors rights, it is not acceptable to include those as authors who do not actively contribute to the research but just only help in writing or data collection processes, which may not require any scientific knowledge. All the authors in a publication should be in agreement of the names and the orders of the authors in the manuscript.

The competence of the authors to the subject of the study is evaluated by the editor within the framework of deontological rules and the professional fields of each author.

The corresponding author of the article should declare the contributions of the authors to the work under the title of "Author contributions". The corresponding author is primarily responsible for the problems that may arise in this regard.

In multidisciplinary studies, 2 authors who are from different disciplines can be "equivalent first name authors" and up to most 3 authors who are also from different disciplines can be "equivalent second name authors".

• Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI)

This declaration outlines the acceptable uses of generative AI technology in writing or editing manuscripts submitted to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi. During the writing process, AI and AI-assisted technologies are prohibited from writing or creating the article, tables, or figures. Authors should use AI and AI-assisted technologies solely to enhance the readability and language of the article. Authors should carefully review and edit the result of assisted parts of the manuscript by AI in term of reliability of the applying technologies.

When using generative AI and AI-assisted technologies in scientific writing, authors must declare this by including a statement in the cover letter when the article is first submitted. Once the article is accepted for publication, this statement should be included in the declarations section of the manuscript's final part.

If anything other than the declared conditions is detected, the articles in the evaluation stage will be rejected, and if it is detected in the published articles, the article will be retracted.

• Originality of Research Findings

The authors should declare that the article they presented contained the original research results, that the study data were analyzed correctly, and that they were prepared for publication using adequate and appropriate references, in the "cover letter" section of the on-line system at the submission stage. Using expressions such as "it is the first study done", "there has been no previous study on this subject" and "there is a limited number of studies" to add originality and importance to the article is not acceptable and may cause prevention of the scientific evaluation of the article by the editor.

• Similarity

Articles submitted to the journal are subjected to similarity analysis using appropriate software (iThenticate by CrossCheck) at the beginning and at every required stage. If unethical similarities are detected regardless of the rate of similarity, this situation is reported to the authors and corrections are requested or articles containing excessive similarities are rejected at the first evaluation stage without being evaluated.

Plagiarism/Self-Plagiarism, Duplicate Publication

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi applies publication ethics and verifies the originality of content submitted before publication and checks all submitted manuscripts for plagiarism/self-plagiarism, similarity and duplication. All submitted manuscripts are meticilously screened by a similarity detection software (iThenticate by CrossCheck). Papers previously presented at scientific meetings and published only as an "abstract" should be indicated in the Title Page file as stated in the "Guidance for Authors". Authors do not have the right to use entire paragraphs from their previous publications into a new submission. These actions are also considered as a plagiarism. In any case, the manuscript should be original in terms of scientific contents and writing. In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, the Editorial Board will follow and act in accordance with "COPE Guidelines".

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

Multi-part Publication (Piecemeal Publication)

Some authors may tend to divide study data into two or more articles and publish the results in different journals also having different authors names and orders. In principal, Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is against multi-part publication. When necessary, the ethical committee approval information of the study, project information, congress presentations, etc. are checked and such situations that will create an ethical problem are identified and reported to the authors.

Authors may think that their work should be published in multi parts that complement each other. For this, each part of the article should be titled "Part-I", "Part-II" and submitted to the journal "simultaneously". This issue can be evaluated by the editor-in-chief/subject editors/referees who may suggest that the article can be published in parts or as a whole. In addition, rejection of a submission presented in parts means that all parts will be rejected.

Animal Rights and Ethics

The authors are responsible for conducting experimental and clinical studies on animal experiments within the framework of existing international legislation on animal rights. Authors must also obtain permission from the Animal Experiment Ethics Committees and provide relevant information in the Material and Method section to experiment with animals. In clinical studies, as well as the approval of the ethics committee, an "informed consent form" should be obtained from the animal owners and the information related to it should be declared in the Material and Method section. Declaration of "informed consent form" is sufficient for the articles in the "Case report" and "Letter to the Editor" category.

Ethics committee permission taken for a study can only be used in one article. It is unacceptable to use the same ethics committee approval number in articles with different names and contents. The editor/subject editors can request from the corresponding author, if necessary, to send a copy of the ethics committee approval form to the journal (electronically or by post).

In cases of violation ethical rules, the article is not taken into consideration or if it is in the evaluation stage, the procedure is terminated and the article is rejected.

• Conflicts of Interest/Competing Interests

The editor-in-chief pays attention to whether there is a conflict of interest or union of interest between editors, reviewers and author (s) for an objective and unbiased evaluation of the article. In addition, the authors should disclose any financial interests or links or any conditions that may raise the bias issue in research and article under the above heading.

Copyright

Authors retain the copyright to their published work licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International license (CC BY-NC 4.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) and grant the Publisher non-exclusive right to publish the work. CC BY-NC 4.0 license permits unrestricted, non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The authors must fill in the "Copyright Agreement Form" and sign it with a wet signature. Authors who submit articles from abroad should scan the signed form and send it to the editor via the system or by e-mail. Original forms that are wet signed for articles sent domestically should be submitted to the journal via mail or cargo. The works of the authors who do not submit the Copyright Agreement Form on time are not published.

• Withdrawal of a Submission

In case of if the authors detect a significant error or deficiency in their article under review or if this error is reported to them by the editor/ subject editor/referees they can contact immediately to the editor-in-chief and ask the request to withdraw the article by stating the reason. The decision on this issue is up to the editorial board.

• Erratum

After an article has been published, the corresponding author may request the editor to publish "erratum" for any errors or inaccuracies noticed by the authors, editors or readers. In collaboration with the authors, the editor prepares and publishes the Erratum article in the first upcoming issue. These articles, like other publications, should contain the publication tag and DOI number.

Retraction

If any ethical problem is detected about the article that cannot be compensated and cannot be eliminated with erratum after the article is published, the editor-in-chief and associate editors prepare a justification about the article and apply the retraction procedure to the article. The text file on the web page of a retracted article is blocked and the reason for retraction is added to the system as a file, ensuring that it is constantly in the archive.

Advertising

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi do not accept advertising and sponsorships that are believed to create a potential conflict of interest. If the article sent to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is for the promotion of a commercial product and/or the work carried out is directly supported by a company, it is rejected without consideration.

OPEN ACCESS STATEMENT

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is an open access publication. The journal's publication model is based on Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) declaration. Articles published in Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi are available online, free of charge at https:// vetdergikafkas.org/archive.php.

Except for commercial purposes, users are allowed to read, download, copy, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles in this journal without asking prior permission from the publisher or the author. The open access articles in the journal are licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) licence.

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

ARTICLE EVALUATION AND PUBLICATION PROCESS

Initial Evaluation Process

Articles submitted to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi are primarily evaluated by the editors and associate editors. At this stage, articles not having suitable scope and aims, with low original research value, containing scientific and ethically important errors, having low potential to contribute to science and the journal, and having poor language and narration are rejected by the editor without peer-review process. Initial evaluation process takes up to most 2 weeks.

• Preliminary Evaluation Process

Articles that are deemed appropriate for editorial evaluation are sent to the subject editor related to the category of articles to be examined in terms of scientific competence and to the statistics editor for evaluation in terms of statistical methods. The suject editors examine the article in all aspects and report their decisions (rejection, revision or peer-review) to the chief editor. This stage takes about 1 month.

Peer-review Process

Double-blind peer-review is applied to the articles that have completed preliminary evaluation process. Suggestions of subject editors are primarily considered in referee assignment. In addition, reviews can be requested from the referees registered in the journal's referee pool. At least 2 referees are assigned for peer-review. Opinion of more referees can be required depending on the evaluation process. At this stage, referees send their decision (reject, revision or accept) about the article to the editor-in-chief. If the rejection decision given by a referee reflects sufficient examination and evidence-based negativities or ethical problems about the scientific content and accuracy of the article, this decision is checked by the editor-in-chief and associate editors and submitted to the authors regardless of the other referees' decisions. The time given to referees to evaluate an article is ~4 weeks.

• Publication Process of an Article

Total evaluation period of an article, which is completed in the peer-review phase after completing the initial and preliminary evaluation process, takes 4-6 months. The articles that have completed the subject editorial and peer-review evaluation stages and accepted by the editorial are sent to the corresponding author for final checks and necessary final additions. After the acceptance, the article designed in the publication format of the journal is given an DOI number and published immediately on the Article in Press page. When it is time to publish the periodic edition of the journal, a selection is made from the articles kept on the Article in Press page, taking into account the submission date. The time it takes for the article to be published by taking the page number is 6-12 months.

NO PUBLICATION FEE

Processing and publication are free of charge with the journal. There is no article processing char-ges, submission fees or any other fees for any submitted or accepted articles.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PUBLISHER, EDITORS AND ASSOCIATE EDITORS

The publisher (Dean of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of Kafkas University) contributes to the execution of the journal's routine processes such as printing, archiving, and mailing, in line with requests from the editor.

The publisher undertakes to carry out an independent and fair decision-making mechanism for its editors and assistants in the article evaluation process and decisions.

The publisher undertakes to carry out an independent and fair decision-making mechanism for its editors and associate editors in the article evaluation process and decisions.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors of Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi evaluate the articles submitted to the journal regardless of their race, gender, religious belief, ethnicity, citizenship or political views. In addition, it undertakes not to give any information about the article except for the authors, subject editors and referees.

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi follows internationally accepted principles and criteria and takes the necessary decisions to apply in the journal.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors conduct the evaluation and decision process in the journal in coordination within the principles of confidentiality and have independent decision-making authority and responsibility without being affected by any internal or external factors.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors make and implement all kinds of planning for the development of the journal and its international recognition. They also follow national and international meetings or events on the development of journals and article evaluation, and ensures that the journal is represented on these platforms.

The editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors make every effort to ensure that the journal's subject editors and referee pool have international qualifications. Likewise, it makes the necessary attempts to strengthen the author's profile.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors make plans to improve the quality of the articles published in the journal and carry out the necessary process.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors regularly conduct and control the initial evaluation, preliminary evaluation, peer review and acceptancerejection decisions of articles submitted to the journal. While carrying out these procedures, features such as the suitability of the study for the aims and scope of the journal, its originality, the up-to-date and reliability of the scientific methods used, and the potential it will contribute to the development of the journal as well as its benefit to science/practice are taken into consideration.

Editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors systematically review, inspect and make decisions about the articles submitted to the journal in terms of features such as author rights, conflict of interest, observance and protection of animal rights, and compliance with research and publication ethics.

The editor-in-chief conducts the evaluation/revision process between the authors and subject editors and referees, and ensures that it is completed within the prescribed time.

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org

E-ISSN: 1309-2251

ARCHIVE POLICY

The editorial office of the Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi and the publisher (Dean's Office of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University) keep all the articles (electronic and printed) published in the journal in their archives. All articles and their attachment files sent to the journal are kept securely in the archive. In light of the technological developments, the editorial office of the Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi regularly performs electronic processes for the development and updating of materials in digital environment and presents them to its readers on condition of keeping in safe the original documents and information regarding the articles.

Even if the journal ceases to be published for any reason, the publisher (Dean's Office of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kafkas University) will continue to protect the journal content in the long term and provide convenient access to users. Electronic services of Kafkas University Information Technologies Department will be used for the journal to maintain this responsibility.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF SUBJECT EDITORS

Subject editors do reviews and evaluations in accordance with the main publication goals and policies of the journal and in line with the criteria that will contribute to the development of the journal.

Author information is kept confidential in articles sent to the subject editor for preliminary evaluation by the editor.

Subject editors thoroughly examine the sections of the introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion and conclusion, in terms of journal publication policies, scope, originality and research ethics. Subject editor submits its decision (rejection, revision or peer-review) after evaluation to the chief editor in a reasoned report.

Subject editor may request additional information and documents related to the study from the authors, when necessary.

In multidisciplinary studies, the article can be submitted for the evaluation of multiple subject editors.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF REFEREES

Double-blinded peer-review procedure is applied in Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi in order to evaluate the articles submitted to the journal in accordance with the principle of impartiality and in objective criteria; that is, referees and writers do not know about each other.

The referees submit their opinions and reports to the editor-in-chief to ensure the control and suitability of a submitted article, its scientific content, scientific consistency and compliance with the principles of the journal. When a referee makes a decision "reject" about an article, he/ she prepares the reasons for the decision in accordance with the scientific norms and presents it to the editor.

The referee(s) also gives the authors the opportunity to improve the content of the article. Accordingly, the revisions requested from the authors should be of a quality that explains/questions specific issues rather than general statements.

Referees appointed for the evaluation of the articles agree that the articles are confidential documents and will not share any information about these documents with third parties, except for the editors participating in the evaluation.

Referees should place their criticism on scientific infrastructure and write their explanations based on scientific evidence. All comments made by the referees to improve the articles should be clear and direct, and should be written away from disturbing the feelings of the author. Insulting and derogatory statements should be avoided.

If a referee has an interest relationship with the author(s) on one or more issues, he/she must report the situation to the editor and ask his/her to withdraw from the referee position. The same is also applicable when the authors illegally obtain information about the referees of the article and try to influence them.

The editor-in-chief can share the comments and reports from the referees with the editors/associate editors and the relevant subject editor, as necessary, to ensure that the decision on the article is optimal. If necessary, the editor may share the critical decision and its grounds that a referee has sent about the article with the other referee(s) and present them to their attention.

Referee(s) may request revision many times for the article they evaluated.

The content of the referee reports is checked and evaluated by editor-in-chief/editors/associate editors. The final decision belongs to the editorial.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AUTHOR(S)

It is not tolerable for the author (s) to send an article, which has been already sent to another journal, to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi within the scope of "which accepts" or "which publishes first" approach. If this is detected, the article is rejected at any stage of the evaluation. As a possible result of these actions, in the process following the previous acceptance of the article sent to another journal, the withdrawal request with this excuse that the authors submit for this article, the evaluation process of which is going on in our journal, is evaluated by the editors and associate editors of the journal and disciplinary action on the grounds of ethical violations about those responsible is started. This unethical action is also informed to the journal editor (if known) who accepted the article.

It is essential that the articles to be sent to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi include studies that have up-to-date, original and important clinical/practical results and prepared in accordance with the journal's writing rules.

Authors should choose the references they use during the writing of the article in accordance with the ethical principles and cite them according to the rules.

The authors are obliged to revise the article in line with the issues conveyed to them during the initial evaluation, preliminary evaluation and peer-review phases of the article and to explain the changes they made/did not make sequentially in the "response to editor" and "response to reviewer comments" sections.

If information, documents or data regarding to the study are requested during the evaluation process, the corresponding author is obliged to submit them to the editorial.

Authors should know and take into account the issues listed in the "General Ethical Principles" section regarding scientific research and authors. The authors do not have the right to simultaneously submit multiple articles to Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi. It is more appropriate to submit them with acceptable time intervals for the journal's policy.
E-ISSN: 1309-2251

INSTRUCTION FOR AUTHORS

1- Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi (abbreviated title: Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg), published bimonthly (E-ISSN: 1309-2251). We follow a double-blind peer-review process, and therefore the authors should remove their name and any acknowledgment from the manuscript before submission. Author names, affiliations, present/permanent address etc. should be given on the title page only.

The journal publishes full-length research papers, short communications, preliminary scientific reports, case reports, observations, letters to the editor, and reviews. The scope of the journal includes all aspects of veterinary medicine and animal science.

Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi is an Open Access journal, which means that all content is freely available without charge to the user or his/her institution. Users are allowed to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without asking prior permission from the publisher or the author. This is in accordance with the BOAI definition of Open Access.

2- The official language of our journal is English.

3- The manuscripts submitted for publication should be prepared in the format of Times New Roman style, font size 12, A4 paper size, 1.5 line spacing, and 2.5 cm margins of all edges. The legend or caption of all illustrations such as figure and table and their appropriate position should be indicated in the text. Refer to tables and figures in the main text by their numbers. Also figure legends explanations should be given at the end of the text.

The figures should be at least 300 dpi resolution.

The manuscript and other files (figure etc.) should be submitted by using online manuscript submission system at the address of http://vetdergi.kafkas.edu.tr/

During the submission process, the authors should upload the figures of the manuscript to the online manuscript submission system. If the manuscript is accepted for publication, the Copyright Agreement Form signed by all the authors should be sent to the editorial office.

4- The authors should indicate the name of the institute approves the necessary ethical commission report and the serial number of the approval in the material and methods section. If necessary, the editorial board may also request the official document of the ethical commission report. In case reports, a sentence stating that "informed consent" was received from the owner should be added to the main document. If an ethical problem is detected (not reporting project information, lack of ethical committee information, conflict of interest, etc.), the editorial board may reject the manuscript at any stage of the evaluation process.

5- Authors should know and take into account the "Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI)" and other matters listed in the **"Ethical Principles and Publication Policy"** section regarding scientific research and authors.

6- Types of Manuscripts

Original (full-length) manuscripts are original and proper scientific papers based on sufficient scientific investigations, observations and experiments.

Manuscripts consist of the title, abstract and keywords, introduction, material and methods, results, discussion, and references and it should not exceed 12 pages including text. The number of references should not exceed 50. The page limit does not include tables and illustrations. Abstract should contain 200±20 words.

Short communication manuscripts contain recent information and findings in the related topics; however, they are written with insufficient length to be a full-length original article. They should be prepared in the format of full-length original article but the abstract should not exceed 100 words, the reference numbers should not exceed 15 and the length of the text should be no longer than 6 pages in total. The page limit does not include tables and illustrations. Additionally, they should not contain more than 4 figures or tables.

Preliminary scientific reports are a short description of partially completed original research findings at an interpretable level. These should be prepared in the format of full-length original articles. The length of the text should be no longer than 4 pages in total.

Journal Home-Page: http://vetdergikafkas.org E-ISSN: 1309-2251

Case reports describe rare significant findings encountered in the application, clinic, and laboratory of related fields. The title and abstract of these articles should be written in the format of full-length original articles (but the abstract should not exceed 100 words) and the remaining sections should be followed by the Introduction, Case History, Discussion and References. The reference numbers should not exceed 15 and the length of the text should be no longer than 4 pages in total. The page limit does not include tables and illustrations.

Letters to the editor are short and picture-documented presentations of subjects with scientific or practical benefits or interesting cases. The length of the text should be no longer than 3 pages in total. The page limit includes tables and illustrations.

Reviews are original manuscripts that gather the literature on the current and significant subject along with the commentary and findings of the author on a particular subject (It is essential that the author/s have international scientific publications on this subject). The title and summary of this manuscript should be prepared as described for the full-length original articles and the remaining sections should be followed by introduction, text (with appropriate titles), conclusion, and references.

"Invited review" articles requested from authors who have experience and recognition in international publishing in a particular field are primarily published in our journal.

Review articles submitted to our journal must be prepared in accordance with any of the three categories listed below.

Narrative reviews describe current published information on a scientific topic. However, it does not include a specific methodological process.

Systematic reviews include the search for original studies published in that field on a specific topic, the evaluation of validity, synthesis and interpretation within a systematic methodology.

Meta-analysis is a method of evaluating the results of many studies on a subject with the methods defined in this category and statistical analysis of the obtained findings.

7- The necessary descriptive information (thesis, projects, financial supports, etc.) scripted as an italic font style should be explained below the manuscript title after placing a superscript mark at the end of the title.

8- At least 30% of the references of any submitted manuscript (for all article categories) should include references published in the last five years.

References should be listed with numerical order as they appear in the text and the reference number should be indicated inside the parentheses at the cited text place. References should have the order of surnames and initial letters of the authors, title of the article, title of the journal (original abbreviated title), volume and issue numbers, page numbers and the year of publication and the text formatting should be performed as shown in the example below.

Example: Yang L, Liu B, Yan X, Zhang L, Gao F, Liu Z: Expression of ISG15 in bone marrow during early pregnancy in ewes. *Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg*, 23 (5): 767-772, 2017. DOI: 10.9775/kvfd.2017.17726

If the reference is a book, it should follow surnames and initial letters of the authors, title of the book, edition number, page numbers, name and location of publisher and year of publication. If a chapter in a book with an editor and several authors is used, names of chapter authors, name of chapter, editors, name of the book, edition number, page numbers, name and location of publisher and year of publication and the formatting should be performed as shown in the example below.

Example: Mcllwraith CW: Disease of joints, tendons, ligaments, and related structures. **In**, Stashak TS (Ed): Adam's Lameness in Horses. 4th ed., 339-447, Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, 1988.

DOI number should be added to the end of the reference.

In the references can be reached online only, the web address and connection date should be added at the end of the reference information. The generally accepted scientific writing instructions must comply with the other references. Abbreviations, such as "et al" and "and friends" should not be used in the list of the references.

Follow the link below for EndNote Style of Kafkas Universitesi Veteriner Fakultesi Dergisi;

https://researchsoftware.com/downloads/journal-faculty-veterinary-medicine-kafkas-university

9- Latin expression such as species names of bacteria, virus, parasite, and fungus and anatomical terms should be written in italic character, keeping their original forms.

10- The editorial board has the right to perform necessary modifications and a reduction in the manuscript submitted for publication and to express recommendations to the authors. The manuscripts sent to authors for correction should be returned to the editorial office within a month. After pre-evaluation and agreement of the submitted manuscripts by the editorial board, the article can only be published after the approval of the field editor and referee/s specialized in the particular field.

11- All responsibilities from published articles merely belong to the authors. According to the ethical policy of our journal, plagiarism/self-plagiarism will not be tolerated. All manuscripts received are checking by plagiarism checker software, which compares the content of the manuscript with a broad database of academic publications.

12- The editorship may request the language editing of the manuscript submitted to the journal. If the article is accepted, it will not be published without language editing. Before publication, a declaration and/or certificate stating that proofreading is done by a registered company will be requested from the corresponding author.13- No fee is charged at any stage in Kafkas Üniversitesi Veteriner Fakültesi Dergisi (No APC/APF)

SUBMISSION CHECKLIST

Please use below list to carry out a final check of your submission before you send it to the journal for review. Ensure that the following items are present in your submission:

- Cover Letter

• Importance and acceptability of the submitted work for the journal have been discussed (Please avoid repeating information that is already present in the abstract and introduction).

• Other information has been added that should be known by the editorial board (e.g.; the manuscript or any part of it has not been published previously or is not under consideration for publication elsewhere.

- Title Page

- Title, Running Title (should be a brief version of the title of your paper, no exceed 50 characters)
- The author's name, institutional affiliation, Open Researcher and Contributor ID (ORCID)
- Congress-symposium, project, thesis etc. information of the manuscript (if any)
- Corresponding author's address, phone, fax, and e-mail information
- Manuscript
- Title, abstract, keywords and main text
- All figures (include relevant captions)
- All tables (including titles, description, footnotes)
- Ensure all figure and table citations in the text match the files provided
- Declarations
- Availability of Data and Materials
- Acknowledgements
- Funding Support
- Competing Interests
- Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI)

• Authors' Contributions

Further Considerations

- Journal policies detailed in this guide have been reviewed
- The manuscript has been "spell checked" and "grammar checked"
- Relevant declarations of interest have been made
- Statement of Author Contributions added to the text
- Acknowledgment and conflicts of interest statement provided